Annals of the University of Craiova Mathematics and Computer Science Series Vol. XLI, Issue 2, December 2014

The Annals of the University of Craiova, Mathematics and Computer Science Series, is edited by Department of Mathematics and Department of Computer Sciences, University of Craiova, Romania.

Editorial Team

Managing Editor

Vicențiu Rădulescu, University of Craiova, Romania

Editorial Board

Viorel Barbu, Romanian Academy, Romania Dumitru Bușneag, University of Craiova, Romania Philippe G. Ciarlet, French Academy of Sciences, France Nicolae Constantinescu, University of Craiova, Romania Jesus Ildefonso Diaz, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Spain Massimiliano Ferrara, Mediterranea University of Reggio Calabria George Georgescu, University of Bucharest, Romania Olivier Goubet, Université de Picardie Jules Verne, France Ion Iancu, University of Craiova, Romania Marius Iosifescu, Romanian Academy, Romania Solomon Marcus, Romanian Academy, Romania Giovanni Molica Bisci, Università degli Studi Mediterranea di Reggio Calabria, Italy Sorin Micu, University of Craiova, Romania Gheorghe Moroşanu, Central European University Budapest, Hungary Constantin Năstăsescu, Romanian Academy, Romania Constantin P. Niculescu, University of Craiova, Romania Dušan Repovš, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Sergiu Rudeanu, University of Bucharest, Romania Mircea Sofonea, Université de Perpignan, France Michel Willem, Université Catolique de Louvain, Belgium Tudor Zamfirescu, Universitat Dortmund, Germany Enrique Zuazua, Basque Center for Applied Mathematics, Spain

Editorial Assistant

Mihaela Sterpu, University of Craiova, Romania

Information for authors. The journal is publishing all papers using electronic production methods and therefore needs to receive the electronic files of your article. These files can be submitted preferably using the online submission system:

 $http://inf.ucv.ro/\!\sim\!ami/index.php/ami/about/submissions$

by e-mail at office.annals@inf.ucv.ro or by mail at the address:

Analele Universității din Craiova. Seria Matematică -Informatică A. I. Cuza 13 Craiova, 200585, Romania Web: http://inf.ucv.ro/~ami/

The submitted paper should contain original work which was not previously published, is not under review at another journal or conference and does not significantly overlap with other previous papers of the authors. Each paper will be reviewed by independent reviewers. The results of the reviewing process will be transmitted by e-mail to the first author of the paper. The acceptance of the papers will be based on their scientific merit. Upon acceptance, the papers will be published both in hard copy and on the Web page of the journal, in the first available volume.

The journal is abstracted/indexed/reviewed by Mathematical Reviews, Zentralblatt MATH, SCOPUS. This journal is also covered/included in many digital directories of open resources in mathematics and computer science as Index Copernicus, Open J-Gate, AMS Digital Mathematics Registry, Directory of Open Access Journals, CENTRAL EURO-PEAN UNIVERSITY - Catalogue.

Volume Editors: Vicențiu Rădulescu, Mihaela Sterpu

Layout Editor: Mihai Gabroveanu

ISSN 1223-6934 Online ISSN 2246-9958

Printed in Romania: Universitaria Press, Craiova, 2014. http://www.editurauniversitaria.ro Annals of the University of Craiova, Mathematics and Computer Science Series Volume 41(2), 2014 ISSN 1223-6934

Table of contents

Several characterizations of the 4–valued modal algebras Aldo Victorio Figallo and Paolo Landini	154
Congruence relations on pseudo BE–algebras A. Rezaei, A. Borumand Saeid, A. Radfar and R. A. Borzooei	166
Strongly nonlinear variational parabolic initial-boundary value problems Youssef Akdim, Abdelmoujib Benkirane, Mostafa El Moumni and Aziz Fri	177
Solving nonlinear fractional differential equations using multi-step homotopy analysis method Hassan Al-Zou'bi and Mohammad Zurigat	190
Growth of certain combinations of entire solutions of higher order linear differential equations Zinelâabidine Latreuch and Benharrat Belaïdi	200
On fuzzy real valued asymptotically equivalent sequences and lacunary ideal convergence Bipan Hazarika and Ayhan Esi	209
Generalized Hermite-Hadamard type integral inequalities for s-convex functions via fractional integrals Mehmet Zeki Sarikaya and Fatma Ertugral	226
Sinc-Legendre collocation method for the non-linear Burgers' fractional equation Kamel Al-Khaled	234
Survey on distributed approaches to swarm intelligence for graph search problems Sorin Ilie	251
Socket extensions for esoteric languages Radu Dragoş and Diana Haliţă	271
Hilbert-Pachpatte-type inequality due to fractional differential inequalities Josip Pečarić and Predrag Vuković	280
Nonlinear analysis on elliptic curves subspaces with cryptographic applications Oana Adriana Țicleanu	292

Several characterizations of the 4-valued modal algebras

ALDO VICTORIO FIGALLO AND PAOLO LANDINI

ABSTRACT. A. Monteiro, in 1978, defined the algebras he named tetravalent modal algebras, that will be called $4-valued \ modal \ algebras$ in this work. These algebras constitute a generalization of the 3-valued Lukasiewicz algebras defined by Moisil.

The theory of the 4-valued modal algebras has been widely developed by I. Loureiro in [6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12] and by A. V. Figallo in [2, 3, 4, 5].

J. Font and M. Rius indicated, in the introduction to the important work [1], a brief but detailed review on the 4-valued modal algebras.

In this work varied characterizations are presented that show the "closeness" this variety of algebras has with other well–known algebras related to the algebraic counterparts of certain logics.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 06D99; Secondary 06D30. Key words and phrases. De Morgan algebras, tetravalente modal algebras, three-valued Lukasiewicz algebras, 4-valued modal algebras.

1. Introduction

In 1940 G. C. Moisil [13] introduced the notion of three–valued Łukasiewicz algebra. In 1963, A.Monteiro [14] characterized these algebras as algebras $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, \nabla, 1 \rangle$ of type (2, 2, 1, 1, 0) which verify the following identities:

(A1) $x \lor 1 = 1$,

(A2)
$$x \wedge (x \vee y) = x$$
,

(A3) $x \land (y \lor z) = (z \land x) \lor (y \land x),$

$$(A4) \sim \sim x = x,$$

(A5)
$$\sim (x \lor y) = \sim x \land \sim y$$
,

 $(A6) \sim x \lor \forall x = 1,$

(A7)
$$x \wedge \sim x = \sim x \wedge \forall x$$
,

 $(\mathbf{A8}) \ \, \triangledown(x \wedge y) = \triangledown x \wedge \triangledown y.$

L.Monteiro [15] proved that A1 follows from A2, \cdots , A8, and that A2, \cdots , A8, are independent.

From A2, \cdots , A5 it follows that $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, 1 \rangle$ is a De Morgan algebra with last element 1 and first element $0 = \sim 1$.

In Lemma 1.1 we will indicate other properties valid in the variety of 4-valued modal algebras necessary for the development that follows.

Lemma 1.1. In every 4-valued modal algebra $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, \nabla, 1 \rangle$ we have : A9-A17. (A9) $x \leq \nabla x$, (A10) $\nabla 1 = 1$, (A11) $\nabla x < \nabla \nabla x$,

(A12) $\nabla x \vee \sim \nabla x = 1$,

Received September 28, 2013. Revised September 6, 2014.

- (A13) $\nabla x \wedge \sim \nabla x = 0$,
- $(A14) \quad \nabla \nabla x = \nabla x,$
- (A15) If $x \le y$, then $\nabla x \le \nabla y$, (A16) $\nabla(\nabla x \lor \nabla y) = \nabla(x \lor y)$,
- (A17) $\nabla x \vee \nabla y = \nabla (x \vee y),$

the proof of which we will indicate in the section that follows.

In 1969 J. Varlet [16] characterized three–valued Lukasiewicz algebras by means of other operations. Let $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, *, +, 0, 1 \rangle$ be an algebra of type (2, 2, 1, 1, 0, 0) where $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, 0, 1 \rangle$ is a bounded distributive lattice with least element 0, greatest element 1 and the following properties are satisfied:

- $(V1) \quad x \wedge x^* = 0,$
- $(V2) \quad (x \wedge y)^* = x^* \wedge y^*,$
- (V3) $0^* = 1$,
- (V4) $x \lor x^+ = 1$, (V5) $(x \lor y)^+ = x^+ \land y^+$,
- (V5) $(x \lor y)^+ = x$ (V6) $1^+ = 0$,
- (V0) 1 -0,
- (V7) If $x^* = y^*$ and $x^+ = y^+$, then x = y.

About these algebras he proved that it is possible to define, in the sense of [14, 15] a structure of three-valued Lukasiewicz algebra by taking $\sim x = (x \vee x^*) \wedge x^+$ and $\nabla x = x^{**}$.

Furthermore it holds $x^* = \nabla \nabla x$ and $x^+ = \nabla \nabla x$. Therefore three-valued Lukasiewicz are double Stone lattices which satisfy the determination principle V7. Moreover V7 may be replaced by the identity

$$(x \wedge x^+) \wedge (y \vee y^*) = x \wedge x^+.$$

Later, in 1963, A. Monteiro [14] considered the 4-valued modal algebras $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, \nabla, 1 \rangle$ of type (2, 2, 1, 1, 0) which satisfy A2, ..., A7 as an abstraction of three-valued Lukasiewicz algebras.

In this paper we give several characterizations of the 4-valued modal algebras. In the first one we consider the operations $\land, \lor, \neg, \Gamma, 0, 1$ where $\neg x = \sim \forall x, \Gamma x = \forall \sim x$ are called strong and weak negation respectively.

2. A characterization of the 4-valued modal algebras

Before working on Theorem 2.1 we will indicate proofs from A9 through A16. Then, (A0), $n \in \nabla m$

(A9)
$$x \le \nabla x$$
:
(1) $(x \land \sim x) \lor \nabla x = (\nabla x \land \sim x) \lor \nabla x = \nabla x$,
(2) $(x \lor \nabla x) \land (\sim x \lor \nabla x) = \nabla x$.
[A7]

$$\begin{array}{l} (2) & (x \lor \nabla x) \land (\neg x \lor \nabla x) = \lor x, \\ (3) & (x \lor \nabla x) \land 1 = \nabla x, \\ (4) & x \lor \nabla x = \nabla x, \end{array}$$
 [A6]

(4)
$$x \lor v x = v$$

(5) $x < \nabla x$

$$\begin{array}{ll}
(3) & x \leq \sqrt{x}, \\
(A10) & \nabla 1 = 1; \\
(A11) & \nabla x \leq \nabla \nabla x; \\
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{ll}
(A9] \\
(A9] \\
(A9] \\
(A9) \\$$

(A12)
$$\nabla x \sqrt{\sim} \nabla x = 1$$
:

(1)
$$\nabla x \wedge \sim \nabla x = \nabla x \wedge \nabla \nabla x$$
, [A7]
(2) $\sim \nabla x \vee \nabla x = \nabla x \vee \sim \nabla \nabla x$ [(1), A5]

$$(2) \sim \forall x \lor \forall x = \forall x \lor \sim \forall \forall x = (\forall x \lor \sim \forall \forall x) \land 1$$
 $(1), A$

$$= (\nabla x \lor \sim \nabla \nabla x) \land (\sim x \lor \nabla x)$$
 [A6]

A.V. FIGALLO AND P. LANDINI

$$\begin{array}{c} = \left((\nabla x \vee \nabla \nabla x) \wedge \sim x \right) \vee \left((\nabla x \vee \nabla \nabla x) \wedge \nabla x \right) \\ = \left((\nabla x \vee x) \wedge (\nabla \nabla \nabla x \vee x) \right) \vee \nabla x \\ = \left((\Lambda \langle \nabla \nabla x \vee \rangle \rangle \right) \vee \nabla x \\ = 1 \right) \\ (\Lambda (3) \quad \nabla x \sim \nabla x = 0; \\ (\Lambda (3) \quad \nabla x \sim \nabla x = 0; \\ (\Lambda (4) \quad \nabla \nabla x = \nabla x \wedge 1 \\ = \nabla \nabla x \wedge (\nabla x \vee \nabla x) \\ = \nabla \nabla x \wedge (\nabla x \vee \nabla x) \\ = \nabla \nabla x \wedge (\nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ = \nabla \nabla x \wedge (\nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ = \nabla \nabla x \wedge (\nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ = \nabla x \vee (\nabla \nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ = \nabla x \vee (\nabla \nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ = \nabla x \vee (\nabla \nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ = \nabla x (\nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ (\Lambda (5) \quad If \quad x \leq y, \text{ten} \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla y; \\ (1) \quad x \leq y, \\ (2) \quad y \leq x \times x \\ (1) \quad x \leq y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq y, \\ (2) \quad y \leq x \times x \vee \nabla y, \\ (3) \quad y \vee \nabla y \leq x \vee \nabla y, \\ (4) \quad 1 = -x \vee \nabla y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (2) \quad y \leq x \vee x \vee x) \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \quad \nabla x \wedge \nabla x) \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \wedge \nabla y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (2) \quad y \leq x \vee y, \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \wedge \nabla y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \wedge \nabla y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \vee y), \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \vee y), \\ (416) \quad \nabla (\nabla x \vee y) = \nabla (x \vee y), \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \vee y, \\ (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (2) \quad y \leq \nabla (x \vee y), \\ (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (3) \quad \nabla x \leq \nabla x \vee y, \\ (1) \quad (1) \quad x \leq x \vee y, \\ (1) \quad (2) \quad y \leq y \otimes (x \vee y), \\ (1) \quad (2) \quad (2) \quad y \leq (x \vee y), \\ (1) \quad (2) \quad (2) \quad y \leq (x \vee y), \\ (1) \quad (3) \quad (2) \quad ($$

SEVERAL CHARACTERIZATIONS OF THE 4–VALUED MODAL ALGEBRAS 157

(7)
$$\nabla(x \lor y) \le \nabla x \lor \nabla y,$$
 [(6)]
(8) $\nabla x \lor \nabla y = \nabla(x \lor y).$ [(7), (5) of A16]

Theorem 2.1. Let $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \neg, \Gamma, 0, 1 \rangle$ be an algebra of type (2, 2, 1, 1, 0, 0) where $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \neg, \Gamma, 0, 1 \rangle$ is a bounded distributive lattice with least element 0

 $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, 0, 1 \rangle$ is a bounded distributive lattice with least element 0, greatest element 1 and the operators ∇, \sim are defined on A by means of the formulas: (D1) $\nabla x = \neg \neg x$,

(D2) $\sim x = (x \lor \neg x) \land \Gamma x.$ Then (i) and (ii) are equivalent: (i) $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, \nabla, 1 \rangle$ is a 4-valued modal algebra. (ii) $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \neg, \Gamma, 0, 1 \rangle$ verifies these properties: (B1) $\neg \neg 1 = 1$, (B2) $x \wedge \neg x = 0$, (B3) $x \vee \Gamma x = 1$, (B4) $\neg x \wedge \Gamma \neg x = 0$, (B5) $\Gamma x \vee \neg \Gamma x = 1$, (B6) $\Gamma(x \wedge y) = \Gamma x \vee \Gamma y$, (B7) $\neg (x \lor y) = \neg x \land \neg y,$ (B8) $\neg (x \land \neg y) = \neg x \lor \neg \neg y,$ (B9) $\Gamma(x \vee \Gamma y) = \Gamma x \wedge \Gamma \Gamma y$, (B10) $(x \lor y) \land \Gamma(x \lor y) \le x \lor \neg x$, (B11) $x \wedge \Gamma x \wedge y \wedge \Gamma y \leq \Gamma(x \vee y)$. Where $a \leq b$ if and only if $a \wedge b = a$ or $a \vee b = b$. Moreover, the operators \neg, Γ are defined on A by means of the formulas: (D3) $\neg x = \sim \nabla x$, (D4) $\Gamma x = \nabla \sim x$. *Proof.* (i) \implies (ii) [D1, A10] (B1) $\neg \neg 1 = 1$: (B2) $x \wedge \neg x = 0$: [D3] $x \wedge \neg x = x \wedge \sim \nabla x$ $= \sim (\sim x \lor \nabla x)$ $= \sim 1$ [A6] = 0.(B3) $x \vee \Gamma x = 1$: $x \vee \Gamma x = x \vee \nabla \sim x$ [D4] $= \sim \sim x \lor \bigtriangledown \sim x$ = 1.[A6] (B4) $\neg x \wedge \Gamma \neg x = 0$: [D3, D4] $\neg x \wedge \Gamma \neg x = \sim \forall x \wedge \forall \sim \sim \forall x$ $= \sim \nabla x \wedge \nabla \nabla x$ [A5] $= \sim \nabla x \wedge \nabla x$ [A14] = 0.[A13] (B5) $\Gamma x \vee \neg \Gamma x = 1$: $\Gamma x \vee \neg \Gamma x = \triangledown \sim x \vee \sim \triangledown \triangledown \sim x$ [D3, D4] $= \triangledown \sim x \lor \sim \triangledown \sim x$ [A14] = 1.[A12] (B6) $\Gamma(x \wedge y) = \Gamma x \vee \Gamma y$: $\Gamma(x \wedge y) = \nabla \sim (x \wedge y)$ [D4] $= \triangledown (\sim x \lor \sim y)$ $= \triangledown \sim x \lor \triangledown \sim y$ [A17]

$$\begin{array}{c|c} = \Gamma x \lor \Gamma y. \qquad [D4] \\ (B7) \neg (x \lor y) = \neg x \land \neg y: \\ \neg (x \lor y) = \neg (x \lor y) \qquad [A17] \\ = \neg \nabla x \land \nabla y \\ = \neg x \land \neg y. \qquad [D3] \\ (B8) \neg (x \land y) = x \lor (x \land \nabla y) \qquad [A18] \\ = \neg x \land \neg y. \qquad [D3] \\ (B8) \neg (x \land y) = x \lor (x \land \nabla y) \qquad [D3] \\ = \neg (x \land \nabla \nabla y) \qquad [A8] \\ = \neg (x \land \nabla \nabla y) \\ = \neg (x \land \nabla \nabla y) \qquad [A8] \\ = \neg x \lor \nabla \neg \nabla x \lor \nabla x \lor y \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \neg \nabla y) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla y) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla y) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = \nabla (x \land \nabla \nabla \nabla \nabla x) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land \nabla x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land \nabla x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \land x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \land x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \land x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \land x)) \qquad [D4] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \land x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \land x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \land x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \land x) \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \land (x \lor x) \land (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \lor (x \land (x \lor x)) \land (x \lor (x \lor x)) \land (x \lor (x \lor x)) \qquad [A7] \\ = (x \lor (x \lor (x \land (x \lor x)) \land (x \lor (x \lor x)) \land (x$$

$$\neg x \wedge \Gamma x = (\neg x \wedge \Gamma x) \lor 0
 = (\neg x \wedge \Gamma x) \lor (x \wedge \neg x)
 = \neg x \wedge (\Gamma x \lor x)
 = \neg x \wedge 1$$
[B2]
[B3]

$$= \neg x.$$
(B15) $\neg 0 = 1:$
(1) $0 = 1 \land \neg 1,$
[B2]

(2)
$$\neg 0 = \neg (1 \land \neg 1)$$
 [(1)]
= $\neg 1 \lor \neg \neg 1$ [B8]

$$= 1. [B1] (B16) \Gamma 1 = 0: [B4] $\neg 0 \land \Gamma \neg 0 = 0, [B4]$$$

$$1 \wedge \Gamma 1 = 0,$$

$$\Gamma 1 = 0.$$

[B15]

$$\Gamma 1 = 0.$$

$$\begin{array}{l} \Gamma 1 = 0. \\ (B17) \ \Gamma x \wedge \Gamma \Gamma x = 0: \\ \Gamma x \wedge \Gamma \Gamma x = \Gamma (x \vee \Gamma x) \\ = \Gamma 1 \\ = 0 \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{l} [B9] \\ [B3] \\ [B16] \end{array}$$

$$= 0.$$
(B18) $\neg x \lor \neg \neg x = 1:$
 $\neg x \lor \neg \neg x = \neg (x \land \neg x)$
[B8]
[B2]

$$= \neg 0$$

$$= 1.$$

$$[B19) \neg \neg x = \Gamma \neg x:$$

(1)
$$\Gamma \neg x = \Gamma \neg x \wedge 1$$

$$= \Gamma \neg x \wedge (\neg x \vee \neg \neg x)$$

$$= (\Gamma \neg x \wedge \neg x) \vee (\Gamma \neg x \wedge \neg \neg x)$$

$$= 0 \vee (\Gamma \neg x \wedge \neg \neg x)$$

$$= \Gamma \neg x \wedge \neg \neg x,$$
[B18]

$$(2) \Gamma \neg x \leq \neg \neg x, \qquad [(1)]$$

$$(3) \neg \neg x \leq \Gamma \neg x, \qquad [B14]$$

$$(4) \neg \neg x = \Gamma \neg x. \qquad [(2), (3)]$$

$$(B20) \Gamma \Gamma x = \neg \Gamma x:$$

(3)
$$\neg x \wedge \Gamma \Gamma x = 0.$$
 [(2), B17]
(B22) $x \leq \neg \neg x$:
(1) $x \wedge 1 = x \wedge (\neg x \vee \neg \neg x)$
 $= (x \wedge \neg x) \vee (x \wedge \neg \neg x)$
 $= x \wedge \neg \neg x.$ [B18]

$$= x \wedge \neg \neg x,$$
(B2)
(2) $x \leq \neg \neg x.$
(B23) $\Gamma \Gamma x \leq x:$

A.V. FIGALLO AND P. LANDINI

(1) $ \begin{aligned} x &= x \lor \Gamma 1 \\ &= x \lor \Gamma(x \lor \Gamma x) \\ &= x \lor (\Gamma x \land \Gamma \Gamma x) \\ &= (x \lor \Gamma x) \land (x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x) \end{aligned} $	[B16] [B3] [B9]
$(2) \Gamma \Gamma x \leq x.$ $(B24) \neg \neg \neg x = \neg x:$	[B3] [(1)]
(1) $ = \neg(\neg\neg x) = \neg(\neg\neg x) = \neg(\neg\neg x \lor x) = \neg(\neg\neg x \lor x) = \neg\neg x \land \neg x, $ (2) $ \neg x \leq \neg x, = \neg x, $ (3) $ \neg x \leq \neg \neg x, $ (4) $ \neg \neg x = \neg x. $	$[B22] \\ [B7] \\ [(1)] \\ [B22] \\ [(2), (3)] $
$\begin{array}{c} (B25) \ \Gamma \Gamma \Gamma x = \Gamma x; \\ (1) \ \Gamma \Gamma \Gamma x \leq \Gamma x, \end{array}$	[B23]
(2) $\Gamma\Gamma\Gamma x = \Gamma(\Gamma\Gamma x)$	$[B23] \\ [B6] \\ [(2)] \\ [(1), (3)]$
(B26) $\neg \Gamma x \leq x$. (1) $\Gamma \Gamma x = \neg \Gamma x$, (2) $\Gamma \Gamma x \leq x$, (3) $\neg \Gamma x \leq x$. (D27) $\Gamma \Gamma$	$[B20] \\ [B23] \\ [(1), (2)]$
$(B27) \ \Pi^{-} \neg x = \neg x:$ $\Gamma \Gamma \neg x = \neg \Gamma \neg x$ $= \neg \neg \neg x$ $= \neg x.$ $(D20) \ \Pi^{-} \Pi^{-}$	[B20] [B19] [B24]
$(B28) \ \Pi \Pi \neg x = \neg \neg x; \Gamma \Gamma \Gamma \neg x = \Gamma \neg x = \neg \neg x.$	[B27] [B19]
(B29) $\Gamma((x \lor \neg x) \land \Gamma x) = \neg \neg x:$ $\Gamma((x \lor \neg x) \land \Gamma x) = \Gamma(x \lor \neg x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x$ $= \Gamma(x \lor \Gamma \Gamma \neg x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x$ $= (\Gamma x \land \neg \neg x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x$ $= (\Gamma x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x) \land (\neg \neg x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x)$	[B6] [B27] [B9, B28]
$(B30) \neg \neg \Gamma x = \Gamma x:$	[B3, B22, B23]
$\neg \neg \Gamma x = \Gamma \neg \Gamma x$ = $\Gamma \Gamma \Gamma x$ = $\Gamma x.$	[B19] [B20] [B25]
(B31) $\neg \neg \Gamma x = \Gamma \Gamma x:$ $\neg \neg \Gamma x = \Gamma \Gamma \Gamma \neg \neg \Gamma x$ $= \Gamma \neg \neg \Gamma x$ $= \neg \neg \neg \Gamma x$ $= \neg \Gamma x.$ (D22) $= ((-, -, -, -))$	[B28] [B25] [B19] [B24] [B20]
$(B32) \neg ((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x) = \Gamma \Gamma x: \neg ((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x) = \neg (x \land \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x$	[B7]

$$= \neg (x \land \neg \neg \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x$$

$$= (\neg x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x$$
[B30]
[B8, B31]

$$= \Gamma \Gamma x.$$
 [B2, B22, B23]

(B33)
$$\Gamma \neg \neg x = \neg x$$
:
 $\Gamma \neg \neg x = \neg \neg \neg x$ [B19]
 $= \neg x$. [B24]

Now we are able to prove the axioms A4, A6 and A7.

Axiom A4 $\sim \sim x = x$: First, we observe that from B14 and D2 we obtain: (D3) $\sim x = (x \wedge \Gamma x) \vee \neg x$. Then (1) $\sim \sim x = (((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x) \land \Gamma((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x)) \lor \neg((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x),$ [D3] (2) $\Gamma((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x)) = \Gamma((x \lor \neg x) \land (\Gamma x \lor \neg x))$ $= \Gamma((x \lor \neg x) \land \Gamma x)$ [B14] $= \neg \neg x$, [B29] (3) $\sim \sim x = (((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x) \land \neg \neg x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x$ [(1), (2), B32] $= (((x \land \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x) \lor (\neg x \land \neg \neg x)) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x$ $= ((x \land \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x$ [B2] $= ((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x) \land (\neg \neg x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x)$ $= ((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \Gamma \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x$ [B22, B23] $= ((x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x) \land (\Gamma x \lor \Gamma \Gamma x)) \land \neg \neg x$ $= (x \vee \Gamma \Gamma x) \land \neg \neg x$ [B3] $= x \land \neg \neg x$ [B23] [B22] = x. Axiom A6 $\sim x \lor \forall x = 1$: $\sim x \lor \forall x = (x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x \lor \neg \neg x$ [D3, D1] [B18] $= (x \wedge \Gamma x) \vee 1 = 1.$ Axiom A7 $x \land \sim x = \sim x \land \forall x$: $\sim x \wedge \nabla x = ((x \wedge \Gamma x) \vee \neg x) \wedge \neg \neg x$ [D3, D1] $= (x \land \Gamma x \land \neg \neg x) \lor (\neg x \land \neg \neg x)$ $= (x \wedge \Gamma x) \vee 0$ [B22, B2] $= (x \wedge \Gamma x) \vee (x \wedge \neg x)$ [B2] $= ((x \land \Gamma x) \lor x) \land ((x \land \Gamma x) \lor \neg x)$ $= x \wedge \sim x.$ [D3] (B34) If $x \leq y$ then $\neg y \leq \neg x$ and $\Gamma y \leq \Gamma x$: [Hip.] (1) $x \leq y$, (2) $x \lor y = y$, [(1)](3) $\neg(x \lor y) = \neg y$, [(2)](4) $\neg x \land \neg y = \neg y$, [(3), B7](5) $\neg y \leq \neg x$, [(4)](6) $x \wedge y = x$, [(1)](7) $\Gamma(x \wedge y) = \Gamma x$, [(6)](8) $\Gamma x \vee \Gamma y = \Gamma x$, [(7), B6](9) $\Gamma y \leq \Gamma x$. [(8)](B35) $\sim \Gamma x = \Gamma \Gamma x$: $\sim \Gamma x = \Gamma \Gamma x \wedge (\Gamma x \vee \neg \Gamma x)$ [D2] $= \Gamma \Gamma x \wedge (\Gamma x \vee \Gamma \Gamma x)$ [B20] $=\Gamma\Gamma x.$ [A2](B36) $\sim (\neg x \land \Gamma y) = \neg \neg x \lor \Gamma \Gamma y$: (1) $\sim (\neg x \land \Gamma y) = \Gamma (\neg x \land \Gamma y) \land ((\neg x \land \Gamma y) \lor \neg (\neg x \land \Gamma y)),$ [D2]

On the other hand	
(2) $\Gamma(\neg x \wedge \Gamma y) = \Gamma \neg x \vee \Gamma \Gamma y$	[B6]
$= \neg \neg x \vee \Gamma \Gamma y,$	[B19]
and	
$(3) \neg (\neg x \land \Gamma y) = \neg \Gamma y \lor \neg \neg x$	[B8]
$= \neg \neg x \vee \Gamma \Gamma y,$	[B20]
Then B36 follows from (1) , (2) and (3) .	

$$\begin{array}{ll} (B37) & \Gamma\Gamma(y \lor \neg \neg x) = \Gamma\Gamma y \lor \neg \neg x: & [B27] \\ & = \Gamma(\gamma y \land \neg \neg x) = \Gamma\Gamma y \lor \Gamma\Gamma \neg \neg x & [B6] \\ & = \Gamma(\Gamma y \land \Gamma \neg \neg x) & [B33] \\ & = \Gamma(\Gamma y \land \Gamma\Gamma \neg x) & [B27] \\ & = \Gamma\Gamma(y \lor \Gamma \neg x) & [B9] \\ & = \Gamma\Gamma(y \lor \nabla \neg x). & [B19] \end{array}$$

$$= \Gamma\Gamma(y \vee \neg \neg x).$$
(B38) If $x \le y$ then $\sim y \le \sim x$:

Let x, y be such that

(1)
$$x \le y$$
,
Then
(2) $\sim y \lor \sim x = (y \land \Gamma y) \lor \neg y \lor \neg x \lor (x \land \Gamma x)$
[D3]

$$= (y \land \Gamma y) \lor \neg x \lor (x \land \Gamma x)$$

$$= (y \land \Gamma y) \lor \neg x \lor (x \land \Gamma x)$$

$$= (y \land \Gamma y) \lor \neg x \lor (x \land \Gamma x)$$

$$[(1), B34]$$

$$= \neg x \lor ((y \lor x) \land (y \lor \Gamma x) \land (\Gamma y \lor x) \land (\Gamma y \lor \Gamma x))$$

= $\neg x \lor (y \land (y \lor \Gamma x) \land (\Gamma y \lor x) \land \Gamma x),$ ((1), B34)

$$(3) \sim y \lor \sim x = \neg x \lor (y \land (\Gamma y \lor x) \land \Gamma x)$$

$$= \neg x \lor (\Gamma x \land ((y \land \Gamma y) \lor (y \land x)))$$

$$= \Gamma x \land (\neg x \lor (y \land \Gamma y) \lor x),$$

$$[(1), B14]$$

(4)
$$y \wedge \Gamma y \leq x \vee \neg x$$
,
Then [(1), B10]

$$(5) \sim y \lor \sim x = \Gamma x \land (\neg x \lor x) = \sim x,$$

$$(3), (4), D2$$

$$(5) = \nabla y \leq \sim x.$$

$$(5) = \nabla y \leq \sim x.$$

(B39)
$$\neg x \land \Gamma y \leq \Gamma (x \lor y)$$
:
(1) $\neg x \land \Gamma y = \Gamma \Gamma \neg x \land \Gamma y$

(1)
$$\neg x \wedge \Gamma y = \Gamma \Gamma \neg x \wedge \Gamma y$$
 [B27]
= $\Gamma(y \vee \Gamma \neg x),$ [B9]
(2) $x \leq \neg \neg x$ [B22]

$$(B40) \neg x \land \sim y \leq (x \lor y) \lor \neg (x \lor y):$$

$$(1) \neg x \land \sim y \land ((x \lor y) \lor \neg (x \lor y)) = \sim y \land ((\neg x \land (x \lor y)) \lor (\neg x \land \neg (x \lor y)))$$

$$= \sim y \land ((\neg x \land y) \lor (\neg x \land \neg y)) \quad [B2, B7]$$

$$= \sim y \land \neg x \land (y \lor \neg y)$$

$$= \neg x \land \sim y, \quad [D2]$$

(2)
$$\neg x \land \sim y \le (x \lor y) \lor \neg (x \lor y).$$
 [(1)]

Therefore, $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, \nabla, 1 \rangle$ is a 4-valued modal algebra.

3. Other characterizations

The following characterization of 4–valued modal algebras is easier than that given in Theorem 2.1.

Theorem 3.1. Let $(A, \land, \lor, \sim, \neg, 1)$ be an algebra of type (2,2,1,1,0) where $(A, \land, \lor, \sim, 1)$ is a De Morgan algebra with last element 1 and first element $0 = \sim 1$. If \lor is an unary operation defined on A by means of the formula $\forall x = \sim \neg x$, then A is a 4-valued modal algebra if and only if it verifies:

(T1)
$$x \wedge \neg x = 0$$
,

(T2) $x \lor \neg x = x \lor \sim x$.

Furthermore $\neg x = \sim \forall x$.

<i>Proof.</i> We check only sufficient condition	
$(A6) \sim x \lor \nabla x = \sim x \lor \sim \neg x = \sim (x \land \neg x) = 1$	[T1]
$(A7) \sim x \land \forall x = \sim x \land \sim \neg x$	[T2]
$= \sim (x \lor \neg x)$	
$= \sim (x \lor \sim x)$	
$= x \wedge \sim x$	

Remark 3.1. In a 4–valued modal algebra the operation considered in Theorem 2.1, generally does not coincide with the pseudo-complement * as we can verify in the following example:



we have



However, every finite 4-valued modal algebra is a distributive lattice pseudo complemented. We do not know whether this situation holds in the non-finite case. This suggests that we consider a particular class of De Morgan algebras.

Definition 3.1. An algebra $(A, \land, \lor, \sim, *, 1)$ of type (2,2,1,1,0) is a modal De Morgan p-algebra if the reduct $(A, \land, \lor, \sim, 1)$ is a De Morgan algebra with last element 1 and first element $0 = \sim 1$, the reduct is a pseudo-complemented meet-lattice and the following condition is verified

H1)
$$x \lor \sim x \le x \lor x^*$$

Example 3.1. The De Morgan algebra whose Hasse diagram is given in Figure 2 and the operations \sim and * are defined in Table 3.



is not a modal De Morgan *p*-algebra because $b = (a \lor \sim a) \leq a \lor a^* = a$.

Theorem 3.2. If we define on a modal De Morgan p-algebra $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \sim, *, 1 \rangle$ the operation \neg by means of the formula $\neg x = x^* \land \sim x$ then the algebra $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \neg, 1 \rangle$ verifies the identities T1 and T2.

Proof. (T1) $x \wedge \neg x = x \wedge x^* \wedge \sim x = 0 \wedge \sim x = 0$ (T2) $x \vee \neg x = x \vee (x^* \wedge \sim x) = (x \vee x^*) \wedge (x \vee \sim x)$ $= (x \vee \sim x)$ [H1]

Remark 3.2. By [4] we know that every finite modal 4-valued algebra A is direct product of copies of T2, T3 and T4, where T2={0,1}, T3={0,a,1} and T4={0,a,b,1} are modal De Morgan p-algebra we conclude that A is also a modal De Morgan p-algebra.

We do not know whether this situation holds in the non-finite case.

Acknowledgements. We want to state very specially our gratitude for the anonymous reviewer for his/her detailed revision and suggestions, which improved the presentation of this work; the proof to relation B20 is the reviewer's.

References

- J. Font and M. Rius, An abstract algebraic logic approach to tetravalent modal logics, J. Symbolic Logic 65 (2000), 481–518.
- [2] A. V. Figallo, On the congruences in tetra-valued modal algebras, Port. Math. 49 (1992), no. 1, 11–22.
- [3] A. V. Figallo, Tópicos sobre álgebras modales 4-valuadas, Proceeding of the IX Simposio Latino-Americano de Lógica Matemática, (Bahía Blanca, Argentina, 1992), Ed. vol. 39 de Notas de Lógica Matemática, 145–157.
- [4] A. V. Figallo and P. Landini, On generalized I-algebras and modal 4-valued algebras, Rep. Math. Logic 29 (1995), 3–18.
- [5] A. Figallo and A. Ziliani, Symmetric tetra-valued modal algebras, Notas Soc. Mat. Chile 10 (1991), no. 1, 133–141.
- [6] I. Loureiro, Homomorphism kernels of a tetravalent modal algebra, Portugaliae Math. 39 (1980), 371–379.
- [7] I. Loureiro, Axiomatisation et propriétés des algèbres modales tétravalentes, C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris 295 (1982), Série I, 555–557.
- [8] I. Loureiro, Algebras Modais Tetravalentes, Ph. D. Thesis, Faculdade de Ciências de Lisboa, 1983.
- [9] I. Loureiro, Prime spectrum of a tetravalent modal algebras, Notre Dame J. of Formal Logic 24 (1983), 389–394.
- [10] I. Loureiro, Finitely generated free tetravalent modal algebras, Discrete Math. 46 (1983), 41–48.
- [11] I. Loureiro, Finite Tetravalent Modal Algebras, Rev. de la Unión Mat. Argentina 31 (1984), 187–191.
- [12] I. Loureiro, Principal congruences of tetravalent modal algebras, Notre Dame J. of Formal Logic 26 (1985), 76–80.
- [13] G. C. Moisil, Recherches sur les logiques non chrysippiennes, Ann. Scientifiques de l'Université de Jassy XXVI (1940), 431-460.
- [14] A. Monteiro, Sur la dèfinition des algèbres de Lukasiewicz trivalentes, Bull. Math. de la Soc. Sci. Math. Phys. de la R.P.R. 7(55) (1963), 1–13.
- [15] L. Monteiro, Axiomes independents pour les algèbres de Lukasiewicz trivalentes, Bull. Math. de la Soc. Sci. Math. Phys. de la R.P.R. 7(55) (1963), 199–202.
- [16] J. C. Varlet, Algèbres de Lukasiewicz trivalentes, Bull. de la Societé Royale des Sciences de Liège 9-10 (1968), 399–408.

(Aldo Victorio Figallo, Paolo Landini) Instituto de Ciencias Básicas, Universidad Nacional de San Juan, Avda. Ignacio de la Roza 230 Oeste, 5400 San Juan Argentina *E-mail address*: avfigallo@gmail.com, plandini@ffha.unsj.edu.ar Annals of the University of Craiova, Mathematics and Computer Science Series Volume 41(2), 2014, Pages 166–176 ISSN: 1223-6934

Congruence relations on pseudo BE–algebras

A. REZAEI, A. BORUMAND SAEID, A. RADFAR, AND R. A. BORZOOEI

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we consider the notion of congruence relation on pseudo BE-algebras and construct quotient pseudo BE-algebra via this congruence relation. Also, we use the notion of normal pseudo filters and get a congruence relation.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 06F35; Secondary 03G25. Key words and phrases. (distributive, quotient)pseudo BE-algebra, (normal)pseudo filter, congruence relation.

1. Introduction

Some recent researchers led to generalizations of some types of algebraic structures by pseudo structures. G Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu [3], and independently J. Rachunek [11], introduced pseudo MV-algebras which are a non-commutative generalization of MV-algebras. The notions of pseudo BL-algebras and pseudo BCK-algebras were introduced and studied by G. Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu [9, 10, 4]. A. Walendziak gave a system of axioms defining pseudo BCK- algebras [12]. Y, B. Jun and et al. introduced the concepts of pseudo-atoms, pseudo BCI-ideals and pseudo BCI-homomorphisms in pseudo BCI- algebras and characterizations of a pseudo BCI-ideal, and provide conditions for a subset to be a pseudo BCI-ideal [5]. Y. H. Kim and K. S. So [7], discuss on minimal elements in pseudo BCI-algebras.

The notion of BE-algebras was introduced by H. S. Kim and Y. H. Kim [6]. We generalized the notion of BE-algebras and introduced the notion of pseudo BE-algebras, pseudo subalgebras, pseudo filters and investigated some related properties [1]. We introduced the notion of distributive pseudo BE-algebra and normal pseudo filters and prove some basic properties. Furthermore, the notion of pseudo upper sets in pseudo BE- algebras introduced and prove that the every pseudo filter F of X is union of pseudo upper sets. We show that in distributive pseudo BE-algebras normal pseudo filters and pseudo filters are equivalent [2].

In the present paper, we apply the notion of congruence relations to pseudo BE-algebras and discuss on the quotient algebras via this congruence relations. It is a natural question which is the relationships between congruence relations on pseudo BE-algebras and (normal)pseudo filters. From here comes the main motivation for this. We show that quotient of a pseudo BE-algebra via a congruence relation is a pseudo BE-algebra and prove that, if X is a distributive pseudo BE-algebra, then it becomes to a BE-algebra.

Received December 3, 2013.

2. Preliminaries

In this section we review the basic definitions and some elementary aspects that are necessary for this paper.

Definition 2.1. [1] An algebra $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ of type (2, 2, 0) is called a *pseudo* BEalgebra if it satisfies in the following axioms:

(pBE1) x * x = 1 and $x \diamond x = 1$,

(pBE2) x * 1 = 1 and $x \diamond 1 = 1$,

(pBE3) 1 * x = x and 1 $\diamond x = x$,

(pBE4) $x * (y \diamond z) = y \diamond (x * z),$

(pBE5) $x * y = 1 \Leftrightarrow x \diamond y = 1$, for all $x, y, z \in X$.

In a pseudo *BE*-algebra, one can introduce a binary relation " \leq " by $x \leq y \Leftrightarrow$ $x * y = 1 \Leftrightarrow x \diamond y = 1$, for all $x, y \in X$. From now on X is a pseudo *BE*-algebra, unless otherwise is stated and we note that if $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ is a pseudo *BE*-algebra, then $(X; \diamond, *, 1)$ is a pseudo *BE*-algebra, too.

Remark 2.1. If X is a pseudo *BE*-algebra satisfying $x * y = x \diamond y$, for all $x, y \in X$, then X is a BE-algebra.

Proposition 2.1. [1, 2] The following statements hold:

- (1) $x * (y \diamond x) = 1, x \diamond (y * x) = 1,$ (2) $x \diamond (y \diamond x) = 1, x \ast (y \ast x) = 1,$
- (3) $x \diamond ((x \diamond y) \ast y) = 1, x \ast ((x \ast y) \diamond y) = 1,$ (4) $x * ((x \diamond y) * y) = 1, x \diamond ((x * y) \diamond y) = 1,$
- (5) If $x \leq y * z$, then $y \leq x \diamond z$,
- (6) If $x \leq y \diamond z$, then $y \leq x * z$,
- (7) $1 \le x$, implies x = 1.
- (8) If $x \leq y$, then $x \leq z * y$ and $x \leq z \diamond y$,

for all $x, y, z \in X$.

Definition 2.2. [1] A non-empty subset F of X is called a *pseudo filter* of X if it satisfies in the following axioms:

$$(pF1) \quad 1 \in F,$$

(pF2) $x \in F$ and $x * y \in F$ imply $y \in F$.

Proposition 2.2. [1] Let $F \subseteq X$ and $1 \in F$. F is a pseudo filter if and only if $x \in F$ and $x \diamond y \in F$ imply $y \in F$, for all $x, y \in X$.

Theorem 2.3. [1] Let X be a pseudo BE-algebra. Then every pseudo filter of X is a pseudo sub-algebra.

Definition 2.3. [2] X is said to be *distributive* if it satisfies in the following condition:

$$x * (y \diamond z) = (x * y) \diamond (x * z), \text{ for all } x, y, z \in X$$

Theorem 2.4. [2] Let X be a distributive and $x \leq y$. Then

(i) z * x < z * y, and $z * x < z \diamond y$, (*ii*) $z \diamond x \leq z * y$, and $z \diamond x \leq z \diamond y$, for all $x, y, z \in X$.

Proposition 2.5. [2] Let X be a distributive. Then

(i) y * z < (x * y) * (x * z), and $y * z < (x * y) \diamond (x * z)$,

- (ii) $y \diamond z \leq (x * y) * (x * z)$, and $y \diamond z \leq (x * y) \diamond (x * z)$,
- (*iii*) $A(x * y) = A(x \diamond y),$

for all $x, y, z \in X$.

Definition 2.4. [2] A pseudo filter F is said to be *normal*, if for all $x, y \in X$

 $x * y \in F$ if and only if $x \diamond y \in F$.

Theorem 2.6. [2] Let X be distributive. Then every pseudo filter is normal.

Theorem 2.7. [2] Let $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ be a distributive pseudo BE-algebra. $(X, \diamond, *, 1)$ is a distributive pseudo BE-algebra if and only if (X; *, 1) is a BE-algebra (i. e. $x * y = x \diamond y$, for all $x, y \in X$).

3. Congruences relations on pseudo *BE*-algebras

Quotient algebras are a basic tool for exploring the structures of pseudo BEalgebras. There are some relations between pseudo filters, pseudo congruence and quotient pseudo BE-algebras. We define the notion of congruence relations on pseudo BE-algebras and prove that the quotient algebra $(X/\theta; *, \diamond, C_1)$ is a pseudo BEalgebra.

Definition 3.1. Let " θ " be an equivalence relation on X. " θ " is called:

- (i) Left congruence relation on X if $(x, y) \in \theta$ implies $(u * x, u * y) \in \theta$ and $(u \diamond x, u \diamond y) \in \theta$, for all $u \in X$.
- (ii) Right congruence relation on X if $(x, y) \in \theta$ implies $(x * v, y * v) \in \theta$ and $(x \diamond v, y \diamond v) \in \theta$, for all $v \in X$.
- (*iii*) Congruence relation on X if has the substitution property with respect to " *" and " \diamond ", that is, for any $(x, y), (u, v) \in \theta$ we have $(x * u, y * v) \in \theta$ and $(x \diamond u, y \diamond v) \in \theta$.

Example 3.1. (i). It is obvious that $\nabla = X \times X$ and $\triangle = \{(x, x) \mid x \in X\}$ is a congruence relation on X.

(*ii*). Let $X = \{1, a, b, c, d\}$ and operations " * " and " \diamond " defined as follows:

*	1	a	b	c	d	\diamond	1	a	b	c	d
1	1	a	b	c	d	1	1	a	b	С	d
a	1	1	a	1	1	a	1	1	c	1	1
b	1	1	1	1	1	b	1	1	1	1	1
c	1	a	a	1	1	c	1	a	b	1	1
d	1	a	b	c	1	d	1	a	b	c	1

Set $\theta_1 := \triangle \cup \{(d, 1), (1, d)\}$ and $\theta_2 := \triangle \cup \{(1, a), (a, 1)\}$. We can see that θ_1 is a congruence relation on X and θ_2 is a left congruence relation on X. Since $(1, a) \in \theta_2$, and $(b, a) = (1 * b, a * b) \notin \theta_2$, it follows that θ_2 is not a right congruence relation. (*iii*). Let $X = \{1, a, b, c\}$, operations " * " and " \diamond " defined as follows:

*	1	a	b	c	\$	>	1	a	b	c
1	1	a	b	c	1	L	1	a	b	c
a	1	1	1	a	a	ı	1	1	1	b
b	1	1	1	1	b	5	1	1	1	1
c	1	1	1	1	0	3	1	1	1	1

Then, $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ is a pseudo *BE*-algebra. If set $\theta_3 = \Delta \cup \{(b, c), (c, b)\}$, then θ_3 is a right congruence relation. Since $(b, c) \in \theta_3$ and $a \in X$, but $(1, a) = (a * b, a * c) \notin \theta_3$, it follows that θ_3 is not a left congruence neither a congruence relation.

For any $x \in X$, we define

 $\phi_x = \{(a, b) \in X \times X : x * a = x * b \text{ and } x \diamond a = x \diamond b\}.$

Proposition 3.1. ϕ_x is a left congruence relation on X, for all $x \in X$.

Proof. It is obvious that ϕ_x is an equivalence relation on X. Let $(a, b) \in \phi_x$ and $u \in X$. Hence x * a = x * b. Now, we have x * (u * a) = u * (x * a) = u * (x * b) = x * (u * b). Therefore, $(u * a, u * b) \in \phi_x$. By a similar way $(u \diamond a, u \diamond b) \in \phi_x$.

The following example shows that ϕ_x is not a right congruence relation on X, in general.

Example 3.2. Let $X = \{1, a, b, c\}$ and operations " *" and " \diamond " defined as follows:

*	1	a	b	c		\diamond	1	a	b	c
1	1	a	b	c	_	1	1	a	b	c
a	1	1	1	1		a	1	1	1	1
b	1	a	1	c		b	1	c	1	c
c	1	b	1	1		c	1	c	1	1

Then, $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ is a pseudo *BE*-algebra. It can be seen that

$$\phi_c = \{(1,1), (a,a), (b,b), (c,c), (1,b), (b,1), (b,c), (c,b)\}$$

is a left congruence relation on X, but it is not right congruence relation because $(c,b) \in \phi_c$ but $(c * a, b * a) = (b, a) \notin \phi_c$.

Proposition 3.2. Let X be distributive. Then ϕ_x is a right congruence relation on X, for all $x \in X$.

Proof. It is sufficient to show that if $(a, b) \in \phi_x$ and $v \in X$, then $(a * v, b * v) \in \phi_x$. Let $(a, b) \in \phi_x$ and $v \in X$. Hence x * a = x * b and $x \diamond a = x \diamond b$. Now, by using distributivity of X we have $x * (a \diamond v) = (x * a) \diamond (x * v) = (x * b) \diamond (x * v) = x * (b \diamond v)$. Therefore, $(a \diamond v, b \diamond v) \in \phi_x$. By a similar way $(a * v, b * v) \in \phi_x$.

Example 3.3. In Example 3.2, consider

$$c * (c \diamond a) = c * c = 1 \neq b = 1 \diamond b = (c * c) \diamond (c * a),$$

then X is not distributive. Also we showed that ϕ_c is not a right congruence relation.

Let pCon(X) be the set of all congruence relations on X and respectively $pCon_L(X)$ $(pCon_R(X))$ be the set of all the left (right) congruence relations on X. It is clear that $pCon(X) = pCon_L(X) \cap pCon_R(X)$. For $\theta \in pCon(X)$ we will denote $C_x(\theta) = \{y \in X : y \sim_{\theta} x\}$, abbreviated by C_x . We will call C_x the equivalence class containing x and so $X/\theta = \{C_x : x \in X\}$.

Theorem 3.3. Let $\theta \in pCon(X)$. Then $C_1 = \{x \in X : x \sim_{\theta} 1\}$ is a pseudo filter of X.

Proof. Since θ is a reflexive relation, we see that $(1,1) \in \theta$ and so $1 \sim_{\theta} 1$. Thus $1 \in C_1$. Now, let $x, y \in X$. Assume that $a \in C_1$, $a * x \in C_1$. Then $a * x \sim_{\theta} 1$. Now, we have $x \diamond (a * x) \sim_{\theta} x \diamond 1$. Thus $1 \sim_{\theta} a \sim_{\theta} x$ and so $x \in C_1$. This shows that C_1 is a pseudo filter of X.

Note. Let $\theta \in pCon(X)$. Define operations "*" and " \diamond " on X/θ by $C_x * C_y = C_{x*y}$ and $C_x \diamond C_y = C_{x\diamond y}$. Let $\nu : X \to X/\theta$ be such that $\nu(x) = C_x$ for all $x \in X$. Then, ν is an epimorphism. In fact $\nu(x * y) = C_{x*y} = C_x * C_y = \nu(x) * \nu(y)$ and $\nu(x \diamond y) = C_{x\diamond y} = C_x \diamond C_y = \nu(x) \diamond \nu(y)$. ν is called the *natural homomorphism* from X to X/θ . **Proposition 3.4.** The following statements hold:

(i) if $\theta = X \times X$, then $X/\theta = \{C_1\}$,

- (*ii*) if $\theta = \triangle_X$, then $X/\theta = \{X\}$,
- (iii) if $x \leq y$, then $C_x \leq C_y$.

Proof. (i). Let $C_x \in X/\theta$, for some $x \in X$. Since $\theta = X \times X$, we have $(x, y) \in \theta$ for all $y \in X$. Hence $C_x = C_y$. Putting y := 1, then $C_x = C_1$. Therefore, $X/\theta = \{C_1\}$.

(*ii*). Let $C_x \in X/\theta$, for some $x \in X$. Since $\theta = \triangle_X$, we have $C_x = \{x\}$. Therefore, $X/\theta = \{X\}$.

(*iii*). Since $x \leq y$, we get that x * y = 1 and $x \diamond y = 1$. Hence $C_{x*y} = C_1 = C_x * C_y$ and $C_{x\diamond y} = C_1 = C_x \diamond C_y$. Therefore, $C_x \leq C_y$.

Proposition 3.5. Let $\theta \in pCon(X)$. Then $(X/\theta; *, \diamond, C_1)$ is a pseudo BE-algebra.

 $\begin{array}{ll} Proof. \mbox{ If } C_x, C_y, C_z \in X/\theta, \mbox{ then we have} \\ (pBE1) & C_x \ast C_x = C_1 \mbox{ and } C_x \diamond C_x = C_1, \\ (pBE2) & C_x \ast C_1 = C_1 \mbox{ and } C_x \diamond C_1 = C_1, \\ (pBE3) & C_1 \ast C_x = C_x \mbox{ and } C_1 \diamond C_x = C_x, \\ (pBE4) & C_x \ast (C_y \diamond C_z) = C_y \diamond (C_x \ast C_z), \\ (pBE5) & C_x \leq C_y \Leftrightarrow C_x \ast C_y = C_1 \Leftrightarrow C_x \diamond C_y = C_1. \\ \mbox{ Then, } (X/\theta; \ast, \diamond, C_1) \mbox{ is a pseudo } BE\mbox{-algebra}. \end{array}$

Example 3.4. Consider congruence relation θ_1 in Example 3.1(ii), then

$$X/\theta_1 = \{C_1 = C_d = \{1, d\}, C_a = \{a\}, C_b = \{b\}, C_c = \{c\}\},\$$

with the operations "*" and " \diamond " defined by following table is a pseudo *BE*-algebra.

*	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_c	\diamond	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_c
C_1	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_c	C_1	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_c
C_a	C_1	C_1	C_a	C_1	C_a	C_1	C_1	C_c	C_1
C_b	C_1	C_1	C_1	C_1	C_b	C_1	C_1	C_1	C_1
C_c	C_1	C_a	C_a	C_1	C_c	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_1

Theorem 3.6. Let X be distributive and $\theta \in pCon(X)$. Then $(X/\theta; *, \diamond, C_1)$ is too.

Proof. Let $C_x, C_y, C_z \in X/\theta$, for any $x, y, z \in X$. Then

$$C_x * (C_y \diamond C_z) = C_x * C_{y \diamond z} = C_{x*(y \diamond z)}$$

= $C_{(x*y)\diamond(x*z)}$
= $C_{x*y} \diamond C_{x*z}$
= $(C_x * C_y) \diamond (C_x * C_z).$

Therefore, X/θ is distributive.

Proposition 3.7. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a homomorphism. Then (i) f(1) = 1,

(ii) f has the isotonic property, i. e., if $x \leq y$, then $f(x) \leq f(y)$, for all $x, y \in X$.

Proof. (i). Let $x \in X$. Since $x * x = x \diamond x = 1$ and f is a homomorphism, we see that f(1) = f(x * x) = f(x) * f(x) = 1 and $f(1) = f(x \diamond x) = f(x) \diamond f(x) = 1$. Hence f(1) = 1.

(ii). If $x \leq y$, Then $x * y = x \diamond y = 1$. So, (i) implies

$$f(x) * f(y) = f(x * y) = f(1) = 1$$
, and $f(x) \diamond f(y) = f(x \diamond y) = f(1) = 1$.

Hence $f(x) \leq f(y)$. Therefore, f has the isotonic property.

Proposition 3.8. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a homomorphism and $\theta = \{(x, y) : f(x) = f(y)\}$. Then

(i) θ is a congruence relation on X, (ii) $X/\theta \cong f(X)$.

Proof. (i). It is obvious θ is an equivalence relation on X. We only show that θ satisfies the substitution property. Assume that (x, y) and $(u, v) \in \theta$. Then we have f(x) = f(y) and f(u) = f(v). Since f is a homomorphism and above argument yields,

$$f(x * u) = f(x) * f(u) = f(y) * f(v) = f(y * v).$$

and

$$f(x \diamond u) = f(x) \diamond f(u) = f(y) \diamond f(v) = f(y \diamond v).$$

Then $(x * u, y * v), (x \diamond u, y \diamond v) \in \theta$. In the same way we have $(u * x, v * y), (u \diamond x, v \diamond y) \in \theta$. Hence θ is a congruence relation on X.

(*ii*). By using the Proposition 3.5, we have $(X/\theta; *, \diamond, C_1)$ is a pseudo *BE*-algebra. Let $\nu: X/\theta \to f(X)$ be such that $\nu(C_x) = f(x)$, for all $C_x \in X/\theta$. Then

(i). v is well defined, because if $C_x = C_y$, for any $x, y \in X$, then $(x, y) \in \theta$. Therefore, f(x) = f(y). Hence $\nu(C_x) = \nu(C_y)$.

(ii). ker $\nu = \{C_x : \nu(C_x) = f(x) = 1\} = \{C_x : f(x) = f(1)\} = \{C_x : (x, 1) \in \theta\} = C_1$. Then v is one to one.

(iii). $\nu(C_x * C_y) = \nu(C_{x*y}) = f(x * y) = f(x) * f(y) = \nu(C_x) * \nu(C_y)$ and $\nu(C_x \diamond C_y) = \nu(C_{x\diamond y}) = f(x \diamond y) = f(x) \diamond f(y) = \nu(C_x) \diamond \nu(C_y)$. Thus ν is a homomorphism. Therefore, $X/\theta \cong f(X)$.

4. Congruence relations induced by pseudo filters

In this section we assume that X is a distributive pseudo BE-algebra, unless otherwise is stated.

Proposition 4.1. Let F be a pseudo filter of X. Define

$$x \sim_F y$$
 if and only if $x * y, y * x \in F$.

Then $\sim_F \in pCon(X)$.

Proof. (i). Since $1 \in F$, we have $x * x = 1 \in F$, i.e., $x \sim_F x$. This means that " \sim_F " is reflexive. Now, if $x \sim_F y$ and $y \sim_F z$, then $x * y, y * x \in F$ and $y * z, z * y \in F$. By Proposition 2.5(i), $y * z \leq (x * y) * (x * z)$. Now, since $y * z \in F$ and F is a pseudo filter, it follows that $(x * y) * (x * z) \in F$. So $x * z \in F$. By a similar way we see that $z * x \in F$. This shows that " \sim_F " is transitive. The symmetry of " \sim_F " is immediate from the definition. Therefore, " \sim_F " is an equivalence relation on X.

(*ii*). Let $x \in X$ and $u \sim_F v$. Then by Proposition 2.5(i), $v * u \leq (x * v) * (x * u)$. Now, since $v * u \in F$ and F is a pseudo filter, $(x * v) * (x * u) \in F$. By a similar way, $(x * u) * (x * v) \in F$. Therefore, $x * v \sim_F x * u$. Also, by Proposition 2.5(ii), $u * v \leq (x \diamond u) * (x \diamond v)$. Now, since $u * v \in F$ and F is a pseudo filter, we see that $(x \diamond u) * (x \diamond v) \in F$. By a similar way, $(x \diamond v) * (x \diamond u) \in F$. Therefore, $x \diamond v \sim_F x \diamond u$.

By using Proposition 2.5(ii), we have $x * u \leq (y \diamond x) * (y \diamond u)$, then $(x * u) \diamond ((y \diamond x) * (y \diamond u)) = 1$ and so by (pBE4) we have $(y \diamond x) * ((x * u) \diamond (y \diamond u)) = 1$, which implies that $(x * u) \diamond (y \diamond u) \in F$, because F is pseudo filter $y * x \in F$ and by Theorem 2.6, F is normal, then $y \diamond x \in F$. Hence $(x * u) * (y \diamond u) \in F$. On the other hand, we have

 $x * y \leq (y \diamond u) * (x * u)$, because

$$\begin{aligned} (x*y)\diamond((y\diamond u)*(x*u)) &= (y\diamond u)*((x*y)\diamond(x*u)) \\ &= (y\diamond u)*(x*(y\diamond u)) = 1. \end{aligned}$$

Hence $(y \diamond u) * (x * u) \in F$, because F is pseudo filter and $x * y \in F$. Thus $x * u \sim_F y \diamond u$. Finally, since $y \diamond u \sim_F y \diamond v$ and by a similar way, $y \diamond v \sim_F y * v$. By the transitivity " \sim_F " we get $x * u \sim_F y * v$. By the same manner $x \diamond u \sim_F y \diamond v$. Therefore, $\sim_F \in pCon(X)$.

Note. Now, let F be a pseudo filter of X. Denote the equivalence class of x by C_x . Then $F = C_1$. In fact, if $x \in F$, then $x * 1 = x \diamond 1 = 1 \in F$ and $1 * x = 1 \diamond x = x \in F$, i.e., $x \sim_F 1$. Hence $x \in C_1$.

Conversely, let $x \in C_1$. Then $x = 1 * x = 1 \diamond x \in F$, and so $x \in F$. Hence $F = C_1$. Denote $X/F = \{C_x : x \in X\}$ and define that $C_x * C_y = C_{x*y}$ and $C_x \diamond C_y = C_{x\diamond y}$. Since " \sim_F " is a congruence relation on X, the operations "*" and " \diamond " are well defined.

Example 4.1. Let $X = \{1, a, b, c, d\}$ and operations "*" and " \diamond " defined as follows:

*	1	a	b	c	d	\diamond	1	a	b	c	d
1	1	a	b	c	d	1	1	a	b	С	d
a	1	1	c	c	1	a	1	1	b	c	1
b	1	d	1	1	d	b	1	d	1	1	d
c	1	d	1	1	d	c	1	d	1	1	d
d	1	1	c	c	1	d	1	1	b	c	1

Then, $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ is a distributive pseudo *BE*-algebra. It can be easily seen that $F = \{1, a, d\}$ is a pseudo filter. We have

 $\sim_F = \{(1,1), (a,a), (b,b), (c,c), (d,d), (1,a), (a,1), (d,1), (1,d)(a,d), (d,a), (b,c), (c,b)\}$

and so $\sim_F \in pCon(X)$.

Theorem 4.2. Let $F \in pF(X)$. Then

- (i) $(X/F; *, C_1) = (X/F; \diamond, C_1)$ is a BE-algebra (which is called quotient pseudo BE-algebra via F, and $C_1 = F$.)
- (ii) $(X/F; \diamond, *, 1)$ is a distributive pseudo BE-algebra if and only if (X/F; *, 1) is a BE-algebra (i. e. $C_{x*y} = C_{x\diamond y}$, for all $x, y \in X$).

Proof. (i). By similar way of the proof of Proposition 3.5, $(X/F; *, \diamond, C_1)$ is a distributive pseudeo *BE*-algebra. To prove X/F is a *BE*-algebra it is sufficient to prove, $C_x * C_y = C_x \diamond C_y$, for all $C_x, C_y \in X/F$. By Proposition 2.5 (*iii*), $A(x*y) = A(x \diamond y)$. By definition of A(x), it is obvious that $x * y \in A(x * y)$ and $x \diamond y \in A(x \diamond y)$. Thus $x * y \in A(x * y) = A(x \diamond y)$ and so $(x * y) * (x \diamond y) = 1 \in F$. By similar way, $x \diamond y \in A(x \diamond y) = A(x * y)$ and so $(x \diamond y) * (x * y) = 1 \in F$. Hence $x * y \sim_F x \diamond y$ and so $C_{x*y} = C_{x \diamond y}$, which means $C_x * C_y = C_x \diamond C_y$.

(ii). By (i) and Theorem 2.7, the proof is obvious.

Example 4.2. Let $X = \{1, a, b, c, d, e\}$. Define the operations " * " and " \diamond " on X as follows:

*	1	a	b	c	d	e	\diamond	1	a	b	c	d	e
1	1	a	b	c	d	e	1	1	a	b	С	d	e
a	1	1	c	c	d	1	a	1	1	b	c	d	1
b	1	a	1	1	d	e	b	1	a	1	1	d	e
c	1	a	1	1	d	e	c	1	a	1	1	d	e
d	1	a	1	1	1	e	d	1	a	1	1	1	e
e	1	a	c	c	d	1	e	1	a	c	c	d	1

Then $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ is a distributive pseudo BE-algebra. By consider pseudo filter $F = \{1, e\}$, we have $X/F = \{C_1 = C_e = F, C_a = \{a\}, C_b = C_c = \{b, c\}, C_d = \{d\}\}$ with the operations "*" and " \diamond " defined by following table is a pseudo BE-algebra.

$* = \diamond$	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_d
C_1	C_1	C_a	C_b	C_d
C_a	C_1	C_1	C_b	C_d
C_b	C_1	C_a	C_1	C_d
C_d	C_1	C_a	C_1	C_1

Proposition 4.3. Let $\theta \in pCon(X)$. Then

(i) $F_{\theta} \in pF(X),$

(*ii*) $F_{\theta} = \{x | (x, 1) \in \theta\}.$

Proof. (i). Since $(x, x) \in \theta$, we have $x * x = 1 \in F_{\theta}$. Suppose that $x * y, x \in F_{\theta}$. There are $(u, v), (p, q) \in \theta$ such that x * y = u * v and x = p * q. Since $(u, v) \in \theta \in pCon(X)$, we have $(u * v, v * v) = (x * y, 1) \in \theta$ and by a similar way $(x, 1) \in \theta$. Now, $(x * y, 1 * y) = (x * y, y) \in \theta$. Hence $(y, 1) \in \theta$. This yields that $y * 1 = 1, 1 * y = y \in F_{\theta}$. That is F_{θ} is a pseudo filter of X. Furthermore, we can see that, F_{θ} is normal pseudo filter from Theorem 2.6.

(*ii*). Put $F := \{x | (x, 1) \in \theta\}$. Let $x \in F_{\theta}$. There is $(u, v) \in \theta$ such that x = u * v. Since θ is a congruence, we have $(x, 1) = (u * v, 1) = (u * v, v * v) \in \theta$. Hence $F_{\theta} \subseteq F$. Now, let $x \in F$. Hence $(x, 1) \in \theta$ and so $x * 1 = 1, 1 * x = x \in F_{\theta}$. Hence $F \subseteq F_{\theta}$.

Therefore, $F = F_{\theta}$.

In [8], M. Kondo proved that θ is a regular cogruence relation on BCI-algebra if and only if $\theta = \theta_{I_{\theta}}$. Now, it is natural to ask whether $\theta = \theta_{F_{\theta}}$ in pseudo BE-algebras, for all $\theta \in pCon(X)$. We shall investigate the relation between the congruences θ and $\theta_{F_{\theta}}$.

Theorem 4.4. Let $\theta \in pCon(X)$. Then $\theta_{F_{\theta}} = \theta$.

Proof. Let $(x, y) \in \theta$. Then $x * y, y * x \in F_{\theta}$. Since F_{θ} is a normal pseudo filter by Proposition 4.3(*i*), we have $(x, y) \in \theta_{F_{\theta}}$. Therefore $\theta \subseteq \theta_{F_{\theta}}$. Now, it is sufficient to show that $\theta_{F_{\theta}} \subseteq \theta$. Let $(x, y) \in \theta_{F_{\theta}}$. By definition, we have $x * y, y * x \in F_{\theta}$. Hence there are $(u, v), (p, q) \in \theta$ such that x * y = u * v, y * x = p * q. Since $\theta \in pCon(X)$, we have

$$(x * y, 1) = (u * v, 1) = (u * v, v * v) \in \theta.$$

By a similar way $(y * x, 1) \in \theta$. Using Proposition 4.3(*ii*), $x * y, y * x \in F_{\theta}$. Hence $(x, y) \in \theta$ and so $\theta_{F_{\theta}} \subseteq \theta$. Therefore, $\theta_{F_{\theta}} = \theta$.

Proposition 4.5. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a homomorphism. Then

(i) f is epimorphic if and only if Im(f) = Y,

(ii) f is monomorphic if and only if $\ker(f) = \{0\}$,

- (iii) f is isomorphic if and only if the inverse mapping f^{-1} is isomorphic.
- (iv) $\ker(f)$ is a closed pseudo filter of X,
- (v) Im(f) is a pseudo subalgebra of Y.

Proof. (*iv*). By Proposition 3.7(i), $1 \in \ker(f)$. Let $x, x * y \in \ker(f)$, then f(x) = f(x * y) = 1, and so

$$1 = f(x * y) = f(x) * f(y) = 1 * f(y) = f(y).$$

Thus $y \in \text{ker}(f)$. Now, let $x * y \in \text{ker}(f)$. Then f(x * y) = f(x) * f(y) = 1, and so by (pBE5) we have $f(x) \diamond f(y) = f(x \diamond y) = 1$. Therefore, $x \diamond y \in F$. By a similar way we can prove if $x \diamond y \in F$, then $x * y \in F$. Hence ker(f) is a closed pseudo filter of X.

(v). Obviously, Im(f) is a non-vacuous set. If $y_1, y_2 \in Im(f)$, then there exist $x_1, x_2 \in X$ such that $y_1 = f(x_1)$ and $y_2 = f(x_2)$, thus

$$y_1 * y_2 = f(x_1) * f(x_2) = f(x_1 * x_2) \in Im(f)$$

and

$$y_1 \diamond y_2 = f(x_1) \diamond f(x_2) = f(x_1 \diamond x_2) \in Im(f)$$

Consequently, Im(f) is a pseudo subalgebra of Y.

Note. In general, Im(f) may not be a pseudo filter.

Example 4.3. Let $X = \{1, a, b, c\}$ and $Y = \{1, a, b, c, d\}$. Define operations " * " and " \diamond " on X and Y as follows:

	*	1	a	b	c	\diamond	1	a	b	c	
	1	1	a	b	c	1	1	a	b	c	
	a	1	1	a	1	a	1	1	c	1	
	b	1	1	1	1	b	1	1	1	1	
	c	1	a	a	1	c	1	a	b	1	
*	1	a	b	c	d	\diamond	1	a	b	c	d
1	1	a	b	С	d	1	1	а	h	C	d
				0	u	_	-	u	0	C	
a	1	1	a	1	a	\overline{a}	1	1	c	1	c
$egin{array}{c} a \\ b \end{array}$	1 1	1 1	a1	1 1	$a \\ a \\ a$	$a \\ b$	1 1	1 1	c1	1 1	$c \\ c$
$egin{array}{c} a \\ b \\ c \end{array}$	1 1 1	1 1 a	a 1 a	1 1 1	a a a	a b c	1 1 1	$\begin{array}{c} a \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ a \end{array}$	c 1 b	1 1 1	c c d
$egin{array}{c} a \\ b \\ c \\ d \end{array}$	1 1 1 1	$egin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ a \\ 1 \end{array}$	a 1 a 1	1 1 1 1	a a a 1	a b c d	1 1 1 1	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ a \\ 1 \end{array}$	c 1 b 1	1 1 1 1	c c d 1

Then $(X; *, \diamond, 1)$ and $(Y; *, \diamond, 1)$ are pseudo BE-algebras and $\{1, a, b, c\}$ is a pseudo filter of X. Now, if we consider $f: X \to Y$ as the identity map, then f is a homomorphism and f(X) = X. We can see that $X = \{1, a, b, c\}$ is a trivial pseudo filter of X, but f(X) is not a pseudo filter of Y, because

$$a * d = a \in f(X), \ a \in f(X) \ but \ d \notin f(X).$$

Proposition 4.6. Let $f : X \to Y$ be an epimorphism. If F is a pseudo filter of X, then f(F) is a pseudo filter of Y.

Proof. f(F) is nonempty subset of Y because $1 \in f(F)$. Let $y \in Y$ and $a \in f(F)$ such that $a * y \in f(F)$. Then there exist $x \in X$ and $a_1 \in F$ such that f(x) = y and $f(a_1) = a$. Now, we have $a * y = f(a_1) * f(x) = f(a_1 * x) \in f(F)$. Hence $a_1 * x \in F$. Since F is a pseudo filter and $a_1 \in F$, we have $x \in F$. Therefore, $y = f(x) \in f(F)$. \Box

Theorem 4.7. Let F be a closed pseudo filter of X. Then there is a canonical surjective homomorphism $\varphi : X \to X/F$ by $\varphi(x) = C_x$, and ker $\varphi = F$, where ker $\varphi = \varphi^{-1}(C_1)$.

Proof. It is clear that φ is well-defined. Let $x, y \in X$. Then

$$\varphi(x * y) = C_{x * y} = C_x * C_y = \varphi(x) * \varphi(y)$$

and

$$\varphi(x \diamond y) = C_{x \diamond y} = C_x \diamond C_y = \varphi(x) \diamond \varphi(y).$$

Hence φ is homomorphism.

Clearly φ is onto. Also, we have

$$\ker \varphi = \{ x \in X : \varphi(x) = C_1 \} = \{ x \in X : C_x = C_1 \} \\ = \{ x \in X : x * 1, 1 * x, x \diamond 1, 1 \diamond x \in F \} \\ = \{ x \in X : x \in F \} = F.$$

5. Conclusion

In this paper, we consider the relation between congruence relations on pseudo BE-algebras and (normal) pseudo filters. Also, we show that the quotient of a pseudo BE-algebra via a congruence relation is a pseudo BE-algebra and prove that, if X is a distributive pseudo BE-algebra and F is a normal pseudo filter, then the quotient algebra via this filter is a BE-algebra.

Acknowledgements

The authors are highly grateful to the referee for his/her valuable comments and suggestions for improving the paper.

References

- R. A. Borzooei, A. Borumand Saeid, A. Rezaei, A. Radfar and R. Ameri, On pseudo BEalgebras, Discussiones Mathematica, General Algebra and Applications 33 (2013), 95–108.
- [2] R. A. Borzooei, A. Borumand Saeid, A. Rezaei, A. Radfar and R. Ameri, On distributive pseudo BE-algebras, Fasciculi Mathematici (to appear).
- [3] G. Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu, Pseudo MV-algebras, Multiple Val. Logic 6 (2001), 95–135.
- [4] G. Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu, Pseudo-BCK algebras: an extension of BCK-algebras, Combinatorics, Computability and logic, 97–114, Springer Ser. Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci., Springer, London, 2001.
- [5] Y. B. Jun, H. S. Kim and J. Neggers, On pseudo-BCI ideals of pseudo-BCI algebras, Mate. Vesnik. 58 (2006), no. 1-2, 39–46.
- [6] H. S. Kim and Y. H. Kim, On BE-algebras, Sci. Math. Jpn. 66 (2007), no. 1, 113-117.
- [7] Y. H. Kim and K. S. So, On minimality in pseudo-BCI algebras, Commun. Korean Math. Soc. 27 (2012), no. 1, 7–13.
- [8] M. Kondo, Congruences and closed ideals in BCI-algebras, Math. Jpn. 48 (1997), no. 3, 491–496.
- [9] A. D. Nola, G. Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu, Pseudo BL-algebras, Part I, Multiple Val. Logic 8 (2002), no. 5-6, 673–714.
- [10] A. D. Nola, G. Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu, Pseudo BL-algebras, Part II, Multiple Val. Logic 8 (2002), no. 5-6, 715–750.
- [11] J. Rachunek, A non commutative generalization of MV-algebras, Czehoslovak Math. J. 52(127) (2002), no. 2, 255–273.
- [12] A. Walendziak, On axiom systems of pseudo-BCK algebras, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc. 34 (2011), no. 2, 287–293.

(Akbar Rezaei) Department of Mathematics, Payame Noor University, p.o.box. 19395-3697, Tehran, Iran

E-mail address: Rezaei@pnu.ac.ir

(Arsham Borumand Saeid) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, SHAHID BAHONAR UNIVERSITY OF KERMAN, KERMAN, IRAN *E-mail address:* arsham@uk.ac.ir

(Akefe Radfar) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, PAYAME NOOR UNIVERSITY, P.O.BOX. 19395-3697, TEHRAN, IRAN

 $E\text{-}mail\ address:\ \texttt{ateferadfar@yahoo.com}$

(Rajab Ali Borzooei) department of Mathematics, Shahid Beheshti University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran $E\text{-}mail\ address:\ borzooei@sbu.ac.ir$

Strongly nonlinear variational parabolic initial-boundary value problems

Youssef Akdim, Abdelmoujib Benkirane, Mostafa El Moumni, and Aziz Fri

ABSTRACT. We prove an existence result for a strongly nonlinear parabolic equations with dual data in Sobolev spaces.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 35B45; 35A01, 35K20; 46E35. Key words and phrases. A priori estimate, Existence, Parabolic problems, Sobolev spaces, truncations.

1. Introduction

We deal with the following boundary value problems

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}\left(a(x,t,u,\nabla u)\right) + g(x,t,u,\nabla u) + H(x,t,\nabla u) = f & \text{in} & Q,\\ u(x,t) = 0 & \text{on} & \partial\Omega \times (0,T),\\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) & \text{on} & \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where the cylinder $Q = \Omega \times [0,T]$ with a given real number T > 0 and Ω is a bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^N , $a: \Omega \times [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is a Carathéodory function (that is, measurable with respect to x in Ω for every (t, s, ξ) in $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$, and continuous with respect to (s,ξ) in $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$ for almost every x in Ω) such that for all ξ , η in \mathbb{R}^N , $\xi \neq \eta$,

$$|a(x,t,s,\xi)| \le \beta \Big[k(x,t) + |s|^{p-1} + |\xi|^{p-1} \Big],$$
(2)

$$[a(x,t,s,\xi) - a(x,t,s,\eta)](\xi - \eta) > 0,$$
(3)

$$a(x,t,s,\xi)\xi \ge \alpha |\xi|^p,\tag{4}$$

where the function $k(x,t) \in L^{p'}(Q)$ and β , α are positives constants.

Furthermore, let $g(x, t, s, \xi) : \Omega \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$, and $H(x, t, \xi) : \Omega \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ be two Carathéodory functions which satisfy, for all $(x, t) \in Q$ and for all $s \in \mathbb{R}, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$, the following conditions

$$|g(x,t,s,\xi)| \le L_1(|s|) \Big(L_2(x,t) + |\xi|^p \Big), \tag{5}$$

$$g(x,t,s,\xi)s \ge 0, \tag{6}$$

$$H(x,t,\xi)| \le h(x,t)|\xi|^{p-1},$$
(7)

where $L_1 : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is a continuous increasing function in $L^1(\mathbb{R})$, while $L_2(x,t)$ belongs to $L^1(Q)$, and $h(x,t) \in L^r(Q)$ with $r > \max(N,p)$.

$$u(x,0) = u_0 \in L^1(\Omega).$$
(8)

Received January 7, 2014. Revised June 12, 2014.

Our purpose in this paper is to prove the existence of solutions for the initialboundary value problems (1) in the setting Sobolev space, in the case where $H \neq 0$ and f belongs to $L^{p'}(0,T;W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))$, where the principal part $-\operatorname{div}(a(x,t,u,\nabla u))$, the nonlinearity g and H satisfying some general growth conditions. Note that, a little information is known for the parabolic case.

The study of the nonlinear partial differential equations in this type of spaces is strongly motivated by numerous phenomena of physics, namely the problems related to non-Newtonian fluids of strongly inhomogeneous behavior with a high ability of increasing their viscosity under a different stimulus, like the shear rate, magnetic or electric field.

For some classical and recent results on parabolic problems in Orlicz and Sobolev spaces see Dall'Aglio-Orsina [11] and Porretta [18] who proved the existence of solutions for the following Cauchy-Dirichlet problem (1) where H = 0 and the right hand side f is assumed to belong to $L^1(Q)$. This result generalizes analogous one of Boccardo-Gallouët [7], J. L. Lions [17], Landes [14] with g = 0, and of Landes-Mustonen [15, 16] with g = g(x, t, u). See also [8] and [2, 4, 9, 10, 12, 19, 20, 21, 22] for related topics. In all of these results, the function a is supposed to satisfy a polynomial growth condition with respect to u and ∇u .

2. Main result

Firstly, we give the following lemma which will be used in our main result.

Lemma 2.1. Given the functions $\lambda, \gamma, \varphi, \rho$ defined on $[a, +\infty[$, suppose that $a \ge 0$, $\lambda \ge 0, \gamma \ge 0$ and that $\lambda\gamma, \lambda\varphi$ and $\lambda\rho$ belong to $L^1(a, +\infty)$. If for a.e., $t \ge 0$ we have $\varphi(t) \le \rho(t) + \gamma(t) \int_t^{+\infty} \lambda(\tau)\varphi(\tau)d\tau$, then for a.e., $t \ge 0$ $\varphi(t) \le \rho(t) + \gamma(t) \int_t^{+\infty} \rho(\tau)\lambda(\tau) \left(\int_t^{\tau} \lambda(r)\gamma(r)dr\right)d\tau$.

For the proof of this Lemma see [3]. Now we shall prove the following existence theorem:

Theorem 2.2. Let $f \in L^{p'}(0,T;W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))$ and assume that (2)-(8) hold. Then there exists at least one solution of the problem (1), in the following sense:

$$\begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} S_k(u-v)(T) \, dx + \left\langle \frac{\partial v}{\partial t}, T_k(u-v) \right\rangle + \int_{Q} a(x,t,u,\nabla u) \nabla T_k(u-v) \, dx \, dt \\ + \int_{Q} g(x,t,u,\nabla u) T_k(u-v) \, dx \, dt + \int_{Q} H(x,t,\nabla u) T_k(u-v) \, dx \, dt \\ = \int_{Q} f T_k(u-v) \, dx \, dt + \int_{\Omega} S_k(u_0-v(0)) \, dx, \end{cases}$$
(9)
for all $v \in L^p(0,T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(Q)$, where $S_k(s) = \int_{0}^{s} T_k(r) \, dr.$

Proof. We divide the proof of this Theorem in four steps.

Step 1: Approximate problem and Energy estimate. For n > 0, let us define the following approximation of u_0 , g and H. Set

$$g_n(x,t,s,\xi) = \frac{g(x,t,s,\xi)}{1 + \frac{1}{n}|g(x,t,s,\xi)|} \text{ and } H_n(x,t,\xi) = \frac{H(x,t,\xi)}{1 + \frac{1}{n}|H(x,t,\xi)|}$$

and $\{u_{0n}\}\$ be a sequence in $L^2(\Omega)$ such that $u_{0n} \to u_0$ in $L^1(\Omega)$. Let us now consider the following regularized problems:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}\left(a(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n)\right) + g_n(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n) + H_n(x,t,\nabla u_n) = f \text{ in } \mathcal{D}'(Q),\\ u_n(x,t=0) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega,\\ u_n(x,t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,T). \end{cases}$$
(10)

Note that $g_n(x,t,s,\xi)$ and $H_n(x,t,\xi)$ are satisfying the following conditions

$$|g_n(x,t,s,\xi)| \le \max\left\{|g(x,t,s,\xi)| \ ; \ n\right\}$$
 and $|H_n(x,t,\xi)| \le \max\left\{|H(x,t,\xi)| \ ; \ n\right\}.$

Moreover, since $f \in L^{p'}(0,T; W^{-1, p'}(\Omega))$, proving existence of a weak solution $u_n \in L^p(0,T; W_0^{1, p}(\Omega))$ of (10) is an easy task (see e.g. [17]). For $\varepsilon > 0$ and $s \ge 0$, we define

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}(r) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign}(r) & \text{if } |r| > s + \varepsilon, \\ \frac{\operatorname{sign}(r)(|r| - s)}{\varepsilon} & \text{if } s < |r| \le s + \varepsilon, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We choose $v = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(u_n)$ as test function in (10), we have

$$\begin{split} \left[\int_{\Omega} B^{n}_{\varphi_{\varepsilon}}(u_{n}) \, dx \right]_{0}^{T} &+ \int_{Q} a(x, t, u_{n}, \nabla u_{n}) \cdot \nabla(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(u_{n})) \, dx \, dt \\ &+ \int_{Q} g_{n}(x, t, u_{n}, \nabla u_{n}) \varphi_{\varepsilon}(u_{n}) \, dx \, dt + \int_{Q} H_{n}(x, t, \nabla u_{n}) \varphi_{\varepsilon}(u_{n}) \, dx \, dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \langle f; \varphi_{\varepsilon}(u_{n}) \rangle \, dt, \end{split}$$

where $B_{\varphi_{\varepsilon}}^{n}(r) = \int_{0}^{r} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(s) ds$. Using $B_{\varphi_{\varepsilon}}^{n}(r) \ge 0$, $g_{n}(x, t, u_{n}, \nabla u_{n})\varphi_{\varepsilon}(u_{n}) \ge 0$, (7) and Hölder's inequality, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\{s < |u_n| \le s + \varepsilon\}} a(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) \nabla u_n \, dx \, dt$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{\{s < |u_n| \le s + \varepsilon\}} |f|^{p'} \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\int_{\{s < |u_n| \le s + \varepsilon\}} \left(\frac{|\nabla u_n|}{\varepsilon} \right)^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

$$+ \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} h(x, t) |\nabla u_n|^{p-1} \, dx \, dt.$$

Observe that,

$$\int_{\{s<|u_n|\}} h(x,t) |\nabla u_n|^{p-1} dx \, dt
\leq \int_s^{+\infty} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} d\sigma.$$
(11)

Because,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\{s<|u_n|\}} h(x,t) |\nabla u_n|^{p-1} dx \, dt = \int_s^{+\infty} \frac{-d}{d\sigma} \left(\int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\}} h(x,t) |\nabla u_n|^{p-1} \, dx \, dt \right) \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_s^{+\infty} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\delta} \left(\int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\leq\sigma+\delta\}} h(x,t) |\nabla u_n|^{p-1} \, dx \, dt \right) \, d\sigma \\ &\leq \int_s^{+\infty} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\delta} \left(\int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\leq\sigma+\delta\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\leq\sigma+\delta\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_s^{+\infty} \left(\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\leq\sigma+\delta\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\leq\sigma+\delta\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_s^{+\infty} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma<|u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, d\sigma. \end{split}$$

By (4) and (11), we deduce that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\{s < |u_n| \le s + \varepsilon\}} \alpha |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \\
\leq \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\{s < |u_n| \le s + \varepsilon\}} |f|^{p'} \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\{s < |u_n| \le s + \varepsilon\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\
+ \int_s^{+\infty} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, d\sigma.$$

Letting ε go to zero, we obtain

$$\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} \alpha |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |f|^{p'} \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

$$+ \int_{s}^{+\infty} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, d\sigma,$$
(12)

where $\{s < |u_n|\}$ denotes the set $\{(x,t) \in Q, s < |u_n(x,t)|\}$ and $\mu(s)$ stands for the distribution function of u_n , that is $\mu(s) = |\{(x,t) \in Q, |u_n(x,t)| < s\}|$ for all $s \ge 0$.

Now, we recall the following inequality (see for example [13]), we have for almost every s>0

$$1 \le \left(NC_N^{\frac{1}{N}}\right)^{-1} (\mu(s))^{\frac{1}{N}-1} (-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(-\frac{d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (13)

Using (13), we have

$$\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} \alpha |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt$$
$$= \alpha \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

STRONGLY NONLINEAR VARIATIONAL PARABOLIC PROBLEMS

$$\leq \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |f|^{p'} \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ + \left(NC_N^{\frac{1}{N}}\right)^{-1} (\mu(s))^{\frac{1}{N}-1} (-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ \times \int_s^{+\infty} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} h^p \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, d\sigma.$$

Which implies that,

$$\alpha \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \le \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |f|^{p'} \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} + \left(N C_N^{\frac{1}{N}} \right)^{-1} (\mu(s))^{\frac{1}{N} - 1} \\ \times (-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} \int_s^{+\infty} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} h^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{-d}{d\sigma} \int_{\{\sigma < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} d\sigma.$$

$$(14)$$

Now, we consider two functions B(s) and F(s) (see Lemma 2.2 of [1]) defined by

$$\int_{\{s<|u_n|\}} h^p(x,t)dxdt = \int_0^{\mu(s)} B^p(\sigma)d\sigma,$$
(15)

$$\int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |f|^{p'} dx dt = \int_0^{\mu(s)} F^{p'}(\sigma) d\sigma.$$
 (16)

 $\begin{aligned} ||B||_{L^{p}(0,T;W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega))} &\leq ||h||_{L^{p}(0,T;W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega))} \text{ and } ||F||_{L^{p'}(0,T;W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))} &\leq ||f||_{L^{p'}(0,T;W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))}. \end{aligned}$ From (14), (15) and (16) we get

 $\begin{aligned} &\alpha \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \le F(\mu(s))(-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} \\ &+ (NC_N^{\frac{1}{N}})^{-1}(\mu(s))^{\frac{1}{N}-1}(-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} \int_s^{+\infty} B(\mu(\nu))(-\mu'(\nu))^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(-\frac{d}{d\nu} \int_{\{\nu < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} d\nu. \end{aligned}$

From Lemma 2.1, we obtain

$$\alpha \left(\frac{-d}{ds} \int_{\{s < |u_n|\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \le F(\mu(s))(-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} + (NC_N^{\frac{1}{N}})^{-1}(\mu(s))^{\frac{1}{N}-1}(-\mu'(s))^{\frac{1}{p'}} \\ \times \int_s^{+\infty} F(\mu(\sigma))B(\mu(\sigma))(-\mu'(\sigma)) \exp\left(\int_s^{\sigma} (NC_N^{\frac{1}{N}})^{-1})B(\mu(r))(\mu(r))^{\frac{1}{N}-1}(-\mu'(r))dr \right) d\sigma.$$

Raising to the power p', integrating between 0 and $+\infty$ and by a variable change we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^{p'} &\int_{Q} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \le c_0 \int_0^{|Q|} F^{p'}(\lambda) \, d\lambda \\ &+ c_0 \int_0^{|Q|} \lambda^{(\frac{1}{N}-1)p'} \left[\int_0^{\lambda} F(z) B(z) \exp\left(\int_z^{\lambda} (NC_N^{\frac{1}{N}})^{-1} B(v) v^{\frac{1}{N}-1} dv\right) dz \right]^{p'} \, d\lambda. \end{aligned}$$

Using Hölder's inequality and (17), then we get

$$||u_n||_{L^p(0,T;W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))} \leq c_1, \tag{18}$$

where c_i is some positive constant not depending of n. Then there exists $u \in L^p(0,T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$ such that, for some subsequence

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u$$
 weakly in $L^p(0, T; W_0^{1, p}(\Omega)),$ (19)

we conclude that

$$||T_k(u_n)||_{L^p(0,T;W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))}^p \le c_2 k.$$
(20)

Then for each k, the sequence $T_k(u_n)$ converges almost everywhere in Q, which implies that u_n converges almost everywhere to some measurable function u in Q. Thus by using the same argument as in [5, 6], we can show that

$$u_n \to u \text{ a.e. in } Q,$$
 (21)

and we can deduce from (20) that

$$T_k(u_n) \rightarrow T_k(u)$$
 weakly in $L^p(0,T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)).$ (22)

Which implies, by using (2), for all k > 0 that there exists a function $\overline{a} \in (L^{p'}(Q))^N$, such that

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n)) \rightharpoonup \overline{a}$$
 weakly in $(L^{p'}(Q))^N$. (23)

Finally, denoting $u'_n = f + \operatorname{div}\left(a(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n)\right) - g_n(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n) - H_n(x,t,\nabla u_n)$ we observe that, $f + \operatorname{div}\left(a(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n)\right)$ is bounded in $L^{p'}(0,T;W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))$ and $-g_n(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n) - H_n(x,t,\nabla u_n)$ is bounded in $L^1(Q)$. Then we can conclude that $(u_n)_n$ is relatively compact in $L^p_{loc}(Q)$, thus we can deduce $u_n \to u$ in $L^p_{loc}(Q)$, and $u_n \to u$ strongly in $L^1(Q)$.

Step 2: Almost everywhere convergence of the gradients. This step is devoted to introduce for $k \ge 0$ fixed a time regularization of the function $T_k(u)$ in order to perform the monotonicity method. This kind of regularization has been first introduced by R. Landes (see Lemma 6 and Proposition 3, p. 230, and Proposition 4, p. 231, in [14]). For k > 0 fixed, and let $\varphi(t) = te^{\gamma t^2}$, $\gamma > 0$. It is well known that when $\gamma > \left(\frac{L_1(k)}{2\alpha}\right)^2$, one has

$$\varphi'(s) - \left(\frac{L_1(k)}{\alpha}\right)|\varphi(s)| \ge \frac{1}{2}, \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (24)

Let $\psi_i \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$ be a sequence which converges strongly to u_0 in $L^1(\Omega)$.

Set $w_{\mu}^{i} = (T_{k}(u))_{\mu} + e^{-\mu t}T_{k}(\psi_{i})$ where $(T_{k}(u))_{\mu}$ is the mollification with respect to time of $T_{k}(u)$. Note that w_{μ}^{i} is a smooth function having the following properties:

$$\frac{\partial w_{\mu}^{i}}{\partial t} = \mu (T_{k}(u) - w_{\mu}^{i}), \quad w_{\mu}^{i}(0) = T_{k}(\psi_{i}), \quad \left|w_{\mu}^{i}\right| \le k,$$
(25)

$$w^i_{\mu} \to T_k(u)$$
 strongly in $L^p(0,T; W^{1,p}_0(\Omega))$, as $\mu \to \infty$. (26)

We introduce the following function:

$$h_m(s) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |s| \le m, \\ 0 & \text{if } |s| \ge m+1, \\ m+1-|s| & \text{if } m \le |s| \le m+1, \end{cases}$$

where m > k. Let $\theta_n^{\mu,i} = T_k(u_n) - w_\mu^i$ and $z_{n,m}^{\mu,i} = \varphi(\theta_n^{\mu,i})h_m(u_n)$.

Using in (10) the test function $z_{n,m}^{\mu,i}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \langle \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial t} \; ; \; \varphi(T_k(u_n) - w^i_\mu) h_m(u_n) \rangle \, dt \\ &+ \int_Q a(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) [\nabla T_k(u_n) - \nabla w^i_\mu] \varphi'(\theta^{\mu,i}_n) h_m(u_n) \, dx \, dt \\ &+ \int_Q a(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) \nabla u_n \varphi(\theta^{\mu,i}_n) h'_m(u_n) \, dx \, dt \\ &+ \int_Q \Big(g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) + H_n(x, t, \nabla u_n) \Big) z^{\mu,i}_{n,m} \, dx \, dt \\ &= \int_0^T \langle f \; ; \; z^{\mu,i}_{n,m} \rangle \, dt, \end{split}$$

which implies since $g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n)\varphi(T_k(u_n) - w^i_\mu)h_m(u_n) \ge 0$ on $\{|u_n| > k\}$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left\langle \frac{\partial u_{n}}{\partial t} ; \varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n}) \right\rangle dt
+ \int_{Q} a(x, t, u_{n}, \nabla u_{n}) [\nabla T_{k}(u_{n}) - \nabla w_{\mu}^{i}] \varphi'(\theta_{n}^{\mu,i})h_{m}(u_{n}) dx dt
+ \int_{Q} a(x, t, u_{n}, \nabla u_{n}) \nabla u_{n} \varphi(\theta_{n}^{\mu,i})h'_{m}(u_{n}) dx dt
+ \int_{\{|u_{n}| \leq k\}} g_{n}(x, t, u_{n}, \nabla u_{n}) \varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n}) dx dt
\leq \int_{0}^{T} \left\langle f ; z_{n,m}^{\mu,i} \right\rangle dt + \int_{Q} |H_{n}(x, t, \nabla u_{n})z_{n,m}^{\mu,i}| dx dt.$$
(27)

In the sequel and throughout the paper, we will omit for simplicity the denote $\varepsilon(n, \mu, i, m)$ all quantities (possibly different) such that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \lim_{i \to \infty} \lim_{\mu \to \infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} \varepsilon(n, \mu, i, m) = 0,$$

and this will be the order in which the parameters we use will tend to infinity, that is, first n, then μ , i and finally m. Similarly we will write only $\varepsilon(n)$, or $\varepsilon(n, \mu)$,... to mean that the limits are made only on the specified parameters.

We will deal with each term of (27). First of all, observe that

$$\int_0^T \langle f \ ; \ z_{n,m}^{\mu,i} \rangle \, dt + \int_Q |H_n(x,t,\nabla u_n) z_{n,m}^{\mu,i}| \, dx \, dt = \varepsilon(n,\mu), \tag{28}$$

since $\varphi(T_k(u_n) - w^i_\mu)h_m(u_n)$ converges to $\varphi(T_k(u) - (T_k(u))_\mu + e^{-\mu t}T_k(\psi_i))h_m(u)$ strongly in $L^p(Q)$ and weakly-* in $L^\infty(Q)$ as $n \to \infty$ and finally $\varphi(T_k(u) - (T_k(u))_\mu + e^{-\mu t}T_k(\psi_i))h_m(u)$ converges to 0 strongly in $L^p(Q)$ and weakly-* in $L^\infty(Q)$ as $\mu \to \infty$.

On the one hand, the definition of the sequence w^i_{μ} makes it possible to establish the following Lemma 2.3.

Lemma 2.3. For $k \ge 0$ we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left\langle \frac{\partial u_{n}}{\partial t} ; \varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n}) \right\rangle dt \geq \varepsilon(n, m, \mu, i).$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Proof. (see Blanchard, Murat and Redwane [6]).

Then, the second term of the left hand side of (27) can be written

$$\begin{split} &\int_{Q} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt\\ &=\int_{\{|u_{n}|\leq k\}} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt\\ &+\int_{\{|u_{n}|>k\}} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt\\ &=\int_{Q} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt\\ &+\int_{\{|u_{n}|>k\}} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt, \end{split}$$

since m > k and $h_m(u_n) = 1$ on $\{|u_n| \le k\}$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q} & a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt \\ &= \int_{Q} \Big(a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u_{n}))-a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u)) \Big) \\ & (\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla T_{k}(u))\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})\,dx\,dt \\ &+ \int_{Q} a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u))(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla T_{k}(u))\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt \\ &+ \int_{Q} a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u_{n}))\nabla T_{k}(u)\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt \\ &- \int_{Q} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})\nabla w_{\mu}^{i}\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt \\ &= K_{1}+K_{2}+K_{3}+K_{4}. \end{split}$$

Using (2), (23) and Lebesgue theorem we have $a(x, t, T_k(u_n), \nabla T_k(u))$ converges to $a(x, t, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u))$ strongly in $(L^{p'}(Q))^N$ and $\nabla T_k(u_n)$ converges to $\nabla T_k(u)$ weakly in $(L^p(Q))^N$, then $K_2 = \varepsilon(n)$. Using (23) and (26) we have $K_3 = \int_Q \overline{a} \nabla T_k(u) \, dx \, dt + \varepsilon(n, \mu)$. For what concerns K_4 can be written, since $h_m(u_n) = 0$ on $\{|u_n| > m+1\}$

$$\begin{split} K_4 &= -\int_Q a(x,t,T_{m+1}(u_n),\nabla T_{m+1}(u_n))\nabla w^i_{\mu}\varphi'(T_k(u_n) - w^i_{\mu})h_m(u_n)\,dx\,dt\\ &= -\int_{\{|u_n| \le k\}} a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n))\nabla w^i_{\mu}\varphi'(T_k(u_n) - w^i_{\mu})h_m(u_n)\,dx\,dt\\ &- \int_{\{k < |u_n| \le m+1\}} a(x,t,T_{m+1}(u_n),\nabla T_{m+1}(u_n))\nabla w^i_{\mu}\varphi'(T_k(u_n) - w^i_{\mu})h_m(u_n)\,dx\,dt \end{split}$$

and, as above, by letting n to $+\infty$ we get

$$K_4 = -\int_{\{|u| \le k\}} \overline{a} \nabla w^i_{\mu} \varphi'(T_k(u) - w^i_{\mu}) \, dx \, dt$$
$$-\int_{\{k < |u| \le m+1\}} \overline{a} \nabla w^i_{\mu} \varphi'(T_k(u) - w^i_{\mu}) h_m(u) \, dx \, dt + \varepsilon(n),$$

so that, by letting μ to $+\infty$ we get

$$K_4 = -\int_Q \overline{a} \nabla T_k(u) \, dx \, dt + \varepsilon(n,\mu).$$

We conclude then that

$$\int_{Q} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla w_{\mu}^{i})\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt$$

$$=\int_{Q} \left(a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u_{n}))-a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u))\right)$$

$$(30)$$

$$(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})-\nabla T_{k}(u))\varphi'(T_{k}(u_{n})-w_{\mu}^{i})\,dx\,dt+\varepsilon(n,\mu).$$

To deal with the third term of the left hand side of (27), observe that

$$\left| \int_{Q} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})\nabla u_{n}\varphi(\theta_{n}^{\mu,i})h'_{m}(u_{n})\,dx\,dt \right|$$

$$\leq \varphi(2k)\int_{\{m\leq |u_{n}|\leq m+1\}} a(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})\nabla u_{n}\,dx\,dt.$$

By (2) and (18), we obtain

$$\left| \int_{Q} a(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n) \nabla u_n \varphi(\theta_n^{\mu,i}) h'_m(u_n) \, dx \, dt \right| \leq \varepsilon(n,m). \tag{31}$$

We now turn to fourth term of the left hand side of (27), can be written

$$\left| \int_{\{|u_{n}| \leq k\}} g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})\varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})dxdt \right| \\
\leq \int_{\{|u_{n}| \leq k\}} L_{1}(k)(L_{2}(x,t) + |\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})|^{p}|\varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})h_{m}(u_{n})dxdt \\
\leq L_{1}(k)\int_{Q} L_{2}(x,t)|\varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})|dxdt \\
+ \frac{L_{1}(k)}{\alpha}\int_{Q} a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u_{n}))\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})|\varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})|dxdt,$$
(32)

since $L_2(x,t)$ belong to $L^1(Q)$ it is easy to see that

$$L_1(k)\int_Q L_2(x,t)|\varphi(T_k(u_n)-w^i_{\mu})|\,dx\,dt = \varepsilon(n,\mu).$$

On the other hand, the second term of the right hand side of (32), can be written

$$\begin{split} \frac{L_1(k)}{\alpha} & \int_Q a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n))\nabla T_k(u_n)|\varphi(T_k(u_n)-w_\mu^i)|\,dx\,dt\\ &= \frac{L_1(k)}{\alpha} \int_Q \Big(a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n)) - a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u))\Big)\\ &\quad (\nabla T_k(u_n)-\nabla T_k(u))|\varphi(T_k(u_n)-w_\mu^i)|\,dx\,dt\\ &+ \frac{L_1(k)}{\alpha} \int_Q a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u))(\nabla T_k(u_n)-\nabla T_k(u))|\varphi(T_k(u_n)-w_\mu^i)|\,dx\,dt\\ &+ \frac{L_1(k)}{\alpha} \int_Q a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u)|\varphi(T_k(u_n)-w_\mu^i)|\,dx\,dt, \end{split}$$

and, as above, by letting first n then finally μ to infinity, we can easily see, that each one of last two integrals is of the form $\varepsilon(n, \mu)$. This implies that

$$\left| \int_{\{|u_n| \le k\}} g(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n)\varphi(T_k(u_n) - w^i_\mu)h_m(u_n)dxdt \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{L_1(k)}{\alpha} \int_Q \left(a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n)) - a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u)) \right)$$

$$(\nabla T_k(u_n) - \nabla T_k(u))|\varphi(T_k(u_n) - w^i_\mu)|dxdt + \varepsilon(n,\mu).$$
(33)

1

Combining (27), (29), (30), (31) and (33), we get

$$\int_{Q} \left(a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u_{n})) - a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{n}),\nabla T_{k}(u)) \right) \\ \left(\nabla T_{k}(u_{n}) - \nabla T_{k}(u) \right) \left(\varphi'(T_{k}(u) - w_{\mu}^{i}) - \frac{L_{1}(k)}{\alpha} |\varphi(T_{k}(u_{n}) - w_{\mu}^{i})| \right) dx dt \\ \leq \varepsilon(n,\mu,i,m),$$

and so, thanks to (24), we have

$$\int_{Q} \Big(a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n)) - a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u)) \Big) (\nabla T_k(u_n) - \nabla T_k(u)) \, dx \, dt \le \varepsilon(n)$$
(34)

Hence by passing to the limit sup over n, we get

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_Q \Big(a(x, t, T_k(u_n), \nabla T_k(u_n)) - a(x, T_k(u_n), \nabla T_k(u)) \Big) (\nabla T_k(u_n) - \nabla T_k(u)) \, dx \, dt = 0$$

This implies that

$$T_k(u_n) \to T_k(u)$$
 strongly in $L^p(0,T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$ for all k. (35)

Now, observe that for every $\sigma > 0$,

$$\max \left\{ (x,t) \in Q : |\nabla u_n - \nabla u| > \sigma \right\}$$

$$\leq \max \left\{ (x,t) \in Q : |\nabla u_n| > k \right\} + \max \left\{ (x,t) \in Q : |u| > k \right\}$$

$$+ \max \left\{ (x,t) \in Q : |\nabla T_k(u_n) - \nabla T_k(u)| > \sigma \right\}$$

then as a consequence of (35) we have that ∇u_n converges to ∇u in measure and therefore, always reasoning for a subsequence,

$$\nabla u_n \to \nabla u$$
 a. e. in Q . (36)

Which implies

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_n),\nabla T_k(u_n)) \rightharpoonup a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u)) \text{ weakly in } (L^{p'}(Q))^N.$$
(37)

Step 3: Equi-integrability of H_n and g_n . We shall now prove that $H_n(x, t, \nabla u_n)$ converges to $H(x, t, \nabla u)$ and $g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n)$ converges to $g(x, t, u, \nabla u)$ strongly in $L^1(Q)$ by using Vitali's theorem. Since $H_n(x, t, \nabla u_n) \to H(x, t, \nabla u)$ a.e. Q and $g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) \to g(x, t, u, \nabla u)$ a.e. Q, thanks to (5) and (7), it suffices to prove that $H_n(x, t, \nabla u_n)$ and $g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n)$ are uniformly equi-integrable in Q. We will now prove that $H_n(x, \nabla u_n)$ is uniformly equi-integrable, we use Hölder's inequality

186

ī.

~
and (18), we have

$$\int_{E} |H_{n}(x, \nabla u_{n})| \leq \left(\int_{E} h^{p}(x, t) \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{Q} |\nabla u_{n}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \\
\leq c_{1} \left(\int_{E} h^{p}(x, t) \, dx \, dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
(38)

which is small uniformly in n when the measure of E is small.

To prove the uniform equi-integrability of $g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n)$. For any measurable subset $E \subset Q$ and $m \ge 0$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{E} |g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})| \, dx \, dt = \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| \le m\}} |g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})| \, dx \, dt + \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| > m\}} |g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})| \, dx \, dt \\ &\leq L_{1}(m) \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| \le m\}} [L_{2}(x,t) + |\nabla u_{n}|^{p}] \, dx \, dt + \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| > m\}} |g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})| \, dx \, dt \quad (39) \\ &\leq L_{1}(m) \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| \le m\}} [L_{2}(x,t) + |\nabla T_{m}(u_{n})|^{p}] \, dx \, dt + \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| > m\}} |g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})| \, dx \, dt \quad (39) \\ &\leq L_{1}(m) \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| \le m\}} [L_{2}(x,t) + |\nabla T_{m}(u_{n})|^{p}] \, dx \, dt + \int_{E \cap \{|u_{n}| > m\}} |g(x,t,u_{n},\nabla u_{n})| \, dx \, dt \\ &= K_{1} + K_{2}. \end{split}$$

For fixed m, we get

$$K_1 \le L_1(m) \int_E [L_2(x,t) + |\nabla T_m(u_n)|^p] \, dx \, dt,$$

which is thus small uniformly in n for m fixed when the measure of E is small (recall that $T_m(u_n)$ tends to $T_m(u)$ strongly in $L^p(0,T;W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$). We now discuss the behavior of the second integral of the right and side of (39), let ψ_m be a function such that

$$\begin{cases} \psi_m(s) = 0 & \text{if } |s| \le m - 1, \\ \psi_m(s) = \operatorname{sign}(s) & \text{if } |s| \ge m, \\ \psi'_m(s) = 1 & \text{if } m - 1 < |s| < m. \end{cases}$$
(40)

We choose $\psi_m(u_n)$ as a test function for m > 1 in (10), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[\int_{\Omega} B_m^n(u_n) dx\right]_0^T &+ \int_Q a(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) \nabla u_n \psi_m'(u_n) \, dx \, dt \\ &+ \int_Q g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) \psi_m(u_n) \, dx \, dt + \int_Q H_n(x, t, \nabla u_n) \psi_m(u_n) \, dx \, dt \\ &= \int_0^T \langle f \ ; \ \psi_m(u_n) \rangle \, dt, \end{split}$$

where $B_m^n(r) = \int_0^r \psi_m(s) ds$, which implies, since $B_m^n(r) \ge 0$ and using (4), Hölder's inequality

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{m-1 \le |u_n|\}} |g_n(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n)| \, dx \, dt \le & \int_E |H_n(x,t,\nabla u_n)| \, dx \, dt \\ &+ \|f\|_{L^{p'}(0,T;W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))} \Big(\int_{\{m-1 \le |u_n| \le m\}} |\nabla u_n|^p \, dx \, dt \Big)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

By (18), we have

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{\{|u_n| > m-1\}} |g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n)| \, dx \, dt = 0.$$

Thus we proved that the second term of the right hand side of (39) is also small, uniformly in n and in E when m is sufficiently large. Which shows that $g_n(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n)$ and $H_n(x, t, \nabla u_n)$ are uniformly equi-integrable in Q as required, we conclude that

$$\begin{cases} H_n(x,t,\nabla u_n) \to H(x,t,\nabla u) & \text{strongly in } L^1(Q), \\ g_n(x,t,u_n,\nabla u_n) \to g(x,t,u,\nabla u) & \text{strongly in } L^1(Q). \end{cases}$$
(41)

Step 4: Passing to the limit. Going back to approximate equations (10) and using $v \in L^p(0, T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(Q)$ as the test function, one has

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} S_k(u_n - v)(T) \, dx + \left\langle \frac{\partial v}{\partial t}, T_k(u_n - v) \right\rangle + \int_{\Omega} a(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) \nabla T_k(u_n - v) \, dx \, dt \\ + \int_{Q} g(x, t, u_n, \nabla u_n) T_k(u_n - v) \, dx \, dt + \int_{Q} H(x, t, \nabla u_n) T_k(u_n - v) \, dx \, dt \\ = \int_{Q} fT_k(u_n - v) \, dx \, dt + \int_{\Omega} S_k(u_{n0} - v(0)) \, dx, \end{split}$$

in which we can pass to the limit thanks to the previous results, we prove the existence of a solution u of the nonlinear parabolic problems (9). This completes the proof of Theorem 2.2.

References

- A. Alvino and G. Trombetti, Sulle migliori costanti di maggiorazione per una classe di equazioni ellittiche degeneri, *Ricerche Mat.* 27 (1978), 413–428.
- [2] A. Akdim, A. Benkirane and M. El Moumni, Solutions of nonlinear elliptic problems with lower order terms, to appear in Ann. Funct. Anal.
- [3] E. Beckenbak and R. Bellman, Inequalities, Springer-Verlag, 1965.
- [4] A. Benkirane, M. El Moumni and A. Fri, An approximation of Hedberg's type in Sobolev spaces with variable exponent and application, *Chin. J. Math. (N.Y.)* (2014), Art. ID 549051, 7 pp.
- [5] D. Blanchard and F. Murat, Renormalized solutions of nonlinear parabolic problems with L¹ data: existence and uniqueness, *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh* **127** A (1997), 1137–1152.
- [6] D. Blanchard, F. Murat and H. Redwane H, Existence and uniqueness of renormalized solution for a fairly general class of nonlinear parabolic problems, J. Diferential Equations 177 (2001), 331–374.
- [7] L. Boccardo and T. Gallouët, Nonlinear elliptic and parabolic equations involving measure data, J. Functional Anal. 87 (1989), 149–169.
- [8] L. Boccardo and F. Murat, Strongly nonlinear Cauchy problems with gradient dependent lower order nonlinearity, *Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics* 208 (1989), 247–254.
- [9] L. Boccardo and F. Murat, Almost everywhere convergence of gradients, Nonlinear Anal. T.M.C. 19 (1992), 581–597.
- [10] H. Brezis and W. Strauss, Semilinear second-order elliptic equations in L¹, J. Math. Soc. Japan 25 (1973), no. 4, 565–590.
- [11] A. Dall'Aglio and L. Orsina, Nonlinear parabolic equations with natural growth conditions and L¹ data, Nonlinear Anal. T.M.A. 27(1) (1996), 59–73.
- [12] M. El Moumni, Entropy solution for strongly nonlinear elliptic problems with lower order terms and L¹-data, An. Univ. Craiova Ser. Mat. Inform. 40 (2013), no. 2, 211–225.
- [13] G.-H. Hardy, J.-E Littlewood and G. Pólya, *Inequalities*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1964.
- [14] R. Landes, On the existence of weak solutions for quasilinear parabolic initial-boundary value problems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect A 89 (1981), 321–366.

- [15] R. Landes and V. Mustonen, On parabolic initial-boundary value problems with critical growth for tha gradient, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré 11(2) (1994), 135-158.
- [16] R. Landes and V. Mustonen, A strongly nonlinear parabolic initial-boundary value problems, Ark. f. Math. 25(1987).
- [17] J.-L. Lions, Quelques méthodes de résolution des problème aux limites non lineaires, Dunod, Paris, 1969.
- [18] A. Porretta, Existence results for strongly nonlinear parabolic equations via strong convergence of truncations, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (IV) 177 (1999), 143-172.
- [19] V. Rădulescu and M. Willem, Linear elliptic systems involving finite Radon measures, Differential Integral Equations 16 (2003), no. 2, 221-229.
- [20] V. Rădulescu, D. Smets and M. Willem, Hardy-Sobolev inequalities with remainder terms, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal. 20 (2002), no. 1, 145-149.
- [21] A. Youssfi, A. Benkirane and M. El Moumni, Existence result for strongly nonlinear elliptic unilateral problems with L^1 -data, Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 59 (2014), no. 4, 447–461.
- [22] A. Youssfi, A. Benkirane and M. El Moumni, Bounded solutions of unilateral problems for strongly nonlinear equations in Orlicz spaces, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ. 2013, no. 21, 25 pp.

(Youssef Akdim) UNIVERSITY SIDI MOHAMED BEN ABDELLAH, LABORATORY LIMAO, FACULTÉ Poly-disciplinaire de Taza, P.O. Box 1223 Taza Gare,, Morocco E-mail address: akdimyoussef@yahoo.fr

(Abdelmoujib Benkirane, Mostafa El Moumni, Aziz Fri) UNIVERSITY SIDI MOHAMED BEN Abdellah, Faculty of Sciences Dhar El Mahraz, Laboratory LAMA, Department of MATHEMATICS, P.O. BOX 1796 ATLAS FEZ, MOROCCO

E-mail address: abd.benkirane@gmail.com, mostafaelmoumni@gmail.com, friazizon@gmail.com

Solving nonlinear fractional differential equations using multi-step homotopy analysis method

HASSAN AL-ZOU'BI AND MOHAMMAD ZURIGAT

ABSTRACT. This paper presents a numerical technique for solving fractional differential equation by employing the multi-step homotopy analysis method (MHAM). It is known that the corresponding numerical solution obtained using the HAM is valid only for a short time. On the contrary, the results obtained using the MHAM are more valid and accurate during a long time, and are highly agreement with the exact solutions in the case of integer-order systems. The objective of the present paper is to modify the HAM to provide symbolic approximate solution for linear and nonlinear of fractional differential equations. The efficient and accuracy of the method used in this paper will be demonstrated by comparison with the known methods and with the known exact solutions in the non fractional case. The fractional derivatives are described in the Caputo sense.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 11Y35, 65L05. Key words and phrases. Fractional differential equation; Homotopy analysis method; Numerical solutions; Multi-step homotopy analysis method.

1. Introduction

The solutions of fractional differential equations are much involved. In general, there exists no method that yields an exact solution for fractional differential equations. Only approximate solution can be derived using linearization or perturbation methods. In recent years, many researchers have focused on the numerical solution of ordinary differential equations of fractional order and some numerical methods have been developed such as Fourier transform method [1], Adomian decomposition method [2, 3] and Homotopy perturbation method [4, 5]. Recently, the Homotopy analysis method (HAM) has been proposed by Liao [6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11]. Based on homotopy of topology, the validity of the HAM is independent of whether there exist small parameters or not in the considered equation. The HAM has been used to investigate a variety of mathematical and physical problems [7]. The homotopy analysis method contains a certain auxiliary parameter h and auxiliary linear operator Lwhich provides us with a simple way to control and adjust the rate of convergence of the series solution [12, 13]. The objective of the present paper is to modify the HAM to provide approximate solution for linear and nonlinear fractional differential equations. In this paper we investigate the applicability and effectiveness of the HAM when treated as an algorithm in a sequence of intervals (i.e. time step) for finding accurate approximate solutions to the fractional differential equation of the form

$$D^{\alpha}_{*} u(t) + a_{n} u^{(n)}(t) + a_{n-1} u^{(n-1)}(t) + \dots + a_{0} u(t) + N(u(t), u'(t)) = f(t),$$

$$t \ge 0, \quad n-1 < \alpha \le n,$$
(1.1)

Received January 16, 2014.

subject to the initial conditions

$$u^{(i)}(0) = b_i, i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1.$$
 (1.2)

Here D_*^{α} is the fractional derivative in the Caputo sense. This modified method is the multi-step homotopy analysis method. It can be found that the corresponding numerical solutions obtained by using the HAM are valid only for a short time [13]. While the ones obtained by using the MHAM are more valid and accurate during a long time and are highly agreement with the exact solutions in the case of integer-order systems. Some examples are given to illustrate this method. The paper is organized as follows. A brief review of the fractional calculus is given in Section 2. In Section 3, the proposed method is described. In Section 4, we investigate the applicability and effectiveness of the multi-step homotopy analysis method for finding accurate approximate solutions to the fractional differential equation and we will present a comparison between our results with the exact solution by plotting the exact solution and the approximate solution. Conclusions are presented in Section 5.

2. Fractional calculus

In this section, we introduce the linear operators of fractional integration and fractional differentiation in the framework of the Riemann-Liouville and Caputo fractional calculus [14, 15, 16, 17].

Definition 2.1. A real function f(x), x > 0, is said to be in the space C_{α} , $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ if it can be written as $f(x) = x^p f_1(x)$, for some $p > \alpha$ where $f_1(x)$ is continuous in $[0, \infty)$, and it is said to be in the space C_{α}^m if $f^{(m)} \in C_{\alpha}$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Definition 2.2. A function f(x), x > 0, is said to be in the space $C^m_{\mu}, m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, if $f^m \in C_{\mu}$.

Definition 2.3. The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of order $\alpha > 0$ is

$$J^{\alpha}u(t) = u_{\alpha}(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{\alpha-1} u(\tau) d\tau, \quad t > 0, \ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{+},$$
$$J^{0}u(t) = u(t).$$

Definition 2.4. The Caputo fractional derivative of u(t) is defined as:

$$D^{\alpha}_{*} u(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{u^{(m)}(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\alpha+1-m}} d\tau, & m-1 < \alpha < m, \\ \frac{d^{m}u(t)}{dt^{m}}, & \alpha = m, \end{cases}$$

Hence, we have the following properties

1.
$$J^{\alpha}J^{\beta}u(t) = J^{\alpha+\beta}u(t) = J^{\alpha}J^{\beta}u(t), \ \alpha, \ \beta \ge 0, \ u \in C\mu,$$
$$\Gamma(\alpha+1)$$

2.
$$J^{\alpha}t^{\gamma} = \frac{\Gamma(\gamma+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\gamma+1)}, \ \alpha > 0, \ \gamma > -1, \ t > 0,$$

3.
$$D^{\alpha}_* J^{\alpha} u(t) = u(t),$$

4.
$$J^{\alpha}D_*^{\alpha}u(t) = u(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} u^{(k)}(0^+) \frac{t^k}{k!}, t > 0, m-1 < \alpha \le m.$$

3. Multi-step homotopy analysis method algorithm

The HAM has been extended by many authors to solve linear and nonlinear problems in terms of convergent series with easily computable components, it has some drawbacks: the series solution always converges in a small region and it has slow convergent rate or completely divergent in the wider region. In this section, we present the basic ideas of the MHAM that have been developed for the numerical solution of our problem (1.1), (1.2). It is only a simple modification of the standard HAM and can ensure the validity of the approximate solution for large time t. To extend this solution over the interval [0, t], we divide the interval I into r-subintervals of equal length Δt , $[t_0, t_1)$, $[t_1, t_2), \ldots, [t_{r-1}, t_r]$ with $t_0 = 0$, $t_r = t$. Let t^* be the initial value and $u_j(t)$ be approximate solutions in each subinterval $[t_{j-1}, t_j), j = 1, 2, \ldots, r$, then the equations (1.1), (1.2) can be transformed into the following system

$$D_*^{\alpha} u_j(t) + a_n u_j^{(n)}(t) + a_{n-1} u_j^{(n-1)}(t) + \dots + a_0 u_j(t) + N(u_j(t), u_j^{'}(t)) = f(t),$$

$$t \ge 0, \quad n-1 < \alpha \le n, \ , j = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$
(3.1)

subject to the initial conditions

$$u_1^{(i)}(t^*) = b_i, \quad u_j^{(i)}(t^*) = u_{j-1}^{(i)}(t_{j-1}) = c_{j,i} \quad i = 0, 1, ..., n-1, \ , j = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
(3.2)

The zero-order deformation equation of system (3.1) has the form

$$(1-q)L[\phi_j(t,q) - u_j(t^*)] = qh[D^{\alpha}_*\phi_j(t,q) + a_n \frac{d^n}{dt^n}\phi_j(t,q)$$

$$+a_{n-1}\frac{d^{n-1}}{dt^{n-1}}\phi_j(t,q) + \dots + a_0\phi_j(t,q) + N(\phi_j(t,q), \frac{d}{dt}\phi_j(t,q)) - f(t)].$$
(3.3)

Where $q \in [0, 1]$ is an embedding parameter, L is an auxiliary linear operator, $h \neq 0$ is an auxiliary parameter, $\phi_j(t;q)$ is unknown function, $u_j(t^*)$ be the initial guess of $u_j(t)$ which satisfy the initial condition and f(t) is known function. Obviously, when q = 0 we have

$$\phi_1(t,0) = u_1(t^*), \ \phi_j(t,0) = u_j(t^*), \quad j = 2, 3, ..., r.$$
 (3.4)

When q = 1, we have

$$\phi_j(t,1) = u_j(t), \quad j = 1, 2, ..., r.$$
(3.5)

Expanding $\phi_j(t,q)$, j = 1, 2, ..., r, in Taylor series with respect to q, we get

$$\phi_j(t,q) = u_j(t^*) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} u_{j,m}(t)q^m, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., r,$$
(3.6)

where

$$u_{j,m}(t) = \frac{1}{m!} \frac{\partial^m \phi_j(t,q)}{\partial q^m}|_{q=0}.$$
(3.7)

If the initial guess $u_j(t^*)$, the auxiliary linear operator L and the nonzero auxiliary parameter h are properly chosen so that the power series (3.6) converges at q = 1, one has

$$u_j(t) = \phi_j(t;1) = u_j(t^*) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} u_{j,m}(t).$$

For brevity, define the vector

$$\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m}(t) = \{u_{j,0}(t), u_{j,1}(t), \dots, u_{j,m}(t)\},\$$

Differentiating the zero-order deformation equation (3.3) m times with respective to q and then dividing by m! and finally setting q = 0, we have the so-called mth-order deformation equations

$$L[u_{j,m}(t) - \chi_m u_{j,m-1}(t)] = h \,\Re_{j,m}(\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m-1}(t)), \qquad (3.8)$$

where

$$\Re_{j,m}(\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m-1}(t)) = D^{\alpha}_{*} u_{j,m-1}(t) + a_{n} u^{(n)}_{j,m-1}(t) + a_{n-1} u^{(n-1)}_{j,m-1}(t) + \dots + a_{0} u_{j,m-1}(t) + \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \frac{\partial^{m-1}}{\partial a^{m-1}} N(\phi_{j}(t,q), \frac{d}{dt} \phi_{j}(t,q))|_{q=0} - f(t)(1-\chi_{m}),$$
(3.9)

$$+\frac{1}{(m-1)!}\frac{\partial}{\partial q^{m-1}}N(\phi_j(t,q),\frac{a}{dt}\phi_j(t,q))|_{q=0} - f(t)(1-\chi_m),$$
(3.)

and

$$\chi_m = \begin{cases} 0, & m \le 1\\ 1, & m > 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Select the auxiliary linear operator $L = D_*^{\alpha}$, then the *m*th-order deformation equations (3.8) can be written in the form

$$u_{j,m}(t) = \chi_m u_{j,m-1}(t) + h \ J^{\alpha}[\Re_{j,m}(\vec{u}_{j,m-1}(t))], \qquad (3.11)$$

and a power series solution has the form

$$u_j(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} u_{j,m}(t), \quad j = 1, 2, ..., r.$$

Finally, the solutions of system (1.1) has the form

$$u(t) = \begin{cases} u_1(t), & t \in [t_0, t_1] \\ u_2(t), & t \in [t_1, t_2] \\ & \vdots \\ u_r(t), & t \in [t_{r-1}, t_r] \end{cases}$$

4. Numerical results

To demonstrate the effectiveness of the method for solving nonlinear fractional differential equations, we consider here the following four examples.

4.1. Example 1. Consider the following simple harmonic fractional oscillator

$$D_*^{\alpha}u(t) + (0.5)^{\alpha} \ u(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 1 < \alpha \le 2,$$
(4.1)

subject to the initial condition

$$u(0) = 1, u'(0) = 0.$$
 (4.2)

The exact solutions of this equation when $\alpha = 2$ is $u(t) = \cos 0.5t$. Let $u_j(t)$ be the approximate solutions in the subinterval $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$, then equation (4.1), is transformed into the following system

$$D_*^{\alpha} u_j(t) + (0.5)^{\alpha} u_j(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 1 < \alpha \le 2, \ j = 1, 2, ..., r.$$
 (4.3)

Let $u_j(t^*) = c_j$, with $c_1 = 1$ are the initial guesses of $u_j(t)$, then we can construct the MHAM (3.11) where

$$\Re_{j,m}(\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m-1}(t)) = D_*^{\alpha} u_{j,m-1}(t) + (0.5)^{\alpha} u_{j,m-1}(t).$$
(4.4)

The series solution for equation (4.3) is given by,

H. AL-ZOU'BI AND M. ZURIGAT

$$u_{j}(t) = c_{j} + \frac{h(0.5)^{\alpha}c_{j}(1+(1+h)+(1+h)^{2})}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}(t-t^{*})^{\alpha} + \frac{h^{2}(0.5)^{2\alpha}c_{j}(1+2(1+h))}{\Gamma(2\alpha+1)}(t-t^{*})^{2\alpha} + \frac{h^{3}(0.5)^{3\alpha}c_{j}}{\Gamma(3\alpha+1)}(t-t^{*})^{3\alpha} + \dots$$

To demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed algorithm as an approximate tool for solving the fractional differential equations (4.1), (4.2) for larger t, we apply the proposed algorithm on the interval [0, 100]. We choose to divide the interval [0, 100] to subintervals with time step $\Delta t = 0.1$. Figure 1 shows the series solution exhibit the periodic behavior which is the characteristic of the simple harmonic Equations (4.1), (4.2) obtained for $\alpha = 2$, 1.6, 1.5 and when h = -1. It can be seen that the results obtained using the MHAM (when $\alpha = 2$) match the results of the exact solution $(u(t) = \cos 0.5t)$ very well, and are highly in agreement during a long time. It is clear that the numerical results obtained using the MHAM has the same trajectories for various values of α and all its solutions are expected to oscillate with decreasing to zero when the value of α is decreasing.



FIGURE 1. The displacement for Example 1: Solid line: exact solution, Dashed line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 2$, Dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 1.6$, Dashed dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 1.5$.

4.2. Example 2. Consider the following nonlinear fractional Riccati equation

$$D^{\alpha}_{*}u(t) + u^{2}(t) - 1 = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 0 < \alpha \le 1,$$
(4.5)

subject to the initial condition

Ì

$$u(0) = 0. (4.6)$$

The exact solutions of this equation when $\alpha = 1$ is $u(t) = \frac{e^{2t}-1}{e^{2t}+1}$. Let $u_j(t)$ be the approximate solutions in the subinterval $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$, then equation (4.5), is transformed into the following system

$$D_*^{\alpha} u_j(t) + u_j^2(t) - 1 = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 0 < \alpha \le 1, \ j = 1, 2, ..., r.$$
(4.7)

Let $u_j(t^*) = c_j$, with $c_1 = 0$ are the initial guesses of $u_j(t)$, then we can construct the MHAM (3.11) where

$$\Re_{j,m}(\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m-1}(t)) = D_*^{\alpha} u_{j,m-1}(t) + \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} u_{j,i}(t) u_{j,m-i-1}(t) - (1-\chi_m).$$
(4.8)

The series solution for equation (4.7) is given by

$$\begin{split} u_j(t) &= c_j + \frac{h(c_j^2 - 1)(1 + (1 + h) + (1 + h)^2)}{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}(t - t^*)^{\alpha} \\ &+ \frac{2h^2c_j(c_j^2 - 1)(1 + 2(1 + h))}{\Gamma(2\alpha + 1)}(t - t^*)^{2\alpha} + \frac{h^3(c_j^2 - 1)^2\Gamma(2\alpha + 1)}{\Gamma(3\alpha + 1)\Gamma^2(\alpha + 1)}(t - t^*)^{3\alpha} + \dots \end{split}$$

In this example we apply the proposed algorithm on the interval [0, 20]. We choose to divide the interval [0, 20] to subintervals with time step $\Delta t = 0.1$. Figure 2 shows the series solution of the MHAM of the nonlinear fractional Riccati equations (4.5), (4.6) (when $\alpha = 1$, 0.9, 0.7 and h = -1) and the displacement of the exact solution $(u(t) = \frac{e^{2t}-1}{e^{2t}+1})$. From the graphical results it can be seen that the results obtained using the MHAM (when $\alpha = 1$) match the results of the exact solution very well. Therefore, the proposed method is very effcient and accurate method that can be used to provide analytical solutions for linear and nonlinear fractional differential equations. Also as the previous example, the numerical results obtained using the MHAM has the same trajectories for various values of α .



FIGURE 2. The displacement for Example 2: Solid line: exact solution, Dashed line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 1$, Dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 0.9$, Dashed dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 0.7$.

4.3. Example 3.

$$D_*^{\alpha}u(t) - 2u(t) + u^2(t) - 1 = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 0 < \alpha \le 1,$$
(4.9)

subject to the initial condition

$$u(0) = 0. (4.10)$$

The exact solutions of this equation when $\alpha = 1$ is $u(t) = 1 + \sqrt{2} \tanh(\sqrt{2} t + \frac{1}{2}\log(\frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{\sqrt{2}+1}))$. Let $u_j(t)$ be the approximate solutions in the subinterval $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$, then equation (4.9), is transformed into the following system

$$D^{\alpha}_{*}u_{j}(t) - 2u_{j}(t) + u^{2}_{j}(t) - 1 = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 0 < \alpha \le 1, \ j = 1, 2, ..., r.$$
(4.11)

Let $u_j(t^*) = c_j$, with $c_1 = 0$ are the initial guesses of $u_j(t)$, then we can construct the MHAM (3.11) where

$$\Re_{j,m}(\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m-1}(t)) = D_*^{\alpha} u_{j,m-1}(t) - 2 \ u_{j,m-1}(t) + \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} u_{j,i}(t) u_{j,m-i-1}(t) - (1-\chi_m).$$
(4.12)

Then the analytic solution for system (4.11) is derived as follows

$$\begin{split} u_j(t) &= c_j + \frac{h(c_j^2 - 2c_j - 1)(1 + (1+h) + (1+h)^2)}{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}(t - t^*)^{\alpha} \\ &+ \frac{2h^2(c_j^2 - 2c_j - 1)(c_j - 1)(1 + 2(1+h))}{\Gamma(2\alpha + 1)}(t - t^*)^{2\alpha} \\ &+ \frac{h^3(c_j^2 - 2c_j - 1)}{\Gamma(3\alpha + 1)}(\frac{(c_j^2 - 2c_j - 1)\Gamma(2\alpha + 1)}{\Gamma^2(\alpha + 1)} + (2c_j^2 - 6c_j + 4))(t - t^*)^{3\alpha} + \dots \end{split}$$

In this example we apply the proposed algorithm on the interval [0, 20]. We choose to divide the interval [0, 20] to subintervals with time step $\Delta t = 0.1$. Figure 3 shows the series solution of the MHAM of the nonlinear fractional Riccati equations (4.9), (4.10) (when $\alpha = 1$, 0.9, 0.7 and h = -1) and the displacement of the exact solution $(u(t) = 1 + \sqrt{2} \tanh(\sqrt{2} t + \frac{1}{2} \log(\frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{\sqrt{2}+1})))$. Also the results of our computations (when $\alpha = 1$) are in excellent agreement with the results obtained by the exact solution and are highly in agreement during a long time. Therefore, the proposed method is very efficient and accurate method that can be used to provide analytic solutions for linear and nonlinear fractional differential equations. Also as example (2), the numerical results obtained using the MHAM has the same trajectories for various values of α .



FIGURE 3. The displacement for Example 3: Solid line: exact solution, Dashed line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 1$, Dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 0.9$, Dashed dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 0.7$.

4.4. Example 4. Consider the following nonlinear fractional equation

$$D_*^{\alpha}u(t) + 2u(t) + u^2(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 1 < \alpha \le 2,$$
(4.13)

subject to the initial condition

$$u(0) = 0.1, \ u'(0) = 0.$$
 (4.14)

Let $u_j(t)$ be the approximate solutions in the subinterval $[t_{j-1}, t_j)$, then equation (4.13), is transformed into the following system

$$D_*^{\alpha} u_j(t) + 2 \ u_j(t) + u_j^2(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \quad 1 < \alpha \le 2, \ j = 1, 2, ..., r.$$
(4.15)

Let $u_j(t^*) = c_j$, with $c_1 = 0$ are the initial guesses of $u_j(t)$, then we can construct the MHAM (3.11) where

$$\Re_{j,m}(\overrightarrow{u}_{j,m-1}(t)) = D_*^{\alpha} u_{j,m-1}(t) + 2 \ u_{j,m-1}(t) + \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} u_{j,i}(t) u_{j,m-i-1}(t).$$
(4.16)

The analytic solutions for system (4.15) derived by



FIGURE 4. The displacement for Example 4: Solid line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 2$, Dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 1.7$, Dashed dotted line: MHAM solution when $\alpha = 1.5$.

$$u_{j}(t) = c_{j} + \frac{h(c_{j}^{2} + 2c_{j})(1 + (1+h) + (1+h)^{2})}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}(t-t^{*})^{\alpha} + \frac{2h^{2}(c_{j}^{2} + 2c_{j})(c_{j}+1)(1+2(1+h))}{\Gamma(2\alpha+1)}(t-t^{*})^{2\alpha} + \frac{h^{3}(c_{j}^{2} + 2c_{j})}{\Gamma(3\alpha+1)}(\frac{(c_{j}^{2} + 2c_{j})\Gamma(2\alpha+1)}{\Gamma^{2}(\alpha+1)} + (2c_{j}^{2} + 6c_{j}+4))(t-t^{*})^{3\alpha} + \dots$$

Let [0, 50] be the interval over which we want to find the solution of the initial value problem (4.13), (4.14). Assume that the interval [0, 50] is divided into subintervals of equal length $\Delta t = 0.1$. Figure 4 shows the series solution exhibit the periodic behavior which is the characteristic of the nonlinear fractional differential equations (4.13), (4.14) obtained for $\alpha = 2$, 1.7, 1.5 and when h = -1. It is clear that the numerical results obtained using the MHAM have the same trajectories for various values of α and all its solutions are expected to oscillate with decreasing to zero when the value of α is decreasing.

5. Conclusions

The fundamental goal of this work has been to propose an efficient algorithm for the solution of linear and nonlinear fractional differential equation. Based on some numerical and analytical techniques, we discussed in this paper the MHAM. The MHAM is an efficient modification of the HAM which introduces an efficient tool for calculating approximate solution for linear and nonlinear fractional differential equation. Our method is a direct method, further it is simple and accurate. It is a practical method and can easily be implemented on computer to solve such problems. We have used the method with four examples. The main advantage of the method is a fast convergence to the solution. Moreover, it avoids amount of calculations required by the other existing analytical methods. The new method leads to higher accuracy and simplicity, and in all cases the solutions obtained are easily programmable approximates to the analytic solution of the original problems with the accuracy required. The proposed scheme can be applied for other nonlinear equations. It can be found that the corresponding numerical solutions obtained by using HAM are valid only for a short time. While the ones obtained by using MHAM are more valid and accurate during a long time. A comparison between the graph of the numerical result with the graph of the exact solution indicates that the MHAM method is powerful analytic method for handling differential equations of fractional order.

References

- S. Kemle and H. Beyer, Global and causal solutions of fractional differential equations, in: Transform Methods and Special Functions: Varna96, Proceeding of 2nd International Workshop (SCTP), Singapore (1997), 210–216.
- [2] S. Momani and K. Al-Khaled, Numerical solution for systems of fractional differential equation by the decomposition method, *Applied Mathematics and Computation* 162 (2005), 1351–1365.
- [3] N. T. Shawagfeh, Analytical approximate solutions for nonlinear fractional differential equations, Appl. Math. Comput. 131 (2007), 517–529.
- [4] Q. Wang, Homotopy perturbation method for fractional order KdV equation, Applied Mathematics and Computation 190 (2007), no. 2, 1795–1802.
- [5] S. Momani and Z. Odibat, Homotopy perturbation method for nonlinear partial differential equations of fractional order, *Physics Letters A* 365 (2007), 345–350.
- [6] S. J. Liao, An approximate solution technique which does not depend upon small parameters: a special example, Int. J. Nonlinear Mech 30 (1995), 371–380.
- [7] S. J. Liao, Analytic solution of the temperature distribution In Blasius viscous flow problems, Journal of Fluid Mechanics, 453 (2002), 411–425.
- [8] S. J. Liao and K. Cheung, Homotopy analysis method of nonlinear progressive waves in deep water, *Journal of Applied Engineering Mathematics* 45 (2003), no. 2, 105–116.
- [9] S. J. Liao, Comparison between the homotopy analysis method and Homotopy perturbation method, Applied Mathematics and Computation 169 (2005), 1186–1194.

- [10] S. J. Liao, Homotopy analysis method; A new analytic method for nonlinear problems, *Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics*, **19** (1998), 957–962.
- [11] S. J. Liao, On the Homotopy analysis method for nonlinear problems, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 147 (2004), 499–513.
- [12] J. Cang, Y. Tan, H. Xu and S. Liao, Series solutions of non-linear Riccati differential equations with fractional order, *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals* 40 (2009), no. 1, 1–9.
- [13] M. Zurigat, S. Momani, Z. Odibat and A. Alawneh, The homotopy analysis method for handling systems of fractional differential equations, *Applied Mathematical Modelling* 34 (2010), no. 1, 24–35.
- [14] K. S. Miller and B. Ross, An introduction to the fractional calculus and fractional differential equations, New York, John Willy and Sons, 1993.
- [15] H. Beyer and S. Konuralp, Definition of physical constant damping laws with fractional derivatives, Zeitschrift fur Angewandte Mathematik and Mechanik 75 (1995), no. 3, 623–635.
- [16] R. Gorenflo and F. Mainardi, Fractional Calculus: integral and differential equation of fractional order. In: A. Carpinteri, F. Mainardi, (Eds.) Fractals and Fractional Calculus in Continuum Mechanics, Springer, New York, (1997), 223–276.
- [17] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Academic Press, San Diego, 1999.

(Hassan Al-Zou'bi, Mohammad Zurigat) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, AL AL-BAYT UNIVERSITY, P.O. BOX: 130095 MAFRAQ, JORDAN

E-mail address: hassan.sss13@yahoo.com, moh_zur@hotmail.com

Growth of certain combinations of entire solutions of higher order linear differential equations

Zinelâabidine Latreuch and Benharrat Belaïdi

ABSTRACT. The main purpose of this paper is to study the growth of certain combinations of entire solutions of higher order complex linear differential equations.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 34M10; Secondary 30D35. Key words and phrases. Linear differential equations, Entire functions, Order of growth, Hyper-order, Linearly independent solutions, Combination of solutions.

1. Introduction and main results

In this paper, we assume that the reader is familiar with the fundamental results and standard notations of the Nevanlinna theory [4, 13]. In addition, we will use $\rho(f)$ to denote the order and $\rho_2(f)$ to denote the hyper-order of f. See, [4, 6, 13] for notations and definitions.

We consider the differential equation

$$f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_0(z) f = 0,$$
(1)

where $A_j(z)$ $(j = 0, \dots, k-1)$ are entire functions. Suppose that $\{f_1, f_2, \dots, f_k\}$ is the set of fundamental solutions of (1). It is clear that $f = c_1 f_1 + c_2 f_2 + \dots + c_k f_k$ where c_i $(i = 1, \dots, k)$ are complex numbers is a solution of (1), but what about the properties of $f = c_1 f_1 + c_2 f_2 + \dots + c_k f_k$ if c_i $(i = 1, \dots, k)$ are non-constant entire functions? In [7], the authors gave answer to this question for the case k = 2, and obtained the following results.

Theorem 1.1. [7] Let A(z) be transcendental entire function of finite order. Let $d_j(z)$ (j = 1, 2) be finite order entire functions that are not all vanishing identically such that $\max \{\rho(d_1), \rho(d_2)\} < \rho(A)$. If f_1 and f_2 are two linearly independent solutions of

$$f'' + A(z)f = 0, (2)$$

then the polynomial of solutions $g_f = d_1 f_1 + d_2 f_2$ satisfies

$$\rho(g_f) = \rho(f_j) = \infty \ (j = 1, 2)$$

and

$$\rho_2(g_f) = \rho_2(f_j) = \rho(A) \quad (j = 1, 2).$$

Received February 7, 2014.

This paper is supported by University of Mostaganem (UMAB) (CNEPRU Project Code B02220120024).

Theorem 1.2. [7] Let A(z) be a polynomial of deg A = n. Let $d_j(z)$ (j = 1, 2) be finite order entire functions that are not all vanishing identically such that $\max\{\rho(d_1), \rho(d_2)\} < \frac{n+2}{2}$ and $h \neq 0$, where

$$h = \begin{vmatrix} d_1 & 0 & d_2 & 0 \\ d'_1 & d_1 & d'_2 & d_2 \\ d''_1 - d_1 A & 2d'_1 & d''_2 - d_2 A & 2d'_2 \\ d'''_1 - 3d'_1 A - d_1 A' & d''_1 - d_1 A + 2d''_1 & d'''_2 - 3d'_2 A - d_2 A' & d''_2 - d_2 A + 2d''_2 \end{vmatrix}.$$

If f_1 and f_2 are two linearly independent solutions of (2), then the polynomial of solutions $g_f = d_1f_1 + d_2f_2$ satisfies

$$\rho(g_f) = \rho(f_j) = \frac{n+2}{2} \quad (j = 1, 2).$$

The aim of this paper is to study the growth of

$$g_k = d_1 f_1 + d_2 f_2 + \dots + d_k f_k,$$

where $\{f_1, f_2, \dots, f_k\}$ is any set of fundamental solutions of (1) and $d_j(z)$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, k)$ are finite order entire functions that are not all vanishing identically. In fact, we give sufficient conditions on $A_j(z)$ $(j = 0, \dots, k-1)$ and $d_j(z)$ (j = 1, 2) to prove that for any two solutions f_1 and f_2 of (1), the growth of $g_2 = d_1f_1 + d_2f_2$ is the same as the growth of f_j (j = 1, 2), and we obtain the following results.

Theorem 1.3. Let $A_j(z)$ $(j = 0, \dots, k-1)$ be entire functions of finite order such that $\max \{\rho(A_j) : j = 1, \dots, k-1\} < \rho(A_0)$. Let $d_j(z)$ (j = 1, 2) be finite order entire functions that are not all vanishing identically such that $\max \{\rho(d_1), \rho(d_2)\} < \rho(A_0)$. If f_1 and f_2 are any two linearly independent solutions of (1), then the combination of solutions $g_2 = d_1f_1 + d_2f_2$ satisfies

$$\rho(g_2) = \rho(f_j) = \infty \ (j = 1, 2)$$

and

$$\rho_2(g_f) = \rho_2(f_j) = \rho(A) \quad (j = 1, 2).$$

Theorem 1.4. Let $A_0(z)$ be transcendental entire function with $\rho(A_0) = 0$, and let A_1, \dots, A_{k-1} be polynomials. Let $d_j(z)$ (j = 1, 2) be finite order entire functions that are not all vanishing identically. If f_1 and f_2 are any two linearly independent solutions of (1), then the combination of solutions $g_2 = d_1f_1 + d_2f_2$ satisfies

$$\rho(g_2) = \rho(f_j) = \infty \quad (j = 1, 2).$$

Return now to the differential equation

$$f^{(k)} + p_{k-1}(z) f^{(k-1)} + \dots + p_0(z) f = 0,$$
(3)

where $p_j(z)$ $(j = 0, \dots, k-1)$ are polynomials with $p_0(z) \neq 0$. It is well-known that every solution f of (3) is an entire function of finite rational order; see, [10], [11], [5, pp. 199 - 209], [9, pp. 106 - 108], [12, pp. 65 - 67]. For equation (3), set

$$\lambda = 1 + \max_{0 \le j \le k-1} \frac{\deg p_j}{k-j}.$$
(4)

It is known [6, p. 127] that for any solution f of (3), we have

$$\rho\left(f\right) \leq \lambda$$

As we have seen in Theorem 1.3 and [7], it is clear that the study of the growth of g_k where k > 2, is more difficult than the case where k = 2. For that, we give in the following result some sufficient conditions to prove that g_k keeps the same order of growth of solutions of (3) for $k \ge 2$, and we obtain the following result.

Theorem 1.5. Let $p_j(z)$ $(j = 0, \dots, k-1)$ be polynomials, and let $d_i(z)$ $(1 \le i \le k)$ be entire functions that are not all vanishing identically such that $\max\{\rho(d_i) : 1 \le i \le k\} < \lambda$. If $\{f_1, f_2, \dots, f_k\}$ is any set of fundamental solutions of (3), then the combination of solutions g_k satisfies

$$\rho\left(g_k\right) = 1 + \max_{0 \le j \le k-1} \frac{\deg p_j}{k-j}$$

Remark 1.1. The proof of Theorems 1.3-1.5 is quite different from that in the proof of Theorems 1.1-1.2 (see, [7]). The main ingredient in the proof is Lemma 2.1. By the proof of Theorem 1.5, we can deduce that Theorem 1.2 holds without the additional condition $h \neq 0$.

Corollary 1.6. Let A(z) be a nonconstant polynomial and let $d_i(z)$ $(1 \le i \le k)$ be entire functions that are not all vanishing identically such that

$$\max\left\{\rho\left(d_{i}\right): 1 \leq i \leq k\right\} < \frac{\deg\left(A\right) + k}{k}$$

If $\{f_1, f_2, \cdots, f_k\}$ is any set of fundamental solutions of

$$f^{(k)} + A(z)f = 0, (5)$$

then the combination of solutions g_k satisfies

$$\rho\left(g_k\right) = \frac{\deg\left(A\right) + k}{k}.$$

2. Preliminary lemmas

Lemma 2.1. [8] (i) Let f(z) be an entire function with $\rho_2(f) = \alpha > 0$, and let $L(f) = a_k f^{(k)} + a_{k-1} f^{(k-1)} + \cdots + a_0 f$, where a_0, a_1, \cdots, a_k are entire functions which are not all equal zero and satisfy $b = \max \{\rho(a_j) : j = 0, \cdots, k\} < \alpha$. Then $\rho_2(L(f)) = \alpha$.

(ii) Let f(z) be an entire function with $\rho(f) = \alpha \leq \infty$, and let $L(f) = a_k f^{(k)} + a_{k-1}f^{(k-1)} + \cdots + a_0 f$, where a_0, a_1, \cdots, a_k are entire functions which are not all equal zero and satisfy $b = \max \{\rho(a_j) : j = 0, \cdots, k\} < \alpha$. Then $\rho(L(f)) = \alpha$.

Lemma 2.2. [3] For any given equation of the form (3), there must exists a solution of (3) that satisfies $\rho(f) = \lambda$, where λ is the constant in (4).

Lemma 2.3. [1] Let $A_j(z)$ $(j = 0, \dots, k-1)$ be entire functions of finite order such that

$$\max \{ \rho(A_j) : j = 1, \cdots, k - 1 \} < \rho(A_0)$$

Then every solution $f \neq 0$ of (1) satisfies $\rho(f) = \infty$ and $\rho_2(f) = \rho(A_0)$.

Lemma 2.4. [2] Let $A_0(z)$ be transcendental entire function with $\rho(A_0) = 0$, and let A_1, \dots, A_{k-1} be polynomials. Then every solution $f \neq 0$ of (1) satisfies $\rho(f) = \infty$.

By using similar proofs as in the proofs of Proposition 1.5 and Proposition 5.5 in [6], we easily obtain the following lemma.

Lemma 2.5. For all non-trivial solutions f of (5). If A is a polynomial with deg $A = n \ge 1$, then we have

$$\rho\left(f\right) = \frac{n+k}{k}.$$

Lemma 2.6. Let f be any nontrivial solution of (1). Then the following identity holds

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right),$$

where $A_{k}(z) \equiv 1$ and $C_{j}^{i} = \frac{j!}{i! (j-i)!}.$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) &= A_{0} \frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} f + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) \\ &= A_{0} \frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} f + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(A_{j} C_{j}^{0} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right) f^{(j)} + A_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) \\ &= A_{0} \frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} f + \sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{j} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right) f^{(j)} + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) \\ &= \frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \left(f^{(k)} + A_{k-1} f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{0} f \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right). \end{split}$$

Lemma 2.7. Let f be any nontrivial solution of (1). Then the following identity holds k-1

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(A_j \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} D_i f^{(i)}}{d_2^{2^k}},$$

where D_i $(i = 0, \dots, k-1)$ are entire functions depending on d_1, d_2 and A_j $(j = 1, \dots, k-1)$, $A_k(z) \equiv 1$.

Proof. It is clear that we can express the double sum

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(A_j \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} A_j \left(\sum_{i=1}^{j} C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right)$$

in the form of differential polynomial in f of order k-1. By mathematical induction we can prove that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_j \left(\sum_{i=1}^{j} C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f^{(j-i)} \right) = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \alpha_i f^{(i)}, \tag{6}$$

where

$$\alpha_{i} = \sum_{p=i+1}^{k} A_{p} C_{p}^{p-i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}}\right)^{(p-i)}.$$
(7)

Also, we have

$$\left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)^{(j)} = \frac{\beta_j}{d_2^{2j}},\tag{8}$$

where β_j is entire function. Hence, we deduce from (6)-(8) that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \alpha_i f^{(i)} = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} D_i f^{(i)}}{d_2^{2^k}},$$

where D_i $(i = 0, \dots, k - 1)$ are entire functions depending on d_1, d_2 and A_j $(j = 1, \dots, k - 1), A_k(z) \equiv 1$.

3. Proof of Theorem 1.3

Proof. In the case when $d_1(z) \equiv 0$ or $d_2(z) \equiv 0$, then the conclusions of Theorem 1.3 are trivial. Suppose that f_1 and f_2 are two nontrivial linearly independent solutions of (1) such that $d_i(z) \neq 0$ (i = 1, 2) and let

$$g_2 = d_1 f_1 + d_2 f_2. (9)$$

Then, by Lemma 2.3 we have $\rho(f_j) = \infty$ (j = 1, 2) and $\rho_2(f_j) = \rho(A_0)$ (j = 1, 2). Suppose that $d_1 = cd_2$, where c is a complex number. Then, by (9) we obtain

$$g_2 = cd_2f_1 + d_2f_2 = (cf_1 + f_2)d_2$$

Since $f = cf_1 + f_2$ is a solution of (1) and $\rho(d_2) < \rho(A_0)$, then we have

$$\rho\left(g_{2}\right) = \rho\left(cf_{1} + f_{2}\right) = \infty$$

and

$$\rho_2(g_2) = \rho_2(cf_1 + f_2) = \rho(A_0).$$

Suppose now that $d_1 \not\equiv cd_2$ where c is a complex number. Dividing both sides of (9) by d_2 , we obtain

$$F_2 = \frac{g_2}{d_2} = f_2 + \frac{d_1}{d_2} f_1.$$
(10)

Differentiating both sides of equation (10), k times for all integers $j = 1, \dots, k$, we get

$$F_2^{(j)} = f_2^{(j)} + \sum_{i=0}^j C_j^i f_1^{(i)} \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)^{(j-i)}.$$
(11)

Equations (10) and (11) are equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} F_2 = f_2 + \frac{a_1}{d_2} f_1, \\ F'_2 = f'_2 + \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right) f'_1 + \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)' f_1, \\ F''_2 = f''_2 + \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right) f''_1 + 2 \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)' f'_1 + \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)'' f_1, \\ \cdots \\ F_2^{(k-1)} = f_2^{(k-1)} + \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} C_{k-1}^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)^{(k-1-i)} f_1^{(i)}, \\ F_2^{(k)} = f_2^{(k)} + \sum_{i=0}^k C_k^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2}\right)^{(k-i)} f_1^{(i)} \end{cases}$$

which is also equivalent to

$$\begin{cases}
A_0 F_2 = A_0 f_2 + A_0 \frac{d_1}{d_2} f_1, \\
A_1 F_2' = A_1 f_2' + A_1 \left(\left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right) f_1' + \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)' f_1 \right), \\
A_2 F_2'' = A_2 f_2'' + A_2 \left(\left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right) f_1'' + 2 \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)' f_1' + \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)'' f_1 \right), \\
\dots \\
A_{k-1} F_2^{(k-1)} = A_{k-1} f_2^{(k-1)} + A_{k-1} \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} C_{k-1}^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(k-1-i)} f_1^{(i)}, \\
F_2^{(k)} = f_2^{(k)} + \sum_{i=0}^k C_k^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(k-i)} f_1^{(i)}.
\end{cases}$$
(12)

By (12) we can obtain

$$F_{2}^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) F_{2}^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{0}(z) F_{2} = \left(f_{2}^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) f_{2}^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{0}(z) f_{2}\right)$$

$$\frac{k}{2} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{-j} \int_{-\infty}^{-j} \left(d_{1}\right)^{(i)} \left(d_{2}\right)^{(i)} \int_{-\infty}^{-k} \int_{-\infty}^{-j} \left(d_{2}\right)^{(i)} \left(d_{2}\right)^{(i)} \left(d_{2}\right)^{(i)} \int_{-\infty}^{-k} \int_{-\infty}^{-k} \left(d_{2}\right)^{(i)} \left(d_{2}\right)^{(i)} \int_{-\infty}^{-k} \int_{-\infty}$$

$$+\sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f_{1}^{(j-i)} \right) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(A_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f_{1}^{(j-i)} \right), \quad (13)$$

$$A_{i}(z) = 1 \text{ By using Lemma 2.6, we have}$$

k = 1

where $A_k(z) \equiv 1$. By using Lemma 2.6, we have

$$F_2^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) F_2^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_0(z) F_2 = \sum_{j=1}^k A_j \left(\sum_{i=1}^j C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f_1^{(j-i)} \right).$$
(14)

By Lemma 2.7, we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_j \left(\sum_{i=1}^{j} C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f_1^{(j-i)} \right) = k \frac{(d_1' d_2 - d_2' d_1) d_2^{\sum_{i=0}^{2^n - 1}}}{d_2^{2^k}} f_1^{(k-1)} + \frac{1}{d_2^{2^k}} \sum_{i=0}^{k-2} D_i f_1^{(i)},$$
(15)

where D_i $(i = 0, \dots, k - 2)$ are entire functions depending on d_1, d_2 and A_j $(j = 0, \dots, k - 2)$ $1, \dots, k-1$, $A_k(z) \equiv 1$. By using (14) and (15), we obtain

$$F_2^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) F_2^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_0(z) F_2 = \frac{L_{k-1}(f_1)}{d_2^{2^k}},$$

where

$$L_{k-1}(f_1) = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} D_i f_1^{(i)}$$

is differential polynomial with entire coefficients D_i $(i = 0, \cdots, k - 1)$ of order $\rho(D_i) < 0$ $\rho(A_0) \ (i = 0, \dots, k-1) \text{ and } D_{k-1} = k \frac{\left(\frac{d_1'd_2 - d_2'd_1}{d_2}\right)^{k-1}}{d_2^{2k}} \neq 0 \text{ because } d_1 \neq cd_2. \text{ By}$

Lemma 2.1 (i), we have

$$\rho_2\left(F_2^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) F_2^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_0(z) F_2\right) = \rho_2\left(L_{k-1}(f_1)\right) = \rho_2\left(f_1\right).$$

Since

 $\rho_{2}(f_{1}) = \rho_{2}\left(F_{2}^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z)F_{2}^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{0}(z)F_{2}\right) \le \rho_{2}(F_{2}) = \rho_{2}(g_{2}) \le \rho_{2}(f_{1}),$ then $\rho_{2}(a_{2}) = \rho_{2}(f_{1}).$

$$\rho_2\left(g_2\right) = \rho_2\left(f_1\right)$$

	_	_	_	_	

4. Proof of Theorem 1.4

Proof. By using a similar reasoning as in the proof of Theorem 1.3, Lemma 2.4 and Lemma 2.1 (ii) we obtain Theorem 1.4. $\hfill \Box$

5. Proof of Theorem 1.5

Proof. Without loss of generality, by using Lemma 2.2, we suppose that

$$\max \{ \rho(f_j), \ j = 1, \cdots, k \} = \rho(f_1) = \lambda = 1 + \max_{0 \le j \le k-1} \frac{\deg p_j}{k-j}$$

and there exist at least two integers p and q such that $d_p \not\equiv cd_q$ where c is a complex number and $1 \leq p \leq q \leq k$. By the same proof as Theorem 1.3 we obtain

$$F_2^{(k)} + p_{k-1}(z) F_2^{(k-1)} + \dots + p_0(z) F_2 = \sum_{j=1}^k \left(p_j \sum_{i=1}^j C_j^i \left(\frac{d_1}{d_2} \right)^{(i)} f_1^{(j-i)} \right)$$
(16)

and by Lemma 2.7, we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(p_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{1}}{d_{2}} \right)^{(i)} f_{1}^{(j-i)} \right) = k \frac{\left(d_{1}' d_{2} - d_{2}' d_{1} \right) d_{2}^{k-1} d_{2}^{2n-1}}{d_{2}^{2^{k}}} f_{1}^{(k-1)} + \frac{1}{d_{2}^{2^{k}}} \sum_{i=0}^{k-2} D_{i} f_{1}^{(i)},$$

$$(17)$$

where $p_k(z) \equiv 1$ and D_i $(i = 0, \dots, k-2)$ are entire functions. By using (16) and (17), we have

$$F_2^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) F_2^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_0(z) F_2 = \frac{L_{k-1}(f_1)}{d_2^{2^k}},$$

where

$$L_{k-1}(f_1) = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} D_i f_1^{(i)}$$

is differential polynomial with entire coefficients D_i $(i = 0, \dots, k - 1)$ of order $\rho(D_i) < \lambda$ $(i = 0, \dots, k - 1)$ and there exists $0 \le i \le k - 1$ such that $D_i \ne 0$. By Lemma 2.1 (ii), we have

$$\rho\left(F_{2}^{(k)}+p_{k-1}(z)F_{2}^{(k-1)}+\dots+p_{0}(z)F_{2}\right)=\rho\left(L_{k-1}(f_{1})\right)=\rho\left(f_{1}\right)$$

Since

$$\rho(f_1) = \rho\left(F_2^{(k)} + p_{k-1}(z)F_2^{(k-1)} + \dots + p_0(z)F_2\right) \le \rho(F_2) = \rho(g_2) \le \rho(f_1),$$

then

$$\rho\left(g_{2}\right)=\rho\left(f_{1}\right).$$

Now, we suppose that

$$\rho\left(g_n\right) = \rho\left(f_1\right)$$

is true for all $n = 1, \cdots, k - 1$ and we show that

$$\rho\left(g_k\right) = \rho\left(f_1\right)$$

We have

$$g_k = d_1 f_1 + d_2 f_2 + \dots + d_k f_k = g_{k-1} + d_k f_k.$$
(18)

Suppose that $d_k \not\equiv 0$, and dividing both sides of (18) by d_k , we get

$$F_k = \frac{g_k}{d_k} = \frac{g_{k-1}}{d_k} + f_k.$$

By the same reasoning as before, we obtain

$$\begin{cases} p_{0}F_{k} = p_{0}f_{k} + p_{0}\frac{1}{d_{k}}g_{k-1}, \\ p_{1}F_{k}' = p_{1}f_{k}' + p_{1}\left(\left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)g_{k-1}' + \left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)'g_{k-1}\right), \\ p_{2}F_{k}'' = p_{2}f_{k}'' + p_{2}\left(\left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)g_{k-1}' + 2\left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)'g_{k-1}' + \left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)''g_{k-1}\right), \\ \cdots \\ p_{k-1}F_{k}^{(k-1)} = p_{k-1}f_{k}^{(k-1)} + p_{k-1}\sum_{i=0}^{k-1}C_{k-1}^{i}\left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)^{(k-1-i)}g_{k-1}^{(i)}, \\ F_{k}^{(k)} = f_{k}^{(k)} + \sum_{i=0}^{k}C_{k}^{i}\left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)^{(k-i)}g_{k-1}^{(i)}. \end{cases}$$
(19)

By (19) we can deduce

$$F_{k}^{(k)} + p_{k-1}(z) F_{k}^{(k-1)} + \dots + p_{0}(z) F_{k} = \left(f_{k}^{(k)} + p_{k-1}(z) f_{k}^{(k-1)} + \dots + p_{0}(z) f_{k}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(p_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)^{(i)} g_{k-1}^{(j-i)}\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(p_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{1}{d_{k}}\right)^{(i)} g_{k-1}^{(j-i)}\right).$$
(20)

By Lemma 2.6, we have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(p_{j} \sum_{i=0}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{1}{d_{k}} \right)^{(i)} g_{k-1}^{(j-i)} \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(p_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{j} C_{j}^{i} \left(\frac{1}{d_{k}} \right)^{(i)} g_{k-1}^{(j-i)} \right)$$
$$= -k \frac{d_{k}^{\prime} d_{k}^{n=0}}{d_{k}^{2^{k}}} g_{k-1}^{(k-1)} + \frac{1}{d_{k}^{2^{k}}} \sum_{i=0}^{k-2} B_{i} g_{k-1}^{(i)}, \qquad (21)$$

where $p_k(z) \equiv 1$ and B_i $(i = 0, \dots, k-1)$ are entire functions. By using (20) and (21), we obtain

$$F_{k}^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) F_{k}^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{0}(z) F_{k} = \frac{M_{k-1}(g_{k-1})}{d_{k}^{2^{k}}},$$

where

$$M_{k-1}(g_{k-1}) = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} B_i g_{k-1}^{(i)}$$

is differential polynomial with entire coefficients B_i $(i = 0, \dots, k - 1)$ of order $\rho(B_i) < \lambda$ $(i = 0, \dots, k - 1)$. By Lemma 2.1 (ii), we have

$$\rho\left(F_{k}^{(k)}+p_{k-1}(z)F_{k}^{(k-1)}+\cdots+p_{0}(z)F_{k}\right)=\rho\left(M_{k-1}(g_{k-1})\right)=\rho\left(f_{1}\right).$$

Since

$$\rho(f_1) \le \rho\left(F_k^{(k)} + p_{k-1}(z) F_k^{(k-1)} + \dots + p_0(z) F_k\right) \le \rho(F_k) = \rho(g_{k-1}) \le \rho(f_1),$$
hen

then

$$\rho(F_k) = \rho(g_{k-1}) = \rho(f_1),$$

which implies that

$$\rho(g_k) = \rho(g_{k-1}) = \rho(f_1) = \lambda.$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 1.5.

Z. LATREUCH AND B. BELAÏDI

References

- Z. X. Chen and C. C. Yang, Quantitative estimations on the zeros and growths of entire solutions of linear differential equations, *Complex Variables Theory Appl.* 42 (2000), no. 2, 119–133.
- [2] S. A. Gao and Z. X. Chen, The complex oscillation theory of certain nonhomogeneous linear differential equations with transcendental entire coefficients, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 179 (1993), no. 2, 403–416.
- [3] G. G. Gundersen, E. M. Steinbart and S. Wang, The possible orders of solutions of linear differential equations with polynomial coefficients, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **350** (1998), no. 3, 1225–1247.
- [4] W. K. Hayman, *Meromorphic functions*, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1964.
- [5] G. Jank and L. Volkmann, Einführung in die Theorie der ganzen und meromorphen Funktionen mit Anwendungen auf Differentialgleichungen, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1985.
- [6] I. Laine, Nevanlinna theory and complex differential equations, W. de Gruyter, Berlin, 1993.
- [7] Z. Latreuch and B. Belaïdi, Some properties of solutions of second-order linear differential equations, J. Complex Anal. (2013), Article ID 253168, 5 pages.
- [8] J. Tu, H. Y. Xu and C. Y. Zhang, On the zeros of solutions of any order of derivative of second order linear differential equations taking small functions, *Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.* 2011, no. 23, 1–17.
- [9] G. Valiron, Lectures on the general theory of integral functions, translated by E. F. Collingwood, Chelsea, New York, 1949.
- [10] A. Wiman, Über den Zusammenhang zwischen dem Maximalbetrage einer analytischen Funktion und dem grössten Betrage bei gegebenem Argumente der Funktion, Acta Math. 41 (1916), no. 1, 1–28.
- [11] H. Wittich, Über das Anwachsen der Lösungen linearer Differentialgleichungen, Math. Ann. 124 (1952), 277–288.
- [12] H. Wittich, Neuere Untersuchungen über eindeutige analytische Funktionen, 2nd Edition, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1968.
- [13] C. C. Yang and H. X. Yi, Uniqueness theory of meromorphic functions, Mathematics and its Applications, 557, Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht, 2003.

(Zinelâabidine Latreuch, Benharrat Belaïdi) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, LABORATORY OF PURE AND APPLIED MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MOSTAGANEM (UMAB), B. P. 227 MOSTAGANEM, ALGERIA

E-mail address: z.latreuch@gmail.com, belaidi@univ-mosta.dz

On fuzzy real valued asymptotically equivalent sequences and lacunary ideal convergence

BIPAN HAZARIKA AND AYHAN ESI

ABSTRACT. In this paper we present some definitions which are the natural combination of the definition of asymptotic equivalence, statistical convergence, lacunary statistical convergence of fuzzy real numbers and ideal. In addition, we also present asymptotically ideal equivalent sequences of fuzzy real numbers and establish some relations related to this concept. Finally we introduce the notion of Cesaro Orlicz asymptotically equivalent sequences of fuzzy real numbers and establish their relationship with other classes.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 40A35; Secondary 40G15, 03E72. Key words and phrases. Asymptotic equivalence, statistical convergence, lacunary sequence, ideal, ideal convergence, fuzzy number, Orlicz function.

1. Introduction

The concept of fuzzy set and fuzzy set operations were first introduced by Zadeh [30] and subsequently several authors have discussed various aspects of the theory and applications of fuzzy sets such as fuzzy topological spaces, similarity relations and fuzzy orderings, fuzzy measures of fuzzy events, fuzzy mathematical programming. Matloka [20] introduced bounded and convergent sequences of fuzzy numbers and studied their some properties. Later on sequences of fuzzy numbers have been discussed by Diamond and Kloeden [4], Mursaleen and Basarir [21], Altin et al. [1], Nanda [22] and many others.

Actually the idea of statistical convergence was formerly given under the name "almost convergence" by Zygmund in the first edition of his celebrated monograph published in Warsaw in 1935 [31]. The concept was formally introduced by Fast [6], Steinhaus [28] and later on it was reintroduced by Schoenberg [27]. A lot of developments have been made in this areas after the works of Šalát [26] and Fridy [8]. Over the years and under different names statistical convergence has been discussed in the theory of Fourier analysis, ergodic theory and number theory. Fridy and Orhan [9] introduced the concept of lacunary statistical convergence which is a generalization of statistical convergence. Mursaleen and Mohiuddine [23], introduced the concept of lacunary statistical convergence, we refer to [3, 10].

Marouf [19] peresented definitions for asymptotically equivalent and asymptotic regular matrices. Pobyvancts [25] introduced the concept of asymptotically regular matrices, which preserve the asymptotic equivalence of two nonnegative numbers sequences. Patterson [24] extended these concepts by presenting an asymptotically statistical equivalent analog of these definitions and natural regularity conditions for

Received March 11, 2014.

This paper is in final form and no version of it will be submitted for publication elsewhere.

nonnegative summability matrices. Esi [5] introduced the concept of an asymptotically lacunary statistical equivalent sequences of interval numbers.

Kostyrko et. al [15] introduced the notion of I-convergence with the help of an admissible ideal I denote the ideal of subsets of \mathbb{N} , which is a generalization of statistical convergence. Kumar and Sharma [18] introduced the lacunary equivalent sequences of real numbers using ideals and studied some basic properties of this notion. More applications of ideals can be found in the works of [2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 29].

A family of sets $I \subset P(\mathbb{N})$ (power sets of \mathbb{N}) is called an *ideal* if and only if for each $A, B \in I$, we have $A \cup B \in I$ and for each $A \in I$ and each $B \subset A$, we have $B \in I$. A non-empty family of sets $\mathcal{F} \subset P(\mathbb{N})$ is a *filter* on \mathbb{N} if and only if $\phi \notin \mathcal{F}$, for each $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$, we have $A \cap B \in \mathcal{F}$ and each $A \in \mathcal{F}$ and each $B \supset A$, we have $B \in \mathcal{F}$. An ideal I is called non-trivial ideal if $I \neq \phi$ and $\mathbb{N} \notin I$. Clearly $I \subset P(\mathbb{N})$ is a non-trivial ideal if and only if $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}(I) = {\mathbb{N} - A : A \in I}$ is a filter on \mathbb{N} . A non-trivial ideal $I \subset P(\mathbb{N})$ is called *admissible* if and only if $\{x\} : x \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset I$. A non-trivial ideal I is *maximal* if there cannot exists any non-trivial ideal $J \neq I$ containing I as a subset. Recall from [15] that, a sequence $x = (x_k)$ of points in \mathbb{R} is said to be I-convergent to a real number L if $\{k \in \mathbb{N} : |x_k - L| \ge \varepsilon\} \in I$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$. In this case we write $I - \lim x_k = L$.

Let D denote the set of all closed and bounded intervals $X = [x_1, x_2]$ on the real line \mathbb{R} . For $X = [x_1, x_2]$ and $Y = [y_1, y_2]$ in D, we define

$$X \leq Y$$
 if and only if $x_1 \leq y_1$ and $x_2 \leq y_2$.

Define a metric \overline{d} on D by

$$\bar{d}(X,Y) = \max\{|x_1 - y_1|, |x_2 - y_2|\}.$$

It can be easily proved that \overline{d} is a metric on D and (D, \overline{d}) is a complete metric space. Also the relation \leq is a partial order on D.

A fuzzy number X is a fuzzy subset of the real line \mathbb{R} i.e. a mapping $X : \mathbb{R} \to J(=[0,1])$ associating each real number t with its grade of membership X(t).

Let $L(\mathbb{R})$ denote the set of all fuzzy numbers. The linear structure of $L(\mathbb{R})$ induces the addition X + Y and the scalar multiplication λX in terms of α -level sets, by

$$[X+Y]^\alpha = [X]^\alpha + [Y]^\alpha$$

and

$$[\lambda X]^{\alpha} = \lambda [X]^{\alpha}$$
 for each $0 \le \alpha \le 1$

The set \mathbb{R} of real numbers can be embedded in $L(\mathbb{R})$ if we define $\overline{r} \in L(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$\overline{r}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } t = r; \\ 0, & \text{if } t \neq r \end{cases}$$

The additive identity and multiplicative identity of $L(\mathbb{R})$ are denoted by $\overline{0}$ and $\overline{1}$, respectively.

For r in \mathbb{R} and X in $L(\mathbb{R})$, the product rX is defined as follows:

$$rX(t) = \begin{cases} X(r^{-1}t), & \text{if } r \neq 0; \\ 0, & \text{if } r = 0 \end{cases}$$

Define a map $d: L(\mathbb{R}) \times L(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$d(X,Y) = \sup_{0 \le \alpha \le 1} \bar{d}(X^{\alpha}, Y^{\alpha}).$$

For $X, Y \in L(\mathbb{R})$ define $X \leq Y$ if and only if $X^{\alpha} \leq Y^{\alpha}$ for any $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. It is known that $(L(\mathbb{R}), d)$ is complete metric space (see [20]).

A sequence $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers is a function X from the set \mathbb{N} of natural numbers into $L(\mathbb{R})$. The fuzzy number u_k denotes the value of the function at $k \in \mathbb{N}$ (see [20]). We denote by w^F the set of all sequences $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers.

A sequence $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers is said to be bounded if the set $\{u_k : k \in \mathbb{N}\}$ of fuzzy numbers is bounded. We denote by ℓ_{∞}^F the set of all bounded sequences $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers.

A sequence $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers is said to be convergent to a fuzzy number u_0 if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a positive integer k_0 such that $d(u_k, u_0) < \varepsilon$ for $k > k_0$. We denote by c^F the set of all convergent sequences $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers. It is straightforward to see that $c^F \subset \ell_{\infty}^F \subset w^F$.

2. Definitions and Notations

Throughout the paper, we denote I is an admissible ideal of subsets of \mathbb{N} , unless otherwise stated.

Now we recall the definitions which are using throughout the article.

Definition 2.1. A real or complex number sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be *statistically* convergent to L if for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : |x_k - L| \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0.$$

In this case, we write $S - \lim x = L$ or $x_k \to L(S)$ and S denotes the set of all statistically convergent sequences.

A lacunary sequence $\theta = (k_r)$ is an increasing sequence of non-negative integers where $k_0 = 0$, $k_r - k_{r-1} \to \infty$ as $r \to \infty$. The intervals determined by θ will be denoted by $J_r = (k_{r-1}, k_r]$ and we let $h_r = k_r - k_{r-1}$. The space of lacunary strongly convergent sequences \mathcal{N}_{θ} was defined by Freedman et al., [7] as follows.

$$\mathcal{N}_{\theta} = \left\{ x = (x_k) : \lim_{r} \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} |x_k - L| = 0, \text{ for some } L \right\}.$$

Definition 2.2. [9] A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be *lacunary statistically convergent* to the number L if for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \{ k \in J_r : |x_k - L| \ge \varepsilon \} \right| = 0$$

Let S_{θ} denote the set of all lacunary statistically convergent sequences. If $\theta = (2^r)$, then S_{θ} is the same as S.

Definition 2.3. [19] Two nonnegative sequences $x = (x_k)$ and $y = (y_k)$ are said to be asymptotically equivalent if

$$\lim_k \frac{x_k}{y_k} = 1$$

denoted by $x \sim y$.

Definition 2.4. [24] Two nonnegative sequences $x = (x_k)$ and $y = (y_k)$ are said to be asymptotically statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : \left| \frac{x_k}{y_k} - L \right| \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0,$$

denoted by $x \stackrel{S^{\perp}}{\sim} y$ and simply asymptotically statistical equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 2.5. Two non-negative sequences $x = (x_k)$ and $y = (y_k)$ are said to be asymptotically lacunary statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{r} \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : \left| \frac{x_k}{y_k} - L \right| \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0,$$

denoted by $x \stackrel{S_{\theta}^{L}}{\sim} y$ and simply asymptotically lacunary statistical equivalent if L = 1. If we take $\theta = (2^{r})$, then we get the definition 4.

Definition 2.6. [18] Two non-negative sequences $x = (x_k)$ and $y = (y_k)$ are said to be strongly asymptotically *I*-equivalent of multiple *L* provided that for each $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left| \frac{x_k}{y_k} - L \right| \ge \varepsilon \right\} \in I$$

denoted by $x \stackrel{I[C_1]^L}{\sim} y$ and simply strongly asymptotically *I*-equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 2.7. [18] Two non-negative sequences $x = (x_k)$ and $y = (y_k)$ are said to be asymptotically *I*-lacunary statistical equivalent of multiple *L* provided that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : \left| \frac{x_k}{y_k} - L \right| \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \in I$$

denoted by $x \stackrel{I(S_{\theta})^{L}}{\sim} y$ and simply asymptotically *I*-lacunary statistical equivalent if L = 1.

3. Asymptotically lacunary statistical equivalent sequences using ideals

In this section, we define *I*-statistical convergence, asymptotically *I*-equivalent, asymptotically *I*-statistical equivalent and asymptotically *I*-lacunary statistical equivalent sequences of fuzzy real numbers and obtain some analogous results from these new definitions point of views.

Definition 3.1. Two sequences $u = (u_k)$ and $v = (v_k)$ of fuzzy real numbers are said to be asymptotically statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0,$$

denoted by $x \stackrel{S^L}{\sim} y$ and simply asymptotically statistical equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 3.2. [17] A sequence $u = (u_k)$ of fuzzy numbers is said to be *I*-convergent to a fuzzy number u_0 if for each $\epsilon > 0$

$$A = \{k \in \mathbb{N} : d(u_k, u_0) \ge \varepsilon\} \in I.$$

Definition 3.3. A sequence (u_k) of fuzzy real numbers is said to be *I*-statistically convergent to a fuzzy real number u_0 if for each $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \left| \{k \le n : d(u_k, u_0) \ge \varepsilon\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \in I.$$

In this case we write $I(\mathcal{S}) - \lim u_k = u_0$.

Definition 3.4. Two nonnegative sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be asymptotically I-equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\left\{k \in \mathbb{N} : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon\right\} \in I,$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{I^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically *I*-equivalent if L = 1.

Lemma 3.1. Let $I \subset P(\mathbb{N})$ be an admissible ideal. Let $(u_k), (v_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$ with I – $\lim_{k} u_{k} = \bar{0} = I - \lim_{k} v_{k} \text{ such that } (u_{k}) \stackrel{I^{L}}{\sim} (v_{k}). \text{ Then there exists a sequence } (w_{k}) \in \ell_{\infty}^{F} \text{ with } I - \lim_{k} w_{k} = \bar{0} \text{ such that } (u_{k}) \stackrel{I^{L}}{\sim} (w_{k}) \stackrel{I^{L}}{\sim} (v_{k}).$

Definition 3.5. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy numbers are said to be *asymp*totically I-statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and for every $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \in I,$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{I(S)^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically *I*-statistical equivalent if L = 1. **Definition 3.6.** Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be strongly asymptotically Cesàro I-equivalent (or $I([C_1])$ -equivalent) of multiple L provided that for every $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \delta\right\} \in I$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{I([C_1])^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply strongly asymptotically Cesàro I-equivalent if L = 1.

Theorem 3.2. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. If $(u_k), (v_k) \in$ ℓ_{∞}^{F} and $(u_{k}) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S})^{L}}{\sim} (v_{k})$. Then $(u_{k}) \stackrel{I([C_{1}])^{L}}{\sim} (v_{k})$.

Proof. Suppose that $(u_k), (v_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$ and $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$. Then we can assume that

$$d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right) \le M$$
 for almost all k .

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then we have

$$\left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right) \right| \leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\ d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right) \geq \varepsilon}}^{n} d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right) + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\ d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right) < \varepsilon}}^{n} d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right)$$
$$\leq M \cdot \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \leq n : d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}}, L\right) \geq \varepsilon \right\} \right| + \frac{1}{n} \cdot n \cdot \varepsilon.$$

Consequently for any $\delta > \varepsilon > 0$, δ and ε are independent, put $\delta_1 = \delta - \varepsilon > 0$ we have $\left\{n \in \mathbb{N}: \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \delta\right\} \subseteq \left\{n \in \mathbb{N}: \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{k \le n: d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon\right\} \right| \ge \frac{\delta_1}{M} \right\} \in I.$ \square

This shows that $(u_k) \stackrel{I([C_1])^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

Definition 3.7. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be strongly asymptotically *I*-lacunary equivalent (or $I([N_{\theta}])$ -equivalent) of multiple *L* provided that for every $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \delta\right\} \in I$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta}])^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply strongly asymptotically *I*-lacunary equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 3.8. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be asymptotically *I*-lacunary statistical equivalent (or $I(S_{\theta})$ -equivalent) of multiple *L* provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$, for every $\delta > 0$,

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \in I$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically *I*-lacunary statistical equivalent if L = 1.

Remark 3.1. If we take $I = I_{fin} = \{A \subset \mathbb{N} : A \text{ is finite set}\}$, then the asymptotically *I*-statistical equivalent, $I([N_{\theta}])$ -equivalent and $I(S_{\theta})$ -equivalent of sequences, respectively coincides with their statistically equivalent, lacunary-equivalent and lacunary statistically equivalent.

Theorem 3.3. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Then

(a) $(u_k) \stackrel{I([N_{\theta}])^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \stackrel{I(S_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k).$ (b) Let $(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$ and $(u_k) \stackrel{I(S_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$, then $(u_k) \stackrel{I([N_{\theta}])^L}{\sim} (v_k).$ (c) $I(S_{\theta})^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F = I([N_{\theta}])^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F.$

Proof. (a) Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta}])^L}{\sim} (v_k)$. Then we can write

$$\sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \sum_{\substack{k \in J_r \\ d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon}} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|$$
$$\Rightarrow \frac{1}{\varepsilon . h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|.$$

Thus for any $\delta > 0$,

$$\frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta$$

implies that

$$\frac{1}{h_r}\sum_{k\in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \geq \varepsilon \delta.$$

Therefore we have

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \subset \left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \delta \right\}.$$

Since $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta}])^L}{\sim} (v_k)$, so that

$$\left\{r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \delta \right\} \in I$$

which implies that

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \in I.$$

This shows that $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$. (b) Suppose that $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and $(u_k), (v_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$. We assume that $d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \leq M$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Given $\varepsilon > 0$, we get

$$\frac{1}{h_h} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) = \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{\substack{k \in J_r \\ d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon}} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) + \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{\substack{k \in J_r \\ d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) < \varepsilon}} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \\ \leq \frac{M}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| + \varepsilon.$$

If we put

$$A(\varepsilon) = \left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\}$$

and

$$B(\varepsilon_1) = \left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \frac{\varepsilon_1}{M} \right\},$$

$$\delta = \varepsilon \ge 0 \quad (\delta \text{ and } \varepsilon \text{ are independent}) \quad \text{then we have } A(\varepsilon) \subset \varepsilon$$

where $\varepsilon_1 = \delta - \varepsilon > 0$ (δ and ε are independent), then we have $A(\varepsilon) \subset B(\varepsilon_1)$ and so $A(\varepsilon) \in I$. This shows that $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta}])^L}{\sim} (v_k)$.

(c) It follows from (a) and (b).

If we let $\theta = (2^r)$ in Theorem 3.3, then we have the following corollary.

Corollary 3.4. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Then (a) $(u_k)^{I([C_1])^L}(v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k)^{I(S)^L}(v_k).$ (b) Let $(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$ and $(u_k)^{I(S)^L}(v_k)$, then $(u_k)^{I([C_1])^L}(v_k).$

(c)
$$I(\mathcal{S})^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F = I([C_1])^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F$$
.

Theorem 3.5. Let I be a non-trivial admissible ideal. Suppose for given $\delta > 0$ and $every \; \varepsilon > 0$

$$\left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ 0 \le k \le n - 1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| < \delta \right\} \in \mathcal{F}$$

then $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

Proof. Let $\delta > 0$ be given. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose n_1 such that

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ 0 \le k \le n-1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| < \frac{\delta}{2}, \text{ for all } n \ge n_1.$$
(1)

It is sufficient to show that there exists n_2 such that for $n \ge n_2$

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ 0 \le k \le n - 1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| < \frac{\delta}{2}$$

Let $n_0 = \max\{n_1, n_2\}$. The relation (3.1) will be true for $n > n_0$. If m_0 chosen fixed, then we get

$$\left|\left\{0 \le k \le m_0 - 1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon\right\}\right| = M.$$

Now for $n > m_0$ we have

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ 0 \le k \le n-1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \le \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ 0 \le k \le m_0 - 1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|$$
$$+ \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ m_0 \le k \le n-1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|$$
$$\le \frac{M}{n} + \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ m_0 \le k \le n-1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \le \frac{M}{n} + \frac{\delta}{2}.$$

Thus for sufficiently large n

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ m_0 \le k \le n-1 : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \le \frac{M}{n} + \frac{\delta}{2} < \delta.$$

 \Box

This established the result.

Theorem 3.6. Let (u_k) and (v_k) be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Let $\theta = (k_r)$ be a lacunary sequence with $\liminf_r q_r > 1$. Then $(u_k) \overset{I(S)^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{I(S_\theta)^L}{\sim} (v_k)$. Proof. Suppose that $\liminf_r q_r > 1$ then there exists an a > 0 such that $q_r \ge 1 + a$

Proof. Suppose that $\liminf_r q_r > 1$ then there exists an a > 0 such that $q_r \ge 1 + a$ for sufficiently large r, which implies that

$$\frac{h_r}{k_r} \ge \frac{a}{1+a}$$

Suppose that $(u_k) \overset{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$. For a given $\varepsilon > 0$ and sufficiently large r, we have

$$\frac{1}{k_r} \left| \left\{ k \le k_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \frac{1}{k_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|$$
$$\ge \left(\frac{a}{1+a}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|.$$

and for any $\delta > 0$ we have

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{k_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\}$$
$$\subseteq \left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{k_r} \left| \left\{ k \le k_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \frac{a\delta}{1+a} \right\} \in I.$$

This shows that $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

Theorem 3.7. Let $I = I_{fin} = \{A \subset \mathbb{N} : A \text{ is a finite set}\}$ be a non trivial ideal. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers and $\theta = (k_r)$ be a lacunary sequence with $\limsup_r q_r < \infty$, then $(u_k) \stackrel{I(S_\theta)^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \stackrel{I(S)^L}{\sim} (v_k)$.

Proof. Suppose that $\limsup_{r} q_r < \infty$, then there exists a H > 0 such that $q_r < H$ for all r. Suppose that $(u_k)^{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta})^L}(v_k)$ and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we put

$$N_r = \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|.$$

Since $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ it follows that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\delta > 0$

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} = \left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{N_r}{h_r} \ge \delta \right\} \in I$$

and therefore it is a finite set. We can choose an integer $r_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\frac{N_r}{h_r} < \delta \text{ for all } r > r_0.$$
⁽²⁾

Let $M = \max\{N_r : 1 \le r \le r_0\}$ and n be any integer satisfying $k_{r-1} < n \le k_r$, then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| &\le \frac{1}{k_{r-1}} \left| \left\{ k \le k_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \\ &= \frac{1}{k_{r-1}} \left\{ N_1 + N_2 + \dots + N_{r_0} + N_{r_0+1} + \dots + N_r \right\} \\ &\le \frac{M}{k_{r-1}} \cdot r_0 + \frac{1}{k_{r-1}} \left\{ h_{r_0+1} \left(\frac{N_{r_0+1}}{h_{r_0+1}}\right) + \dots + h_r \left(\frac{N_r}{h_r}\right) \right\} \\ &\le \frac{M}{k_{r-1}} \cdot r_0 + \frac{1}{k_{r-1}} \left(\sup_{r > r_0} \left(\frac{N_r}{h_r}\right) \right) \left\{ H_{r_0+1} + \dots + h_r \right\} \\ &\le \frac{M}{k_{r-1}} \cdot r_0 + \delta \left(\frac{k_r - k_{r_0}}{k_{r-1}}\right) \\ &\le \frac{M}{k_{r-1}} \cdot r_0 + \delta q_r \le \frac{M}{k_{r-1}} \cdot r_0 + \delta \cdot H \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

Definition 3.9. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be *asymptotically lacunary p-equivalent* provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{r} \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)^p = 0$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{[N_{\theta_p}]^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically lacunary p-equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 3.10. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be *asymptotically lacunary statistical p-equivalent* provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{r} \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \in J_r : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)^p \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{S^L_{\theta_p}}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically lacunary statistical p-equivalent if L = 1.

The proof of the following theorem is similar to Theorem 3.3 for $I = I_{fin}$.

Theorem 3.8. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Then (a) $(u_k) \overset{[N_{\theta_p}]^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

(b) Let
$$(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$$
 and $(u_k) \stackrel{\mathcal{S}_{\theta_p}^L}{\sim} (v_k)$, then $(u_k) \sim^{[N_{\theta_p}]^L} (v_k)$.
(c) $\mathcal{S}_{\theta_p}^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F = [N_{\theta_p}]^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F$.

Definition 3.11. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be asymptotically I-lacunary p-equivalent (or $I([N_{\theta_n}])$ -equivalent) provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \sum_{k \in J_r} d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)^p \ge \varepsilon \right\} \in I$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta_p}])^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically *I*-lacunary *p*-equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 3.12. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be asymptotically I-lacunary statistical p-equivalent provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$, for every $\delta > 0$

$$\left\{ r \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{h_r} \left| \left\{ k \le n : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)^p \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \delta \right\} \in I$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta_p})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically I-statistical p-equivalent if L = 1

The proof of the following theorem follows from Theorems 3.3 and 3.8.

Theorem 3.9. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Then (a) $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta_p}])^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{I(S_{\theta_p})^L}{\sim} (v_k).$ (b) Let $(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F$ and $(u_k) \overset{I(S_{\theta_p})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$, then $(u_k) \overset{I([N_{\theta_p}])^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

(c)
$$I(\mathcal{S}_{\theta_p})^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^r = I([N_{\theta_p}])^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^r$$

4. Cesàro Orlicz asymptotically ϕ -statistical equivalent sequences

In this section we define the notion of Cesàro Orlicz asymptotically ϕ -statistical equivalent sequences of fuzzy real numbers.

Let P denote the space whose elements are finite sets of distinct positive integers. Given any element σ of P, we denote by $p(\sigma)$ the sequence $\{p_n(\sigma)\}$ such that $p_n(\sigma) = 1$ for $n \in \sigma$ and $p_n(\sigma) = 0$ otherwise. Further

$$P_s = \left\{ \sigma \in P : \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} p_n(\sigma) \le s \right\},\$$

i.e. P_s is the set of those σ whose support has cardinality at most s, and we get

 $\Phi = \{\phi = (\phi_n) : 0 < \phi_1 \le \phi_n \le \phi_{n+1} \text{ and } n\phi_{n+1} \le (n+1)\phi_n\}.$

We define

$$\tau_s = \frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} x_k$$

Now we give the following definitions.

Definition 4.1. A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be ϕ -summable to ℓ if $\lim_s \tau_s = \ell$.

Definition 4.2. A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be *strongly* ϕ *-summable* to ℓ if

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} |x_k - \ell| = 0.$$

In this case we write $x_k \xrightarrow{[\phi]} \ell$ and $[\phi]$ denote the set of all strongly ϕ -summable sequences.

Definition 4.3. Let $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. The number

$$\delta_{\phi}(E) = \lim_{s \to \infty} \frac{1}{\phi_s} |\{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : k \in E\}|$$

is said to be the ϕ -density of E.

Definition 4.4. A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be ϕ -statistical convergent to $\ell \in \mathbb{R}$ if for each $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \frac{1}{\phi_s} |\{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : |x_k - \ell| \ge \varepsilon\}| = 0.$$

In this case we write $S_{\phi} - \lim_{k} x_{k} = \ell$ or $x_{k} \xrightarrow{S_{\phi}} \ell$ and S_{ϕ} denote the set of all ϕ -statistically convergent sequences.

An Orlicz function is a function $M : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ which is continuous, nondecreasing and convex with M(0) = 0, M(x) > 0 for x > 0 and $M(x) \to \infty$ as $x \to \infty$. An Orlicz function M is said to satisfy the Δ_2 – condition for all values of u, if there exists a constant K > 0 such that $M(2u) \leq KM(u), u \geq 0$. Note that, if $0 < \lambda < 1$, then $M(\lambda x) \leq \lambda M(x)$, for all $x \geq 0$ (see [16]).

Now we define the following asymptotic $\phi\mbox{-statistical}$ equivalence sequences of fuzzy real numbers.

Definition 4.5. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be *Cesàro Orlicz asymptotically equivalent* of multiple *L* provided that

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) = 0$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply Cesàro Orlicz asymptotically equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 4.6. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be *Cesàro Orlicz asymptotically I-equivalent* of multiple *L* provided that for every $\delta > 0$

$$\left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \delta \right\} \in I$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{I[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply Cesàro Orlicz asymptotically I-equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 4.7. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be *Orlicz asymptotically* ϕ -equivalent of multiple L provided that

$$\lim_{s} \frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) = 0$$

denoted by $(u_k) \stackrel{[\phi]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply Orlicz asymptotically ϕ -equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 4.8. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be asymptotically ϕ -statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{s} \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{S^L_{\phi}}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply asymptotically ϕ -statistical equivalent if L = 1.

Definition 4.9. Two sequences (u_k) and (v_k) of fuzzy real numbers are said to be *Orlicz asymptotically* ϕ -statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{s} \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = 0$$

denoted by $(u_k) \overset{\mathfrak{S}_{\phi}(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$ and simply Orlicz asymptotically ϕ -statistical equivalent if L = 1.

Theorem 4.1. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers and M be an Orlicz function. Then

(a) $(u_k) \overset{I[C_1]_{\mathcal{C}}^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k).$ (b) $(u_k) \overset{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ implies $(u_k) \overset{I[C_1]_{\mathcal{L}}^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$, if M is bounded.

Proof. (a) Suppose that $(u_k) \stackrel{I[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$ and let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given, then we can write

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) \geq \frac{1}{n}\sum_{\substack{k=1\\d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\geq\varepsilon}}^{n} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)$$
$$\geq \frac{M(\varepsilon)}{n}\left|\left\{k\leq n:d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\geq\varepsilon\right\}\right|$$

Consequently for any $\eta > 0$, we have

$$\left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \ge \frac{\eta}{M(\varepsilon)} \right\} \\ \subseteq \left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \eta \right\} \in I.$$

Hence $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

(b) Suppose that M is bounded and $(u_k) \stackrel{I(\mathcal{S})^L}{\sim} (v_k)$. Since M is bounded then there exists a real number K > 0 such that $\sup_t M(t) \leq K$. Moreover for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we can write

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) = \frac{1}{n}\left[\sum_{\substack{k=1\\d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\geq\varepsilon}}^{n}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) + \sum_{\substack{k=1\\d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)<\varepsilon}}^{n}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\right]$$
$$\leq \frac{K}{n}\left|\left\{k\leq n:d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\geq\varepsilon\right\}\right| + M(\varepsilon).$$

Now applying $\varepsilon \to 0$, then the result follows.

Theorem 4.2. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers and (ϕ_s) be a nondecreasing sequence of positive real numbers such that $\phi_s \to \infty$ as $s \to \infty$ and $\phi_s \leq s$ for every $s \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $(u_k) \overset{S^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{S^L_{\phi}}{\sim} (v_k)$.

Proof. By the definition of the sequences ϕ_s it follows that $\inf_s \frac{s}{s-\phi_s} \ge 1$. Then there exists a a > 0 such that

$$\frac{s}{\phi_s} \le \frac{1+a}{a}.$$

Suppose that $(u_k) \stackrel{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k)$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and sufficiently large s we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| &= \frac{1}{s} \cdot \frac{s}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \le s : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \\ &- \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \in \{1, 2, \dots s\} - \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \\ &\le \frac{1+a}{a} \frac{1}{s} \left| \left\{ k \le s : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \\ &- \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k_0 \in \{1, 2, \dots s\} - \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : d\left(\frac{u_{k_0}}{v_{k_0}}, L\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

Theorem 4.3. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers and let M be an Orlicz function satisfies the Δ_2 -conditions. Then $(u_k) \stackrel{S^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \stackrel{S^L_{\phi}(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$.

Proof. By the definition of the sequences ϕ_s it follows that $\inf_s \frac{s}{s-\phi_s} \ge 1$. Then there exists an a > 0 such that

$$\frac{s}{\phi_s} \le \frac{1+a}{a}.$$

Suppose that $(u_k) \stackrel{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k)$, then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and sufficiently large s we have

$$\frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| = \frac{1}{s} \cdot \frac{s}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \le s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|
- \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k \in \{1, 2, \dots s\} - \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|
\le \frac{1+a}{a} \frac{1}{s} \left| \left\{ k \le s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|
- \frac{1}{\phi_s} \left| \left\{ k_0 \in \{1, 2, \dots s\} - \sigma, \sigma \in P_s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k_0}}{v_{k_0}}, L\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right|.$$
(3)

Since M satisfies the Δ_2 -conditions, it follows that

$$M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)\right) \le K.d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)$$

for some constant K > 0 in both the cases where $d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \le 1$ and $d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \ge 1$. In first case it follows from the definition of Orlicz function and for the second case

In first case it follows from the definition of Orlicz function and for the second case we have

$$d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right) = 2.L^{(1)} = 2^2.L^{(2)} = \dots = 2^s.L^{(s)}$$

such that $L^{(s)} \leq 1$. Using the Δ_2 -conditions of Orlicz functions we get the following estimation

$$M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)\right) \le T.L^{(s)}.M(1) = K.d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right),\tag{4}$$

where K and T are constants. The proof of the theorem follows from the relations (4.1) and (4.2). \Box

Remark 4.1. From the Theorems 4.2 and 4.3, we can concluded that $(u_k) \stackrel{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k) \Leftrightarrow$ $(u_k) \overset{\mathcal{S}^L_{\phi}(M)}{\sim} (v_k).$

Theorem 4.4. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Let M be an Orlicz function and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\phi_s \leq [\phi_s] + k$, $\sup_s \frac{[\phi_s] + k}{\phi_{s-1}} < \infty$. Then $(u_k) \overset{\mathcal{S}_{\phi}^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k).$

Proof. If $\sup_s \frac{[\phi_s]+k}{\phi_{s-1}} < \infty$, then there exists K > 0 such that $\frac{[\phi_s]+k}{\phi_{s-1}} < K$ for all $s \ge 1$. Let n be an integer such that $\phi_{s-1} < n \le \phi_s$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \leq n : d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right) \geq \varepsilon \right\} \right| &\leq \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \leq n : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \geq M(\varepsilon) \right\} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{[\phi_s] + k} \cdot \frac{[\phi_s] + k}{\phi_{s-1}} \left| \left\{ k \leq \phi_s : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \geq M(\varepsilon) \right\} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{[\phi_s] + k} \cdot \frac{[\phi_s] + k}{\phi_{s-1}} \left| \left\{ k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_{[\phi_s] + k} : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \geq M(\varepsilon) \right\} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{K}{[\phi_s] + k} \left| \left\{ k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_{[\phi_s] + k} : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \geq M(\varepsilon) \right\} \right|. \end{split}$$

This established the result.

Theorem 4.5. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Let M be an Orlicz function. Then

(a) $(u_k) \overset{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{[\phi]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k).$ (b) $\sup_{s} \frac{\phi_{s}}{\phi_{s-1}} < \infty$ for every $s \in \mathbb{N}$, then $(u_{k}) \overset{[\phi]^{L}(M)}{\sim} (v_{k}) \Rightarrow (u_{k}) \overset{[C_{1}]^{L}(M)}{\sim} (v_{k})$.

Proof. (a) From definition of the sequence (ϕ_s) it follows that $\inf_s \frac{s}{s-\phi_s} \geq 1$. Then there exists a > 0 such that

$$\frac{s}{\phi_s} \le \frac{1+a}{a}.$$

Then we get the following relation

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{s}{\phi_s} \cdot \frac{1}{s} \sum_{k=1}^n M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) - \frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \{1, 2, \dots s\} - \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) \\ &\leq \frac{1+a}{a} \frac{1}{s} \sum_{k=1}^s M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) - \frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k_0 \in \{1, 2, \dots s\} - \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k_0}}{v_{k_0}}, L\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Since $(u_k) \stackrel{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$ and M is continuous, letting $s \to \infty$ on the last relation we get
$$\frac{1}{\phi_s}\sum_{k\in\sigma,\sigma\in P_s}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)\right)\to 0.$$

Hence $(u_k) \stackrel{[\phi]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$. (b) Suppose that $\sup_s \frac{\phi_s}{\phi_{s-1}} < \infty$ then there exists A > 0 such that $\frac{\phi_s}{\phi_{s-1}} < A$ for all $s \geq 1$. Suppose $(u_k) \stackrel{[\phi]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists R > 0 such that for every s > R

$$\frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) < \varepsilon.$$

We can also find a constant K > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{\phi_s} \sum_{k \in \sigma, \sigma \in P_s} M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L\right)\right) < K \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let n be any integer with $\phi_{s-1} < n \leq [\phi_s]$ for every s > R. Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) \leq \frac{1}{\phi_{s-1}}\sum_{k=1}^{[\phi_{s}]}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\phi_{s-1}}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{[\phi_{1}]}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) + \sum_{[\phi_{1}]}^{[\phi_{2}]}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right) + \ldots + \sum_{[\phi_{s-1}]}^{[\phi_{s}]}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\right) \\ &\leq \frac{\phi_{1}}{\phi_{s-1}}\left(\frac{1}{\phi_{1}}\sum_{k\in\sigma,\sigma\in P^{(1)}}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\right) + \frac{\phi_{2}}{\phi_{s-1}}\left(\frac{1}{\phi_{2}}\sum_{k\in\sigma,\sigma\in P^{(2)}}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\right) + \ldots \\ &+ \frac{\phi_{R}}{\phi_{s-1}}\left(\frac{1}{\phi_{R}}\sum_{k\in\sigma,\sigma\in P^{(R)}}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\right) + \ldots + \frac{\phi_{s}}{\phi_{s-1}}\left(\frac{1}{\phi_{s}}\sum_{k\in\sigma,\sigma\in P^{(s)}}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\right) \end{split}$$

where $P^{(t)}$ are sets of integer which have more than $[\phi_t]$ elements for $t \in \{1, 2, ..., s\}$. By taking limit as $n \to \infty$ on the last relation we get

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}M\left(d\left(\frac{u_{k}}{v_{k}},L\right)\right)\to 0$$

It follows that $(u_k) \stackrel{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k).$

Theorem 4.6. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Let M be an Orlicz function. Then

- (a) $(u_k) \overset{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k).$
- (b) If M satisfies the Δ_2 -condition and $(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F(M)$ such that $(u_k) \stackrel{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ then
- $\begin{array}{l} (u_k) \stackrel{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k). \\ (c) \quad If \ M \ satisfies \ the \ \Delta_2\ condition, \ then \ [C_1]^L(M) \cap \ell_{\infty}^F(M) = \mathcal{S}^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F(M), \ where \\ \ell_{\infty}^F(M) = \{(u_k) \in w^F : M(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F\}. \end{array}$

Proof. (a) Suppose that $(u_k) \overset{[C_1]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k)$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we have

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k}, L \right) \right) \ge M(\varepsilon) \right\} \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)\right) \geq M(\varepsilon)}}^n M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)\right) \leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n M\left(d\left(\frac{u_k}{v_k},L\right)\right).$$

This established the result.

(b) The proof of this part follows from the same techniques used in the proofs of the Theorems 3.3 and 4.3.

(c) It follows from (a) and (b).

Theorem 4.7. Let $(u_k), (v_k)$ be two sequences of fuzzy real numbers. Let M be an Orlicz function. Then

- (a) $(u_k) \overset{[\phi]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k) \Rightarrow (u_k) \overset{\mathcal{S}^L}{\sim} (v_k).$
- (b) If M satisfies the Δ_2 -condition and $(u_k) \in \ell_{\infty}^F(M)$ such that $(u_k) \stackrel{S_{\phi}^L}{\sim} (v_k)$ then $\begin{array}{l} (u_k) \overset{[\phi]^L(M)}{\sim} (v_k). \\ (c) \ If \ M \ satisfies \ the \ \Delta_2\text{-condition}, \ then \ [\phi]^L(M) \cap \ell_{\infty}^F(M) = \mathcal{S}_{\phi}^L \cap \ell_{\infty}^F(M). \end{array}$

Proof. The proof of this theorem follows from the same techniques used in the proofs of the Theorems 3.3, 4.3 and 4.6. \square

References

- [1] Y. Altin, M. Mursaleen and H. Altinok, Statistical summability (C, 1) for sequences of fuzzy real numbers and a Tauberian theorem, Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems 21 (2010), no. 6, 379-384.
- [2] H. Çakalli, B. Hazarika, Ideal quasi-Cauchy sequences, Journal of Inequalities and Applications 2012 (2012), pages 11, doi:10.1186/1029-242X-2012-234
- [3] P. Debnath, Lacunary ideal convergence in intuitionistic fuzzy normed linear spaces, Comput. Math. Appl. 63 (2012), 708-715.
- [4] P. Diamond and P. Kloeden, Metric spaces of fuzzy sets, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 35 (1990), 241 - 249.
- [5] A. Esi, Asymptotically Lacunary Statistically Equivalent Sequences of Interval Numbers, International Journal of Mathematics And Its Applications 1 (2013), no. 1, 43-48.
- [6] H. Fast, Sur la convergence statistique, Colloq. Math. 2 (1951), 241-244.
- [7] A. R. Freedman, J. J. Sember and M. Raphael, Some Cesáro-type summability spaces, Proc. London Math. Soc. 37(3) (1978), 508-520.
- [8] J. A. Fridy, On statistical convergence, Analysis 5 (1985), 301–313.
- [9] J. A. Fridy and C. Orhan, Lacunary statistical convergence, Pacific J. Math. 160 (1993), no. 1, 43-51.
- [10] J. A. Fridy and C. Orhan, Lacunary statistical summability, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 173 (1993), 497 - 504.
- [11] B. Hazarika, Lacunary I-convergent sequence of fuzzy real numbers, The Pacific Jour. Sci. Techno. 10 (2009), no.2, 203-206.
- [12] B. Hazarika, Fuzzy real valued lacunary I-convergent sequences, Applied Math. Letters 25 (2012), no. 3, 466-470.
- [13] B. Hazarika, Lacunary difference ideal convergent sequence spaces of fuzzy numbers, Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems. 25 (2013), no. 1, 157-166, doi: 10.3233/IFS-2012-0622.
- [14] B. Hazarika, On σ -uniform density and ideal convergent sequences of fuzzy real numbers, Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems. 26 (2014), no.2, 793-799, doi 10.3233/IFS-130769.
- [15] P. Kostyrko, T. Šalát and W. Wilczyński, I-convergence, Real Analysis Exchange 26 (2000-2001), no.2, 669-686.
- [16] M. A. Krasnoselskii and Y. B. Rutitsky, Convex function and Orlicz spaces, Groningen, Netherland, 1961.
- [17] V. Kumar and K. Kumar, On the ideal convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers, Inform. Sci. **178** (2008), 4670–4678.

- [18] V. Kumar and A. Sharma, Asymptotically lacunary equivalent sequences defined by ideals and modulus function, *Mathematical Sciences 2012* 6:23, doi:10.1186/2251-7456-6-23.
- [19] M. S. Marouf, Asymptotic equivalence and summability, Internat. J. Math. Math. Sci. 16 (1993), no.4, 755–762.
- [20] M. Matloka, Sequences of fuzzy numbers, BUSEFAL 28 (1986), 28–37.
- [21] M. Mursaleen and M. Basarir, On some new sequence spaces of fuzzy numbers, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 34 (2003), no. 9, 1351–1357.
- [22] S. Nanda, On sequences of fuzzy numbers, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 33 (1989), 123–126.
- [23] M. Mursaleen and S.A. Mohiuddine, On lacunary statistical convergence with respect to the intuitionistic fuzzy normed space, *Jour. Comput. Appl. Math.* 233 (2009), no. 2, 142–149.
- [24] R. F. Patterson, On asymptotically statistically equivalent sequences, Demonstratio Math. 36 (2003), no. 1, 149–153.
- [25] I. P. Pobyvancts, Asymptotic equivalence of some linear transformation defined by a nonnegative matrix and reduced to generalized equivalence in the sense of Cesàro and Abel, *Mat. Fiz.* 28 (1980), 83–87.
- [26] T. Šalát, On statistical convergence of real numbers, Math. Slovaca **30** (1980), 139–150.
- [27] I. J. Schoenberg, The integrability of certain functions and related summability methods, Amer. Math. Monthly 66 (1959), 361–375.
- [28] H. Steinhaus, Sur la convergence ordinate et la convergence asymptotique, Colloq. Math. 2 (1951), 73–84.
- [29] B. C. Tripathy, B. Hazarika, B. Choudhary, Lacunary I-convergent sequences, Kyungpook Math. J. 52(4) (2012), 473–482.
- [30] L. A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets, Inform. Control 8 (1965), 338-353.
- [31] A. Zygmund, Trigonometric Series, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1979.

(Bipan Hazarika) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, RAJIV GANDHI UNIVERSITY, RONO HILLS, DOIMUKH-791112, ARUNACHAL PRADESH, INDIA *E-mail address*: bh_rgu@yahoo.co.in

(Ayhan Esi) Adiyaman University, Science and Art Faculty, Department of Mathematics, 02040, Adiyaman, Turkey

E-mail address: aesi23@hotmail.com

Generalized Hermite-Hadamard type integral inequalities for *s*-convex functions via fractional integrals

Mehmet Zeki Sarikaya and Fatma Ertugral

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we have established Hermite-Hadamard type inequalities for the class of functions whose derivatives in absolute value at certain powers are *s*-convex functions by using fractional integrals depending on a parameter.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 26D07, 26D10; Secondary 26A33. Key words and phrases. Hermite-Hadamard's inequalities, Riemann-Liouville fractional integral, s-convex functions, integral inequalities.

1. Introduction

Definition 1.1. The function $f : [a, b] \subset \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, is said to be *convex* if the following inequality holds

$$f(\lambda x + (1 - \lambda)y) \le \lambda f(x) + (1 - \lambda)f(y)$$

for all $x, y \in [a, b]$ and $\lambda \in [0, 1]$. We say that f is concave if (-f) is convex.

The inequalities discovered by C. Hermite and J. Hadamard for convex functions are very important in the literature (see, e.g.,[18, p.137], [12]). These inequalities state that if $f: I \to \mathbb{R}$ is a convex function on the interval I of real numbers and $a, b \in I$ with a < b, then

$$f\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right) \le \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} f(x)dx \le \frac{f\left(a\right) + f\left(b\right)}{2}.$$
(1)

Both inequalities hold in the reversed direction if f is concave. We note that Hadamard's inequality may be regarded as a refinement of the concept of convexity and it follows easily from Jensen's inequality. Hadamard's inequality for convex functions has received renewed attention in recent years and a remarkable variety of refinements and generalizations have been found (see, for example, [1, 2, 12, 13, 18]) and the references cited therein.

Definition 1.2. [4] Let s be a real number, $s \in (0, 1]$. A function $f : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is said to be s-convex (in the second sense), or that f belongs to the class K_s^2 , if f

$$f(\lambda x + (1 - \lambda)y) \le \lambda^s f(x) + (1 - \lambda)^s f(y)$$

for all $x, y \in [0, \infty)$ and $\lambda \in [0, 1]$.

An *s*-convex function was introduced in Breckner's paper [4] and a number of properties and connections with *s*-convexity in the first sense are discussed in paper [11]. Of course, *s*-convexity means just convexity when s = 1.

In [10], Dragomir and Fitzpatrick proved a variant of Hadamard's inequality which holds for s-convex functions in the second sense.

Received April 18, 2014. Revised October 30, 2014.

Theorem 1.1. [10] Suppose that $f : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is an s-convex function in the second sense, where $s \in (0, 1)$, and let $a, b \in [0, \infty)$, a < b. If $f \in L^1([a, b])$, then the following inequalities hold:

$$2^{s-1}f(\frac{a+b}{2}) \le \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} f(x)dx \le \frac{f(a)+f(b)}{s+1}.$$
(2)

The constant $k = \frac{1}{s+1}$ is the best possible in the second inequality in (2).

Meanwhile, Sarikaya et al.[21] presented the following important integral identity including the first-order derivative of f to establish many interesting Hermite-Hadamard type inequalities for convexity functions via Riemann-Liouville fractional integrals of the order $\alpha > 0$.

Lemma 1.2. Let $f : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable mapping on (a,b) with a < b. If $f' \in L[a,b]$, then the following equality for fractional integrals holds:

$$\frac{f(a) + f(b)}{2} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{2(b - a)^{\alpha}} \left[J_{a+}^{\alpha} f(b) + J_{b-}^{\alpha} f(a) \right]$$
(3)
$$= \frac{b - a}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left[(1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right] f' \left(ta + (1 - t)b \right) dt.$$

It is remarkable that Sarikaya et al.[21] first give the following interesting integral inequalities of Hermite-Hadamard type involving Riemann-Liouville fractional integrals.

Theorem 1.3. Let $f : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a positive function with $0 \le a < b$ and $f \in L_1[a,b]$. If f is a convex function on [a,b], then the following inequalities for fractional integrals hold:

$$f\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right) \le \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{2(b-a)^{\alpha}} \left[J_{a+}^{\alpha}f(b) + J_{b-}^{\alpha}f(a)\right] \le \frac{f(a)+f(b)}{2} \tag{4}$$

with $\alpha > 0$.

In the following we will give some necessary definitions and mathematical preliminaries of fractional calculus theory which are used further in this paper. More details, one can consult [14, 15, 17, 19].

Definition 1.3. Let $f \in L_1[a, b]$. The Riemann-Liouville integrals $J_{a+}^{\alpha} f$ and $J_{b-}^{\alpha} f$ of order $\alpha > 0$ with $a \ge 0$ are defined by

$$J_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t)dt, \quad x > a$$

and

$$J_{b-}^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{x}^{b} \left(t - x\right)^{\alpha - 1} f(t) dt, \quad x < b$$

respectively. Here, $\Gamma(\alpha)$ is the Gamma function and $J^0_{a+}f(x) = J^0_{b-}f(x) = f(x)$.

For some recent results connected with fractional integral inequalities see ([3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 16, 20, 22, 23, 24]).

The aim of this paper is to establish generalized Hermite-Hadamard type integral inequalities for the class of functions whose derivatives in absolute value at certain powers are *s*-convex functions by using Riemann-Liouville fractional integral and some other integral inequalities. The results presented in this paper provide extensions of those given in earlier works.

2. Main Results

For our results, we give the following important fractional integral identity [22]:

Lemma 2.1. Let $f : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable mapping on (a,b) with $0 \le a < b$. If $f' \in L[a,b]$, then the following equality for fractional integrals holds:

$$\frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} + \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)} + f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b)} - f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)\right] (5)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left[(1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha}\right] f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + (1 - t)(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)\right] dt$$

where $\lambda \in [0,1] \setminus \{\frac{1}{2}\}$ and $\alpha > 0$.

Theorem 2.2. Let $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable mapping on (a, b) with $0 \le a < b$. If $|f'|^q$, $q \ge 1$ is s-convex on [a, b], then the following inequality for fractional integrals holds:

$$\left| \frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) +} f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) -} f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| \\
\leq \left(\frac{2}{\alpha + 1} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha}} \right] \right)^{1 - \frac{1}{q}} \left[|f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b)|^{q} + |f'(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)|^{q} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \qquad (6) \\
\times \left[B_{1\backslash 2} \left(s + 1, \alpha + 1 \right) - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha + s} \left(\alpha + s + 1 \right)} + \frac{1}{\alpha + s + 1} - B_{1/2} \left(\alpha + 1, s + 1 \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

where $\lambda \in [0,1] \setminus \{\frac{1}{2}\}, \alpha > 0$, and B_x is the incomplete beta function defined as follows

$$B_x(m,n) = \int_0^x t^{m-1} (1-t)^{n-1}, \quad m,n > 0, \ 0 < x \le 1.$$
(7)

Proof. Firstly, we suppose that q = 1. Using Lemma 2.1 and s-convexity of $|f'|^q$, we find that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \right. \\ & \times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)^{+}} f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b)^{-}} f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + (1 - t)(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| dt \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left[t^{s} \left| f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) \right| + (1 - t)^{s} \left| f'(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right| \right] dt \\ & = \left| f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) \right| \left[\int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[(1 - t)^{\alpha} \cdot t^{s} - t^{\alpha + s} \right] dt + \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \left[t^{\alpha + s} - (1 - t)^{\alpha} \cdot t^{s} \right] dt \end{aligned}$$

THE HERMITE-HADAMARD TYPE INEQUALITIES FOR FRACTIONAL INTEGRALS 229

$$+ \left| f'(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right| \left[\int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} [(1-t)^{\alpha+s} - t^{\alpha} (1-t)^{s}] dt + \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} [t^{\alpha} (1-t)^{s} - (1-t)^{\alpha+s}] dt \right]$$
$$= \left[B_{1/2} \left(s + 1, \alpha + 1 \right) - B_{1/2} \left(\alpha + 1, s + 1 \right) - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+s} (\alpha+s+1)} + \frac{1}{\alpha+s+1} \right]$$
$$\times \left[\left| f'(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) \right| + \left| f'(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right| \right]$$

Secondly, we suppose that q > 1. Using Lemma 2.1 and power mean inequality, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1-t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) + (1-t)(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right] \right| dt$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1-t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| dt \right)^{1-\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\times \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1-t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) + (1-t)(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right] \right|^{q} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$
(8)

Hence, using s-convexity of $\left|f'\right|^q$ and (8) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \right. \\ & \times \left[J_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}^{\alpha} + f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b)}^{\alpha} - f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| \\ & \leq \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| dt \right)^{1 - \frac{1}{q}} \\ & \times \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + (1 - t)(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right|^{q} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ & \leq \left(\int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[(1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right] dt + \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \left[t^{\alpha} - (1 - t)^{\alpha} \right] dt \right)^{1 - \frac{1}{q}} \\ & \times \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left[t^{s} \left| f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) \right|^{q} + (1 - t)^{s} \left| f'(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right|^{q} \right] dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ & \leq \left(\left(\frac{2}{\alpha + 1} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha}} \right] \right)^{1 - \frac{1}{q}} \left[\left| f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) \right|^{q} + \left| f'(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right|^{q} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ & = \left[B_{1/2} \left(s + 1, \alpha + 1 \right) - B_{1/2} \left(\alpha + 1, s + 1 \right) - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha + s} (\alpha + s + 1)} + \frac{1}{\alpha + s + 1} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}}. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 2.1. If we take s = 1 in Theorem 2.2, then Theorem 2.2 reduces to Theorem 3 which is proved by Sarikaya and Budak in [22].

Remark 2.2 (Trapezoid Inequality). If we take s = 1, $\alpha = 1$ and $\lambda = 0$ (or $\lambda = 1$) in Theorem 2.2, we have

$$\left|\frac{f(a) + f(b)}{2} - \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} f(x) dx\right| \le \frac{b-a}{8} 2^{\frac{q-1}{q}} \left[\left|f'(a)\right|^{q} + \left|f'(b)\right|^{q}\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

where $q \ge 1$. Choosing q = 1 in last inequality, it follows that

$$\left|\frac{f(a) + f(b)}{2} - \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} f(x) dx\right| \le \frac{b-a}{8} \left[|f'(a)| + |f'(b)|\right]$$

which are proved by Dragomir and Agarwal in [13].

Theorem 2.3. Let $f : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable mapping on (a,b) with $0 \le a < b$. If $|f'|^q$ s-convex on [a,b] for same fixed q > 1, then the following inequality for fractional integrals holds:

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{f(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a)}{(1-2\lambda)(b-a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{(1-2\lambda)^{\alpha+1}(b-a)^{\alpha+1}} \\ \times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a)^+} f(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b)^-} f(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right] \right| \\ &\leq \left(\frac{2}{\alpha p+1} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha p}} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{|f'(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b)|^q}{s+1} + |f'(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a)|^q}{s+1} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ where \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1, \ \alpha > 0 \ and \ \lambda \in [0,1] \setminus \{\frac{1}{2}\}. \end{split}$$

 $\mathit{Proof.}$ Using Lemma 2.1, s-convexity of $|f|^q$ and well-known Hölder's inequality, we obtain

$$\frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \\
\times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) +} f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) -} f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)\right]\right|^{d} \\
\leq \int_{0}^{1} |(1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha}|^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f'| [t(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + (1 - t)(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)]|^{q} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
\leq \left(\int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} [(1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha}]^{p} dt + \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} [t^{\alpha} - (1 - t)^{\alpha}]^{p} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\
\times \left(\int_{0}^{1} t^{s} |f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b)|^{q} + (1 - t)^{s} |f'(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)|^{q}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

THE HERMITE-HADAMARD TYPE INEQUALITIES FOR FRACTIONAL INTEGRALS 231

$$= \left(\frac{2}{\alpha p+1}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(1-\frac{1}{2^{\alpha p}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{|f'(\lambda a+(1-\lambda)b)|^{q}+|f'(\lambda b+(1-\lambda)a)|^{q}}{s+1}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

Here, we use

$$(c-d)^p \le c^p - d^p,$$

for any $c > d \ge 0$ and $p \ge 1$.

Remark 2.3. If we take s = 1 in Theorem 2.3, then Theorem 2.3 reduces to Theorem 4 which is proved by Sarikaya and Budak in [22].

Remark 2.4 (Trapezoid Inequality). If we take s = 1, $\alpha = 1$ and $\lambda = 0$ (or $\lambda = 1$) in Theorem 2.3, we have

$$\left|\frac{f(a)+f(b)}{2} - \frac{1}{b-a}\int_{a}^{b} f(x)dx\right| \le \frac{b-a}{2} \left[\frac{2}{p+1}\left(1-\frac{1}{2^{p}}\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{|f'(a)|^{q}+|f'(b)|^{q}}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

which are proved by Dragomir and Agarwal in [13].

Theorem 2.4. Let $f : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable mapping on (a,b) with $0 \le a < b$. If $|f'|^q$ is a s-convex on [a,b] for same fixed $q \ge 1$, then the following inequality for fractional integrals holds:

$$\left| \frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) +} f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) -} f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| \\
\leq \left[B_{1/2} \left(\alpha q + 1, s + 1 \right) - B_{1\backslash 2} \left(s + 1, \alpha q + 1 \right) + \frac{1}{\alpha q + s + 1} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha q + s}} \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \times \left(\left| f'(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) \right|^{q} + \left| f'(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right|^{q} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

where $\lambda \in [0,1] \setminus \{\frac{1}{2}\}$ and $\alpha > 0$.

 $\mathit{Proof.}\,$ Using Lemma 2.1, s-convexity of $|f'|^q$, and well-known Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)}{(1 - 2\lambda)(b - a)} - \frac{\Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{(1 - 2\lambda)^{\alpha + 1}(b - a)^{\alpha + 1}} \right. \\ & \times \left[J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a)^{+}} f(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + J^{\alpha}_{(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b)^{-}} f(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right| \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + (1 - t)(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| dt \\ & \leq \left(\int_{0}^{1} 1^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \! \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left| (1 - t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right|^{q} \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1 - \lambda)b) + (1 - t)(\lambda b + (1 - \lambda)a) \right] \right| dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \left(\int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[(1-t)^{\alpha} - t^{\alpha} \right]^{q} \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) + (1-t)(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right] \right|^{q} dt \right. \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[t^{\alpha} - (1-t)^{\alpha} \right]^{q} \left| f' \left[t(\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) + (1-t)(\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right] \right|^{q} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq \left(\left| f' (\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) \right|^{q} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[(1-t)^{q\alpha} t^{s} - t^{q\alpha+s} \right] dt \\ &+ \left| f' (\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right|^{q} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[(1-t)^{q\alpha+s} - t^{q\alpha}(1-t)^{s} \right] dt \\ &+ \left| f' (\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) \right|^{q} \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \left[t^{q\alpha+s} - (1-t)^{q\alpha+s} \right] dt \\ &+ \left| f' (\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right|^{q} \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \left[t^{q\alpha}(1-t)^{s} - (1-t)^{q\alpha+s} \right] dt \\ &+ \left| f' (\lambda a + (1-\lambda)a) \right|^{q} \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \left[t^{q\alpha}(1-t)^{s} - (1-t)^{q\alpha+s} \right] dt \\ &= \left[B_{1/2} \left(\alpha q + 1, s + 1 \right) - B_{1/2} \left(s + 1, \alpha q + 1 \right) + \frac{1}{\alpha q + s + 1} - \frac{1}{2^{\alpha q + s} \left(\alpha q + s + 1 \right)} \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\times \left[\left| f' (\lambda a + (1-\lambda)b) \right| + \left| f' (\lambda b + (1-\lambda)a) \right| \right]^{\frac{1}{q}}. \end{split}$$
Here, we use $(A - B)^{p} \leq A^{p} - B^{p}$, for any $A > B > 0$ and $q > 1$.

Here, we use $(A - B)^p \leq A^p - B^p$, for any $A > B \geq 0$ and $q \geq 1$.

Remark 2.5. If we take s = 1 in Theorem 2.4, the Theorem 2.4 reduces the Theorem 5 which is proved by Sarikaya and Budak in [22].

Remark 2.6 (Trapezoid Inequality). If we take s = 1, $\alpha = 1$ and $\lambda = 0$ (or $\lambda = 1$) in Theorem 2.4, we have

$$\left|\frac{f(a)+f(b)}{2} - \frac{1}{b-a}\int_{a}^{b} f(x)dx\right| \le \frac{b-a}{2} \left[\frac{1}{q+1}\left(1-\frac{1}{2^{q+1}}\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\frac{|f'(a)|^{q}+|f'(b)|^{q}}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

References

- [1] A. G. Azpeitia, Convex functions and the Hadamard inequality, Rev. Colombiana Math. 28 (1994), 7-12.
- [2] M. K. Bakula and J. Pečarić, Note on some Hadamard-type inequalities, Journal of Inequalities in Pure and Applied Mathematics 5 (2004), no. 3, art. 74.
- [3] S. Belarbi and Z. Dahmani, On some new fractional integral inequalities, J. Ineq. Pure and Appl. Math. 10 (2009), no. 3, art. 86.
- [4] W. W. Breckner, Stetigkeitsaussagen für eine Klasse verallgemeinerter konvexer funktionen in topologischen linearen Raumen, Pupl. Inst. Math. 23 (1978), 13-20.
- [5] Z. Dahmani, New inequalities in fractional integrals, International Journal of Nonlinear Scinece 9 (2010), no. 4, 493-497.

- [6] Z. Dahmani, On Minkowski and Hermite-Hadamard integral inequalities via fractional integration, Ann. Funct. Anal. 1 (2010), no. 1, 51–58.
- [7] Z. Dahmani, L. Tabharit, S. Taf, Some fractional integral inequalities, Nonl. Sci. Lett. A 1 (2010), no. 2, 155–160.
- [8] Z. Dahmani, L. Tabharit, S. Taf, New generalizations of Gruss inequality using Riemann-Liouville fractional integrals, Bull. Math. Anal. Appl. 2 (2010), no. 3, 93–99.
- [9] J. Deng and J. Wang, Fractional Hermite-Hadamard inequalities for (α, m) -logarithmically convex functions. J. Inequal. Appl. 2013 (2013), art. 364.
- [10] S. S. Dragomir and S. Fitzpatrik, The Hadamard's inequality for s-convex functions in the second sense, *Demonstration Math.* **32** (1999), no. 4, 687–696.
- [11] H. Hudzik and L. Maligranda, Some remarks on s-convex functions, Aequationes Math. 48 (1994), 100–111.
- [12] S. S. Dragomir and C. E. M. Pearce, Selected Topics on Hermite-Hadamard Inequalities and Applications, RGMIA Monographs, Victoria University, 2000.
- [13] S. S. Dragomir and R. P. Agarwal, Two inequalities for differentiable mappings and applications to special means of real numbers and to trapezoidal formula, *Appl. Math. lett.* **11** (1998), no. 5, 91-95.
- [14] R. Gorenflo and F. Mainardi, Fractional calculus: integral and differential equations of fractional order, Springer Verlag, Wien, 223-276, 1997.
- [15] A. A. Kilbas, H. M. Srivastava and J. J. Trujillo, Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations, North-Holland Mathematics Studies, 204, Elsevier Sci. B.V., Amsterdam, 2006.
- [16] M. A. Latif, S. S. Dragomir and A. E. Matouk, New inequalities of Ostrowski type for coordinated convex functions via fractional integrals, J. Fract. Calc. Appl. 2 (2012), 1–15.
- [17] S. Miller and B. Ross, An introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations, John Wiley & Sons, USA, 1993, p.2.
- [18] J. E. Pečarić, F. Proschan and Y. L. Tong, Convex Functions, Partial Orderings and Statistical Applications, Academic Press, Boston, 1992.
- [19] I. Podlubni, Fractional Differential Equations, Academic Press, San Diego, 1999.
- [20] M. Z. Sarikaya and H. Ogunmez, On new inequalities via Riemann-Liouville fractional integration, Abstract and Applied Analysis 2012 (2012), art. 428983, 10 pages.
- [21] M. Z. Sarikaya, E. Set, H. Yaldiz and N. Basak, Hermite -Hadamard's inequalities for fractional integrals and related fractional inequalities, *Mathematical and Computer Modelling* 57 (2013) 2403–2407, DOI:10.1016/j.mcm.2011.12.048.
- [22] M. Z. Sarikaya and H. Budak, Generalized Hermite -Hadamard type integral inequalities for fractional integrals, *RGMIA Research Report Collection* 17 (2014), art. 74, 12 pages.
- [23] M. Tunc, On new inequalities for h-convex functions via Riemann-Liouville fractional integration, Filomat 27 (2013), no. 4, 559–565.
- [24] Y. Zhang and J. Wang, On some new Hermite-Hadamard inequalities involving Riemann-Liouville fractional integrals, J. Inequal. Appl. 2013 (2013), art. 220.

(M. Z. Sarikaya, F. Ertugral) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF SCIENCE AND ARTS, DÜZCE UNIVERSITY, DÜZCE-TURKEY

 $\textit{E-mail address: sarikayamz@gmail.com, dolunay_sfm@windowslive.com, }$

fatmaertugral4@gmail.com

Sinc-Legendre collocation method for the non-linear Burgers' fractional equation

KAMEL AL-KHALED

ABSTRACT. This paper deals with the numerical solution of the nonlinear fractional Burgers' equation. The fractional derivatives are described based on the Caputo sense. We construct the solution using different approach, that is based on using collocation techniques. The solution is based on using the Sinc method, which builds an approximate solution valid on the entire spatial domain, and in the time domain, we use the shifted Legendre polynomials to replace the time fractional derivatives. The error in the approximation is shown to converge to the exact solution at an exponential rate. Illustrative examples are given with an applications from traffic flow, and the numerical results are shown to demonstrate the efficiency of the newly proposed method.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 35A01, 35K57, 35F05, 65T60. Key words and phrases. Sinc-Collocation, Burgers Equation, Numerical solutions, Fractional Derivative, Shifted-Legendre Polynomials.

1. Introduction

Nonlinear partial differential equations appear in many branches of chemistry, physics, engineering and applied mathematics. The Burgers equation [6, 7], which is a nonlinear partial differential equation of second order, is used in disciplines as a simplified model for turbulence, boundary layer behavior, shock wave formation and mass transport. Due to the recent development of new modeling approaches, reaction-diffusion equations are the subject of new mathematical interest concerning chemical reactions and electro-chemistry of corrosion, it has turned that many phenomena in engineering, chemistry and other sciences can be described very successfully by models using mathematical tools from fractional calculus. For better understanding the phenomena that a given nonlinear fractional partial differential equation describes, the solutions of differential equations of fractional order is much involved. The fractional Burgers equation [11] describes the physical processes of unidirectional propagation of weakly nonlinear acoustic wave through a gas-filled pipe. Fractional derivatives provide more accurate models of real world problems than integer order derivatives do.

In recent years, there has been a growing interest in the field of fractional calculus. Oldham and Spanier [14], Miller and Ross [10], Momani [12, 13] and Podlubny [15] provide the history and a comprehensive treatment of this subject. Fractional calculus is the field of mathematical analysis, which deals with the investigation and applications of integrals and derivatives of arbitrary order, which can be real or complex. The idea appeared in a letter by Leibniz to L'Hospital in 1695. The subject of

Received May, 31, 2014.

The presented work has been supported by Department of Mathematics and Statistics at Jordan University of Science and Technology, Irbid-Jordan during the Sabbatical leave of the academic year 2013-2014 at Sultan Qaboos University.

fractional calculus has gained importance during the past three decades due mainly to its demonstrated applications in different areas of physics and engineering. Several fields of applications of fractional differentiation and fractional integration are already well established, some others just started. Many applications of fractional calculus can be found in turbulence and fluid dynamics, stochastic dynamical systems, plasma physics and controlled thermonuclear fusion, nonlinear control theory, image processing, nonlinear biological systems, for more see [18] and the references therein. Indeed, it provides several potentially useful tools for solving differential equations. It is important to solve time fractional partial differential equations. It was found that fractional time derivatives arise generally as infinitesimal generators of the time evolution when taking along time scaling limit. Hence, the importance of investigating fractional equations arises from the necessity to sharpen the concepts of equilibrium, stability states, and time evolution in the long time limit. In general, there exists no method that yields an exact solution for nonlinear fractional partial differential equations. There has been some attempt to solve linear problems with multiple fractional derivatives. In [1], an approximate solution based on the decomposition method is given for the generalized fractional diffusion-wave equation. In [30], the authors used the Sinc-Legendre collocation method to a numerical solution for a class of fractional convection-diffusion equation. The survey paper [22] discusses the application of Sinc methods to fractional differential equations. In the present paper, we consider the fractional Burgers' equation:

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(x,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + u(x,t)\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} = \epsilon \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2}, \quad (x,t) \in (a,b) \times (0,T)$$
(1)

with the following initial and boundary conditions

$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$

$$\tag{2}$$

$$u(a,t) = \gamma(t), \quad u(b,t) = \delta(t), \quad t \ge 0$$
(3)

where ϵ is the coefficient of the kinematic viscosity, T is the total time, and $u_0(x), \gamma(t)$, and $\delta(t)$ are given functions of the variables. We construct the solution of Equations (1)-(3) using a new approach. This approach is based on the use of collocation techniques. The main idea consists of reducing the solution of the problem to a set of algebraic equations by expanding the required solution as the elements of Legendre polynomials in time direction, and the Sinc function basis in the space direction. To the best of the author's knowledge, such approach has not been used for solving non-linear fractional partial differential equations. But, it has been used for linear fractional PDEs [30]. One important application of equation (1) when $\alpha = 1$, which was used as a simple model of turbulence in an extensive study by Burgers'. Regarding the velocity field of a fluid, the essential ingredient is the competition between the dissipative term, ϵu_{xx} the coefficient of which is the kinematic viscosity, and the nonlinear term uu_x . Equation (1), which appears as a mathematical model for many physical events, such as gas dynamics, turbulence and shock wave theory [28]. Many researchers have used various numerical methods to solve Burgers' equation [26, 25, 32, 31]. In [19], numerical solutions of Burgers equation defined by a new generalized time-fractional derivative are discussed. The approximate solution of time and/or space fractional Burgers equations are obtained by several methods, such as Adomian decomposition [11], variational iteration [9], homotopoy perturbation analysis [20]. Lund [27], uses Sinc-Galerkin method to find a numerical solution of the nonlinear advection-diffusion equation (Burgers' equation). The method results in an iterative scheme of an error of order $O(\exp(-c/h))$ for some positive constants c, h.

In [29], the Burgers' equation is transformed into an equivalent integral equation, and a Sinc-collocation procedure is developed for the integral equation. In [33] a comparison between Cole-Hopf transformation and the decomposition method is made for solving Burgers' equation. Fractional calculus has been used as a model for many physical processes, for this reason a reliable and efficient technique for the solution of nonlinear fractional differential equations is sought. We construct a solution of Equations (1)-(3) using a new approach. This approach is based on the use of collocation techniques. The main idea consists of reducing the solution of the problem to a set of algebraic equations by expanding the required solution as the elements of Legendre polynomials in time direction, and the Sinc function basis in the space direction. Many definitions and studies for the fractional calculus may be found in the literature. These definitions include, Riemman-Liouville, Weyl, Reize, Campos, Caputa, and Nishimoto fractional operator. The Riemann-Liouville definition of fractional derivative operator J_a^{α} which is defined in [23, 14, 16]. The Riemann-Liouville derivative has certain disadvantages when trying to model real-world phenomena with fractional differential equations. Therefore, we shall introduce a modified fractional differentiation operator D^{α} proposed by Caputo's (see, [23]). Sinc function that will be used in this paper, are discussed in Stenger [29] and by Lund [27]. The paper is organized as follows: In section 2, we recall notations and definitions of the Sinc function, and derive some formulas that will be needed for developing our method. In section 3, we introduce some necessary definitions of the fractional calculus theory. In section 4, the fractional-order shifted Legendre functions and their properties are obtained. Section 5 is devoted to the solution of the fractional Burgers equation using the proposed method. In section 6, we apply the newly method to specific problems, compare the results, and the accuracy of the proposed schemes is demonstrated. Also, a conclusion is given in the last section.

2. Sinc function properties

The goal of this section is to recall notations and definitions of the Sinc function that will be used in this paper. These are discussed in [29, 27, 4]. Let f be a function defined on \mathbb{R} and h > 0 a step size. Then Whittaker cardinal function is defined by the series $C(f, h, x) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} f(kh)S(k, h)(x)$, whenever this series converges, and where the k-th Sinc function is defined as

$$S(k,h)(x) = \operatorname{sinc} [(x-kh)/h] = \frac{\sin[\pi(x-kh)/h]}{\pi(x-kh)/h}$$

The properties of Sinc functions have been extensively studied in [29, 27]. A comprehensive survey of these approximation properties is found in [2, 3]. Now, for positive integer N, define

$$C_N(f,h,x) = \sum_{k=-N}^{N} f(kh)S(k,h)(x)$$
(4)

Definition 2.1. Let d > 0, and let D_d denote the region $\{z = x + iy|y| < d\}$ in the complex plane \mathbb{C} , and ϕ the conformal map of a simply connected domain D in the complex plane domain onto D_d such that $\phi(a) = -\infty$ and $\phi(b) = \infty$, where a and b are the boundary points of D. Let ψ denote the inverse map of ϕ , and let the arc Γ , with end points a and b $(a, b \notin \Gamma)$, be given by $\Gamma = \psi(-\infty, \infty)$. For h > 0, let the points x_k on Γ be given by $x_k = \psi(kh), z \in Z$ and $\rho(z) = \exp(\phi(z))$.



FIGURE 1. The k - th Sinc function S(k, h)(x), k = -1, 0, 1 and h = 1.

Hence, the numerical process developed in the domain containing the whole real line can be carried over to infinite interval by the inverse map.

Definition 2.2. Let $\mathbf{B}(D)$ be the class of functions f that are analytic in D and satisfy $\int_{\psi(L+u)} |F(z)dz| \to 0$, $u \to \mp \infty$ where $L = \{iy : |y| < d \le \pi/2\}$, and on the boundary ∂D satisfy $T(F) = \int_{\partial D} |f(z)dz| < \infty$. Corresponding to the number α , let $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}(D)$ denote the family of all functions f that are analytic for which there exists a constant C_0 such that

$$|f(z)| \le C_0 \frac{|\rho(z)|^{\alpha}}{[1+|\rho(z)|]^{2\alpha}}, \ \forall z \in D.$$

By introducing the conformal map ϕ , and a "nullifier" function g the following theorem gives a formula for approximating the m-th derivatives of f on Γ . Let g be analytic function on D, and for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, set

$$S_j(z) = g(z) \operatorname{sinc}\left[\frac{\phi(z) - jh}{h}\right] = g(z)S(j,h) \circ \phi(z), \ z \in D$$

Theorem 2.1. [29, p. 208] Let $\phi' f/g \in \mathbf{B}(D)$,

$$\sup_{-\pi/h \le t \le \pi/h} \left| \left(\frac{d}{dx} \right)^n g(x) \exp(it\phi(x)) \right| \le C_1 h^{-n}, \ x \in \Gamma,$$

for n = 0, 1, 2, ..., m, with C_1 a constant depending only on m, ϕ and g. If $f/g \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}(D)$, α a positive constant, then taking $h = \sqrt{\pi d/(\alpha N)}$ it follows that

$$\sup_{x \in \Gamma} \left| f^{(n)}(x) - \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \frac{f(x_j)}{g(x_j)} S_j^{(n)}(x) \right| \le C_2 N^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \exp(-\sqrt{\pi d\alpha N})$$

for n = 0, 1, ..., m, with C_2 a constant depending only on m, ϕ, g, d, α and f.

The approximation of the m-th derivative of f in Theorem 2.1 is simply an m-th derivative of of $C_N(f/g, h, x)$ in equation (4). The weight function g is chosen relative to the order of the derivative that is to be approximated. For instance, to approximate the m-th derivative, the choice $g(x) = 1/(\phi'(x))^m$ is often suffice. The Sinc method requires that the derivatives of Sinc functions be evaluated at the nodes. Technical calculations provide the following results that will be useful in formulating the discrete system [29, 27], and these quantities are delineated by

$$\delta_{jk}^{(q)} = h^q \frac{d^q}{d\phi^q} [S_j \circ \phi(x)] \Big|_{x=x_k}, q = 0, 1, 2.$$

In particular, the following convenient notation will be useful in formulating the discrete system

$$\delta_{jk}^{(0)} = \left[S(j,h) \circ \phi(x) \right] \Big|_{x=x_k} = \begin{cases} 1, & j=k \\ 0, & j \neq k, \end{cases}$$
$$\delta_{jk}^{(1)} = h \frac{d}{d\phi} \left[S(j,h) \circ \phi(x) \right] \Big|_{x=x_k} = \begin{cases} 0, & j=k \\ \frac{(-1)^{k-j}}{(k-j)}, & j \neq k \end{cases}$$

and,

$$\delta_{jk}^{(2)} = h^2 \frac{d^2}{d\phi^2} [S(j,h) \circ \phi(x)] \Big|_{x=x_k} = \begin{cases} \frac{-\pi^2}{3}, & j=k \\ \frac{-2(-1)^{k-j}}{(k-j)^2}, & j \neq k \end{cases}$$

So the approximation of a function f(x) by Sinc expansion is given by

$$f(x) \approx f_N(x) = \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \frac{f(x_j)}{g(x_j)} S_j(x).$$
 (5)

To approximate the k-th derivative of f(x), we solve the linear system of equations

$$\int_{a}^{b} f_{N}^{(k)}(x) \frac{S(k,h) \circ \phi(x)}{\phi'(x)} dx = 0, \ k = -N, ..., N$$

Integration by parts to change integrals involving derivatives of f_N into integrals involving f_N , so the approximation of the first and second derivatives at the Sinc nodes x_k takes the form

$$f'(x_k) = \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \left\{ \frac{\delta_{jk}^{(1)}}{h} + \delta_{jk}^{(0)} g'(x_j) \right\} \frac{f(x_j)}{g(x_j)} + E_1$$
(6)

and,

$$f''(x_k) = \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \left\{ \frac{\delta_{jk}^{(2)}}{h^2} + h \delta_{jk}^{(1)} \left[\frac{\phi''(x_k)}{(\phi'(x_k))^2} \right] \right\} \frac{f(x_j)}{g(x_j)} + E_2$$
(7)

where $E_1 = O(N \exp(-\sqrt{\pi d\alpha N}))$ and $E_2 = O(N^{3/2} \exp(-\sqrt{\pi d\alpha N}))$. The approximations (6), (7) are more conveniently recorded by defining the vector $\vec{f} = (f_{-N}, ..., f_0, ..., f_N)^T$. Then define the $m \times m, (m = 2N + 1)$ Toeplitz matrices $I_m^{(q)} = [\delta_{jk}^{(q)}], q = 0, 1, 2$. i.e., the matrix whose jk- entry is given by $\delta_{jk}^{(q)}, q = 0, 1, 2$. Also define the diagonal matrix $D(g) = \text{diag} [g(x_{-N}), ..., g(x_N)]$. Note that the matrix $I^{(2)}$ is a symmetric matrix, i.e., $I_{jk}^{(2)} = I_{kj}^{(2)}$. The matrix $I^{(1)}$ is skew-symmetric matrix, i.e., $I_{jk}^{(1)} = -I_{kj}^{(1)}$ and they take the form

$$I_m^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-\pi^2}{3} & 2 & \vdots & \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m-1} \\ 2 & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \\ \vdots & \cdot & \cdot & \vdots \\ \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m-1} & \vdots & 2 & \frac{-\pi^2}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad I_m^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & \dots & \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m-1} \\ 1 & 0 & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m-1} & \dots & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(8)

While the matrix $I^{(0)}$ is an identity matrix. For the present paper the interval Γ in Theorem 2.1 is (a, b). Therefore, to approximate the first derivative, we take

 $\phi(x) = \ln(\frac{x-a}{b-x})$, and $g(x) = 1/\phi'(x)$. Then the approximation of the first derivative evaluated at the vector nodes x_i can be written as

$$\vec{f'}(x_j) \approx \left[\frac{-1}{h} I_m^{(1)} D(\phi') + I_m^{(0)} D(\phi''/\phi')\right] \vec{f}(x_j) \equiv A \vec{f}(x_j)$$
(9)

and for the second derivative takes the form

$$\vec{f}''(x_j) \approx \left[\frac{1}{h^2} I_m^{(2)} + h I_m^{(1)} D(\phi'/\phi'^2)\right] \vec{f}(x_j) \equiv B \vec{f}(x_j)$$
(10)

3. Basic Definition of Fractional Calculus

This section is devoted to a description of the operational properties of the purpose of acquainting with sufficient fractional calculus theory, to enable us to follow the solution of the fractional Burgers equation. Many definitions and studies of fractional calculus have been proposed in the last two centuries. These definitions include, Riemman-Liouville, Weyl, Reize, Campos, Caputa, and Nishimoto fractional operator. Mainly, in this paper, we will re-introduce section 2 of [1]. The Riemann-Liouville definition of fractional derivative operator J_a^{α} is defined as follows:

Definition 3.1. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$. The operator J^{α} , defined on the usual Lebesque space $L_1[a,b]$ by

$$J_a^{\alpha} f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^x (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t) dt$$

$$J_a^0 f(x) = f(x)$$

for $a \leq x \leq b$, is called the *Riemann-Liouville fractional integral operator of order* α .

Properties of the operator J^{α} can be found in [16], we mention the following: For $f \in L_1[a, b], \alpha, \beta \geq 0$ and $\gamma > -1$

(1) $J_a^{\alpha} f(x)$ exists for almost every $x \in [a, b]$

(1) $J_a^{\alpha} J_a^{(\mu)}$ CALLE $I_a^{\alpha+\beta} f(x)$ (2) $J_a^{\alpha} J_a^{\beta} f(x) = J_a^{\alpha+\beta} f(x)$ (3) $J_a^{\alpha} J_a^{\beta} f(x) = J_a^{\beta} J_a^{\alpha} f(x)$

(3)
$$J_a^{\alpha} J_a^{\beta} f(x) = J_a^{\beta} J_a^{\alpha} f(x)$$

(3) $J_a J_a J(x) = J_a J_a J(x)$ (4) $J_a^{\alpha} x^{\gamma} = \frac{\Gamma(\gamma+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\gamma+1)} (x-a)^{\alpha+\gamma}$. As mentioned in [11], the Riemann-Liouville derivative has certain disadvantages when trying to model real-world phenomena with fractional differential equations. Therefore, we shall introduce now a modified fractional differentiation operator D^{α} proposed by Caputo in his work on the theory of viscoelasticity [23].

Definition 3.2. The fractional derivative of f(x) in the Caputo sense is defined as

$$D^{\alpha}f(x) = J^{m-\alpha}D^{m}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\alpha)}\int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{m-\alpha-1}f^{(m)}(t)dt,$$
 (11)

 $m-1 < \alpha \le m, m \in \mathbb{N}, x > 0.$

Also, we need here two of its basic properties.

Lemma 3.1. If $m - 1 < \alpha \leq m$, and $f \in L_1[a, b]$, then $D_a^{\alpha} J_a^{\alpha} f(x) = f(x)$, and

$$J_a^{\alpha} D_a^{\alpha} f(x) = f(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} f^{(k)}(0^-) \frac{(x-a)^k}{k!}, \ x > 0.$$

The Caputo fractional derivative is considered in the Caputo sense. The reason for adopting the Caputo definition is as follows [11]. To solve differential equations, we need to specify additional conditions in order to produce an unique solution. For the

K. AL-KHALED

case of Caputo fractional differential equations, these additional conditions are just the traditional conditions, which are taken to those of classical differential equations, and are therefore familiar to us. In contrast, for Riemann-Liouville fractional differential equations, these additional conditions constitute certain fractional derivatives of the unknown solution at the initial point x = 0, which are functions of x. The unknown function u = u(x, t) is assumed to be a causal function of time, i.e., vanishing for t < 0. Also, the initial conditions are not physical; furthermore, it is not clear how much quantities are to be measured from experiment, say, so that they can be appropriately assigned in an analysis. For more details on the geometric and physical interpretation for fractional derivatives of both Riemann-Liouville and Caputo types see [23, 11].

Definition 3.3. For *m* to be the smallest integer that exceeds α , the Caputo fractional derivatives of order $\alpha > 0$ are defined as

$$D^{\alpha}u(x,t) = \frac{\partial^{\alpha}u(x,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{m-\alpha-1} \frac{\partial^{m}u(x,\tau)}{\partial \tau^{m}} d\tau, & m-1 < \alpha < m \\ \frac{\partial^{m}u(x,t)}{\partial t^{m}}, & \alpha = m \in \mathbb{N} \end{cases}$$

For mathematical properties of fractional derivatives and integrals one can consult the mentioned references.

4. Shifted-Legendre Polynomials

Legendre polynomials $\ell_k(t), k=0,1,2,\ldots$ are the eigenfunctions for the Sturm-Liouville problem

$$\frac{d}{dt}[(1-t^2)\ell'_k(t)] + k(k+1)\ell_k(t) = 0, \ t \in [-1,1]$$

that are orthogonal in [-1, 1], and satisfy the orthogonality property

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \ell_i(t)\ell_j(t)dt = \frac{2}{2i+1}\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{2}{2i+1}, & i=j\\ 0, & i\neq j, \end{cases}$$

and the difference equation

$$\ell_{i+1}(t) = \frac{2i+1}{i+1}t\ell_k(t) - \frac{i}{i+1}\ell_{i-1}(t), \ i \ge 1,$$

where $\ell_0(t) = 1$, and $\ell_1(t) = t$. In order to use Legendre polynomials in the interval [0, T], we define the shifted Legendre polynomials, $P_i(z) = \ell(\frac{2t}{T} - 1)$, so that the new Legendre polynomials $P_i(z)$ satisfy the orthogonality condition

$$\int_{0}^{T} P_{i}(z)P_{j}(z)dz = \frac{T}{2i+1}\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{T}{2i+1}, & i=j\\ 0, & i\neq j, \end{cases}$$

The analytic closed form of the shifted Legendre polynomials of degree i is given by

$$P_i(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{i} (-1)^{i+k} \frac{(i+k)!}{(i-k)!} \frac{t^k}{(k!)^2 T^k}.$$

Note that $P_i(T) = 1$ and $P_i(0) = (-1)^i$. To approximate a function u(t), that is square integrable in [0, T], using the first (i+1)-terms shifted Legendre polynomials,



FIGURE 2. Shifted Lengendre Polynomials $P_1(t)$ till $P_4(t)$, when T = 1

we may use

$$u_i(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} c_j P_j(t) = C^T \Phi(t)$$
(12)

where the shifted Legendre coefficient vector C is given by $C^T = [c_0, c_1, ..., c_i]$. While the shifted Legendre vector $\Phi(t)$ is $\Phi(t) = [P_0(t), P_1(t), ..., P_i(t)]^T$. In equation (12), the coefficients c_i can be calculated by

$$c_j = \frac{2j+1}{T} \int_0^T u(t) P_j(t) dt, \ j = 1, 2, \dots$$

One of the common and efficient methods for solving fractional partial differential equations of order $\alpha > 0$ is to use the shifted Legendre polynomials. The derivative of order $\alpha > 0$ is given by

$$D^{\alpha}u_i(t) = D^{\alpha}\sum_{j=0}^i c_j P_j(t)$$

Using the fact that Caputo's fractional differentiation is a linear operator, we get

$$D^{\alpha}u_{i}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} c_{j}D^{\alpha}P_{j}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\lceil \alpha \rceil - 1} c_{j}D^{\alpha}P_{j}(t) + \sum_{j=\lceil \alpha \rceil}^{i} c_{j}D^{\alpha}P_{j}(t)$$
(13)

with $\lceil \alpha \rceil$ denoting the integer part of α . Recalling that, for $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$, the Caputo differential operator coincides with the usual differential operator of integer order. Therefore, the first sum in equation (13) vanishes, while in the second sum, we use property 4 in Definition 3.1 to arrive to the formula that give us the derivative of order α in Caputo sense for $u_i(t)$ is

$$D^{\alpha}(u_{i}(t)) = \sum_{j=\lceil \alpha \rceil}^{i} \sum_{k=\lceil \alpha \rceil}^{j} c_{j} b_{j,k}^{(\alpha)} t^{k-\alpha}, \text{ where } b_{j,k}^{(\alpha)} = \frac{(-1)^{j+k} (j+k)!}{(j-k)! (k!) \Gamma(k-\alpha+1) T^{k}}.$$
(14)

Example 4.1. Consider the case when i = 2, and $\alpha = 1/2$, for the function $u(t) = t^2$ Using the shifted Legendre series (12), we have $t^2 = \frac{1}{3}P_0(t) + \frac{1}{2}P_1(t) + \frac{1}{6}P_2(t)$. Using equation (14), we obtain

$$D^{\frac{1}{2}}(t^{2}) = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{j} c_{j} \ b_{j,k}^{(\frac{1}{2})} \ t^{k-\frac{1}{2}} = c_{1} \ b_{1,1}^{(\frac{1}{2})} t^{\frac{1}{2}} + c_{2} \ b_{2,1}^{(\frac{1}{2})} t^{\frac{1}{2}} + c_{2} \ b_{2,2}^{(\frac{1}{2})} t^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

K. AL-KHALED

$$=\frac{1}{2}\frac{2}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})}t^{\frac{1}{2}}+\frac{1}{6}\frac{-6}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})}t^{\frac{1}{2}}+\frac{1}{6}\frac{12}{\Gamma(\frac{5}{2})}t^{\frac{3}{2}}=\frac{8}{3\sqrt{\pi}}t^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

It has been proved in [21] that the fractional derivative for the shifted Legendre polynomials can be approximated by $D^{(\alpha)}\Phi(t)$, where $D^{(\alpha)}$ is the $(i + 1) \times (i + 1)$ matrix of fractional derivative of order $\alpha > 0$ in the Caputo sense, and is defined as

$$D^{(\alpha)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{\lceil\alpha\rceil} \theta_{\lceil\alpha\rceil,0,k} & \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{\lceil\alpha\rceil} \theta_{\lceil\alpha\rceil,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{\lceil\alpha\rceil} \theta_{\lceil\alpha\rceil,i,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{m} \theta_{m,0,k} & \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{m} \theta_{m,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{m} \theta_{m,i,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{i} \theta_{i,0,k} & \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{i} \theta_{i,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=\lceil\alpha\rceil}^{i} \theta_{i,i,k} \end{pmatrix}$$
(15)

where $\theta_{m,j,k}$ is given by

$$\theta_{m,j,k} = (2j+1) \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \frac{(-1)^{m+j+k+\ell}(m+k)!(\ell+j)!}{(m-k)!\Gamma(k-\alpha+1)(\ell!)^2(k+\ell-\alpha+1)}$$

For example, if i = 4, the operational matrix derivative of order $\alpha = 1/2$ in the Caputo sense is given by

$$D^{\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)} = \sqrt{\pi} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -3 + \frac{6}{\pi} & \frac{6}{\pi} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 11 - \frac{30}{\pi} & \frac{15}{2} - \frac{30}{\pi} & \frac{5}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ -45 + \frac{410}{3\pi} & \frac{-105}{2} + \frac{174}{\pi} & \frac{-35}{2} + \frac{140}{3\pi} & \frac{28}{3\pi} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We may convert the fractional Burgers' equation to an integral equation. The following Theorem has been proved in [5], and will be used to solve the obtained integral equation.

Theorem 4.1. [5] Let $\Phi(t)$ be a shifted Legendre polynomial, then $I^{\nu}\Phi(t) \approx A^{\nu}\Phi(t)$, where A^{ν} is the $(i+1) \times (i+1)$ operational matrix of integration of order ν Riemann-Liouville sense and is defined as follows

$$A^{\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{0} \theta_{0,0,k} & \sum_{k=0}^{0} \theta_{0,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=0}^{0} \theta_{0,i,k} \\ \sum_{k=0}^{1} \theta_{1,0,k} & \sum_{k=0}^{1} \theta_{1,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=0}^{1} \theta_{1,i,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \sum_{k=0}^{m} \theta_{m,0,k} & \sum_{k=0}^{m} \theta_{m,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=0}^{m} \theta_{m,i,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \sum_{k=0}^{i} \theta_{i,0,k} & \sum_{k=0}^{i} \theta_{i,1,k} & \dots & \sum_{k=0}^{i} \theta_{i,i,k} \end{pmatrix}$$
(16)

where $\theta_{m,j,k}$ is given by

$$\theta_{m,j,k} = (2j+1) \sum_{\ell=0}^{j} \frac{(-1)^{m+j+k+\ell}(m+k)!(\ell+j)!}{(m-k)! k! (k+\alpha+1)(j-\ell)! (\ell!)^2(k+\ell+\alpha+1)}$$

5. Analysis of the Method

The concern of the existence and uniqueness of the solution to fractional Burgers' equations has been discussed in [17, 24] by using Banach fixed point theorem. To solve the problem in equation (1), we use our approximate solution

$$u_{N,n}(x,t) = \sum_{i=-N}^{N} \sum_{j=0}^{n} c_{ij} S_i(x) P_j(t), \qquad (17)$$

where $S_i(x)$ is the Sinc basis function, and $P_j(t)$ are the (n + 1) shifted Legendre polynomials. The unknown coefficients $\{c_{ij}\}$ are determined by collocation scheme. For sake of simplicity, we assume that $\gamma(t) = \delta(t) = 0$ in equation (3). To solve equation (1), substituting equation (17) into equation (1), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u_{N,n}(x,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + u_{N,n}(x,t) \frac{\partial u_{N,n}(x,t)}{\partial x} = \epsilon \frac{\partial^2 u_{N,n}(x,t)}{\partial x^2}$$
(18)

A collocation scheme can be defined by evaluating equation (18) at the Sinc nodes, $x_k = \phi^{-1}(kh), \ k = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots$ and the shifted Legendre roots $t_\ell, \ \ell = 1, 2, \dots, n+1$ of $P_{n+1}(t)$. So, for $0 < \alpha \leq 1$, we have

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u_{N,n}(x_k,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \sum_{i=-N}^{N} \sum_{j=0}^{n} c_{ij} S_i(x_k) D^{\alpha} P_j(t)$$

Using equation (14), together with the fact $\delta^{(0)}_{ik} = 0$, if $i \neq k$, we arrive at

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u_{N,n}(x_k,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \sum_{i=-N}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{s=1}^{j} c_{ij} \ b_{j,s}^{(\alpha)} S_i(x_k) t^{s-\alpha} = \sum_{i=-N}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{s=1}^{j} c_{ij} \ b_{j,s}^{(\alpha)} \delta_{ik}^{(0)} t^{s-\alpha}$$
(19)

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{s=1}^{j} c_{kj} b_{j,s}^{(\alpha)} t^{s-\alpha}.$$

While,

$$\frac{\partial^2 u_{N,n}(x_k,t)}{\partial x^2} = \sum_{i=-N}^N \sum_{j=0}^n c_{ij} \left. \frac{d^2 S_i(x)}{dx^2} \right|_{x=x_k} P_j(t)$$

Employing equation (7), we get

$$\frac{\partial^2 u_{N,n}(x_k,t)}{\partial x^2} = \sum_{i=-N}^N \sum_{j=0}^n c_{ij} \left\{ \frac{\delta_{jk}^{(2)}}{h^2} + h \delta_{jk}^{(1)} \Big[\frac{\phi''(x_k)}{(\phi'(x_k))^2} \Big] \right\} \frac{1}{g(x_j)} P_j(t)$$
(20)

For the first derivative u_x , employing equation (6) we obtain

$$\frac{\partial u_{N,n}(x_k,t)}{\partial x} = -\sum_{i=-N}^{N} \sum_{j=0}^{n} c_{ij} \left\{ \frac{\delta_{jk}^{(1)}}{h} + \delta_{jk}^{(0)} g'(x_k) \right\} \frac{1}{g(x_k)} P_j(t)$$
(21)

Finally, for the non-linear term uu_x , we have

$$u_{N,n}(x_k,t)\frac{\partial u_{N,n}(x_k,t)}{\partial x} = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=-N}^{N}\sum_{j=0}^{n}c_{ij}\left\{\frac{\delta_{jk}^{(1)}}{h} + \delta_{jk}^{(0)}g'(x_k)\right\}^2\frac{1}{g(x_k)}P_j(t) \quad (22)$$

Also, from the initial condition in equation (2), we obtain

$$\sum_{i=-N}^{N} \sum_{j=0}^{n} c_{ij} S_i(x) P_j(0) = u_0(x).$$
(23)

To obtain a matrix representation of the above equations, and using the matrices in (9), (10) and (15), with the notation $U = [u(x_i, t_j)], U^0 = [u_0(x_i, 0)]$, we arrive at the following discrete system

$$D^{(\alpha)}U + U \circ AU = \epsilon BU \tag{24}$$

where the symbol " \circ " means the Hadamard matrix multiplication. Then the number of unknown coefficients c_{ij} is equal to (n + 1)(2m + 1) and can be obtained by solving equations (24) and (23) by a fixed point iteration, consequently, the approximate solution $u_{N,n}(x,t)$ can be calculated. An alternative solution is to convert the fractional Burgers' equation to an integral equation by operating with J^{α} on both sides of equation (1), and using Lemma 3.1, we get

$$u(x,t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial t^k}(x,0^+) \frac{t^k}{k!} + J^{\alpha} \left(\epsilon \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} - u(x,t) \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} \right)$$
(25)

Since $0 < \alpha \leq 1$, we choose m = 1 in equation (25). Using the operational matrix of integration for the shifted Legendre polynomials A^{ν} in equation (16), we arrive at the discrete system

$$U = [\epsilon U \circ B - \frac{1}{2}U \circ AU](A^{\nu})^{-1} + U^{0}.$$

Note that the approximation for $u_x(x,t)$ and $u_{xx}(x,t)$ in matrix form has an exponential error E_1 and E_2 respectively. Thus the approximate solution will converge to the exact solution exponentially. The convergence proof of the solution for the discrete system can be done using fixed point Theory.

Remark 5.1. In equation (3), if $\gamma(t), \delta(t)$ are not both zero, then we may reformulate the problem to a homogeneous boundary conditions via the transformation $w(x,t) = u(x,t) + \frac{x-b}{b-a}\gamma(t) + \frac{a-x}{b-a}\delta(t)$.

6. Numerical Results

Here, we obtain some numerical results for the solutions of Burgers' equation. We use the parameters, $d = \pi/2$, N = 8, n = 6 to check the performance for the solution of the fractional Burgers' equation. The computations associated with the examples were performed using Mathematica and Maple.

Example 6.1. Consider the non-linear fractional Burgers' equation

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(x,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + u(x,t)\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} = \epsilon \frac{\partial^{2} u(x,t)}{\partial x^{2}}, \quad 0 \le x \le 1, \ t > 0$$
(26)

subject to the initial condition, $u(x,0) = c \left[1 - \tanh\left(\frac{cx}{2\epsilon}\right)\right]$, and to the boundary conditions u(0,t) = 0 = u(1,t). It is be noted that the value of $\alpha = 1$ is the only case for which we know the exact solution and has the closed form

$$u(x,t) = \frac{1}{10} \left[1 - \tanh\left(\frac{x - 0.1t}{20\epsilon}\right) \right]$$
(27)

In order to illustrate the approximate solution is efficient and accurate, we will give explicit values of the parameters t and α for fixed x = 0.2. The comparison of the

t	$\alpha = 1$	$\alpha = 0.99$	$\alpha = 0.1$	$\alpha = 0.001$
0.1	0.0905307	0.0905444	0.0941872	0.0949997
0.2	0.0910282	0.0910486	0.0944853	0.0950032
0.3	0.0915257	0.0915502	0.0946695	0.0950052
0.4	0.0920232	0.0920500	0.0948048	0.0950066
0.5	0.0925208	0.0925486	0.0949125	0.0950077

TABLE 1. The results obtained by equation (27) when $\alpha = 1$, and by equation (24) for various values of α when x = 0.2, $\epsilon = 0.1$.

t	$\alpha = 1$	$\alpha = 0.99$	$\alpha = 0.1$	$\alpha = 0.001$
0.1	0.0270809	0.0271703	0.0508952	0.0561874
0.2	0.0303211	0.0304540	0.0528370	0.0562098
0.3	0.0335614	0.0337205	0.0540368	0.0562230
0.4	0.0368017	0.0369760	0.0549181	0.0562325
0.5	0.0400419	0.0402232	0.0556194	0.0562395

TABLE 2. The results obtained by equation (27) when $\alpha = 1$, and by equation (24) for various values of α when x = 0.2, $\epsilon = 0.01$.

numerical solutions using the present method, and those obtained by using Equation (27) when $\alpha = 1$ are shown in Tables 1, 2, and also are depicted in Figures 3, 4. From the numerical solutions in Tables 1, 2, it can be seen that the exact solution ($\alpha = 1$) is quite close to the approximate solution when $\alpha = 0.99$. Also, it is observed that the values of the approximate solution at different α 's have the same behavior as

K. AL-KHALED

those obtained using equation (27) for which $\alpha = 1$. This shows the approximate solution is efficient. In the theory of fractional calculus, it is obvious that when the fractional derivative $\alpha(m-1 < \alpha \leq m)$ tends to positive integer m, then the approximate solution continuously tends to the exact solution of the problem with derivative m = 1. A closer look at the values in Tables 1 and 2, we observe that our approach do have this characteristic. It can be seen from Figure 4 that the approximate solution when $\alpha = 0.999$ by the present method is nearly identical with the exact solution when $\alpha = 1$. In Figure 5, the comparison shows that as $\alpha \to 1$, the approximate solution tends to the exact solution in the case of $\alpha = 1$.



FIGURE 3. Dashed line $\alpha = 0.999$, Solid line $\alpha = 1$, and $\epsilon = 0.2$.



FIGURE 4. Dashed line $\alpha = 0.999$, Solid line $\alpha = 1$, and $\epsilon = 1$.

Figures 6 and 7 show the approximate solution for $\alpha = 0.5$ and $\alpha = 0.1$ respectively. Comparison of Figures 8 and 9 shows that the solution continuously depends on the fractional derivatives. Clear conclusion can be drawn from Figures 4 – 9 that the solution tends to a finite number as |x| approaches infinity for all values of α , which is in full agreement with the results in [11].

Example 6.2. As a second example, the classical Burgers equation often appears in traffic flow and gas dynamics [8]. The flow through porous media can be better described by fractional models than the classical ones, since they include inherently memory effects caused by obstacles in the structures. We consider once again the



FIGURE 5. The difference between the exact solution ($\alpha = 1$), and the approximate solution for t = 0.1, $\epsilon = 0.1$, and $\alpha = 0.95$.



FIGURE 6. Approximate numerical solution u(x,t) with $\alpha = 0.5$, and $\epsilon = 0.05$.

time-fractional Burgers equation (26). However, in this case we consider different initial conditions, where $u(x, 0) = \sin(6\pi x) + 2x(1-x) - x\sin(6\pi)$, where u(x, t) is the flow's velocity, and ϵ is the viscosity coefficient. It is revealed that the effect of the fractional derivative accumulates slowly to give rise to a significant dissipation. Numerical solutions for u(x, t) are depicted in Figures 10 and 11 for two different values of α and $\epsilon = 0.3$. Comparing Figure 10 to Figure 11, we observe that as the fractional order increases, the rate of diffusion at the beginning time becomes slow.

Discussion and Conclusions

The Legendre Sinc-Collocation method appears to be very promising for solving the fractional Burgers' equation. An important advantage to be gained from the use of this method is the ability to produce very accurate results on a reasonably coarse mesh. For the assumptions considered, the resulting nonlinear system of algebraic equations was solved efficiently by fixed-point iteration. The example presented demonstrate the accuracy of the method, which is an improvement over current methods such as finite elements and finite difference methods. This feature shows the method to be an

K. AL-KHALED



FIGURE 7. Approximate numerical solution u(x, t) with $\alpha = 0.1$, and $\epsilon = 0.05$.



FIGURE 8. Approximate numerical solution u(x,t) with $\alpha = 0.01$, and $\epsilon = 0.2$.

attractive for numerical solutions to the fractional Burgers' equation. We conclude, with confidence, that the collocation using Sinc basis can be considered as a beneficial method for solving a broad class of fractional nonlinear partial differential equations. The study of these equations will be the matter of furthers investigations.

References

- K. Al-Khaled and S. Momani, An approximate solution for a fractional diffusion-wave equation using the decomposition method, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 165 (2005), 473–483.
- [2] K. Al-Khaled, Numerical study of Fisher's reaction-diffusion equation by the Sinc collocation method, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 137 (2001), 245–255.
- [3] K. Al-Khaled, Sinc numerical solution for solitons and solitary waves, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 130 (2001) 283–292.
- [4] K. Al-Khaled, Sinc approximation of solution of Burgers' equation with discontinuous initial conditions, *Recent Advances in Numerical Methods and Applications*, Proceeding of the fourth international conference, NMA, 1998, Sofia, Bulgaria.
- [5] M. H. Akrami, M. H. Atabakzadeh and G. H. Erjaee, The operational matrix of fractional integration for shifted Legendre polynomials, *Iranian J. Sci. Tech.* 37A4 (2013), 439–444.

NON-LINEAR BURGERS' FRACTIONAL EQUATION



FIGURE 9. Approximate numerical solution u(x,t) with $\alpha = 0.1$, and $\epsilon = 0.2$.



FIGURE 10. Approximate numerical solution u(x,t) of Example 6.2 with $\alpha = 0.5$, and $\epsilon = 0.3$.



FIGURE 11. Approximate numerical solution u(x,t) of Example 6.2 with $\alpha=0.9,$ and $\epsilon=0.3$.

[6] J. M. Burgers', Application of a model system to illusrate some points of the statistical theory of free turbulance, Proceedings of the Royal Academy of Sciences of Amsterdam, 43 (1940), 2–12.

K. AL-KHALED

- [7] N. A. Khan and A. Ara, Numerical solutions of time-fractional Burgers equations, a comparison between generalized differential transform technique and homotopy perturbation method, *Inter. J. of Numer. Methods for Heat and Fluid Flow* 22 (2012), no. 2, 175–193.
- [8] Guo-Cheng Wu and D. Baleanu, Variational iteration method for the Burgers flow with fractional derivatives-New Lagrange multipliers, Appl. Math. Model 37 (2013), 6181–6190.
- [9] M. Inc, The approximate and Exact solutions of the space and time fractional Burgers equations with initial conditions by variational iteration method, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 345 (2008), no. 1, 476–484.
- [10] K. S. Miller and B. Ross, An introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential equations, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1993.
- [11] S. Momani, Non-perturbative analytical solutions of the space and time fractional Burgers' equations, Chaos Soliton Fractals 28 (2006), 930–937.
- [12] S. Momani and Z. Odibat, Analytical approach to linear fractional partial differential equations arising in fluid mechanics, *Physics Letters A* 355 (2006), Issues 4-5, 271–279.
- [13] S. Momani, Non-perturbative analytical solutions of the space and time-frational Burgers equations, Chaos Solitons and Fractals 28 (2006), 930–937.
- [14] K. B. Oldham and J. Spanier, The Fractional Calculus, Academic Press, New York, 1974.
- [15] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Academic Press, New York, 1999.
- [16] I. Podlubny, Gemmetric and physical interpretation of fractional integration and fractional differentiation, Frac. Calc. Appl. Anal. 5 (2002), 367–386.
- [17] M.M. Rodrigues, Study of solutions of a nonlinear fractional partial differential equations, Proceedings of the world congress on Engineering 1 (2011), WCE.
- [18] Y. Liu, Z. Li and Y. Zhang, Homotopoy Perturbation method for fractional biological population equation, Fractional Differential Calculus, Volume 1, No. 1 (2011), 117–124.
- [19] Y. Xu and O.P. Agrawal, Numerical solutions and analysis of diffusion for new generalized fractional Burgers equation, Fractional Calculus and Applied Analysis 16 (2013), no. 3, 709– 736.
- [20] L. N. Song, Application of homotopy analysis method to fractional KdV-Burgers-Kuramoto equation, Phys. Lett. A 367 (2007), no. 1-2, 88–94.
- [21] A. Saadatmandi and M. Dehghan, A new operational matrix for solving fractional-order differential equations, Computer Math. Appli 59 (2010), 1326–1336.
- [22] G. Baumann and F. Stenger, Fractional calculus and Sinc methods, Frac. Calc. Appl. Anal. 14 (2011), no. 4, 568–622.
- [23] M. Caputo, Linear models of dissipation whose Q is almost frequency independent-II, Geophys. J. R. Astron. Soc. 13 (1967) 529–539
- [24] G. Amarand and D. Noureddine, Existence and uniqueness of solution to fractional Burgers' equation, Acta Univ. Apulensis 21 (2010), 161–170.
- [25] J.D. Cole, On a Quasilinear Parabolic Equation Occurring in Aerodynamics, Quartely of Applied Mathematics, 9 (1951), 225–236.
- [26] H. Eberhard, The partial differential equation $u_t + uu_x = \mu u_{xx}$, Department of Mathematics, Indiana University 1942.
- [27] J. Lund and K.L. Bowers, Sinc methods for quadrature and differential equations, SIAM, Philadelphia, 1992.
- [28] C. He and C. Liu, Nonexistence for mixed-type equations with critical exponent nonlinearity in a ball, *Applied Mathematics Letters* 24 (2011), no. 5, 679–686.
- [29] F. Stenger, Numerical Methods Based on Sinc and Analytic Functions, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [30] A. Saadamandi, M. Dehghan and M.-Reza Aziz, The Sinc-Legendre collocation method for a class of fractional convection-diffusion equations with variable coefficients, *Commun Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simulat.* **17** (2012), 4125–4136.
- [31] S. Shukri and K. Al-Khaled, The extended tanh method for solving systems of nonlinear wave equations, Applied Mathematics and Computation 217 (2010), no. 5, 1997–2006.
- [32] Y. Wu and X. Wu, Linear and rational approximation method for solving non-linear Burgers' equation, Inter. J. Num. Mech. Fluids 45 (2004), 509–525.
- [33] A. Gorguis, A comparison between Cole-Hopf transformation and the decomposition method for solving Burgers equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 173 (2006) 126–136.

(Kamel Al-Khaled) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, SULTAN QABOOS UNIVERSITY, AL-KHOD 123, P.O.BOX 36, SULTANET OMAN

E-mail address: kamel@squ.edu.om, kamel@just.edu.jo

Annals of the University of Craiova, Mathematics and Computer Science Series Volume 41(2), 2014, Pages 251–270 ISSN: 1223-6934

Survey on distributed approaches to swarm intelligence for graph search problems

SORIN ILIE

ABSTRACT. In this paper a survey on existing distributed approaches to swarm intelligence approaches for graph search problems is presented. In particular we reviewed papers on Ant Colony Optimization (ACO) and Bee Colony Optimization (BCO). The comparison criteria that have been used are computational efficiency and speedup. The conclusion of this study is that the coarse grained master-slave model is the most studied. However, we found a large amount of papers sustaining that the island approach offers better solution quality. The added flexibility of the communication strategy between the islands makes this model preferred by the most recent papers.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 68T01; Secondary 68R10. Key words and phrases. swarm intelligence, distributed computing, ACO, BCO, parallel computing.

1. Introduction

Before going into the subject of this paper, we first introduce a few recurrent terms that will be used throughout the following sections.

SwarmIntelligence(SI) is the emergence of coherent functional global patterns from the collective behaviors of entities interacting locally [48]. Two families of SI algorithms are Ant Colony Optimization(ACO) and Bee Colony Optimization (BCO).

Entity is a general term used to refer to a unit of the Swarm Intelligence population, such as an ant, bee, particle, bird, fish etc.

Agraph is a set of objects and the pairwise relations between them. In [28] the objects are named vertices (singular: vertex) while the relations are called edges. Edges are actually considered to be connections between the vertices and are graphically represented as lines while vertices are represented as dots or ovals.

We define the term *computingnode* as an abstraction of a computer or machine, physical or virtual, having its own or allocated processor and memory. This term is used in the subject of distributed applications [65] and adopted by distributed computing support systems [106].

SI is inspired by natural bio systems consisting of populations of simple beings such as: ants, bees, birds, fish etc. The main characteristic of these is the inherently distributed way they solve problems. This suggests SI algorithms should allow straightforward mapping directly onto distributed software systems.

Based on our literature review we found that existing approaches rely on running multiple instances of sequential SI algorithms using parallel and highperformance

Received August 9, 2014.

This work was supported by the strategic grant POSDRU/159/1.5/2/133255. Project ID 133225(2014), co-financed by the European Social Fund within the Sectorial Operational Program Human Resources Development 2007- 2013.

SORIN ILIE

computing architectures. SI computational approaches [48] are used to solve high complexity problems, such as NP-hard problems. These approaches are heuristic [47] by nature. Basically they provide an optimal solution, or one that is close to an optimum, to a high complexity problem in reasonable time. This is accomplished by using a population of entities that interact locally with each other and/or with the environment. There are two approaches to the interaction model:

1) the entities interact in the problem environment in order to guide each other to better solutions. For example, such a SI approach is Ant Colony Optimization [45], Bee Colony Optimization [116]

2) the entities interact in the solution space of the problem in order to improve existing initial solutions given as an output of an additional algorithm. For example, such a SI approach is Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) [27], Cat Swarm Optimization (CSO) [24]. This type of SI is generally designed for continuous solution space that is given as input. Discrete adaptations exist [83], however, they require an additional algorithm, especially tailored to each problem to be solved, that outputs the vicinity of a solution which can be modeled as a graph vertex. Therefore this type of SI algorithm is not well suited for "graph search", the type of problem we are trying to solve.

There is a certain level of abstraction at which SI systems can be modeled as distributed computational systems composed of interacting artificial entities. Thus, we would expect distributed computing, including multiagent middleware, to have a lot of potential for the application of SI approaches.

The rest of this paper presents a survey on the subject of distributing SI and in particular ACO and BCO but also introduces the background knowledge required for the proper understanding of the said survey.

2. Graph Search Problems Formalization

SI algorithms using the first interaction model, mentioned previously in this paper, are very well suited for graph search problems. Consequently, these algorithms are usually tested on the benchmark problem of the NP-hard Traveling Salesman Problem (TSP), which falls in this category of problems. We now present a formal mathematical description of the problem type we are addressing. Let G = (V, E) be a directed graph, where V is a set of vertices and E is a set of edges [59]. An edge is defined as an ordered pair of vertices (x, y). The size of the set of vertices is labeled n = |V|.

A path p = (v1, v2, ..., vn), k > 0 in the graph G is an ordered sequence of vertices such that for any two subsequent vertices vi and v_{i+1} there is an edge $(v_i, v_{i+1}) \in E$. We label the totality of paths in a graph with P. Any graph search problem can be formalized as minimizing or maximizing a function $f : P' \to \mathbb{R}$ where $P' \subseteq P$, i.e. P' is P restricted by some constraints. As an example, we now formalize the Traveling Salesman Problem (TSP). We first define a weight function w that assigns a real number to an edge of the graph. TSP can be formulated mathematically as the minimization of the function:

$$f: P' \to \mathbb{R}; f(p) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} w_{1,1+1} + w_{n,1}$$
(1)

where p is a path that is evaluated; $w_{i,i+1}$ is the weight of the edge (i, i+1); P' is the totality of Hamiltonian cycles.

Other examples of problems that can be described in this manner include: graph flow problems [59], generalized TSP [3], pickup and delivery problem [90] etc. Therefore each of these problems can be defined as the minimization of a function f over a subset of paths $P' \subseteq P$. An approach that can solve one of them can be adapted to solve all graph search problems.

2.1. Ant Colony Optimization(ACO). ACO [45] refers to a family of SI optimization algorithms that get their inspiration from the metaphor of real ants searching for food. When ants search for food, they secrete pheromone on their way back to the anthill. Other colony members sense the pheromone and become attracted by marked paths; the more pheromone is deposited on a path, the more attractive that path becomes.

The pheromone is volatile, i.e. disappears over time. Evaporation erases pheromone on longer paths as well as on the paths that are not of interest anymore. However, shorter paths are more quickly refreshed, thus having the chance of being more frequently explored. Intuitively, ants will converge towards the most efficient path, as that path gets the strongest concentration of pheromone.

In the SI approach called ACO, artificial ants are programmed to mimic the behavior of real ants while searching for food. The ants' environment is modeled as a graph and the path to the food becomes the solution to a given graph search problem. Artificial ants originate from the anthills that are vertices in the environment and travel between vertices to find optimal solutions, following ACO rules. When a solution is found, ants mark the solution with pheromone by retracing their path.

At the core of ACO algorithms there are rules that determine the amount of pheromone deposited on edges traversed by ants, the edge chosen by each ant on its way, and how fast the deposited pheromone evaporates. Ants randomly choose to travel across edges with a probability proportional to the pheromone-weight ratio. Ant a located at vertex i decides to move to vertex j with the probability $p_{i,j}$ computed as follows:

$$p_{i,j} = \frac{(\tau_{i,j})^{\alpha} (\eta_{i,j})^{\beta}}{\sum_{j} (\tau_{i,j})^{\alpha} (\eta_{i,j})^{\beta}}$$

where:

- α is a parameter to control the influence of $\tau_{i,j}$
- β is a parameter to control the influence of $\eta_{i,j}$
- j represents a node reachable from node i that was not visited yet
- $\tau_{i,j}$ is the amount of pheromone deposited on edge (i,j)
- $\eta_{i,j}$ is the desirability of edge (i, j) computed as the inverse of the edge weight, i.e. $1/w_{i,j}$
- N_i represents the set of neighbors of node i

Better solutions need to be marked with more pheromone. So whenever an ant k determines a new tour V_k of cost L_k the ant will increase pheromone strength on each edge of the tour with a value that is inversely proportional to the cost of the solution.

$$\Delta \tau_{i,j}^k = \begin{cases} 1/L_k \& \text{if edge } (i,j) \text{ belongs to found tour } V_k \\ 0 \& \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3)

where L_k is the cost of the k-th ant's tour.

As pheromone is volatile, if a real ant travels more, pheromone will have more time to evaporate, thus favoring better solutions to be discovered in the future. When an ant completes a solution it will retrace its steps marking the edges on the way with pheromone. The update will also take into account pheromone evaporation. Both

(2)

SORIN ILIE

evaporation and pheromone updates are implemented as follows:

$$\tau_{i,j} = (1-\rho)\tau_{i,j} + \rho\Delta\tau_{i,j}^k \tag{4}$$

where ρ is the evaporation rate $0 \le \rho < 1$.

All ants use formula 2 to probabilistically determine their next step. Therefore they will often choose the edge with the highest pheromone, i.e. the exploration of less probable edges is lower. The solution is to decrease the pheromone on edges chosen by ants, i.e. apply a local evaporation process. This has the effect of making them less desirable, increasing the exploration of the edges that have not been picked yet. Whenever an ant traverses an edge it applies local evaporation by updating pheromone as follows:

$$\tau_{i,j} = (1 - \xi)\tau_{i,j} + \xi\tau_0 \tag{5}$$

where:

- ξ is the local evaporation rate $0 \le \xi < 1$.
- τ_0 is the initial amount of pheromone on each edge

A good heuristics to initialize pheromone trails is to set them to a value slightly higher than the expected amount of pheromone deposited by the ants on a solution; a rough estimate of this value can be obtained by setting $\tau_0 = 1/(nC)$, where *n* is the number of nodes, and *C* is the tour cost generated by a reasonable solution approximation procedure [45]. For example we can set $C = nw_{avg}$ where w_{avg} is the average edge cost.

2.2. Bee Colony Optimization (BCO). Bee Colony refers to a family of SI optimization algorithms that get their inspiration from the metaphor of real bees searching for food. Bee colonies forage for pollen sources by moving randomly in the physical environment. When a bee finds a rich food source, starts to perform the so called "waggle dance" [46] upon its return to the hive. The purpose of this dance is to inform the other bees about the direction and distance to the food source [12]. The other bees from the swarm will then be inclined to explore the indicated location.

In the SI approach Bee Colony, artificial bees are programmed to mimic the behavior of real bees while searching for food. The bees environment is modeled as a graph while the path to the food becomes the solution to a given graph search problem. In [101] the authors present a survey of Bee Colony algorithms among them the basic "Bee Colony Optimization" (BCO) algorithm and its mathematical model which we will now detail. In BCO a bee randomly moves across edge (i, j) according to the transition probability formally defined in the following equation.

$$P_{i,j} = \frac{(p_{i,j})^{\alpha} (\eta_{i,j})^{\beta}}{\sum_{j} (p_{i,j})^{\alpha} (\eta_{i,j})^{\beta}}$$
(6)

where:

- p it the fitness function of edge (i, j)
- α is a parameter to control the influence of $p_{i,i}$
- β is a parameter to control the influence of $\eta_{i,j}$
- j represents a node reachable from node i that was not visited yet

The fitness of a particular edge is calculated according to the "preferred path" suggested by other bees that found a solution. The edge (μ, σ) in the "preferred path" that originates in the current vertex μ where the bee is located has the fitness $p_{\mu,\sigma} = \lambda$. The other edges originating have the fitness $p_{\mu,\sigma} = (1 - \lambda)/\phi$ where ϕ is the number of unvisited vertices apart from the "preferred path" next vertex σ . Concretely, if the bee has to choose between the unvisited vertices $(\nu_1, \nu_2, ..., \nu_k, \sigma)$ the probabilities of choosing each vertex will be $(\frac{1-\lambda}{\phi}, \frac{1-\lambda}{\phi}, ..., \frac{1-\lambda}{\phi}, \lambda)$ respectively.

However, if the preferred vertex σ has already been visited or a "preferred path" does not exist yet, the fitness of the edge (μ, σ) automatically becomes null, i.e. $p_{\mu,\sigma} = 0$. Intuitively, the bees will explore variations of the best solutions while notifying the other bees about the improved solutions found using "waggle dance".

2.3. Using Local Search To Improve Solutions. "Local Search" [62] is an algorithm used to improve suboptimal solutions to graph search problems found by heuristic approaches. This algorithm chooses k distinct edges of the path representing the solution and tries to reorganize them in such a way that the quality of the solution improves. In this algorithm k is a natural number smaller than the solution size that is given as a parameter.

Depending on the number k, Local Search algorithms are called 2 - opt, 3 - optand so on up to k - opt. Basically, k edges from the solution are replaced such that a lower cost solution is generated. We will now present a very general version of the k-opt local search algorithm LOCAL-SEARCH(solution, k) where:

- "solution" is the path that the algorithm operates on,
- k is the number of considered edges,
- CHOOSE-EDGES(solution, k) randomly chooses the k distinct edges,
- REORGANIZE(edges) generates a new solution by reorganizing the k edges,
- SOL-ACCEPTABLE(solution) returns true if the solution is improved by an acceptable amount
- SOL-IMPROVED(solution) returns true when the solution is improved by reorganizing the edges,
- MAX-ITERATIONS() returns true is a predefined number of iterations have been executed with no improvement.

The complexity of this algorithm depends on the parameter k and how fast an improvement is achieved, however it has been experimentally shown that 2-opt local search performs just as well as 3-opt or higher values for k, while using a lot less CPU time [62]. Therefore there is little or no incentive to use a value higher than k = 2.

LOCAT	L-SEARCH(solution, k)
1	initialSolution=solution
···	
2.	for all groups of k edges of solution
3.	edges=CHOOSE-EDGES(solution, k)
4.	for all solution=REORGANIZE(edges)
5.	if SOL-ACCEPTABLE(solution)return solution
6.	if SOL-IMPROVED(solution)
7.	initialSolution=solution
8.	if MAX-ITERATIONS() return initialSolution

Using local search has been shown to improve the performance of SI algorithms [45, 48, 111]. Therefore, SI approaches sometimes use 2-opt local search on solutions before "advertising" it by using "waggle dance", pheromone deposits etc.

2.4. Distributed Approach Performance Measures. During our review of the literature on the topic we discovered several distributing models (independent runs, master-slave, island and hybrid), some general purpose distributed frameworks designed to distribute any heuristic algorithm, inherently distributed agent-based approaches and several isolated combinations of existing models.

The reviewed papers present various scalability experiments solving multitude of graph search problems. Performing a fair comparison of the different approaches to distributing various SI algorithms requires some common normalized measures to put side by side. For this reason we introduce here the notions of speedup and

SORIN ILIE

computational efficiency. The speedup metric of a distributed application measures how much faster the application runs when more computing nodes are used as opposed to a single computing node. The computational efficiency metric normalizes the value of the speedup to the number of computing nodes. The equations for computing the two metrics are:

$$S_c = \frac{T_1}{T_c} \tag{7}$$

$$e_c = \frac{S_c}{c} \tag{8}$$

where

c is the number of computing nodes used

 S_c is the speedup of the application

 T_1 is the execution time of the application on a single computing node

 T_c is the execution time of the application on c computing nodes

 e_c is the efficiency of running the application on c computing nodes

3. State of the Art in Distributing ACO and BCO

A very recent overview and classification of parallel computing approaches to Ant Colony Optimization (ACO) was reported by [87]. The authors propose an interesting and novel classification scheme for parallel ACO algorithms. The classification includes: master-slave model, cellular model, independent runs model, island model and hybrid models. However, the authors do not include agent-based approaches which, they consider, are not specifically designed to take advantage of multi processor architectures.

The cellular model mentioned in [87] is actually the author's own work [86] which proposes splitting ACO search space into overlapping neighborhoods each one with its own pheromone matrix. The good solutions gradually spread from one neighborhood to another through diffusion. This approach requires the search space to be partitioned in such a way that each set contains a continuous part of the optimal solution. The problem with this is that if the search space is not partitioned in this manner, an optimal solution can never be reached. The authors are the only ones that have ever implemented and tested this model based on the cell diffusion approach.

In the case of BCO we could find four papers [88, 89, 102, 103] that collectively offer a good classification of BCO parallel approaches. Interestingly, these papers identify the same general taxonomy of approaches for BCO as [87] does for ACO: master-slave model, independent runs model, island model and hybrid models. Therefore in the following subsections we identify and describe the research done using master-slave model, independent runs model, island model, hybrid models and the agent-based models. But because these terms are not standardized we must first define what we mean by them.

3.1. The Basic Taxonomy of Distributed SI Approaches. The master-slave model of distributing SI requires a central "master" computing node that manages a global best-so-far solution while multiple "slave" computing nodes find candidate solutions.

This model can be further divided into:

• fine grained master-slave model, where the slaves do atomic actions such as move one ant or find one solution. This requires a large amount of communication with the master. • coarse grained master-slave model, in which the slaves do complex actions such as find multiple solutions and communicate the best one to the master.

In the fine grained version the slaves have to communicate with the master after each tiny task they are asked to execute and then they wait for new requests from the master. This overloads the master computing node and introduces large wait times when many slaves are used. In the coarse grained version the slaves find whole solutions or even sets of solutions before reporting to the master. Since in most implementations that is all the slaves do, they actually do not need to be explicitly told what to do next. Evidently the coarse grained master-slave model puts less stress on the master and therefore is a lot more scalable.

The independent runs model uses many instances of the SI algorithm that solve the problem independently and the best solution is chosen. SI approaches are inherently heuristic therefore they cannot guarantee finding the optimal solution, however, running an SI algorithm multiple times increases the chances of getting a very good quality solution. The fact that no communication is used but more than one instance of the algorithm is executed entails three consequences:

- faster execution time and implicitly better efficiency than any other implementation that requires communication, but only if the same number of solutions are explored in all considered implementations,
- better quality of solutions than a single sequential run,
- less qualitative solutions than implementations that use communication.

The island model of distributing SI requires running a separate group of entities, referred to as an "island", on each available computing node. Each group has its own map of the search space, therefore can be considered a sequential implementation of the SI algorithm. At predetermined points in time, with fixed frequency, solutions are communicated and the best solution over all is marked as required by the SI algorithm. Solutions can also be communicated asynchronously. This type of collaboration between the islands sets it apart from the master-slave model and the independent runs model.

When implementing the island model there are at least two issues to consider: i) the communication topology of the islands where the unidirectional ring (on the left) and full mesh topology (on the right) are depicted, ii) the frequency with which the islands communicate solutions to each other and whether this should be done synchronously or asynchronously. When the ring communication topology is used, each island sends a single message containing a solution to a predefined island. When using the mesh topology, any given island can broadcast its solution to all other islands.

This model is also called the "multi-colony model" in the case of ACO and the "multi-hive model" for BCO. This model is even more scalable than the coarse-grained master-slave since there is no master computing node to cause a "bottleneck". The existence of a master decreases performance when too many slaves try to communicate at once.

The hybrid model is a combination of the island with the master-slave model. An example of the hybrid model could be an island model where each island is actually a master-slave model instead of a simple sequential implementation of the SI algorithm.

Before going into each model separately, we present a quick overview of the taxonomy papers that will be referred multiple times in the current subsection. The work introduced in [88] and continued in [89] differentiates between the master-slave model, hybrid model and the island model of BCO. Experiments were done with each model

SORIN ILIE

implemented using the message passing interface (MPI) library [82], and tested on numerical benchmark functions: Rastrigin, Griewank and generalized Schaffer. The implementations were executed using 11 computing nodes for the master-slave approach and 4 computing nodes for the island and hybrid model. The authors concluded that the island approach offers better quality solutions in less time, closely followed by the master-slave approach. No scalability tests were done on any of the models, the network delay was not taken into account. Furthermore, in papers [102, 103] the authors identify the model of independent runs additionally to the master-slave model, hybrid model and the island model of BCO. The authors also identify two variants on the island model: i) communicating just one solution and ii) the complete solution matrix. Their experiments were run in a simulated environment. The conclusion was that the independent serial runs approach was the fastest, however, the models that used communication offered the best quality of solutions.

3.2. Fine Grained Master-Slave Model. Implementing a scalable fine grained master-slave model is not trivial, as the first attempts show. Paper [79] analyzes the amount of communication needed by the fine grained model of ACO, concluding that it is not feasible. The first successful attempt at achieving scalability by using a hierarchy of master computing nodes was published in [13], however, their approach did not scale very well. In paper [96] a fine grained master-slave model of ACO is analyzed and the maximum efficiency obtained, of 0.8, was when using only two processors. Bullnheiner et al. in [15] made an attempt at the same model. The authors concluded that "acceptable execution time can be achieved" for TSP problems larger than 200 vertices. In the papers [36, 37] the distributed approach from [15] is revisited using a shared memory machine in the experiments reaching the maximum efficiency when employing 8 nodes. In such an architecture the access to the memory is concurrent, i.e. there is a shared memory and each process uses it one at a time in order to centralize its knowledge. No other modifications have been made to the architecture. The authors continue their work in [38] by comparing their approach from [36] to implementations that use synchronized messages instead of a shared memory. The access to the shared memory is much faster than messaging, which also requires broadcasting the current solution. This allows the ants to benefit sooner from the improvements found by the other population members. The conclusions were that their approach offers better solutions in less time. The authors obtained a speedup of 5.45 using 16 nodes, therefore resulting in an efficiency of merely 0.34. The most recent approach we could find on the fine-grained master-slave model is [55]. The authors of this paper used up to 240 GPUs to solve TSP using ACO and they succeeded in obtaining speedups of up to 30. The small amount of research using this model and the conflicting opinions about its effectiveness suggest that it is being abandoned as a viable model and is not, in fact, the state of the art approach to distributing SI.

3.3. Coarse Grained Master-Slave Model. The coarse grained master-slave model, unlike the fine grained one, is not plagued by conflicting opinions about its effectiveness. [74] implemented the coarse grained master-slave model for BCO and obtained near optimal solutions surpassing the quality of the results offered by the sequential approach. In paper [104] the authors present their approach to the coarse grained master-slave model called "ANTabu" which offers high quality solutions to the Quadratic Assignment Problem (QAP) [14]. Peng et al. presented their experiments with the coarse grained model [91, 92] that offered better quality solutions than evolutionary algorithms in the case of two different problems. In paper [75] groups of ants are
used on each slave resulting in better performance than sequential ACO. However, no comparison was made with the case of using only one ant per slave. Although these experiments used more than one computing node, these papers did not study the computational efficiency of their approaches.

We found several papers describing scalable implementations of the coarse grained master-slave model. In the work started in [9] and continued in [10] the authors implement the coarse master-slave and the hybrid models for BCO and test their implementations on a cluster of computers. The best execution time was achieved by the master-slave while the hybrid model obtained better quality of solutions. In [69] the authors present experiments showing that the coarse grained master-slave model is more efficient than the independent runs model. Their approach obtained efficiency of 0.8 using up to 16 processors. Papers [70] and [56] present experimental results where this model offers a speedup of up to 1.72 on dual core computers when running the slaves on separate threads, which means 0.86 efficiency.

Very good results were obtained using graphical processing units (GPU processors) for the slaves. One example is the already mentioned paper [55]. Another would be [16] that implemented a coarse grained master-slave where the master executed on the CPU and the slaves executed on the 8 pixel processors of a graphics card. The execution time depended heavily on the number of ACO entities used.

We also researched the problem of synchronous versus asynchronous centralization to the master computing node. The authors of [6] have implemented their version of this model for BCO and concluded that asynchronous centralization more efficient. Paper [16] compares the two approaches to coarse grained master-slave model for ACO and found them to offer similar speedup. On the other hand papers [110] and [63] found the asynchronous approach to be much faster for their respective implementations of ACO. The synchronous implementation from [45] offers an efficiency of 0.7 using 8 computing nodes, while the asynchronous approach from [21] boasts 0.9 efficiency on 8 nodes. We can conclude that in most cases an asynchronous implementation has better performance.

3.4. Independent Runs Model. The independent runs model is found to be used rarely. Experiments in [95] confirm that the independent runs model is more efficient than the coarse grained approach and offers slightly better solution quality than sequential implementations. Papers [1] and [2] also concluded that it is more efficient than coarse grained master-slave, synchronous and asynchronous island model. However, at the same time they confirm the fact that the independent runs model offers less qualitative solutions than implementations that use communication. These results are confirmed in the case of BCO by the authors of [102, 103], described earlier in this subsection. Therefore the implementations that require communication on top of constructing and validating solutions will automatically have longer execution times. However, the models that use communication offer better solutions sooner than the independent runs model. Thus, it is our conclusion that better alternatives to the independent runs model have already been developed.

3.5. The Hybrid Model. The hybrid model was implemented and studied in just a few publications. In papers [37, 71] each colony becomes the master of multiple slaves. This type of approach was tested in [37] on a cluster of 9 heterogeneous machines. The papers reported modest speedup values and slight improvements in quality of solutions when compared to other models. On the other hand, papers such as [64, 99] propose that the solutions of an island model should be collected and processed by a master computing node. Both papers lack efficiency analysis.

3.6. The Island Mode. The island model is a very popular research topic. We will first present the research conducted on the main features to be considered in this model: (i) the communication topology and (ii) the synchronization intervals.

On the subject of the communication topology to be used in the island model, the authors of [111] thoroughly analyze multi-colony ACO algorithms applied on TSP, experimenting with different communication policies and variable synchronization frequency, used as input parameters. They tested the communication topologies in terms of execution time and solution quality, with focus on maximizing the latter. The authors of paper [111] found that a ring topology outperforms the sequential approach to ACO and other tested topologies, confirming through independent experimentation the results of [76, 94, 79, 25]. Although, [23] sustains that the star topology offers the best results, their conclusions are, by far, less rigorously supported by experimental data than those in paper [111]. In all of these approaches the colonies distribute their solutions synchronously.

Experiments concerning point (ii), the synchronization intervals for the island model can also be found in the literature. In papers [34, 35] the authors analyze implementations of BCO using: the independent run model, a fine grained, coarse grained master-slave model and an island asynchronous implementation, using a ring communication topology. The experimental results show that the island asynchronous implementation outperformed all other models in both execution time and solution quality. [18, 20] found that the island model can remain scalable up to 25 computing nodes with self-adaptation but efficiency is worse than without self-adaptation. Experiments in [73] present that asynchronous solution updating between the colonies offers better scalability. The authors experimented on a cluster of 72 dualcore machines using one thread per island. We can conclude that in most cases an asynchronous implementation and larger intervals between synchronizations offer better performance.

Scalability and effectiveness of the island model was also extensively studied. A distributed version of the island model is presented and compares it with the sequential version of their BCO algorithm in [6]. The conclusions drawn by the authors were that the distributed approach is superior in both the quality of solutions and the execution time. In paper [84] the island model for BCO is implemented. The authors use shared memory to synchronize the solutions obtained by the separate hives and boast execution time decrease when increasing the number of computing nodes. [120] presents experimental data on island model ACO tests on up to 64 computing nodes, however, they do show a dramatic decrease in speedup for more than 8 nodes. In papers [17, 19] and [20], although the results were less than ideal, good execution time was still obtained when increasing the number of CPUs up to 25. In [68] the island model experiments show better execution times and higher quality of solutions than genetic algorithms (GA) [58] and sequential models of ACO. In paper [25] the authors claim that multi-colony is faster than the master-slave model. Their approach was tested on up to 5 computing nodes. Paper [121] confirms that multi-colony is more efficient than sequential ACO when using up to 8 computing nodes. The experiments show that for given TSP problem sizes there is always a number of colonies above which efficiency decreases.

Many authors noted that island model offers an increase of solution quality compared to sequential implementations. In [111] it is stated that the island model consistently offers better solutions than the sequential implementations of the same

ACO algorithm. On the other hand, [122] found that the island model offers "competitive" solutions when compared with other approaches. In paper [100] the authors experiment with exchanging full pheromone matrices instead of just one best-so-far solution. Their conclusion was that this greatly affected the execution time of the approach but slightly improved the quality of the solutions. Given the large number of papers written on the subject and the outstanding results, it is clear that the island approach is the current state of the art model of distributing SI.

3.7. Variations of the Master-slave Model. Some approaches to the masterslave model use the slaves only to perform local search on the solutions generated by the master. In [72] this idea is implemented for ACO using one thread per slave on two dualcore machines. The authors obtained speedup in their experiments, however, the hardware used did not facilitate detailed testing of their approach. Paper [108] tested a multi-threading implementation of ACO on two quad-core computing nodes. The experiments showed significant improvement in execution time. Continuing their work in [109] using two dual core machines, they obtained better results than a synchronous communication island model and an independent parallel runs model. [115] experimented with this model of ACO on 47 non-dedicated machines, they concluded that larger problems generate better speedup values. In paper [29] the authors used their parallel framework for master-slave approaches to implement similarly asynchronous ACO. They achieved very good speedup values up to 25 computing nodes, however, efficiency decreased directly proportional to the resources used.

3.8. Agent-based Approaches to Distributing SI. Papers [112, 113, 114] present and improve an agent based approach to the Vehicle Routing Problem (VRP) [57] inspired by BCO called "BeeJamA". The authors use two types of bee agents to disseminate routing cost information using BCO rules. Their approach is evaluated only in terms of quality using a simulation in MATSim [77], no scalability or efficiency study was performed.

Paper [105] presents a potential application of BCO in road traffic implemented as a multi-agent system. The authors propose a reactive agent system that leads to good results through the nature of the BCO algorithm. This is a practical application with a high interest in quality of solutions and adaptability, however, not efficiency during distributed execution. The work in [101] describes a purely theoretical overview on multi-agent optimization based on BCO. The authors describe the bees formally as reactive agents. The paper consists of detailed descriptions on how to program the bee agents to respect different BCO algorithm rules. No real implementation is mentioned.

The authors of [98] present a multi-agent system [8] implementation of ACO applying their solution to TSP. In their approach, graph vertices and ants are implemented as JADE [8] agents. Ants centralize the information about pheromone deposits and vertices' best tour cost through a single message exchange per vertex. This procedure adds up to 2n messages per tour for each ant, where n is the number of vertices. Each ant has to notify the vertex about its next hop and the cost of its tour for the vertex to be able to update its pheromone levels. This generates other n messages. When an ant completes a tour, it compares the tour cost with the collected best tours from the vertices. A best tour synchronization is triggered for all the vertices if a better tour has been found. This brings an additional overhead of n messages. Hence this approach requires 4n messages per tour per ant. Unfortunately, the authors provide no experimental data to support their claim of "good results".

In [50] the authors compare a distributed form of ACS with the flooding algorithm applied to resource discovery problem using ns2 network simulation tool [85]. They show that ACS is the better approach in terms of: best success rate, least number of hops and least traffic. The detailed algorithm and ACO parameters are not presented in order to duplicate their approach for a realistic comparison. The main characteristics of their approach are: (i) resource queries are handled centrally at a single computing node, thus introducing single point of failure, (ii) they do not take edge weights into account as they are trying to solve the resource discovery problem, and (iii) ants are implemented as ns2 mobile agents. Moreover, in practice very often there is no need for code mobility as every ant is governed by the same behavioral rules.

In the article [33] the authors present a fully distributed approach to ACO that models both vertices and ants as agents. Their proposal uses multiple vertices that play the role of anthills, generating colored ants modeled as mobile agents. They test their proposal on the problem of load balancing in distributed systems and compare it with the workstealing approach. The article concludes that the proposed architecture is more efficient in terms of the number of busy vertices and the elapsed time until a load distribution of 50% is reached. No efficiency study is made on the approach and in this case too there is no need for code mobility either, since all ants are governed by the same rules.

In the article [22] the authors present an agent-based distributed approach similar to the fine grained master-slave model from [37] but implemented with agents with learning capabilities. This papers main goal is not to use the distributed architecture to improve the efficiency of [37] but to improve other performance measures by the use of a knowledge base. As a consequence, this approach inherits the efficiency shortcomings of its predecessor.

In paper [78] the authors present a hybrid ACO/PSO (Particle Swarm Optimization) control algorithm for distributed swarm robots applied on the resource finding problem. A virtual pheromone is used in the form of messages. The messages contain the two-dimensional coordinates of the resource, its size and quality reflected in the quantity of pheromone. All robots have to manage their own map and pheromone deposits. PSO is used to avoid convergence to a local optima. The experiments are done in a virtual sequential environment. No scalability studies have been made.

Paper [119] proposes a JADE-based [8] multi-agent environment for dynamic manufacturing scheduling that combines intelligent techniques of ACO and multi-agent coordination. There is no globally accessible map, hence each agent needs to manage their own map and pheromone deposits. However, the focus in [119] is to evaluate the impact of ACO intelligence on multi-agent coordination, rather than to utilize multi-agent middleware for improving ACO. Therefore ACO intelligence is embedded into job and machine agents that have the role of ants.

We are aware of only one agent-based approach that was studied in terms of computational efficiency: the ACODA approach from [123]. The authors model subsets of the search graph vertices as agents and execute them on separate computing nodes. Ants are modeled are software objects passed from one vertex to another via a local queue or agent message. The authors boast an e=0.98 efficiency value on 11 computing nodes.

3.9. General-purpose Distributed Frameworks. During our review of the work done on distributing Si we have also found a few general-purpose distributed frameworks designed for any algorithms .

Paper [32] proposes JABAT (JADE-Based A-Team) - a JADE [8] based middleware for collaborative problem solving using asynchronous teams known as A-teams. JABAT supports distributed implementation and collaboration of population-based optimization algorithms. JABAT agents represent sequential improvement algorithms that cooperate in order to solve a given problem in a distributed manner. Unfortunately, we could not find scalability studies of the JABAT distributed architecture. Earlier, a similar approach was introduced in [30, 31] using an object oriented approach [118] to run several sequential algorithms in parallel. In this case the authors impose a master-slave organization system between the processes. The framework is tested for image processing using ACO.

The scalable distributed constraint architecture called DisChoco is described in the paper [49]. In this approach, agents manage parts of the problem domain as well as the constraints specific to their partition. The agents propose, propagate or refuse partial solutions to each other.

Paper [61] proposes a purely theoretical framework for multi-agent systems. No experiments or implementations are mentioned in this work. The authors present a distributed form of ACO based on so called smart messages approach to multiagent systems. Agent mobility is used to implement complex communication over dynamic networks. They use delegate multi-agent systems to manage these smart messages in order to design a multi-agent approach for ACO. No ways of modeling the environment, determining convergence or stopping condition of ACO experiments are presented.

The frameworks presented in papers [31, 7, 32] are designed for the coarse grained master-slave approach. The [61] approach is much better suited for the distribution of the search space then migrating entities in the form of messages, according to the particular SI rules. However, this does not motivate the use of code mobility since all entities are governed by the same behavioral rules.

3.10. Partitioned Search Space Approaches. Briefly mentioned at the beginning of this subsection, the cellular approach from [86] proposes splitting ACO search space into overlapping neighborhoods, each one with its own pheromone matrix. The good solutions gradually spread from one neighborhood to another through diffusion. The authors obtained the efficiency of 0.9 on 4 nodes.

A similarly interesting approach [81] to distributed ACO divides the search space between the available and merges the solutions offered by the slaves at a central computing node. The authors boast exponential decrease of execution time. Another approach that divides the search space called "D-ant" is introduced in [41] and continued in [42] which was reported to outperform a multi-colony and a coarse grained implementation of ACO. The efficiency of the approach peaked at 0.7 when using 8 computing nodes. However these approaches would need to be inherently synchronized, which has negative effects on performance of implementations with a central computing node. Most research conducted on the matter agrees that asynchronous messages offer better execution time than synchronous ones. Another criticism that can be brought to these implementations is the fact that they are not purely ACO since they are using a different algorithm to merge the partial solutions.

4. Conclusions

The independent runs model is rarely used by the scientific community. When many instances of the SI algorithm solve the problem independently and the best

solution is chosen in the end increases the chances of getting a higher quality solution. We draw two conclusions from the work on the subject: i) this model is faster, however, it offers worse solutions than any other distribution model and ii) it provides better quality of solutions than a single sequential run.

The hybrid models and other variations of the master-slave model are isolated attempts to improve the execution time of the existing approaches. Although they sometimes boast better results taking advantage of hardware architecture such as multiple GPUs they are not widely accepted as best approach to distributing SI.

In the case of fine grained master-slave model the communication overhead that is necessary to exchange solutions is too large. The small amount of research using this model and the conflicting opinions about its effectiveness suggests that it is being abandoned as a viable model and is not, in fact, the state of the art approach to distributing SI.

Most authors focus on the coarse grained master-slave model or the island approach. Obtaining top efficiency when distributing their implementations on 8 to 25 nodes distribution. The approaches that were tested on TSP generally used graphs from the benchmark library TSPLIB [97] consisting of up to 500 vertices. The exception is the work presented in [120], where an island model was tested on a 15 000 vertex TSP instance of TSPLIB. However, efficiency peaked at 8 nodes. The most scalable approach in all the considered papers was presented in [20], an island model that reached peak efficiency at 25 nodes. This was tested on a 318 vertex TSP instance. However, the peak efficiency was inferior to maximum efficiency we encountered of 0.9, obtained in paper [21] using 8 computing nodes. We found significant research sustaining the superior asynchronous communication for the island model. It is our conclusion supported by the large number of papers written on the subject and the outstanding results, that the island approach is the current state of the art model of distributing SI. These distributing models of SI may be criticized for not being especially designed for SI approaches. Therefore they do not take advantage of the inherently distributed nature of the SI approaches they are using.

In the case of agent-based approaches to distributed SI, the authors model entities and vertices as agents. Although this type of modeling is fully distributed, the separation of SI entities and search environment results in a large amount of messaging. All the necessary actions are done through messages: visiting a vertex, current solutions update any other SI specific action. Agents can run on the same computing node or on separate nodes. In the latter messaging between agents is slower due to network connection delay.

The frameworks presented in papers [7, 32, 31] are designed for the coarse grained master-slave approach. On the other hand, [61] is much better suited for the implementation of a distributed environment that migrates entities in the form of "smart messages", according to the particular SI rules. However, again, this does not motivate the use of code mobility since all entities are governed by the same behavioral rules. [61] presents a purely theoretical design, on the other hand, the somewhat similar distributed constraint architecture called "DisChoco" from paper [49] has been tested and proved to be scalable.

References

 E. Alba, G. Leguizamon, and G. Ordonez, Analizing the behavior of parallel ant colony systems for large instances of the task scheduling problem, in *Proceedings of the 19th International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium*, IEEE Computer Society, page 14, 2005.

- [2] E. Alba, G. Luque, J. Garcie-Nieto, G Ordonez, and G. Leguizamon, Two models of parallel ACO algorithms for the minimum tardy task problem, *International Journal of High Perfor*mance Systems Architecture 1 (2007), no. 1, 74–85.
- [3] D.L. Applegate, R.E. Bixby, V. Chvatal, and W.J. Cook, The Traveling Salesman Problem: A Computational Study, Princeton University Press, 2006.
- [4] K. Arnold, J. Gosling, and D. Holmes, The Java Programming Language, Fourth Edition, Addison-Wesley Professional, 2005.
- [5] C. Bădică, S. Ilie, and M. Ivanović, Optimizing Communication Costs in ACODA Using Simulated Annealing: Initial Experiments, In Computational Collective Intelligence, Technologies and Applications, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 7653, Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012, 298–307.
- [6] A. Banharnsakun, T. Achalakul, and B. Sirinaovakul, Artificial bee colony algorithm on distributed environments, in *Nature and Biologically Inspired Computing* (NaBIC), 2010 Second World Congress on, IEEE, 13–18.
- [7] D. Barbucha, I. Czarnowski, P. Jedrzejowicz, E. Ratajczak, and Iza Wierzbowska, Jade-based a-team as a tool for implementing population-based algorithms. In *Proc. 6th International Conference on Intelligent Systems Design and Applications*: ISDA2006, IEEE Computer Society, 2006, 144–149.
- [8] F. L. Bellifemine, G. Caire, and D. Greenwood, *Developing Multi-Agent Systems with JADE*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2007.
- [9] C.M. Vargas Benítez, and H.S. Lopes, Parallel Artificial Bee Colony Algorithm Approaches for Protein Structure Prediction Using the 3DHP-SC Model, In Intelligent Distributed Computing IV, Studies in Computational Intelligence 315 (2010), Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 255–264.
- [10] C.M. Vargas Benítez, R.S. Parpinelli, and H.S. Lopes, Parallelism, Hybridism and Coevolution in a Multi-level ABC-GA Approach for the Protein Structure Prediction Problem, *Journal of Concurrency and Computation: Practice and Experience* 24 (2012), no. 6, 635-646.
- [11] D. Bertsimas, and J. Tsitsiklis, Simulated annealing, *Statistical Science* 8 (1993), no. 1, 10–15.
 [12] J.C. Biesmeijer, and T.D. Seeley, The use of waggle dance information by honey bees throughout
- their foraging careers, *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 59 (2005), no. 1, 133–142.
 [13] M. Bolondi, and M. Bondaza, Parallelizzazione di un algoritmo per la risoluzione del problema
- del comesso viaggiatore, Master's Thesis, Politecnico di Milano, Itally, 1993.
- [14] R. Burkard, M. Dell'Amico, and S. Martello, Assignment Problems, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 2009.
- [15] B. Bullnheimer, G. Kotsis, and C. Strauss, Parallelization Strategies for the Ant System, In (*High Performance Algorithms and Software in Nonlinear Optimization*, Kluwer International Series in Applied Optimization 24, (R. De Leone and A. Murli and P. M. Pardalos and G. Toraldo, Eds.), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1998, 87–100.
- [16] M.S.F. Catalano, and F. Malucelli, Parallel randomized heuristics for the set covering problem, In *Practical parallel computing*, (M. Paprzycki, L. Tarricone, and L. T. Yang, Eds.), Nova Science Publishers, Inc., Commack, NY, USA, 2001, 113–132.
- [17] L. Chen, and C. Zhang, Adaptive parallel ant colony optimization, In *Parallel and Distributed Processing and Applications*, (Y. Pan, D. Chen, M. Guo, J. Cao, and J. Dongarra, Eds.) Lecture Notes in Computer Science **3758**, Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2005, 275–285.
- [18] L. Chen, and C. Zhang. Adaptive parallel ant colony algorithm, In Proceedings of the 1st International Conference in Advances in Natural Computation, Lecture Notes on Computer Science 3611, 1239 – 1249, 2005.
- [19] Y. Chen, L. Chen, and L. Tu, Parallel ant colony algorithm for mining clasification rules, In Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Granular Computing, IEEE Press, 2006, 85– 90.
- [20] L. Chen, H.-Y. Sun, and S. Wang, Parallel implementation of ant colony optimization on MMP, In Proceedings of the international conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics, volume 2, IEEE Press, 2008, 981–986.
- [21] J. Chintalapati, M. Arvind, S. Priyanka, N. Mangala, and J. Valadi, Parallel Ant-Miner (PAM) on High Performance Clusters, In Swarm, Evolutionary, and Memetic Computing, Lecture Notes on Computer Science, Springer Berlin/ Heidelberg, 2010, 270–277.
- [22] C. Chira, C.-M. Pintea, and D. Dumitrescu, Learning sensitive stigmergic agents for solving complex problems, In *Computing and Informatics* 29 (2010), 1001–1020.
- [23] S.-C. Chu, J.F. Roddick, and J.-S. Pan, Ant colony system with communication strategies, Inf. Sci. Inf. Comput. Sci. 167 (2004), 63–76.

- [24] S.-C. Chu, P.-W. Tsai, J.-S. Pan, Q. Yang, and G. Webb, Cat Swarm Optimization, PRICAI 2006: Trends in Artificial Intelligence, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2006, 854–858.
- [25] D. Chu, and A.Y. Zomaya, Parallel ant colony optimization for 3D protein structure prediction using the HP lattice model, In *Parallel Evolutionary Computations*, Studies in Computational Intelligence 22, Springer, 2006, 177–198.
- [26] H. H. Clark, Using Language, Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [27] M. Clerc, Particle Swarm Optimization, ISTE, 2006.
- [28] T. H Cormen, C. E. Leiserson, R. L. Rivest, and C. Stein, Introduction to Algorithms (third edition), MIT Press, 2009.
- [29] M. Craus, and L. Rudeanu, Multi-level parallel framework, International Journal of Computing, IEEE Computer Society 3 (2002), no. 3.
- [30] M. Craus, and L. Rudeanu, Parallel framework for ant-like angorithms, In Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Parallel and Distributed Computinf, IEEE Computer Society, 2004, 36–41.
- [31] M. Craus, and L. Rudeanu, Parallel framework for cooperative processes, Sci. Program. 13 (2005), 205 – 217.
- [32] I. Czarnowski, P. Jedrzejowicz, and I. Wierzbowska, Ateam middleware on a cluster. In Proc.3rd KES International Symposium on Agent and Multi-Agent Systems: Technologies and Applications: KES-AMSTA2009, volume 5559, Springer-Verlag, 2009, 764 – 772.
- [33] Al-Dahoud Ali, M.A. Belal, and M.B. Al-Zoubi, Load balancing of distributed systems based on multiple ant colonies optimization, *American Journal of Applied Sciences* 3 (2010), 428–433.
- [34] T. Davidovic, D. Ramljak, M Selmic, and D. Teodorovic, MPI parallelization of bee colony optimization, Proc. of the 1st International Symposium & 10th Balkan conference on Operational Research, vol. 2, 193–200, 2011.
- [35] T. Davidovic, T. Jaksic, D. Ramljak, M Selmic and D. Teodorovic. MPI Parallelization Strategies for Bee Colony Optimization, Special Issue of Optimization entitled "Advances in Discrete Optimization", dedicated to BALCOR 2011.
- [36] P. Delisle, M. Krajecki, M. Gravel, and C. Gagne, Parallel implementation of an ant colony optimization metaheuristic with OpenMp. In *Proceedings of the Third European Workshop on OpenMP* (EWOMP01), 2001.
- [37] P. Delisle, M. Gravel, M. Krajecki, C. Gagne, and W.L. Price, A shared memory parallel implementation of ant colony optimization. In *Proceedings of the 6th Metaheuristics International Conference*, Vienne, Autriche, 2005, p. 257.
- [38] P. Delisle, M. Gravel, M. Krajecki, C. Gagne, and W.L. Price, Comparing parallelization of an aco: Message passing vs. shared memory. In *Hybrid Metaheuristics*, 2005, 1–11.
- [39] S. Depickere, D. Fresneau, and J. Deneubourg. Effect of social and environmental factors on ant aggregation: A general response?, *Journal of insect physiology* 54 (2008), no. 9, 1349–1355.
- [40] C. Detrain, and J.-L. Deneubourg, Self-organised structures in a superorganism: do ants "behave" like molecules?, *Physics of Life Reviews 3* 3 (2006), no. 3, 162–187.
- [41] K. Doerner, R. Hartl, and M. Lucka, A parallel version of the D-ant algorithm for the vehicle routing problem, in *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Parallel Numerics*, 2005, 109–118.
- [42] K. Doerner, R. Hartl, S. Benkner, and M. Lucka, Parallel cooperative savings based ant colony optimization- multiple search and decomposition approaches, *Parallel Processing Letters* 16 (2006), no. 3, 351–370.
- [43] M. Dorigo, G. Di Caro, and L. Garambella, Ant algorithms for discrete optimization, Artificial Life 5 (1999), no. 2, 137–172.
- [44] M. Dorigo, and G. Di Caro, The ant colony Optimization Meta-Heuristic, New Ideas in Optimization, McGraw-Hill, 1999, 11–36.
- [45] M. Dorigo, and T. Stutzle, Ant Colony Optimization, MIT Press, 2004.
- [46] F. C. Dyer, The biology of the dance language, Annual Review of Entomology 47 (2002), 917– 949.
- [47] S. Edelkamp, and S. Schroed, Heuristic Search: Theory and Applications, Elsevier, 2012.
- [48] A. P. Englebrecht, Fundamentals of computational swarm intelligence, Wiley, 2005.
- [49] R. Ezzahir, C. Bessiere, M. Belaissaoui, and E. Bouyakhf, Dischoco: A platform for distributed constraint programming, In: *Proceedings of the Eighth International Workshop on Distributed Constraint Reasoning* at IJCAI'07, 2007.

- [50] S. M. Fattahi, and N. M. Charkari, Ant distributed acs algorithm for resource discovery in grid, International Journal of the Computer, the Internet and Management 17 (SP1), 2009.
- [51] The Foundation for Intelligent Phisical Agents (FIPA) webpage. http://www.fipa.org/
- [52] The Agent Communication Language (ACL) FIPA Standard webpage. http://www.fipa.org/specs/fipa00061/SC00061G.html
- [53] M. Fowler, UML Distilled: A Brief Guide to the Standard Object Modeling Language (3rd Edition), Addison-Wesley Professional, 2003.
- [54] The W3C File Transfer Protocol specifications http://www.w3.org/Protocols/rfc959/
- [55] J. Fu, L. Le, and G.Zhou, A parallel ant colony optimization algorithm with gpu-acceleration based on all-in-roulette selection, In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Advanced Computational Intelligence* (2010), 260–264.
- [56] D. Gao, G. Gong, L. Han, and N. Li, Application of multi-core parallel ant colony optimization in target assignment problem, In *Proceedings of the international Conference on Computer Application and System Modeling* 3 (2010), 514–518.
- [57] B.L. Golden, S. Raghavan, and E.A. Wasil, The Vehicle Routing Problem: Latest Advances and New Challenges, Springer, 2008.
- [58] D. Goldberg, and K. Sastry, Genetic Algorithms: The Design of Innovation, Springer, 2012.
- [59] J.L. Gross, and J. Yellen, Graph Theory and Its Applications, Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2006.
- [60] B. Hendrickson and T.G. Kolda, Graph partitioning models for parallel computing. Parallel Computing, 26 (2000), 1519–1534.
- [61] T. Holvoet, D. Weyns, and P. Valckenaers, Patterns of delegate mas. International Conference on Self-Adaptive and Self-Organizing Systems (2009), 1–9.
- [62] H.H. Hoos, and T. Stutzle, Stochastic Local Search: Foundations and Applications, Morgan Kaufmann, 2005.
- [63] S. Ibri, H. Drias, and M. Nourelfath, A parallel hybrid ant-tabu algorithm for integrated emergency vehicle dispatching and covering problem, *Internatonal Journal of Innovative Computing* and Applications 4 (2010), no. 2, 226–236.
- [64] I. Iimura, K. Hamaguchi, T. Ito, and S. Nakayama, A study of distributed parallel processing for queen ant strategy in ant colony optimization, In *Proceedings of the 6th international Conference* on Parallel and Distributed Computing Applications and Technologies, IEEE Computer Society, 553–557, 2005.
- [65] N. Santoro, Design and Analysis of Distributed Algorithms, Wiley Series on Parallel and Distributed Computing, Wiley-Interscience, 2006.
- [66] R. Jovanovic, M. Tuba, and D. Simian, Analysis of parallel implementations of the ant colony optimization applied to the minimum weight vertex cover problem, in *Proceedings or the 9th* World Scientific and Engineering Academy and Society International Conference on Simulation, Modeling and Optimization, 254–259, 2009.
- [67] R. Jovanovic, M. Tuba, and D. Simian, Comparison of different topologies for island-based multicolony ant algorithms for the minimum weight vertex cover problem, WSEAS Transactions on Computers 9 (2010), no. 1, 83–92.
- [68] Z. Lee, C. Lee, and S. Su, Parallel ant colony optimizers with local and global ants, In Proceedings or the IEEE-INNS-ENNS International Joint Conference on Neural Networks, IEEE Computer Society, 2009, 1655–1659.
- [69] X. Li, X. Yu, and X. Luo, Parallel Implementation of Ant Colony Optimization for Vector Quantization Codebook Design, In Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Natural Computation (ICNC '07) 4, 2007, IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC, USA, 787–791.
- [70] N. Li, D. Gao, G. Gong, and Z. Chen, Realization of parallel ant colony algorithm based on tbb multi-core platform, In *Proceedings of the international Forum on Information Technology and Applications*, 2010, 177 - 180.
- [71] C. Liu, L. Li, and Y. Xiang, Research of multi-path routing protocol based on parallel ant colony algorithm optimization in mobile ad-hoc networks, In *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Information echnology: New Generations*, IEEE Computer Society, 2008, 1006– 1010.
- [72] M. Lopez-Ibanes, T. Prasad, and B. Paechter, Parallel optimization of pump schedules with a thread-safe variant of epanet toolkit, In *Geotechnical Special Publication* 187, 2009, 462–471.
- [73] M. Lucka, and S. Piecka, Parallel posix threads based on ant colony optimization using asynchronous communication, In Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Applied Mathematics 2, 2009, 229–236.

- [74] R. Luo, T.-S. Pan, P.-W. Tsai, and J.-S. Pan, Parallelized Artificial Bee Colony with Ripplecommunication Strategy, In *Proceedings of the 2010 Fourth International Conference on Genetic and Evolutionary Computing* (ICGEC '10), 2010, IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC, USA, 350–353.
- [75] Q. Lv, X. Xia, and P.Qian, A parallel ACO approach based on pheromone matrix, In Proceedings of the 5th International Workshop on Ant Colony Optimization and Swarm Intelligence, Lecture Notes on Computer Science 4150, 2006, 332–339.
- [76] M. Manfrin, M. Birattari, T. Stutzle, and M. Dorigo, Parallel ant colony optimization for the traveling salesman problem, In (M. Dorigo, L. Gambardella, M. Birattari, A. Martinoli, R. Poli, and T. Sttzle, ed s) Ant Colony Optimization and Swarm Intelligence, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 4150, Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2006, 224–234.
- [77] MATSim Multi-Agent Transport Simulation Toolkit, official homepage at: http://www.matsim.org.
- [78] Y. Meng, O. Kazeem, and J. C. Muller, A Hybrid ACO/PSO Control Algorithm for Distributed Swarm Robots, In *Proceedings of the 2007 IEEE Swarm Intelligence Symposium* (SIS 2007), 2007, 273–280.
- [79] M. Middendorf, F. Reischle, and H. Schmeck, Multi Colony ant algorithms, *Journal of Heuristics* 8 (2002), 305–320.
- [80] A. Mocanu, S. Ilie and C. Bădică, Ubiquitous Multi-agent Environmental Hazard Management System, International Symposium on Symbolic and Numeric Algorithms for Scientific Computing Timisoara (SYNASC), Romania September 26 - 29, 2012, Workshop on Agents for Complex Systems ACSys, 2012 accepted paper.
- [81] J. Mocholi, J. Martinez, and J. Canos, A grid ant colony algorithm for the orienteering problem, In Proceedings of the IEEE congress of evolutionary computations, IEEE Press, 2005, 942–949.
- [82] MPICH2 website: www.mcs.anl.gov/research/projects/mpich2/
- [83] S. Muthuswamy, and S. Lam, Discrete particle swarm optimization for the team orienteering problem, *Journal of Memetic Computing* 3 (2011), no. 4, 287–303.
- [84] H. Narasimhan, Parallel artificial bee colony (PABC) algorithm, World Congress on Nature & Biologically Inspired Computing, NaBIC 2009, 306–311.
- [85] The ns2 project, a network simulation tool, http://nsnam.isi.edu/nsnam/index.php/.
- [86] M. Pedemonte, and H. Cancela, A cellular ant colony optimization for the generalized Steiner problem, *International Journal of Innovative Computing and Applications* 2 (2010), no. 3, 188–201.
- [87] M. Pedemonte, S. Nesmachnow, and H. Cancela, A survey on parallel ant colony optimization, *Applied Soft Computing* 11 (2011), no. 8), 5181–5197.
- [88] R.S. Parpinelli, C.M.V. Benitez, and H.S. Lopes, Parallel Approaches for the Artificial Bee Colony Algorithm, (B.K. Panigrahi, Y. Shi, M.-H. Lim eds.) *Handbook of Swarm Intelligence*, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010, 329–345.
- [89] R.S. Parpinelli, C.M.V. Benitez, and H.S. Lopes, Parallel Approaches for the Artificial Bee Colony Algorithm, In *Handbook of Swarm Intelligence: Concepts, Principles and Applications*, Series: Adaptation, Learning, and Optimization, Springer, Berlin, 2011, 329–346.
- [90] S.N. Parragh, K.F. Doerner, and R.F. Hartl, A survey on pickup and delivery problems, *Journal für Betriebswirtschaft*, 58 (2008), no. 2, 81 117.
- [91] W. Peng, R. Tong, M. Tang, and J. Dong, Ant Colony Search Algorithms for Optimal Packing Problem, In *Proceedings Advances in Natural Computation*, First International Conference, Changsha, China, August 2729, ICNC (2), Springer, 2005, 1229–1238.
- [92] W. Peng, R. Tong, G. Qian, and J. Dong, A Constrained Ant Colony Algorithm for Image Registration, Computational Intelligence and Bioinformatics, International Conference on Intelligent Computing, ICIC 2006, Kunming, China, August 16 - 19, Springer, 2006.
- [93] R. Pinchuk, S. Ilie, T. Neidhart, T. Dalmas, C. Bădică, and G. Pavlin, Augmenting Semantics to distributed agents logs Enabling graphical after action analysis of federated agents logs, Proceedings of the International Joint Conference on Knowledge Discovery, Knowledge Engineering and Knowledge Management 2011.
- [94] D.A.L. Piriyakumar, and P. Levi, A new approach to exploiting parallelism in ant colony optimization, In Proceedings of 2002 International Symposium on Micromechatronics and Human Science, MHS 2002, 237–243.
- [95] M. Rahoual, R. Hadji, and V. Bachelet, Parallel ant system for the set covering problem, In Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Ant Algorithms, Lecture Notes on Computer Science 2463, 2002, 262–267.

- [96] M. Randall, and A. Lewis, A parallel implementation of ant colony optimization, J. Parallel Distrib. Comput. 62 (2002), 1421–1432.
- [97] G. Reinelt, Tsplib a traveling salesman library, ORSA Journal on Computing 3 (1991), 376– 384.
- [98] E. Ridge, E. Curry, D. Kudenko, and D. Kazakov, Parallel, asynchronous and decentralised ant colony system, In Proc.1st International Symposium on Nature-Inspired Systems for Parallel, Asynchronous and Decentralised Environments (NISPADE2006), 2006.
- [99] O. Roozmand, and K. Zamanifar, Parallel ant miner 2, In Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Soft Computing, Lecture Notes on Computer Science 5097, 2008, 681–692.
- [100] A. Sameh, A. Ayman, and N. Hassan, Parallel ant colony optimization, International Journal of research and reviews in Computer Science 1 (2010), no. 2, 77–82.
- [101] S. A. Subbotina, and Al. A. Oleinik, Multiagent Optimization Based on the Bee-Colony Method, *Cybernetics and Systems Analysis* 45 (2009), no. 2, 177–186.
- [102] M. Subotic, M. Tuba, and N. Stanarevic, Parallelization of the artificial bee colony (ABC) algorithm. In Proceedings of the 11th WSEAS international conference on nural networks and 11th WSEAS international conference on evolutionary computing and 11th WSEAS international conference on Fuzzy systems (NN'10/EC'10/FS'10). World Scientific and Engineering Academy and Society (WSEAS), Stevens Point, Wisconsin, USA, 191–196, 2010.
- [103] M. Subotic, M. Tuba, and N. Stanarevic, Different approaches in parallelization of the artificial bee colony algorithm, *International Journal of Mathematical Models And Methods in Applied Sciences* 5 (2011), no. 4, 755–762.
- [104] E.-G. Talbi, O. Roux, C. Fonlupt, and D. Robillard, Parallel ant colonies for the quadratic assignment problem, *Future Generation Computer Systems* 17 (2001), no. 4, 441–449.
- [105] D. Teodorovic, Transport modeling by multi-agent systems: a swarm intelligence approach, *Transportation Planning and Technology* 26 (2003), no. 4, 289–312.
- [106] D. Thain, T. Tannenbaum, and M. Livny, Distributed computing in practice: the condor experience, Concurrency and Computation, Practice and Experience 17 (2005) (2-4), 323–356.
- [107] I. Trencansky, and R. Cervenka, Agent Modeling Language (AML): A Comprehensive Approach to Modeling MAS, Journal Informatica 29 (2005), 391–400.
- [108] S. Tsetsui, Parallel ant colony optimization for the quadratic assignment problem with local search and parallelization, In Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Pattern recognition and Machine Intelligence, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 4815, 2007, 269–278.
- [109] S. Tsutsui, Parallel ant colony optimization for quadratic assignment problems with symmetric multi processing, In Proceedings of the 6th International conference on Ant Colony Optimization and Swarm Intelligence, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 5217, 2008, 363–370.
- [110] S. Tsutsui, and N. Fujimoto, Parallel ant colony optimization algorithm on a multi-core processor, In *Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Swarm intelligence*, Lecture Notes on Computer Science **6234**, 2010, 488–495.
- [111] C. Twomey, T. Stutzle, M. Dorigo, M. Manfrin, and M. Birattari, An analysis of communication policies for homogeneous multi-colony aco algorithms, *Information Sciences* 180 (2010), no. 12, 2390–2404.
- [112] H.F. Wedde, M. Farooq, and Y. Zhang, Beehive: An efficient fault-tolerant routing algorithm inspired by honey bee behavior. In Ant Colony Optimization and Swarm Intelligence, (M. Dorigo, ed.), Springer Berlin, 2004, 83–94.
- [113] H.F. Wedde, S. Lehnhoff, B. van Bonn, Z. Bay, S. Becker, S. Bottcher, C. Brunner, A. Buscher, T. Furst, A.M. Lazarescu, E. Rotaru, S. Senge, B. Steinbach, F. Yilmaz, and T. Zimmermann, A novel class of multi-agent algorithms for highly dynamic transport planning inspired by honey bee behavior, *Conference on Emerging Technologies and Factory Automation* ETFA, IEEE, 25 - 28 Sept. 2007, 1157–1164.
- [114] H. Wedde, S. Senge, S. Lehnhoff, F. Knobloch, T. Lohmann, R. Niehage, and M. StrasserBee, Inspired Online Vehicle Routing, in Large Traffic Systems, in Proceedings of ADAPTIVE 2010: The Second International Conference on Adaptive and Self-Adaptive Systems and Applications, 2010.
- [115] G. Weiss, and A. Lewis, Using XMPP for ad-hoc grid computing an application example using parallel ant colony optimization, In *Proceedings of the International Symposium on Parallel and Distributed Processing*, 2009, 1–4.

- [116] L.-P. Wong, M.Y. Hean Low, and C. S. Chong, Bee Colony Optimization with Local Search for Travelling Salesman Problem, *International Journal on Artificial Intelligence Tools* 19 (2010), no. 3, 305–334.
- [117] M. Wooldridge, An Introduction to MultiAgent Systems, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2002.
- [118] C. Thomas Wu, An Introduction to Object-Oriented Programming with Java, McGraw-Hill Higher Education, 2009.
- [119] W. Xiang, and H. P. Lee, Ant colony intelligence in multi-agent dynamic manufacturing scheduling, *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence* 21 (2008), no. 1, 73–85.
- [120] J. Xiong, C. Liu, and Z. Chen, A new parallel ant colony optimization algorithm based on message passing interface, In *Proceedings of the international Symposium on Parallel and Dis*tributed Processing, 2008, 178–182.
- [121] Z. Yang, B. Yu, and C. Cheng, A parallel ant colony algorithm for bus network optimization, Computer-Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering number 22 (2007), no. 1, 44-55.
- [122] B. Yu, Z. Yang, and J. Xie, A parallel improved ant colony optimization for multi-depot vehicle routing problem, *Journal of the Operational Research Society* 62 (2011), no. 1, 183–188.
- [123] S. Ilie, and C. Bădică, Multi-agent approach to distributed ant colony optimization, Journal of Science of Computer Programming - SCP 78 (2013), no. 6, 762–774.

(Sorin Ilie) DEPARTMENT OF COMPUTERS AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, UNIVERSITY OF CRAIOVA, 13 A.I. CUZA STREET, CRAIOVA, 200585, ROMANIA *E-mail address:* silie@software.ucv.ro

Annals of the University of Craiova, Mathematics and Computer Science Series Volume 41(2), 2014, Pages 271–279 ISSN: 1223-6934

Socket extensions for esoteric languages

Radu Dragoş and Diana Haliţă

ABSTRACT. In this paper we have advanced the first interpreter for the brainfuck (BF) esoteric programming language, entirely written in awk, a fast text processing programming language. However, the main objective remained introducing socket communication to brainfuck programming language. In order to achieve that goal, we have improved the brainfuck language with a byte long instruction through which it is allowed socket communication. For that, we have advanced a series of procedures in order to test the compatibility of our brainfuck interpreter.

Moreover, we have maintained brainfucks minimalism, which is one of the special characteristics of this programming language. In the end, we succeeded to map a minimalistic programming language to the client-server paradigm.

 $2010\ Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.$ 68N15 - Programming languages, 68N20 - Compilers and interpreters.

Key words and phrases. brainfuck, socket, interpreter, esoteric languages.

1. Introduction

This paper describes a simple interpreter for the brainfuck (BF) esoteric programming language, written in AWK. It is compatible with almost any version of AWK that is supplied within UNIX systems. The interpreter illustrates the use of AWK in implementing small programs using BF language, mainly for proof of concept reasons.

1.1. Motivation. Even if BF is known for its extreme minimalism and it is designed to challenge programmers, it is not usually suitable for practical use. However, the motivation of developing such an application comes from the usage of a simple and easy syntax which can help programmers to deeply understand other programming languages and besides that, other programming paradigms.

The idea of improving BF language came from the necessity of implementing one of the most fundamental technologies of computer networking: socket communication.

Most computer programming languages implement socket communication. Including functional programming languages such as Lisp, Haskell or Erlang and logical programming languages such as Prolog ([1], [2], [3], [4]).

1.2. Objectives. The main objective is to introduce socket communication to BF programming language. In order to maintain BF's minimalistic language properties, we will define a single one byte new BF instruction.

In order to add socket support and to accommodate the new instruction, a BF interpreter needed to be modified. However, we decided not to modify an existing version, but to implement a new one using AWK programming language. Therefore,

Received August 13, 2014.

we will show how to map a minimalistic programming language to the client-server paradigm.

2. Related Work

2.1. Esoteric languages. An esoteric programming language is a programming language best suited for testing the boundaries of computer programming language design, as a proof of concept, as software art, or as a joke. Even if their goal is not the usability of programming, the main purpose is to remove or replace conventional language features while still maintaining a language that is Turing-complete.

A few examples of esoteric programming languages are: Intercal, Befunge, P", Brainfuck [5].

P" is a primitive computer programming language created in 1964 to describe a family of Turing machines. This language is formally defined as a set of words on the four-instruction alphabet R, λ , (,).

P" was the first "GOTO-less" imperative structured programming language to be proven Turing-complete. The BF language (apart from its I/O commands) is a minor informal variation of P".

2.2. Brainfuck. BF esoteric programming language is, as we previously stated, a minimalistic language, which consists in eight (one byte long) simple commands. This programming language was created as a Turing-complete language [6], meaning that, theoretically speaking, having access to an unlimited amount of memory, BF is capable of computing any function or simulating any mathematical model. All BF commands are sequentially executed and generally all other characters are ignored. The execution of the program ends at the end of the instructions set. Bellow there are few examples of code written in BF:

2.2.1. *Hello World - version 1.* This is the original "Hello World!" program where the ASCII codes for each printable character in the text are generated by running the code.

LISTING 1. Hello World - version 1

2.2.2. Hello World - version 2. This is a more lisible code example that will output "hello" if you input letter "h". It will use the ASCII code of character "h" to obtain the ASCII code of "e", "l" and "o" by decrementing or incrementing the value at the current memory location.

LISTING 2. Hello World - version2

,.---.+++++++..+++.

2.2.3. Comparing numbers. In this example we read from stdin 2 numbers (a and b) and the character "0". The program will output "0" if $a \le b$ and "1" if a > b.

The algorithm works by setting a number of a memory locations to value 1. Then, b of them are set to 0. If there remains locations set to 1, it means that a > b.

Character	Meaning
	increment the data pointer which will point
>	to the next cell to the right;
	decrement the data pointer which will point
<	to the next cell to the left;
+	increment the byte at the data pointer;
-	decrement the byte at the data pointer;
	output the byte at the data pointer;
	accept one byte of input and
,	store its value in the byte at the data pointer;
	if the byte at the data pointer is zero,
	then instead of moving the instruction pointer
	forward to the next command, jump it
[forward to the command after the matching] command.
	if the byte at the data pointer is nonzero,
	then instead of moving the instruction pointer
	forward to the next command, jump it
]	back to the command after the matching $\left[\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{command.} \end{array} \right.$

LISTING 3. Comparing numbers

>>,	#move to location 2 and read value of a
[-[>+<-]+>]	#fill a locations with 1
<[<]	#go back to location 1
,	#read value of b
[>[-]<-[>+<-]>]	#fill b locations with 0
	#if location b plus 1 is 0 then a was
,>[<+.[-]>[-]]<.	#less than b and print "0"
	#eise print i

2.3. Related BF implementations. There is a large collection of BF implementations, most of them listed in [7].

The BF implementations include:

- interpreters that use other programming languages to take BF programs as input and execute commands in that specific programming language. There are even some BF interpreters written in BF;
- compilers that take BF source code and generate executable code;
- hardware implementations including emultated and real CPU-s that can run BF code directly.

Most of those implementations are pure proofs of concept just to show that BF can be implemented using some particular technology. Some of them are optimizing implementations created to run BF code as fast as possible. Some of them are notable intentions to implement support for network communications.

The BF++ project [8] aims to extend BF with file I/O and TCP network communication. Some specifications are given but the project was discontinued and no final implementation was provided.

NetFuck [9] introduces communication between two NetFuck programs over TCP. The remote host and port are given to the interpreter as command line arguments and cannot be specified within the BF code.

Another step forward toward network communication using BF was taken by another NetFuck interpreter written in C# [10] which redirects standard BF I/O commands (.,) to read/write into a TCP socket instead of standard I/O. The developer also provides an IRCbot client written in NetFuck. However, the interpreter requires the IP and remote port to be specified in the command line as arguments, and by redirecting I/O to the connected TCP socket, no further interaction with the user is possible.

Two distributed applications using BF are presented below.

In [11] is presented a BF module for a particular webserver implemented in PHP. The module allows a developer to write server-side BF code and the result will be displayed on the clients browser. The communication is performed through the web server, so no socket facilities are provided for BF.

In [12], a NodeJS webserver implementation is extended to support writting BF code as scripting language for client side web programming in web browsers.

Therefore, we choose to implement our own BF interpreter with general purpose networking support using AWK programming language since there are none known BF implementations using AWK, and because AWK has a simple to use and understand socket abstractization layer.

3. AWK

The main purpose of AWK programming language was to allow users to write short programs intended for fast text processing and generating reports. AWK code is intended to be executed for each line of each processed file after applying some input regex filters. The processing speed of various AWK implementations versus alternatives such as Perl, Python or Ruby is beyond the scope of this document. However, AWK is present as a main programming/scripting language in most UNIXlike operating systems and therefore, it is studied in computer science curriculums all around the word. While a lot of students study AWK programming and most system administrators use it on a daily basis, few of them are aware of it's networking capabilities.

Our main concern was to write an efficient program through which we can access network services. But AWK was not meant initially to be used for networking purposes and it does not introduce special functions for socket access, like other languages do. However, it treats network connections like files [13]. The special file name for network access is made up of several mandatory fields, such as:

/inet/protocol/localport/hostname/remoteport

Network communication in AWK is implemented by creating a pipeline between the main AWK process and a process over the network specified as a special filename. So, it was necessary to introduce a new operator '|&' to make possible communication over a network.

An example of reading a line from a tcp server (i.e. the ssh server on localhost listening on port 22 and presenting the ssh server welcome message) is presented below:

\$echo | AWK '{"/inet/tcp/0/localhost/22" |& getline a; print a}' SSH-2.0-OpenSSH_5.9p1 Debian-5ubuntu1.3

Another example is how to write a message ("hello") to a UDP server using a simple AWK command:

\$echo | AWK 'print "hello" |& "/inet/udp/0/localhost/2222"'

4. AWK INTERPRETER FOR BF

BF is a minimalistic esoteric programming language. Hence, as shown in the previous section, there are many interpreters and compilers for BF in most programming languages, including a BF interpreter written in BF. However, there is none written in AWK.

Our first task was to write a BF interpreter in AWK that can run any BF program. There are several procedures for testing the compatibility and the performance of BF interpreters, some of them including recursive execution of BF code using the BF interpreter written in BF [14]. It is our main goal to write a compatible AWK interpreter for BF, while the performance is not our concern for the moment.

Along with a lot of trivial BF programs that we tried out in order to test our implementation, we also run a BF program that generates an ASCII Mandelbrot set. Although it runs slower than the default Ubuntu BF interpreter, it runs successfully as it can be seen in the Figure 1.



FIGURE 1. Output of the BF Mandelbrot set generator

Although AWK is a fast text processing programming language [15], we will piggyback here it's network communication abilities. At first, the AWK interpreter reads all commands from the BF source file, then, they are parsed sequentially or repetitive for the "[","]" pair of instructions. The pseudocode is presented in Listing 4.

To maintain the minimalism of BF, we introduce only one new instruction, called @. Depending on the interpreter which is usually used, one may consider this new instruction (i.e. our AWK interpreter) or ignore it, considering that it is a comment (as regular interpreters do). In order to make possible the client-server communication, we need to define some rules which specify the protocols that should be followed.

LISTING 4. Pseudocode for interpreting network capable BF

			<u> </u>
1	// array m used	for stor	ing 30000 bytes long virtual BF tape
2	// c indicates	current t	ape position
3	READ source code	e into ai	ray v
4	FOR 1 1n v		
5	CASE v[i]		
6	",":	READ a b	pyte into m[c]
7	⁷⁷ . ⁷⁷ :	WRITE m	
8	"+":	Incremer	nt m[c]
9	"—":	Decremen	nt m[c]
10	<i>" >"</i> :	Increm	ient tape pointer c
11	<i>" <"</i> :	Decren	nent tape pointer c
12	"[":	IF m[c]	not U
13			THEN execute instructions up to
14			corresponding "]"
15		DUDID	ELSE GOIO corresponding "]"
10	" 1 "	ENDIF	
10]:	IF m[C]	not U
10		ENDIE	THEN GOTO corresponding
20	"@"·	CASE m	
20 91	۰.	CASE III C	[1]
21 22		0.	and IP address $m[c+4] m[c+5] m[c+6] m[c+7]$
22			and WRITE $m[c]$ when client BEADS
20 24		1.	Listen TCP on port $m[c+2]*1000+m[c+3]$
$\frac{24}{25}$		1.	and IP address $m[c+4]$ $m[c+5]$ $m[c+6]$ $m[c+7]$
26			and READ $m[c]$ when client WBITES
27		2:	Connect to TCP on port $m[c+2]*1000+m[c+3]$
28			and IP address $m[c+4],m[c+5],m[c+6],m[c+7]$
29			and WRITE m[c] when server READS
30		3:	Connect to TCP on port $m[c+2]*1000+m[c+3]$
31			and IP address $m[c+4].m[c+5].m[c+6].m[c+7]$
32			and READ m[c] when server WRITES
33		4:	//not used because UDP server cannot WRITE
34			//before READ
35		5:	Listen UDP on port $m[c+2]*1000+m[c+3]$
36			and IP address $m[c+4].m[c+5].m[c+6].m[c+7]$
37			and READ m[c] when client WRITES
38		6:	Connect to UDP on port $m[c+2]*1000+m[c+3]$
39			and IP address $m[c+4].m[c+5].m[c+6].m[c+7]$
40			and WRITE m[c] when server READS
41		7:	//not used because UDP client cannot READ
42			//before WRITE
43		ENDCASE	
44	ENDCASE		
45	ENDFOR		

Memory pointer	Meaning	Values m[c+1]
c+0	current memory location	0 = (server, send, TCP)
c+1	case byte	1 = (server, receive, TCP)
c+2	port high byte	2 = (client, send, TCP)
c+3	port low byte	3 = (client, receive, TCP)
c+4	IP byte 1	4 = (server, send, UDP)
c+5	IP byte 2	5 = (server, receive, UDP)
c+6	IP byte 3	6 = (client, send, UDP)
c+7	IP byte 4	7 = (client, receive, UDP)
TABLE 2.		TABLE 3.

Specifications for implementing @ command

Cases for values of byte m[c+1]

4.1. Specifications for instruction (a). This new instruction will allow the user to send/receive a single byte through a socket. The instruction will send/receive the byte referred by the current memory pointer (c). The type of the socket is defined by the value of c+1 as described in Table 2. The byte values at c+2 and c+3 are used to define the local or remote port foc communication, and bytes c+4 to c+7 represent the remote IPvP address (as described in Table 2).

The second byte (i.e. m[c+1]) can have only eight possible values, otherwise it will be ignored, and the communication will not be able to take place.

It is well known that two processes can be either client or server, they can either send or receive messages following one of the TCP or UDP protocols. Depending on the chosen combination from the set obtained by making the cartesian product between the above named sets: {client, server} x {send, receive} x {TCP, UDP}, the second byte should have only the values described in Table 3.

4.2. Examples of BF network communication.

4.2.1. *TCP client.* The first example is a TCP client that will read the first byte of a SMTP server welcome message running on localhost (127.0.0.1) on port 25, and outputs on the screen the value received in the current memory location:

LISTING 5. TCP client		
>+++>	#value of m(c1) set to 3	
	#for TCP client receive	
+++++>++++<->>	#setting m(c3) port to	
	#25 multiplying 5 by 5	
>>++++{<++++{<++++++++>-}>-}<<-	#setting m(c4) first	
	#octet of IP address	
	#to 127=4*4*8 minus 1	
>>>+	#setting octets m(c5) to	
	#m(c7) to 0 and 0 and 1	
	#move back to m(c)	
<<<<<@.	#execute socket command	
	#and output the byte	
	#read	

The program prints on the screen the character "2" which was the first byte read from the server welcome message:

"220 athena.ubbcluj.ro ESMTP Postfix (Ubuntu)"

4.2.2. *UDP client* - *server*. The second example is a pair of BF programs that communicate with each other using UDP port 2000:

>+++++>	#value of m(c1) set to 5
	#for UDP server receive
++>>	#setting m(c3) port to
	#2000 (high octet 2,
	#low octet 000)
>>++++{<++++{<++++++++>-}>-{<-	#setting m(c4) first
	#octet of IP address
	#to 127=4*4*8 minus 1
>>>+	#setting octets m(c5)
	#to $m(c7)$ to 0 and 0
	#and 1
	#move back to m(c)
<<<<<@.	#execute socket command
	#and output the byte
	#read

LISTING 6. BF UDP server

LISTING 7. BF UDP client		
,	#read a byte from	
	#standard input	
>+++++>	#value of m(c1) set to 6	
	#for UDP client send	
++>>	#setting m(c3) port to	
	#2000 (high octet 2,	
	#low octet 000)	
>>++++{C++++{C++++++++>-}	#setting m(c4) first	
	#octet of IP address	
	#to 127=4*4*8 minus 1	
>>>+	#setting octets m(c5) to	
	#m(c7) to 0 and 0 and 1	
<<<<<@	#move back to m(c)	
	#execute socket command	

4.3. Limitations. Although, a lot can be accomplished by using an application layer protocol that transmits only byte sized payload packets, it is not an efficient use of resources. This implementation can only transmit/receive maximum one byte of information for every @ instruction used. This was our choice for this proof of concept implementation in order to keep the BF extension minimalistic.

The interpreter could be easily changed to send/receive variable sized data packets by using another byte (or two) in the memory to specify packet sizes up to 265 (65535) bytes. But this would greatly increase the already high complexity and readability of BF code.

5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The goal of writing a BF interpreter and extending BF for client-server communication has been realised in the most minimalistic possible way.

We hope that what we realised was indeed a proof of concept and that our ideas will inspire others to learn how to program in AWK.

As future directions for research and development we are considering implementing (and testing) variable packet size network communication in BF in such a way so to maintain the minimalistic and esoteric principles of BF. Also, based on the research done for this paper we could also extend BF for running code in parallel so it could be used as a didactic tool for understanding the non-sequential programming paradigm.

References

- [1] Peter Seibel, Practical Common Lisp, Apress, 2005.
- [2] J. Armstrong, Making reliable distributed systems in the presence of software errors, A Dissertation submitted to the Royal Institute of Technology in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Technology The Royal Institute of Technology Stockholm, Sweden (2003).
- [3] G. Hutton, *Programming in Haskell*, Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [4] J. Wielemaker, Z. Huang and L. van der Meij, SWI-Prolog and the Web, Theory and Practice of Logic Programming 8 (2008), no. 3, 363–392.
- [5] M. Mateas and N. Montfort, A Box, Darkly: Obfuscation, Weird Languages, and Code Aesthetics, Proceedings of the 6 th Digital Arts and Culture Conference, IT University of Copenhagen, 1-3 Dec 2005, 144–153.
- [6] C. Bohm and G. Jacopini, Flow diagrams, turing machines and languages with only two formation rules, *Communications of the ACM* 9 (1966), no. 5, 366–371.
- [7] http://esolangs.org/wiki/Brainfuck_implementations, last accessed on: 15.12.2014
- [8] http://www.jitunleashed.com/bf/index.html, last accessed on: 15.12.2014
- [9] https://bitbucket.org/shadwick/netfuck/wiki/Home, last accessed on: 16.12.2014
- [10] https://github.com/SirCmpwn/bf-irc-bot/blob/master/irc-bot.bf, last accessed on: 16.12.2014
- [11] http://nanoweb.si.kz/manual/mod_bsp.html, last accessed on: 16.12.2014
- [12] https://github.com/masylum/node-brainfuck, last accessed on: 16.12.2014
- [13] J. Kahrs, Network Administration with AWK, Linux J. 1999 (1999), no. 60, art. 5.
- [14] http://www.nada.kth.se/kurser/kth/2D1464/awib.pdf, last accessed on: 15.12.2014
- [15] IEEE Software Staff, Improving Productivity and Quality with Awk, IEEE Software 7 (1990), no. 2, 94–95.

(Radu Dragoş, Diana Haliţă) BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY, FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, 1 M.KOGĂLNICEANU ST., 400084 CLUJ-NAPOCA, ROMÂNIA *E-mail address*: radu.dragos@cs.ubbcluj.ro, diana.halita@ubbcluj.ro

Hilbert-Pachpatte-type inequality due to fractional differential inequalities

Josip Pečarić and Predrag Vuković

ABSTRACT. The main objective of this paper is a study of some generalizations of Hilbert-Pachpatte-type inequality. We apply our general results to homogeneous functions. Also, this paper presents improvements and weighted versions of Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities involving the fractional derivatives.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 26D15. Key words and phrases. Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequality, homogeneous kernel, conjugate exponents, fractional derivative.

1. Introduction

Although classical, Hilbert's inequality is still of interest to numerous mathematicians. Through the years, Hilbert-type inequalities were discussed by numerous authors, who either reproved them using various techniques, or applied and generalized them in many different ways. For more details as regards Hilbert's inequality the reader is referred to [4], [7] and [8]. In particular, in [9], Pachpatte proved some new inequalities similar to Hilbert's inequality. In this paper, we establish some new integral Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities.

We start with the following result of Zhongxue Lü from [11]: let p > 1, $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$, $s > 2 - \min\{p, q\}$, and f(x), g(y) be real-valued continuous functions defined on $[0, \infty)$, respectively, and let f(0) = g(0) = 0, and

$$0 < \int_0^\infty \int_0^x x^{1-s} |f'(\tau)|^p d\tau dx < \infty, \qquad 0 < \int_0^\infty \int_0^y y^{1-s} |g'(\delta)|^q d\delta dy < \infty,$$

then

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|f(x)||g(y)|}{(qx^{p-1} + py^{q-1})(x+y)^{s}} dx dy \tag{1}$$

$$\leq \frac{B\left(\frac{q+s-2}{q}, \frac{p+s-2}{p}\right)}{pq} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{1-s} |f'(\tau)|^{p} d\tau dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{y} y^{1-s} |g'(\delta)|^{q} d\delta dy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

Here, $B(\cdot, \cdot)$ denotes the usual Beta function. In this paper we shall consider more general form of inequality (1). Moreover, the main objective of this paper is to deduce Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities using the Taylor series of function and refinement of arithmetic-geometric inequality from [5]. Also, this paper presents improvements and weighted versions of Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities involving the fractional derivatives. Our results will be based on the following result of Krnić and Pečarić

Received September 8, 2014.

This work has been fully supported by Croatian Science Foundation under the project 5435.

(see [6]) for conjugate exponents p and q. More precisely, they obtained the following two equivalent inequalities:

$$\int_{\Omega \times \Omega} K(x,y) f(x) g(y) d\mu_1(x) d\mu_2(y)$$

$$\leq \left[\int_{\Omega} \varphi^p(x) F(x) f^p(x) d\mu_1(x) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left[\int_{\Omega} \psi^q(y) G(y) g^q(y) d\mu_2(y) \right]^{\frac{1}{q}}$$
(2)

and

c

$$\int_{\Omega} G^{1-p}(y)\psi^{-p}(y) \left[\int_{\Omega} K(x,y)f(x)d\mu_1(x)\right]^p d\mu_2(y) \le \int_{\Omega} \varphi^p(x)F(x)f^p(x)d\mu_1(x),$$
(3)

where p > 1, μ_1, μ_2 are positive σ -finite measures, $K : \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, $f, g, \varphi, \psi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ are measurable, non-negative functions and

$$F(x) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{K(x,y)}{\psi^p(y)} d\mu_2(y) \quad \text{and} \quad G(y) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{K(x,y)}{\varphi^q(x)} d\mu_1(x).$$
(4)

On the other hand, here we also refer to a paper of Brnetić *et al*, [10], where a general Hilbert-type inequality was obtained for $l \geq 2$ conjugate exponents, that is, real parameters $p_1, \ldots, p_l > 1$, such that $\sum_{i=1}^l \frac{1}{p_i} = 1$. Namely, let $K : \Omega^l \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\phi_{ij} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}, i, j = 1, \ldots, l$, be non-negative measurable functions. If $\prod_{i,j=1}^l \phi_{ij}(x_j) = 1$, then the inequality

$$\int_{\Omega^l} K(x_1, \dots, x_l) \prod_{i=1}^l f_i(x_i) \, dx_1 \dots dx_l \le \prod_{i=1}^l \left(\int_{\Omega} F_i(x_i) (\phi_{ii} f_i)^{p_i}(x_i) \, dx_i \right)^{\frac{1}{p_i}}, \quad (5)$$

holds for all non-negative measurable functions $f_1, \ldots, f_l : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, where

$$F_i(x_i) = \int_{\Omega^{l-1}} K(x_1, \dots, x_l) \prod_{j=1, j \neq i}^l \phi_{ij}^{p_i}(x_j) dx_1 \dots dx_{i-1} dx_{i+1} \dots dx_l, \qquad (6)$$

for i = 1, ..., l.

2. Main results

In this section we shall state our main results. We suppose that all integrals converge and shall omit these types of conditions. To obtain the main result we need some lemmas.

Lemma 2.1. For $f \in C^n[a,b]$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the Taylor series of function f is given by

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n-1} f^{(n)}(t) dt + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)}{k!} (x-a)^{k}.$$
 (7)

Define the subspace $C_a^n[a,b]$ of $C^n[a,b]$ as

$$C_a^n[a,b] = \{ f \in C^n[a,b] : f^{(k)}(a) = 0, k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1 \}.$$

Obviously, if $f \in C_a^n[a, b]$, then the right-hand side of (7) can be written as

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n-1} f^{(n)}(t) dt.$$
 (8)

M. Krnić et al. in [5] proved the following refinements and converses of Young's inequality in quotient and difference form. For that sake, if $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ and $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_n)$, we denote $P_n = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i$,

$$A_n(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n x_i}{n}, \quad G_n(\mathbf{x}) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^n x_i\right)^{\frac{1}{n}},$$

and

$$M_{r}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}) = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{P_{n}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} x_{i}^{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}}, & r \neq 0\\ \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{p_{i}}\right)^{\frac{1}{P_{n}}}, & r = 0 \end{cases}$$

Lemma 2.2. ([5]) Let $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ and $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n)$ be positive n-tuples such that $\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{p_i} = 1$, and

$$\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}} = (x_1^{p_1}, x_2^{p_2}, \dots, x_n^{p_n}), \quad \mathbf{p}^{-1} = \left(\frac{1}{p_1}, \frac{1}{p_2}, \dots, \frac{1}{p_n}\right).$$

Then (i)

$$\left[\frac{A_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}})}{G_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}})}\right]^{n\min_{1\leq i\leq n}\left\{\frac{1}{p_i}\right\}} \leq \frac{M_1(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}, \boldsymbol{p}^{-1})}{M_0(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}, \boldsymbol{p}^{-1})} \leq \left[\frac{A_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}})}{G_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}})}\right]^{n\max_{1\leq i\leq n}\left\{\frac{1}{p_i}\right\}}$$

and (ii)

$$n \min_{1 \le i \le n} \left\{ \frac{1}{p_i} \right\} \left[A_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}) - G_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}) \right] \le M_1(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}, \boldsymbol{p}^{-1}) - M_0(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}, \boldsymbol{p}^{-1})$$
$$\le n \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left\{ \frac{1}{p_i} \right\} \left[A_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}) - G_n(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{p}}) \right].$$

We start with the refinement of Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities with the general kernel.

Theorem 2.3. Let $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ with p, q > 1, and $0 \le a < b \le \infty$. If $K : [a, b] \times [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ is non-negative function, $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(y)$ are non-negative functions on [a, b] and $f, g \in C_a^n[a, b]$, then the following inequalities hold

$$\begin{split} &\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{\left((x-a)^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}} + (y-a)^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} dxdy \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4^{M-m}} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}} dxdy \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4^{M-m}[(n-1)!]^{2}} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)}\varphi^{p}(x)F(x)|f^{(n)}(t)|^{p}dtdx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{y} (y-t)^{q(n-1)}\psi^{q}(y)G(y)|g^{(n)}(t)|^{q}dtdy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}, \end{split}$$
(9)

and

$$\int_{a}^{b} G^{1-p}(y)\psi^{-p}(y) \left(\int_{a}^{b} K(x,y) \left(\int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dx\right)^{p} dy$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} \varphi^{p}(x) F(x) |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx,$$
(10)

where $m = \min\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}$, $M = \max\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}$, and F(x) and G(y) are defined as in (4).

Proof. By using (8) and Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |f(x)| &= \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \left| \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n-1} f^{(n)}(t) dt \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n-1} |f^{(n)}(t)| \cdot 1 dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \left(\int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{a}^{x} 1^{q} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &= \frac{(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}}{(n-1)!} \left(\int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \end{aligned}$$
(11)

and similarly

$$|g(x)| \le \frac{(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}}{(n-1)!} \left(\int_{a}^{y} (y-t)^{q(n-1)} |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$
 (12)

Now, from (11) and (12) we get

$$|f(x)||g(y)| \leq \frac{1}{[(n-1)!]^2} (x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}} (y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}} \times \left(\int_a^x (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^p dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \times \left(\int_a^y (y-t)^{q(n-1)} |g^{(n)}(t)|^q dt \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$
(13)

Applying Lemma 2.2(i) (see also [5]), we have

$$4^{M-m} (x^p y^q)^{M-m} \le (x^p + y^q)^{2(M-m)}, \quad x \ge 0, \ y \ge 0,$$
(14)

where $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ with p > 1, and $m = \min\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}$, $M = \max\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}$. From (13) and (14) we observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{4^{M-m}|f(x)|\,|g(y)|}{\left((x-a)^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}}+(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} &\leq \frac{|f(x)|\,|g(y)|}{(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}}\\ &\leq \frac{1}{[(n-1)!]^2} \left(\int_a^x (x-t)^{p(n-1)}|f^{(n)}(t)|^p dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_a^y (y-t)^{q(n-1)}|g^{(n)}(t)|^q dt\right)^{\frac{1}{q}},\end{aligned}$$

and therefore

$$4^{M-m} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{\left((x-a)^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}} + (y-a)^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} dxdy$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}} dxdy$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{[(n-1)!]^{2}} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} K(x,y) \left(\int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)}|f^{(n)}(t)|^{p}dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

$$\times \left(\int_{a}^{y} (y-t)^{q(n-1)}|g^{(n)}(t)|^{q}dt\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} dxdy.$$
(15)

Applying the substitutions

$$f_1(x) = \left(\int_a^x (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^p dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \ g_1(y) = \left(\int_a^y (y-t)^{q(n-1)} |g^{(n)}(t)|^q dt\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

and (2), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} K(x,y) f_{1}(x) g_{1}(y) dx dy &\leq \left(\int_{a}^{b} \varphi^{p}(x) F(x) f_{1}^{p}(x) dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \psi^{q}(y) G(y) g_{1}^{q}(y) dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &= \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} \varphi^{p}(x) F(x) |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{y} (y-t)^{q(n-1)} \psi^{q}(y) G(y) |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}. \end{split}$$
(16)

By using (15) and (16) we obtain (9). The second inequality (10) can be proved by applying (3). $\hfill \Box$

Now we can apply our main result on non-negative homogeneous functions. Recall that for homogeneous function of degree -s, s > 0, the equality $K(tx, ty) = t^{-s}K(x, y)$ is satisfied. Further, we define

$$k(\alpha):=\int_0^\infty K(1,u)u^{-\alpha}du$$

and suppose that $k(\alpha) < \infty$ for $1 - s < \alpha < 1$. To prove first application of our main results we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.4. If $\lambda > 0$, $1 - \lambda < \alpha < 1$ and $K : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative homogeneous function of degree $-\lambda$, then

$$\int_0^\infty K(x,y) \left(\frac{x}{y}\right)^\alpha dy = x^{1-\lambda} k(\alpha),\tag{17}$$

and

$$\int_0^\infty K(x,y) \left(\frac{y}{x}\right)^\alpha dx = y^{1-\lambda} k(2-\lambda-\alpha).$$
(18)

Proof. We use the substitution y = ux. The proof follows easily from homogeneity of the function K(x, y).

Corollary 2.5. Let $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$, with p, q > 1. If $K : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative and homogeneous function of degree $-\lambda, \lambda > 0$, and $f, g \in C_0^n[0, \infty]$, then the following inequalities hold

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{\left(x^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}} + y^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} dx dy \tag{19}$$

$$\leq \frac{pq}{4^{M-m}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|d(x^{\frac{1}{p}})d(y^{\frac{1}{q}})$$

$$\leq \frac{L}{4^{M-m}[(n-1)!]^{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(A_{1}-A_{2}+n-1)+1-\lambda} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

$$\times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{y} y^{q(A_{2}-A_{1}+n-1)+1-\lambda} |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}},$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} y^{(p-1)(\lambda-1)+p(A_{1}-A_{2})} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} K(x,y) \left(\int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dx \right)^{p} dy$$

$$\leq L^{p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(A_{1}-A_{2}+n-1)+1-\lambda} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx, \qquad (20)$$

where $A_1 \in (\frac{1-\lambda}{q}, \frac{1}{q}), A_2 \in (\frac{1-\lambda}{p}, \frac{1}{p}), L = k(pA_2)^{\frac{1}{p}}k(2-\lambda-qA_1)^{\frac{1}{q}}$, and M, m are defined as in Theorem 2.3.

Proof. Let F(x), G(y) be the functions defined by (4). Setting $\varphi(x) = x^{A_1}$ and $\psi(y) = y^{A_2}$ in (9), using the fact $(x-t)^{p(n-1)} \leq x^{p(n-1)}$, for $x \geq 0$ and $t \in [0, x]$, and Lemma 2.4, we get

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} \varphi^{p}(x) F(x) |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx
\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(A_{1}-A_{2}+n-1)} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} K(x,y) \left(\frac{x}{y}\right)^{pA_{2}} dy \right) |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx
= k(pA_{2}) \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(A_{1}-A_{2}+n-1)+1-\lambda} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx,$$
(21)

and similarly

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{y} (y-t)^{q(n-1)} \psi^{q}(y) G(y) |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy$$

$$\leq k (2 - \lambda - qA_{1}) \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{y} y^{p(A_{2} - A_{1} + n - 1) + 1 - \lambda} |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy.$$
(22)

From (9), (21) and (22), we get (19).

We proceed with some special homogeneous functions. First, by putting $K(x,y) = \frac{\ln \frac{y}{x}}{y-x}$ in Corollary 2.5, we get the following result.

Corollary 2.6. Let $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$, with p, q > 1. Let M, m, f, g be defined as in Corollary 2.5. Then the following inequalities hold

J. PEČARIĆ AND P. VUKOVIĆ

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln \frac{y}{x} |f(x)| |g(y)|}{(y-x) \left(x^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}} + y^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} dx dy \\ &\leq \frac{pq}{4^{M-m}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln \frac{y}{x} |f(x)| |g(y)|}{y-x} d(x^{\frac{1}{p}}) d(y^{\frac{1}{q}}) \\ &\leq \frac{L_{1}}{4^{M-m}[(n-1)!]^{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(A_{1}-A_{2}+n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{y} y^{q(A_{2}-A_{1}+n-1)} |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} y^{p(A_{1}-A_{2})} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln \frac{y}{x}}{y-x} \left(\int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dx \right)^{p} dy$$

$$\leq L_{1}^{p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(A_{1}-A_{2}+n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx,$$

where $A_1 \in (0, \frac{1}{q}), A_2 \in (0, \frac{1}{p}), and$

$$L_1 = \pi^2 (\sin pA_2\pi)^{-\frac{2}{p}} (\sin qA_1\pi)^{-\frac{2}{q}},$$

Similarly, for the homogeneous function of degree $-\lambda, \lambda > 0, K(x, y) = (\max\{x, y\})^{-\lambda}, A_1 = A_2 = \frac{2-\lambda}{pq}$, with the condition $\lambda > 2 - \min\{p, q\}$, we have:

Corollary 2.7. Let $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$, with p, q > 1. Let M, m, f, g be defined as in Corollary 2.5. Then the following inequalities hold

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} &\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{(\max\{x,y\})^{-\lambda} |f(x)| \, |g(y)|}{\left(x^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}} + y^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} dx dy \leq \frac{pq}{4^{M-m}} \int_{0}^{\infty} &\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|f(x)| \, |g(y)|}{(\max\{x,y\})^{\lambda}} d(x^{\frac{1}{p}}) d(y^{\frac{1}{q}}) \\ &\leq \frac{L_{2}}{4^{M-m}[(n-1)!]^{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} &\int_{0}^{x} x^{p(n-1)+1-\lambda} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} &\int_{0}^{y} y^{q(n-1)+1-\lambda} |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} y^{(p-1)(\lambda-1)} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (\max\{x,y\})^{-\lambda} \left(\int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dx \right)^{p} dy \\ &\leq L_{2}^{p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{x} x^{p(n-1)+1-\lambda} |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx, \\ where \ L_{2} = k(\frac{2-\lambda}{q}) \ and \ k(\alpha) = \frac{\lambda}{(1-\alpha)(\lambda+\alpha-1)}. \end{split}$$

In the proof of the following result we used a general Hilbert-type inequality (5) of Brnetić et al, [10].

Theorem 2.8. Let $n, l \in \mathbb{N}, l \geq 2, \sum_{i=1}^{l} \frac{1}{p_i} = 1$ with $p_i > 1, i = 1, \dots, l$. Let α_i , $i = 1, \dots, l$, is defined by $\alpha_i = \prod_{j=1, j \neq i}^{l} p_j$. If $K : [a, b]^l \to \mathbb{R}$ is non-negative function,

 $\phi_{ij}(x_j), i, j = 1, \dots, l$, are non-negative functions on [a, b], such that $\prod_{i,j=1}^l \phi_{ij}(x_j) = 1$, and $f_i \in C_a^n[a, b], i = 1, \dots, l$, then the following inequality holds

$$\begin{split} &\int_{(a,b)^{l}} \frac{K(x_{1},\ldots,x_{l}) \prod_{i=1}^{l} |f_{i}(x_{i})|}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{l} (x_{i}-a)^{\frac{1}{\alpha_{i}(M-m)}}\right)^{l(M-m)}} dx_{1} \ldots dx_{l} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{l^{(M-m)l}} \int_{(a,b)^{l}} \frac{K(x_{1},\ldots,x_{l}) \prod_{i=1}^{l} |f_{i}(x_{i})|}{\prod_{i=1}^{l} (x_{i}-a)^{\frac{1}{\alpha_{i}}}} dx_{1} \ldots dx_{l} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{l^{(M-m)l}[(n-1)!]^{l}} \prod_{i=1}^{l} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x_{i}} (x_{i}-t)^{p_{i}(n-1)} \phi_{ii}^{p_{i}}(x_{i}) F_{i}(x_{i}) |f_{i}^{(n)}(t)|^{p_{i}} dt dx_{i}\right)^{\frac{1}{p_{i}}}, \end{split}$$

where $m = \min_{1 \le i \le l} \{\frac{1}{p_i}\}$, and $M = \max_{1 \le i \le l} \{\frac{1}{p_i}\}$, and $F_i(x_i)$, i = 1, ..., l is defined by (6).

Obviously, Theorem 2.8 is a generalization of Theorem 2.3.

Remark 2.1. Applying the second refinement of arithmetic-geometric inequality (see Lemma 2.2(ii)) we obtain

$$x^{p}y^{q} \le \left(\frac{x^{p} + y^{q}}{2} - \frac{1}{M - m}\right)^{2}, \quad x \ge 0, \ y \ge 0,$$
(23)

where $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ with p > 1, and $m = \min\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}$, $M = \max\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}$. If we take (23) and proceed as in the proof of Theorem 2.3, then

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)| |g(y)|}{\left(\frac{1}{2}[(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}} + (y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}] - \frac{1}{M-m}\right)^{2}} dx dy &\leq \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)| |g(y)|}{(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}} dx dy \\ &\leq \frac{1}{[(n-1)!]^{2}} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{p(n-1)} \varphi^{p}(x) F(x) |f^{(n)}(t)|^{p} dt dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\qquad \times \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{y} (y-t)^{q(n-1)} \psi^{q}(y) G(y) |g^{(n)}(t)|^{q} dt dy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}, \end{split}$$

where F(x) and G(y) are defined by (4).

3. The fractional derivatives and applications to Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities

First, we introduce some facts about fractional derivatives (see [3]). Let [a, b], $-\infty < a < b < \infty$, be a finite interval on real axis \mathbb{R} . By $L_p[a, b]$, $1 \le p < \infty$, we denote the space of all Lebesgue measurable functions f for which $|f^p|$ is Lebesgue integrable on [a, b]. For $f \in L_1[a, b]$ the left-sided and right-sided the Riemann-Liouville integral of f of order α are defined by

$$J_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^x (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t) dt, \quad x > a,$$

$$J_{b-}^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_x^b (t-x)^{\alpha-1} f(t) dt, \quad x < b.$$

For $f:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ the left-sided the Riemann-Liouville derivative of f of order α is defined by

J. PEČARIĆ AND P. VUKOVIĆ

$$D_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{d^n}{dx^n}J_{a+}^{n-\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)}\frac{d^n}{dx^n}\int_a^x (x-t)^{n-\alpha-1}f(t)dt$$

Our result with the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative is based on the following lemma (see [1]). By $AC^{m}[a, b]$ we denote the space of all functions $g \in C^{m-1}[a, b]$ with $g^{(m-1)} \in AC[a, b]$, where AC[a, b] is the space of all absolutely continuous functions functions on [a, b]. For $\alpha > 0$, $[\alpha]$ denotes the integral part of α .

Lemma 3.1. ([1]) Let $\beta > \alpha \ge 0$, $m = [\beta] + 1$, $n = [\alpha] + 1$. The composition identity

$$D_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta - \alpha)} \int_0^x (x - t)^{\beta - \alpha - 1} D_{a+}^{\beta}f(t)dt, \quad x \in [a, b],$$

is valid if one of the following conditions holds:

- is value if one of the following conditions holds: (i) $f \in J_{a+}^{\beta}(L_1[a,b]) = \{f : f = J_{a+}^{\beta}\varphi, \varphi \in L_1[a,b]\}.$ (ii) $J_{a+}^{m-\beta}f \in AC^m[a,b]$ and $D_{a+}^{\beta-k}f(a) = 0$ for k = 1, ..., m.(iii) $D_{a+}^{\beta-1}f \in AC[a,b], D_{a+}^{\beta-k}f \in C[a,b]$ and $D_{a+}^{\beta-k}f(a) = 0$ for k = 1, ..., m.(iv) $f \in AC^m[a,b], D_{a+}^{\beta}f, D_{a+}^{\alpha}f \in L_1[a,b], \beta \alpha \notin \mathbb{N}, D_{a+}^{\beta-k}f(a) = 0$ for k = 1, ..., m and $D_{a+}^{\alpha-k}f(a) = 0$ for k = 1, ..., n.(v) $f \in AC^m[a,b], D_{a+}^{\beta}f, D_{a+}^{\alpha}f \in L_1[a,b], \beta \alpha = l \in \mathbb{N}, D_{a+}^{\beta-k}f(a) = 0$ for k = 1, ..., l.(vi)

- (vi) $f \in AC^{m}[a,b], D_{a+}^{\beta}f, D_{a+}^{\alpha}f \in L_{1}[a,b], and f^{(k)}(a) = 0 \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, m-2.$ (vii) $f \in AC^{m}[a,b], D_{a+}^{\beta}f, D_{a+}^{\alpha}f \in L_{1}[a,b], \beta \notin \mathbb{N} and D_{a+}^{\beta-1}f \text{ is bounded in } a$ neighborhood of m = a.

By using Lemma 2.2 (see also Remark 2.1) and Lemma 3.1 we obtain our first result with the fractional derivative.

Theorem 3.2. Let α , β , f, g be defined as in Theorem 3.1. If $K : [a,b]^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is nonnegative function, $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(y)$ are non-negative functions on [a, b], then the following inequality holds

$$\begin{split} &\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{b}\frac{K(x,y)|D_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x)|\,|D_{a+}^{\alpha}g(y)|}{\left(\frac{1}{2}[(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}+(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}]-\frac{1}{M-m}\right)^{2}}dxdy\\ &\leq\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{b}\frac{K(x,y)|D_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x)|\,|D_{a+}^{\alpha}g(y)|}{(x-a)^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p}}}dxdy\\ &\leq\frac{1}{[\Gamma(\beta-\alpha)]^{2}}\left(\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{x}(x-t)^{p(\beta-\alpha-1)}\varphi^{p}(x)F(x)|D_{a+}^{\alpha}f(t)|^{p}dtdx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\\ &\qquad\times\left(\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{y}(y-t)^{q(\beta-\alpha-1)}\psi^{q}(y)G(y)|D_{a+}^{\alpha}g(t)|^{q}dtdy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}},\end{split}$$

where m, M, F(x), G(y) are defined as in Theorem 2.3.

Proof. The proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 2.3.

Let $\nu > 0$, $n = [\nu]$, and $\overline{\nu} = \nu - n$, $0 \le \overline{\nu} < 1$. Let $[a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ and $x_0, x \in [a, b]$ such that $x \ge x_0$ where x_0 is fixed. For $f \in C[a, b]$ the generalized Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of f of order ν is given by

$$(J_{\nu}^{x_0}f)(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\nu)} \int_{x_0}^x (x-t)^{\nu-1} f(t) dt, \quad x \in [x_0, b].$$

Further, define the subspace $C_{x_0}^{\nu}[a, b]$ of $C^n[a, b]$ as

$$C_{x_0}^{\nu}[a,b] = \{ f \in C^n[a,b] : J_{1-\overline{\nu}}^{x_0} f^{(n)} \in C^1[x_0,b] \}.$$

For $f \in C_{x_0}^{\nu}[a,b]$ the generalized Canavati ν -fractional derivative of f over $[x_0,b]$ is given by

$$D_{x_0}^{\nu} f = D J_{1-\overline{\nu}}^{x_0} f^{(n)},$$

where D = d/dx. Notice that

$$(J_{1-\overline{\nu}}^{x_0}f^{(n)})(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\overline{\nu})} \int_{x_0}^x (x-t)^{-\overline{\nu}} f^{(n)}(t) dt$$

exists for $f \in C_{x_0}^{\nu}[a, b]$.

To obtain the result with generalized Canavati ν -fractional derivative of f we need the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3. ([3]) Let $f \in C_{x_0}^{\nu}[a,b]$, $\nu > 0$ and $f^{(i)}(x_0) = 0$, i = 0, 1, ..., n-1, $n = [\nu]$. Then

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\nu)} \int_{x_0}^x (x-t)^{\nu-1} (D_{x_0}^{\nu} f)(t) dt$$

for all $x \in [a, b]$ with $x \ge x_0$.

Theorem 3.4. Let $\nu > 0$ and $x_0, y_0 \in [a, b]$. Let $K : [a, b]^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is non-negative function, $\varphi(x)$, $\psi(y)$ are non-negative functions on [a, b]. If $f \in C_{x_0}^{\nu}[a, b]$ and $g \in C_{y_0}^{\nu}[a, b]$ such that $f^{(i)}(x_0) = g^{(i)}(y_0) = 0$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$, $n = [\nu]$, then the following inequalities hold

$$\int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{\left((x-x_{0})^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}} + (y-y_{0})^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}} dxdy
\leq \frac{1}{4^{M-m}} \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{K(x,y)|f(x)||g(y)|}{(x-x_{0})^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-y_{0})^{\frac{1}{p}}} dxdy
\leq \frac{1}{4^{M-m}[\Gamma(\nu)]^{2}} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{x_{0}}^{x} (x-t)^{p(\nu-1)}\varphi^{p}(x)F(x)|(D_{x_{0}}^{\nu}f)(t)|^{p}dtdx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}
\times \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{y_{0}}^{y} (y-t)^{q(\nu-1)}\psi^{q}(y)G(y)|(D_{y_{0}}^{\nu}g)(t)|^{q}dtdy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}},$$
(24)

and

$$\int_{a}^{b} G^{1-p}(y)\psi^{-p}(y) \left(\int_{a}^{b} K(x,y) \left(\int_{x_{0}}^{x} (x-t)^{p(\nu-1)} |(D_{x_{0}}^{\nu}f)(t)|^{p} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} dx\right)^{p} dy$$

$$\leq \int_{a}^{b} \int_{x_{0}}^{x} (x-t)^{p(\nu-1)} \varphi^{p}(x) F(x) |(D_{x_{0}}^{\nu}f)(t)|^{p} dt dx, \qquad (25)$$

where $m = \min\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}, M = \max\{\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q}\}, and F(x) and G(y) are defined by (4).$

Proof. To prove the inequalities (24) and (25) we follow the same procedure as in the proof of Theorem 2.3, except we use Lemma 3.3 instead Lemma 2.1. \Box

In a similar manner as in the previous section, using the inequality (5) we obtain a generalization of Theorem 3.4.

Theorem 3.5. Let $\nu > 0$ and α_i , i = 1, ..., l, is defined by $\alpha_i = \prod_{j=1, j \neq i}^l p_j$, where $\sum_{i=1}^l \frac{1}{p_i} = 1$ with $p_i > 1$, i = 1, ..., l. Let $K(x_1, ..., x_l)$, ϕ_{ij} , i, j = 1, ..., l, are defined as in Theorem 2.8. If $f_i \in C_{x_0^{(i)}}^{\nu}[a, b]$ $(x_0^{(i)} \in [a, b])$, i = 1, ..., l, such that $f_i^{(j)}(x_0^{(i)}) = 0$, j = 0, 1, ..., n-1, $n = [\nu]$, then the following inequality holds

$$\begin{split} &\int_{(a,b)^{l}} \frac{K(x_{1},\ldots,x_{l}) \prod_{i=1}^{l} |f_{i}(x_{i})|}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{l} (x_{i} - x_{0}^{(i)})^{\frac{1}{\alpha_{i}(M-m)}}\right)^{l(M-m)}} dx_{1} \ldots dx_{l} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{l^{(M-m)l}} \int_{(a,b)^{l}} \frac{K(x_{1},\ldots,x_{l}) \prod_{i=1}^{l} |f_{i}(x_{i})|}{\prod_{i=1}^{l} (x_{i} - x_{0}^{(i)})^{\frac{1}{\alpha_{i}}}} dx_{1} \ldots dx_{l} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{l^{(M-m)l} [\Gamma(\nu)]^{l}} \prod_{i=1}^{l} \left(\int_{a}^{b} \int_{x_{0}^{(i)}}^{x_{i}} (x_{i} - t)^{p_{i}(\nu-1)} \phi_{ii}^{p_{i}}(x_{i}) F_{i}(x_{i}) |(D_{x_{0}^{(i)}}^{\nu}f_{i})(t)|^{p_{i}} dt dx_{i}\right)^{\frac{1}{p_{i}}} \end{split}$$

where $m = \min_{1 \le i \le l} \{\frac{1}{p_i}\}$, and $M = \max_{1 \le i \le l} \{\frac{1}{p_i}\}$, and $F_i(x_i)$, i = 1, ..., l is defined by (6).

For $\alpha > 0$, $f \in AC^n[a, b]$, where $n = [\alpha] + 1$ if $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}_0$ and $n = \alpha$ if $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the Caputo fractional derivative of f of order $\alpha {}^c D^{\alpha}_{a+} f$ (left-sided) and ${}^c D^{\alpha}_{b-} f$ (rightsided) are defined by

$${}^{c}D_{a+}^{\alpha}f(x) = D_{a+}^{\alpha} \left[f(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(a)}{\Gamma(k+1)} (x-a)^{k} \right],$$
$${}^{c}D_{b-}^{\alpha}f(x) = D_{b-}^{\alpha} \left[f(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(b)}{\Gamma(k+1)} (b-x)^{k} \right],$$

where D_{a+}^{α} , D_{b-}^{α} denote the left-hand sided and the right-hand sided Riemann-Liouville derivatives.

Very recently, Andrić et al [2] proved the following result.

Theorem 3.6. Let $\nu > \gamma \ge 0$, $n = [\nu] + 1$, $m = [\gamma] + 1$ and $f \in AC^k[a, b]$, k = n if $\nu \notin \mathbb{N}_0$ and k = n - 1 if $\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Let ${}^cD_{a+}^{\nu}f$, ${}^cD_{a+}^{\gamma}f \in L^1[a, b]$. Suppose that one of the following conditions holds:

(a) $\nu, \gamma \notin \mathbb{N}_0$ and $f^{(i)}(a) = 0$ for $i = m, \dots, n-1$.

(b) $\nu \in \mathbb{N}, \gamma \notin \mathbb{N}_0$ and $f^{(i)}(a) = 0$ for $i = m, \dots, n-2$.

(c) $\nu \notin \mathbb{N}, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $f^{(i)}(a) = 0$ for $i = m - 1, \dots, n - 1$. (d) $\nu \in \mathbb{N}, \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $f^{(i)}(a) = 0$ for $i = m - 1, \dots, n - 2$.

Then

$${}^{c}D_{a+}^{\gamma}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\nu-\gamma)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\nu-\gamma-1} D_{a+}^{\nu}f(t)dt.$$

Applying Lemma 2.2(i) and Theorem 3.6 (see also [2]) we obtain the following result.

Theorem 3.7. Let ν, γ, f, g be defined as in Theorem 3.6. If $K : [a, b]^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is nonnegative function, $\varphi(x), \psi(y)$ are non-negative functions on [a, b], then the following inequality holds

$$\begin{split} &\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{b}\frac{K(x,y)|^{c}D_{a+}^{\gamma}f(x)|\,|^{c}D_{a+}^{\gamma}g(y)|}{\left((x-a)^{\frac{1}{q(M-m)}}+(y-a)^{\frac{1}{p(M-m)}}\right)^{2(M-m)}}dxdy\\ &\leq\frac{1}{4^{M-m}}\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{b}\frac{K(x,y)|^{c}D_{a+}^{\gamma}f(x)|\,|^{c}D_{a+}^{\gamma}g(y)|}{(x-x_{0})^{\frac{1}{q}}(y-y_{0})^{\frac{1}{p}}}dxdy\\ &\leq\frac{1}{4^{M-m}[\Gamma(\nu-\gamma)]^{2}}\left(\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{x}(x-t)^{p(\nu-\gamma-1)}\varphi^{p}(x)F(x)|^{c}D_{a+}^{\nu}f(t)|^{p}dtdx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\\ &\quad\times\left(\int_{a}^{b}\int_{a}^{y}(y-t)^{q(\nu-\gamma-1)}\psi^{q}(y)G(y)|^{c}D_{a+}^{\nu}g(t)|^{q}dtdy\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}, \end{split}$$

where m, M, F(x), G(y) are defined as in Theorem 2.3.

References

- M. Andrić, J. Pečarić and I. Perić, A multiple Opial tpe inequality for the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives, J. Math. Inequal. 7 (2013), no. 1, 139–150.
- [2] M. Andrić, J. Pečarić and I. Perić, Composition identities for the Caputo fractional derivatives and applications to Opial-type inequalities, *Math. Inequal. Appl.* 16 (2013), no. 3, 657–670.
- [3] J. A. Canavati, The Riemann-Liouville Integral, Nieuw Archief Vor Wiskunde 5 (1987), no. 1, 53-75.
- [4] G. H. Hardy, J. E. Littlewood and G. Pólya, *Inequalities*, 2nd edition, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1967.
- [5] M. Krnić, N. Lovričević and J. Pečarić, Jessen's functional, its properties and applications, An. St. Univ. Ovidius Constanta 20 (2012), no. 1, 225–248.
- [6] M. Krnić and J. Pečarić, General Hilbert's and Hardy's Inequalities, Math. Inequal. Appl. 8 (2005), no. 1,29–52.
- [7] M. Krnić, J. Pečarić, I. Perić, and P. Vuković, *Recent Advances in Hilbert-type Inequalities*, Element, Zagreb, 2012.
- [8] D. S. Mitrinović, J. E. Pečarić and A. M. Fink, Classical and new inequalities in analysis, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht/Boston/London, 1993.
- [9] B. G. Pachpatte, On some new inequalities similar to Hilbert's inequality, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 226 (1998), 166–179.
- [10] B. Yang, I. Brnetić, M. Krnić and J. Pečarić, Generalization of Hilbert and Hardy-Hilbert integral inequalities, *Math. Inequal. Appl.* 8 (2005), no. 2, 259–272.
- [11] Zhongxue Lü, Some new inequalities similar to Hilbert-Pachpatte type inequalities, J. Ineq. Pure Appl. Math., 4 (2003), no. 2, art. 33.

(Josip Pečarić) FACULTY OF TEXTILE TECHNOLOGY, UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB, PIEROTTIJEVA 6, 10000 ZAGREB, CROATIA *E-mail address:* pecaric@hazu.hr

(Predrag Vuković) Faculty of Teacher Education, University of Zagreb, Savska cesta 77, 10000, Zagreb, Croatia

E-mail address: predrag.vukovic@ufzg.hr

Annals of the University of Craiova, Mathematics and Computer Science Series Volume 41(2), 2014, Pages 292–299 ISSN: 1223-6934

Nonlinear analysis on elliptic curves subspaces with cryptographic applications

Oana Adriana Ţicleanu

ABSTRACT. Defining an adequate and well secured system is the ideal solution to protect the data against online attacks. With respect for this, one of the methods which are used is the double authentication in order to reduce the likelihood that a user presents false evidence of identity. In this article, we present cryptographic systems based on elliptic curves defined over finite space F_{p_t} . The security of the cryptosystems is given by a set of numbers, chosen from an elliptic curve and the calculation difficulty for the attack on the encryption system, taking an effective approach by establishing a common secret key required for group authentication. Also we present a complete description of the necessary system for the double authentication scheme.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 60J05; Secondary 60J20. Key words and phrases. elliptic curves cryptography, nonlinear equations, group authentication.

1. Introduction

The only defense against online attacks and combating online identity theft is by securing access to data where authentication occurs. Authentication represents the process of verifying a user identity that is to accessed the database.

Accessing data can be done either through a virtual private network (VPN), remote desktop connection, e-mail application (Outlook Anywhere) or an online portal that are authorized to access the data. Traditional authentication systems includes a lower security level authentication such as a password.

In this article we propose to improve the process of authentication for access to the database by double authentication, key exchange security on both sides. Twofactor authentication adds stronger security for users to authenticate with additional accreditations in addition to a password. Double authentication requires two of the following factors: something he knows (password, PIN), something he has (identity card, keys), and something that uniquely represents the user (fingerprint, retinal image).

However, the choice of an adequate and well secured two-factor authentication system can be difficult and expensive, compared with an unified authentication system, so it is easier to use and computational cost-effective. Two-factor authentication is a security process in which the user has two means of identification, one of which is usually physical, such as a card, and the second is something memorized, such as a security code. The two factors involved in the authentication process are something that the user knows and something he owns. Integrity is the assurance that the data which a user refers to can be accessed and modified only by those authorized to do so.

Received November 24, 2014.

Double authentication is used to reduce the likelihood that the user provides false evidence of identity. To reduce the number of stored keys and broadcasted messages, the researchers inserted the group key distribution protocol [13, 20] which is based on DLP (Discrete Logarithm Problem) assuming several public-key cryptosystems.

For a group double authentication, elliptic curve cryptosystems can be used to perform digital signature schemes and encryption schemes. Cryptosystems based on elliptic curve encryption systems refer to use numbers generated by an elliptic curve. It has been demonstrated over time that the cryptographic systems that are encrypted with the numbers generated by an elliptic curve are safer.

Cryptographic systems based on elliptic curves are defined equally well in any finite group (such as a group of points on a elliptic curve) and have stronger cryptographic security per bit than of any other public key encryption system known at the time. Memory requirements and bandwidth are substantially lower. Systems based on elliptic curves are easier to implement, being more efficient than any other public key system.

These systems are ideal for small hardware implementations such as cards, furthermore, encryption and signing can be performed in separate steps with an significant speed compared to other systems, which simplifies the security problem at login.

The security of cryptosystems based on elliptic curves consists in the difficulty of calculating discrete logarithms in discrete fields (DLP). The group key protocol has a major role in securing data and is divided into two categories: session key protocol and broadcast management key between the group members.

A group transfer key protocol is KGC, reliable key generation center (trusted key generation center) [2, 18, 23] is responsible for the generation and transport of the key to each involved member in the authentication process. For each distribution there is a registration process for users to subscribe group key, randomly selecting a private key.

The first step to a secured group authentication is to establish a secret code that is sent to group members. It establishes a protocol that ensures data security against active attacks. Of course, the cryptographic security levels can be achieved in various ways.

To transmit the confidentiality data, an effective approach is to establish a common secret key, obtained only by group members, required by the authentication. Recoding the group key is required whenever there is a change in the group, for data confidentiality. The confidentiality of the group key distribution is theoretically secure information and the security group key transfer depends on the members actions not an calculation hypothesis.

2. State of the art

For a secure communication between two or more users in an insecure network, it is necessary to establish common session keys. For communication between two users, things are somewhat simpler than in the case of multiple users, in which is more difficult to establish a rigorous communication with no problems.

The best known protocol for establishing a common session key using a hostile communication channel is Diffie-Hellman protocol. It also aims for exponential key exchange, the protocol is resistant to passive attacks, any active malevolent person can intervene and establish a session key with both involved parties in the communication.

The algorithm that has as input a prime number p big enough and a generator q.

O.A. TICLEANU

- U_1 picks randomly a number, a number such that $0 \le a \le p-2$;
- U_1 computes $c = g^b$ and sends c to U_2 ;
- U_2 picks randomly a number b, such hat $a \le b \le p 2$;
- U₂ computes d = g^b and sends d to U₁;
 U₁ computes the key k = d^a = (g^b)^a;
- U_2 computes the key $k = c^a = (g^b)^o$.

Starting from this algorithm, A. Jaux introduced another protocol called "A one round protocol for tripartite Diffie-Hellman", this protocol establishes a shared session key for three users.

With the growth of networks, the need for communications between more than three users becomes evident. There have been many attempts to establish a shared secret key for communication between n users [13, 20].

The protocol for establishing the session keys is divided into distributed commune keys establishment protocols and centralized key establishment protocols. The distributed mode have a higher cost in case of a large number of users, because each must participate in establishing process of the common communication key. As computer networks are increasing in terms of user growth, management protocols of centralized communication keys seems as an adequate choice.

Among the latest and ones of the most used protocols are presented in [3, 5, 5]12, 14, 16, 19 protocol that is to satisfy the three most important properties of a communication key:

- key authentication (assures the users that they use the correct key);
- key freshness (the key used in that moment wasn't used in the past);
- key confidentiality (protects the current key that isn't alienated to other users).

The advantage of these centralized protocols is that they use a common key generation center. At every entrance or exit of a user from a group, the generation center reconstructs this session key based on the new user or the removed user.

3. Background on Elliptic Curves Cryptography (ECC)

Let E_{ϑ} be an elliptic curve over a finite field K. E_{ϑ} is defined by Weierstrass equation, as follows:

$$Y^{2} + a_{1}XY + a_{3}Y = X^{3} + a_{2}X^{2} + a_{4}X + a_{6}$$
(1)

where $a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_6 \in K$ and $\Delta \neq 0$. This request, $\Delta \neq 0$, ensure the existence of the differential coefficients in every point of the elliptic curve, for detailed information, see [8], [9], [11]. For E_{ϑ} , Δ will be computed as:

$$\begin{cases} b_2 = a_1^2 + 4a_2 \\ b_4 = a_1a_3 + 2a_4 \\ b_6 = a_3^2 + 4a_6 \\ b_8 = a_1^2a_6 + 4a_2a_6 - a_1a_3a_4 + a_2a_3^2 - a_4^2 \\ \Delta = -b_2^2b_8 - 8b_4^3 - 27b_6^2 + 9b_2b_4b_6 \end{cases}$$

According with [15], the curve points set together with infinity point \mathcal{O} and an addition operation (as defined below) construct an abelian group.

Let $P, Q \neq 0$ be two points defined over an elliptic curve E_{ϑ} over a finite field K, and k a natural number. Then, for nonzero points with values $P = (X_1, Y_1)$, $Q = (X_2, Y_2), R = (X_3, Y_3)$, we have: (1) Inverse of a point:

$$-P = (X_1, -Y_1 - a_1X_1 - a_3)$$
(2) Two points sum: R = P + Q

$$\begin{cases} X_3 = \lambda^2 + a_1 \lambda - a_2 - X_1 - X_2 \\ Y_3 = -(\lambda + a_1) X_3 - \nu - a_3 \end{cases}$$

where

$$\lambda = \begin{cases} \frac{Y_2 - Y_1}{X_2 - X_1} & \text{if } P \neq Q \\\\ \frac{3X_1^2 + 2a_2X_1 + a_4 - a_1Y_1}{2Y_1 + a_1X_1 + a_3} & \text{if } P = Q \end{cases}$$

$$\nu = \begin{cases} \frac{Y_1 X_2 - Y_2 X_1}{X_2 - X_1} & \text{if } P \neq Q \\ \frac{-X_1^3 + a_4 X_1 + 2a_6 - a_3 Y_1}{2Y_1 + a_1 X_1 + a_3} & \text{if } P = Q \end{cases}$$

(3) Scalar multiplication:

$$Q = k \cdot P = \underbrace{P + P + \ldots + P}_{k \text{ times}}$$

For big values of k, from cryptographically point of view is usefully to define an algorithm for exponentiation, with applications for [1], [10], [17]. In the particular case of $k = \sum_{\theta=0}^{\kappa} \lambda_{\theta} 2^{\theta}, \lambda_{\theta} \in \{0, 1\}$, then

$$kP = \sum_{\theta=1}^{\kappa} \lambda_{\theta} (2^{\theta} P)$$

where doubling of it is necessary to obtain $2P, 2^2P, 2^3P, \ldots, 2^{\kappa}P$, and the most of complementary values κ depends by $\lambda_{\theta} = 1$.

3.1. ECC for message authentication. Elliptic Curves Cryptosystems for certain subspaces has some advantages, like key dimension and generating time, beside classical ones, because if the elliptic curve subspace is carefully chosen, ECDLP (Elliptic Curve Discrete Logarithm Problem) will define the attack complexity according with:

Let *E* be an elliptic curve defined over the F_{p_t} , where $F_{p_t} \in F_p$ (F_p a finite space), a point $P \in E$ (F_{p_t}) of order *n*, and a point $Q \in E$ (F_{p_t}), we have to found a point $k \in [0, n-1]$ such that Q = kP. The integer *k* is named the discrete logarithm of *Q* with *P* base, noted with $k = \log_{PQ}$.

Encryption/Decryption

Let A and B be two entities which should communicate by sending the message $P_{m_{\varpi}}$. The entity A will send the message $P_{m_{\varpi}}$ to the entity B by choosing first a pseudoaleator number k and private key χ_A . A will generate a public key $P_A = \chi_A \times \beta$, from that will compute the encrypted message C'_{m_A} which consist of points pair $C_{m_A} = \{k\beta, P_{m_{\varpi}} + k_{P_B}\}$, where β is the basic point, selected from the elliptic curve. In the next step, the entity B will choose a public key $P_B = \chi_B \times \beta$, respectively a private one, χ_B .

In order to decrypt the message, ${\cal B}$ must extract the result of the next equation:

$$P_{m_{\varpi}} + kP_B - \chi_B(k\beta) = P_{m_{\varpi}}k(\chi_B\beta) - \chi_B(k\beta) = P_{m_{\varpi}}$$

295

O.A. ŢICLEANU

In encryption and decryption elliptic curves model, and for Digital Declaration, the basic parameters will define the elliptic curve subspace type. The strength of the cryptographic system is determined by the $D = (q, \alpha_a, \alpha_b, G, \beta, \tau)$, in the next algorithm.

- Let be the subspaces of parameter *p*.
- The parameters α_a, α_b defines the elliptic curve E over E_q , and the equations

$$Y^{2} = X^{3} + AX + B(p > 3)$$
 or $Y^{2} + XY = X^{3} + AX + B(p = 2).$

- G a generator point.
- β elliptic curve order.
- τ co-factor, where $\tau = \# E(F_p) / \beta . \# E(F_p)$ represents the points number from the elliptic curve.

In order to implement the mathematical model, the previous enunciated parameters should achieved the next conditions, named general parameters:

- q = p or $q = 2^{\sigma_x}$, where σ_x is a prime number.
- The elliptic curve should be non-singular.
- β should be $q^{\partial} 1(1 \leq \partial \leq \pi)$, where π usually is 20.
- The elliptic curve should be non-anomalous, which means $|E(F_q)| \neq q$.

The main security parameter is β , and the key length is β .

4. F_{p_t} subspaces for ECC

Starting from [21] studies, below we present a method to transfer information by encrypting it with a public key known only to those who are authorized to access information through the communication channel. This system of information security requires each group participant to expose a parameter that will be part of the session key construction.

The group may be formed of 2, 3, 4, ..., t participants. Each participant selects an unique parameter, as an ID, known to himself and the key generator, which will be used to provide secure communication. Parameters will form a function f(2, 3, 4, ..., t) resulting a public key, noted as k_t .

To extract the key, the user personal parameter is used and an using control key will communicate the private key to the participants. The private key will be generated by the public key generator at the request of a participant authenticated with his personal parameter, the ID.

Using an algorithm for transforming a sequence (ST) in a public key $k_t \in \{0,1\}^*$ will encrypt a plain text with that key and the encrypted text will be transferred through a secure channel. The message decryption will be done by an user using the regular private key obtained from the public key generator. However, the encrypted message must be intended to him so he can decrypt it.

For such a cryptographic system the following steps are defined:

- *configuration* the unique parameters are generated for each user/member of the group for group identification and to create the common private key;
- extraction according to the corresponding sting of the ID (ST) the master key is used to generate the private key corresponding to the public key needed for group authentication
- *encryption* the encryption algorithm is described that will encrypt the message using the public key;
- *decryption* using the private key the message will be decrypted using the decryption algorithm;

296

The algorithm used to obtain the private key from the public key generator is a type of challenge-response system. Because it is part of this category, for construction we will use, in the same way as in [6, 7] the following steps:

Definitions:

The expression $x^3 + 1$ is a permutation for F_{p_t} , where E is an elliptic curve given by the equation $y^2 = x^3 + 1$, defined over F_{p_t} , and p_t is a number through which will satisfy $p_t = 6m - 1$, where m is a prime number, and m > 3.

Let $G \in E/F_{p_t}$ be a group generator of points of order $m = (p_t + 1)/6$. Selection stage:

Let $y_0 \in F_{p_t}$ be a point than there is a unique point x_0 , so that $(x_0, y_0) \in E/F_{p_t}$. First transformation stage:

Let $1 + \delta \in F_{p_t^2}$ be a solution for the equation $x^3 - 1 = 0 \mod p_t$. A transformation of the equation $\gamma(x, y) = (\delta x, y)$ is an automorphism of groups on elliptic curve E. If $G = (x, y) \in E/F_{p_t}$ then $\gamma(G) \in E/F_{p_t}$.

Determination stage:

The points $G, \gamma(G)$ generates a group morphism $Z_m \times Z_m$. We note this group of points as being E[m]. These points can be computed as in [6, 7].

Second transformation stage:

In order to encrypt the plain text will be made a concatenation between the ID of whom will receive the message and the string obtained from the encryption function. To transform the key K_T we need a string of code. For this the beginning sequence of the code (according to ASCII code) will be $ST^{(1)} \in \{0,1\}^*$. Using a cryptographic function, noted with $Q : \{0,1\}^* \to F_{p_t^*}$ we construct the point $A : y_0$ which will be equal to $Q(ST^{(1)})$ and $x_0 = (y_0^2 - 1)^{1/3} = (y_0^2 - 1)^{(2p_t - 1)/3} \mod p_t$. So $A = (x_0, y_0) \in E/F_{p_t}$, and we compute $A_{ST^{(1)}} = 6A$ in order to get the necessary order for A.

4.1. Transmission and validity of the key. Following the ideas from the previous paragraphs, ST is made by concatenating the full name of a participant. This means that the key exchange is required at a certain time and when a participant leaves the group to deny unauthorized access to information. The validity period for a key pair (public key and private key) is very small if we want as result a high-level security.

4.2. Functional scheme. Next we want to describe the four steps of the algorithm which ensure privacy and data integrity.

Setup

As we previous described, we chose an elliptic curve E generated by the instrumentality of an prime number $p_t, p_t = 6m - 1$, where the prime number is m, m > 3. We chose $G \in E/F_{p_t}$ in accordance with the key transformation $ST - K_T$. Also, we select $s \in Z_*^{p_t}$ and $G_{pub} = sG$. The master key is $s \in Z_*^{p_t}$.

The extraction

As we saw, the public key generator will construct a private key, through the expression: $Q(ST^{(1)}) = ST^{(2)} \in \{0,1\}^*$. From this follows $A_{ST^{(2)}} \in E/F_{p_t}$ of order m. The private key will be $d_{ST^{(2)}} = sA_{ST^{(2)}}$, where s is the master key.

Encryption

Let M be a simple text used by an sender, participant to the encryption process. The encrypted text C will be obtained as being $(rG, M \oplus Q(A'))$, where $A = (A_{ST^{(2)}}, G_{pub}) \in F_{p_t}$ and r is chosen randomly, $r \in Z_{p_t}$.

Decryption

We have B = (U, V), an encrypted text with a public key $A_{ST^{(2)}}$. We will again obtain the simple text from the encrypted text by the following method: M = V + Q(J), where $J = (d_{ST^{(2)}}, U) \in F_{p^2}$.

4.3. The system's security. It has been shown that the security of the system is given by the security of the public key system based on elliptic curves. These aspects are described in detail and demonstrated in [4, 22]. The method used to create and generate the public key and the private key does not offer the advantage that attackers cannot break the security of various systems, but, given the fact that it is based on numbers generated by elliptic curves it will be an rather secured system. It has been shown that security systems based on numbers generated by an elliptic curve are currently the most secure cryptographic systems.

5. Conclusion

In this paper we presented the advantages of using the particular subspaces of elliptic curves, instead of the entire ones, in cryptographic applications, with the description of an encryption system based on elliptic curves for a particular space F_{p_t} . This system represented a higher level method for ensuring data confidentiality in a group communication by using a subspace which requires a larger volume of calculations in order to penetrate the encryption system.

Future studies will be made in the direction of defining the computation time for the keys in such subspace, for a certain nonsupersingular elliptic curve, which has direct application in Digital Declaration. The main point of the research is based on figure the nonlinearity of subspaces, from cryptographic point of view.

References

- R. Alsaedi, N. Constantinescu, and V. Rădulescu, Nonlinearities in Elliptic Curve Authentication, *Entropy* 16 (2014), no. 9, 5144-5158; doi:10.3390/e16095144.
- [2] J. Alves-Focs, An Eficient Secure Authenticated Group Key Exchange Algorithm for Large and Dynamic Groups, grant from DOE.
- [3] G. Balaiah, and Dr.V. Srinivasa Rao, A protocol for Authenticated Group Key Transfer Based on Secret Sharing, (IJAEST) International Journal of advanced engineering sciences and technologies 8 (2013), no. 2, 256–260.
- [4] I.F. Blake, G. Seroussi, and N.P. Smart, *Elliptic Curves in Cryptography* Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [5] E. Bresson, O. Chevassut, and D. Pointcheval, Provably Authenticated Group Diffie-Hellman Key Exchange The Dynamic Case, C. Boyd (Ed.): ASIACRYPT 2001, LNCS 2248, 290–309, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2001.
- [6] D. Boneh, and M. Franklin, *Identity-Based Encryption from the Weil Pairing*, CRYPTO 2001, LNCS 2139, 213-229, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2001.
- [7] D. Boneh, and M. Franklin, *Identity based encryption*, Full version available at http://crypto.stanford.edu/ibe.
- [8] N. Constantinescu, G. Stephanides, M. Cosulschi, and M. Gabroveanu, RSA-Padding Signatures with Attack Studies, In International Conference on Web Information Systems and Technologies: Internet Technology/Web Interface and Applications, INSTICC Press Setubal, Portugal, 2006, (J.A. Moinhos Cordeiro and V. Pedrosa, B. Encarnacao, and J. Filipe, eds.), 97–100.
- [9] N. Constantinescu, C. Boldea and C. Boboila, Elliptic Curves Cryptosystems for ECommerce Applications, Conference on Recent Advances in Mathematics and Computers in Business, Economics, Biology & Chemistry, 2010, 216–221.
- [10] N. Constantinescu, Security System Vulnerabilities, In Proceedings of the Romanian Academy Series A-Mathematics Physics Technical Sciences Information Science 13 (2012), no. 2, 175– 179.

298

- [11] M. Cosulschi, M. Gabroveanu, and N. Constantinescu, Usage of advanced data structure for improving efficiency for large (n;m) permutations inspired from the Josephus problem, *Romanian Journal of Information Science and Technology* **12** (2009), no. 1, 13–24.
- [12] A. Chandrasekar, V.R. Rajasekar, and V. Vasudevan, Improved Authentication and Key Agreement Protocol Using Elliptic Curve Cryptography, International Journal of Computer Science and Security (IJCSS) 3 (2009), no. 4, 325–333.
- [13] I. Duursma, and H.-Sook Lee, A group key agreement protocol from pairings, Elsevier, Applied Mathematics and Computation 167, (2005.
- [14] S. Han, W. Liu, and E. Chang, Deniable Authentication Protocol Resisting Man-in-the-Middle Attack, International Journal of Information Technology 1 (2004), no. 4, ISSN:1305-239X.
- [15] D. Hankerson, A. Menezes, S. Vanstone, Guide to Elliptic Curve Crytography, New York, USA:LNCS, Spring-Verlag, 2004.
- [16] M. Hutter, RFID Authentication protocols based on elliptic curves. A Top-Down Evaluation Survey, SECRYPT 2009 - International Conference on Security and Cryptography, 2009, 101– 110.
- [17] I. Iancu, and N. Constantinescu, Intuitionistic fuzzy system for fingerprints authentication, Applied Soft Computing 13 (2013), no.4, 2136–2142.
- [18] J. Kar, and B. Majhi, An Efficient Password Security of Multi-Party Key Exchange Protocol based on ECDLP, International Journal of Computer Science and Security (IJCSS) 3, no. 5.
- [19] S. Laur, and S. Pasini, SAS-Based Group Authentication and Key Agreement Protocols, (R. Cramer, Ed.): PKC 2008, LNCS 4939, 2008, 197–213, International Association for Cryptologic Research 2008.
- [20] Y. Sun, Q. Wen, H. Sun, W. Li, Z. Jin, and H. Zhang, An Authenticated Group Key Transfer Protocol Based on Secret Sharing, *Proceedia Engineering* 29 (2012), 403–408.
- [21] G. Stephanides, and N. Constantinescu, Identification of parts in identity-based encryption, In Advandces in Learning, Commerce and Security (K. Morgan, and J.M. Spector, Eds.), 30, 2004, 177–183.
- [22] E. Verheul, Evidence that XTR is more secure than supersingular elliptic curve cryptosystems, *Proc. Eurocrypt* 2001.
- [23] A.E. Western and J.C.P. Miller, *Table of Indices and Primitive Roots*, Royal Society Mathematical Tables 9, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1968.

(Oana Adriana Țicleanu) DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF EXACT SCIENCES, UNIVERSITY OF CRAIOVA STREET: A.I. CUZA, No:13,

CRAIOVA, ROMANIA

E-mail address: oana.ticleanu@inf.ucv.ro